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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Board of Directors
Executive Directors*

B
HITES*

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Chairman) @
Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operating Officer)
Mr. Wan Hongtao (Group’s Vice President)

Mr. Qin Wenzhong (Group’s Financial Controller)

Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman

Non-Executive Directors**
Mr. Cheng Tai Po
Mr. Lei Ming

Independent Non-Executive Directors***
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew GBM, GBS, Jp N@6)

Mr. Li Wai Keung (MG

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Jp @

Ms. Shen Lifeng @&

Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Chan Mau Cheong Bryan (CPA, CFA)

Company Secretary
Mr. Chan Hing Chau (CPA, MCG)

Auditor
Ernst & Young

Legal Advisors
As to Hong Kong law

Linklaters
Reed Smith Richards Butler

As to China law

Commerce & Finance Law Offices

(1
)
©)

*

*

* %
* %

* Kk

Member of Audit Committee
Member of Remuneration Committee
Member of Nomination Committee

Mr. Zhao Lidong resigned as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
with effect from 16 August 2021.

Ms. Geng Mei has been appointed as Executive Director and Chief Operating
Officer of the Group with effect from 20 April 2021 and 1 April 2021,
respectively.

Mr. Wan Hongtao has been appointed as Executive Director and Group's
Vice President with effect from 16 June 2022.

Mr. Qin Wenzhong has been appointed as Executive Director and Group's
Financial Controller with effect from 16 June 2022.

Mr. Lin Ching Hua resigned as Non-Executive Director with effect from 27
October 2021.

Mr. Lei Ming has been appointed as Non-Executive Director with effect from
27 October 2021.

Ms. Shen Lifeng has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
and a member of each Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee with effect from 16 June 2022.
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Principal Bankers

Agricultural Bank of China Limited
Agricultural Development Bank of China

Bank of China Limited

Bank of China Travel Service Co., Ltd. Jiaozuo
Bank of Shanghai Co., Ltd.

Bank of Xi'an Co., Ltd.

China Construction Bank Corporation

Harbin Bank Co., Ltd.

Hua Xia Bank Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited

PingAn Bank Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.

Registered Office
Suites 330608, 33/F., Tower 5, The Gateway,
15 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Listing Information

Share Listing

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock code: 1668

Senior Notes Listing

The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

The Company’s 11.5% 2 1/6 years senior notes due 2022
The Company’s 10.875% 2 1/3 years senior notes due 2022
The Company’s 7.25% 5 years senior notes due 2022

The Company’s 11.95% 2 years senior notes due 2023

The Company’s 10.75% 2 2/3 years senior notes due 2023

Website

www.chinasouthcity.com

Investor Relations
Telephone: (852) 3188-3111

Fax: (852) 3188-1323
Email: ir@chinasouthcity.com
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China South City has its eight projects
layout highly adhered to important national
strategies such as “Greater Bay Area”, the
“Belt and Road” initiative and "Yangtze
River Economic Belt”.
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PROJECT OVERVIEW
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China South Development Tower and Trade Centre Plaza No. 1 in CSC Shenzhen‘
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China South City Shenzhen

China South City Shenzhen (“CSC Shenzhen”), situated at the Pinghu
Logistics Base in Longgang District, Shenzhen, is the Group’s first project.
Shenzhen City, one of the four first-tier cities in China, is located at
the heart of the Greater Bay Area amid an extensive transportation
network with about 17.56 million permanent resident population that
was announced in May 2021. The total Gross Domestic Product (“GDP")
in 2021 increased by about 6.7% compared with 2020, achieving high
growth. The growth rate is the fastest among the four major first-tier
cities in China with economic volume ranking the fifth among Asian cities.

Located in the northeast of Shenzhen, Longgang District recorded a
regional GDP year-on-year growth of 1.1% to RMB474.4 billion in
2021, ranking the second in the city. With the local government further
developing Longgang District as an innovation centre in the east of
Shenzhen, its ancillary infrastructure such as logistics, healthcare and
education will continue to advance, bringing more convenience to
merchants of CSC Shenzhen. Shenzhen Metro line 10 passing through
CSC Shenzhen — Huanancheng Station (" % & 3k 3fi “) put into service in
August 2020. Huanancheng Station is located inside CSC Shenzhen. The
distance from Futian Checkpoint Station (“#&FH M =u4") to Huanancheng
Station is about 26 kilometres (“km”) and the journey time is about 45
minutes. The infrastructure will generate more business opportunities and
uplift visitor flow for CSC Shenzhen.

In September 2021, Shenzhen Longgang Wanda Plaza, the country’s first
fourth generation Wanda Plaza grandly opened in CSC Shenzhen. In the
first two months of opening, Longgang Wanda Plaza has maintained a
high foot traffic, with an average daily passenger flow of over 100,000.
The new shopping experience at Wanda Plaza featuring tourism, culture,
social interaction and lifestyle created synergies with CSC Shenzhen'’s
original market and customer base, as well as its well-established offerings
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Project Overview (Continued)
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0 The Fourth-generation Wanda Plaza in CSC Shenzhen
\  RRYEENEEENREBERS

for industries wholesale, warehousing and logistics, e-commerce, and
living facilities. As a result, this further stimulated the vitality of the project
site and drove passenger flow. Transportation around the project has also
been improving. CSC Shenzhen is only 2.6 km away from the Pinghu
Railway Station. The Metro Line 10 passing through CSC Shenzhen
has also been opened to traffic, together with a dedicated station of
"Huanancheng Station”, which will generate more business opportunities
and uplift visitor flow for CSC Shenzhen.

The project is located at the Pinghu Logistics Park in Longgang District
of Shenzhen, covering a site area of approximately 1.06 million square
metres (“sgm”). As at 31 March 2022, CSC Shenzhen had acquired of
gross floor area (“GFA") of land approximately 2.71 million sgm, of which
construction of approximately 2.39 million sgm completed, including
trade centres, residential ancillary, multi-purpose commercial properties,
logistics park, hotels, etc. At the same time, the Group has entered
into a strategic cooperation agreement with Urban Planning & Design
Institute of Shenzhen, a subsidiary of SZCDG, and will officially starting
the substantive planning of the first phase of the urban renewal project of
CSC Shenzhen.

Positioned as a modern large-scale integrated commercial logistics and
trading platform to serve the Greater Bay Area, CSC Shenzhen covers a
wide spectrum of product range, including textile and clothing, leather
and accessories, electronic parts, printing, paper products and packaging,
metals and chemicals, plastic materials, hotel supplies, tea and teaware,
cross-border products, e-commerce, outlets, home furnishing, produce
and flower market, etc., on its trade centre premises, complementary
with various facilities and services on site, such as banking and finance,
hotels and restaurants, governmental bodies, leisure and entertainment.
In addition, CSC Shenzhen provides micro-credit service for on-site small-
and-medium-sized enterprises (“SMEs"), assisting them in resolving
financing difficulties for business development.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Commercial Complex 1668 Square and Residential Ancillary (Jiangnanhuafu) in CSC Nanning
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China South City Nanning

China South City Nanning (“CSC Nanning”) is located at Jiangnan District
of Nanning, the capital of the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, a
critical gateway between China and the Association of Southeast Asian
Nations (“ASEAN") countries. Strategically located in close proximity to
Southeast Asia and enjoying the advantage of a tariff waiver on cross-
border trade activities within the China-ASEAN Free Trade Area, CSC
Nanning endeavors to serve as a key hub for cross-border trade catering
to the demand from the Northern Bay Region and Southeast Asia.

As a Key Project of the Autonomous Region as well as Nanning Municipal
Key Logistics Infrastructure Project, CSC Nanning has been named as
"China-ASEAN Plaza”, “China-ASEAN Digital Trade Hub”, “New Western
Land-Sea Corridor Digital Trade Hub”, and “National AAA Class Tourist
Attraction”. AETM, Guangxi's first member-oriented hypermarket with
a floor area of over 50,000 sq. m., is located in CSC Nanning and has
a stable passenger flow. While improving the service facilities of CSC
Nanning, it also added the new growth driver to the CSC market. At the
same time, CSC Nanning is also actively focusing on industrial upgrading,
and has reached a milestone by successfully introducing sports industry
projects.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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o Birdview — CSC Nanning Project Site

CSC Nanning has a total planned net land area of approximately 1.83
million sgm and a total planned GFA of approximately 4.88 million
sgm. As at 31 March 2022, CSC Nanning had a total planned GFA of
approximately 2.48 million sgm of land acquired, of which construction
of approximately 1.95 million sqm completed, including trade centres,
residential ancillary, multi-purpose commercial properties, logistics park,
exhibition centre, public facilities like primary school, etc.

CSC Nanning is now in operation, and covers industries including textile
and clothing, small commodities, ASEAN products, home furnishing,
tea and teaware, e-commerce, groceries, automobile and motorcycle
parts and outlets, etc., on its trade centre premises. Through organizing
a series of expositions, such as the China ASEAN Expo and Light
Industrial Exhibition, Folk Culture Trading Festival cum Expo, traffic
flow to the project as well as regional brand recognition of the project
were enhanced. In addition, the commercial complex, 1668 Square,
has commenced operation in CSC Nanning, so as to satisfy demands
on entertainment, leisure and shopping within the community. This, at
the same time, could enhance the overall commercial attributes on the
project.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Garden View of Residential Ancilla y Longxiangyuan) in CSC Nanchang
° .
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Nanchang
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China South City Nanchang

China South City Nanchang (“CSC Nanchang”) is located at Honggutan
New District of Nanchang, the capital of Jiangxi Province. Situated at the
transportation hub for the Yangtze River Delta and Pearl River Delta, the
project is readily accessible to suppliers, manufacturers and merchants via
major highways, the largest port on the Gan River and a complete freight
network which includes a cargo marshal yard, a container terminus and
an international airport, coupled with Nanchang West Railway Station
— a principal high-speed rail station just 1.2 km away. CSC Nanchang is
also adjacent to the new provincial government office. As a new business
centre of Nanchang, Honggutan New District is becoming more influential
in administrative, commercial and cultural aspects day by day. In addition,
the gradual completion of local amenities is driving visitor traffic and
generating business opportunities, laying a solid foundation for the
development of CSC Nanchang.

CSC Nanchang has a total planned land area of approximately 2.61 million
sgm and a total planned GFA of approximately 6.87 million sqm. As at 31
March 2022, CSC Nanchang had a total planned GFA of approximately
4.79 million sgm of land acquired, of which the construction of
approximately 2.40 million sqm completed, including trade centres,
residential ancillary, logistics park, public facilities like primary school,
etc. CSC Nanchang is now in operation, and covers industries including
building and decoration materials, small commodities, textile and clothing,
leather and accessories, healthy and green products, outlets, etc., on its
trade centre premises.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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As a Provincial Key Project and the first E-commerce Demonstration
Base in Jiangxi Province and state-level University Students’ E-commerce
Business Incubator in Nanchang, a great number of e-commerce
enterprises have moved in the project since its establishment. CSC
Nanchang collaborated with local tertiary institutes to seamlessly connect
e-commerce startups and manufacturers, by proactively integrated
resources of wholesale markets and e-commerce and eventually assisted
on-site SMEs in business transform and upgrade. An area of nearly
30,000 sgm influencer livestreaming base has been set up to provide
one-stop services covering from anchor training, operation management
to film and television productions. CSC Nanchang introduced a Veteran
Entrepreneurship Base targeting new consumption experiences such as
beauty, automobiles, and science and technology experience halls to
assist merchants in the project site to better develop e-commerce services
and nurture startups. In August 2021, “Nanchang University Students
E-commerce Entrepreneurship Base” of CSC Nanchang was named by the
Ministry of Commerce as a new “National E-commerce Demonstration
Base”, which further enhanced the effect of industrial scale and brand
influence.

In addition, CSC Nanchang has engaged in the “Nanchang High Speed
Rail CBD Project” for the development of an ecosystem economy with
quality service industry in Jiangxi. The project was planned to cover
“seven attributes in one city”: teenage education, business headquarters,
commercial shopping complexes, business and cultural tourism and talent
acquisition. It is built to be the central business district (“CBD") and high-
speed rail trading and logistics hub of Jiangxi upon completion.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Hardware Materials and Machinery Products Trade Centre and

®) 1668 New Times Square in CSC Xi‘an
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China South City Xi'an

China South City Xi‘an (“CSC Xi'an") is located at the Xi’an International
Trade and Logistics Park in Xi‘an, the capital of Shaanxi Province. As a
local key project, the Xi'an International Trade and Logistics Park is an
open economic pilot zone and a core area for modern service industry,
aiming to become the largest international transit hub and logistics
distribution centre along the Silk Road Economic Belt and an important
strategic platform for the “Belt and Road” initiative. In addition, the Xi'an
International Trade and Logistics Park is one of the three largest clusters
of China (Shaanxi) Pilot Free Trade Zone. Benefiting from such geographic
advantages, CSC Xi‘an is highly accessible via the Xi'an City Expressway
and Beijing-Kunming Expressway, Lianyungang-Khorgos Expressway,
Shaanxi-Shanghai Expressway, Baotou-Maoming Expressway and other
national highways, forming an intricate spider network which opens to
all directions. Besides, the strategic location of CSC Xi‘an is connected
to a railway container terminal and the largest bonded area in the north
western region of China, along with two metro lines that cross the project
site. Metro line 3, which passes through CSC Xi‘an, has commenced
operation. In addition, the new stadium to host the 14th National Games
of the People’s Republic of China in 2021 was completed nearby CSC
Xi‘an, and the metro line 14 connected to the venue was commissioned
at the end of June 2021. Such infrastructure will generate more business
opportunities and visitor flow for the Xi'an International Trade and
Logistics Park and thus further enhance the value of CSC Xi‘an.

n ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 43R

ALERE
BAREMHAARAEE SR MEREREAN - B
BTS2 E M IR E BT i M B AR A A s S [ £
WRBRISEZ IR - B EKAMA 2 IECETS
BAEBRERMASEEED RS - RHEN—
BB IBENEETLA - AN BRESBRATEH
(B EHESABR - AREY— - SEREEE
BENEBHIENE  ALEMERIBEFN  BEE
ANBELZERRRAKERERR  EERR - PUE
BiE - REkERREFRERAKESRBAZ T - K
R FREINSRABBIRS o by - ALEERD
FRA EEERTEBEEEAT O RPEAILE
AR R EEARBALE - WEARIED RS T E
BEIHE ML - BETLTERRNEIRARE ELR
BE AN AREIR02NFETEEPE AR LR
B 2ESMHES T OIS R AT E MM T -
BB EMEELIEEHCRM - HRn#145
ER2021F6 ARFABIES - L EGEMEE PR L
BEFRBREEEREFTZERERE  WiE—5
TR E R IE B M{E(E -



Project Overview (Continued)
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Hardware and Building Materials Commodity Trade Centre, Hardware Materials and Machinery Products
®) Trade Centre and Residential Ancillary (Huayu Condominium) in CSC Xi'an
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CSC Xi'an has a total planned land area of approximately 10.00 million
sgm and the total planned GFA of approximately 17.50 million sgm. As at
31 March 2022, CSC Xi'an had a total planned GFA of approximately 4.17
million sgm of land acquired, of which the construction of approximately
2.41 million sgm completed, including trade centres, logistics park,
supporting facilities, etc.

CSC Xi'an is now in operation, and covers industries including hardware
materials and machinery products, curtains and fabrics, textile and
clothing, leather and fur, automobile and motorcycle parts, building
and decoration materials, 1668 New Times Square, outlets, cross-border
e-commerce, Central Asia and ASEAN product exhibition centre, etc., on
its trade centre premises, of which the commercial complex, 1668 New
Times Square, was included in Shaanxi Provincial Key Project in 2019
and 2020. Leveraging its geographical advantage in the starting point of
the Silk Road Economic Belt, CSC Xi'an is actively poised to capture the
immense opportunities arising from the “Belt and Road” initiative.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Leather and Fur Trade Centre in CSC Harbin
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Harbin
I BB

China South City Harbin

Located at the Daowai District of Harbin, the capital of Heilongjiang
Province, and enjoying geographical advantages of Northeast China,
China South City Harbin (“CSC Harbin"), is the cross-border trade hub
among Northeast Asian Countries. Being the Provincial No. 1 Investment
Promotion Project, together with its proximity to the China-Russia border
and merely couple-of-kilometre away from the Xinxiangfang North station
(Harbin-Mudanjiang High Speed Rail), CSC Harbin actively integrate
bilateral trade resources for the development of regional economy and
trade with its superiority of geographical location and coverage of local
industries. It has organized the 6th China-Russia Expo, so as to develop an
economy and trade logistic gateway to Russia and form a trading platform
in Northeast Asia Economic Circle. In September 2021, the China South
City Middle School project in CSC Harbin held the toppingout ceremony
and is expected to go into service in 2022. The infrastructure construction
and education conditions around the CSC Harbin will be further improved,
and it will also drive various demands in surrounding living facilities in the
project site.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Street view and China Green Food International Expo Centre in CSC Harbin
WREERRTEAR R EEERMHEREER

CSC Harbin has a total planned land area of approximately 10.00 million
sgm and the total planned GFA of approximately 12.00 million sgm. As
at 31 March 2022, CSC Harbin had a total planned GFA of approximately
5.78 million sgm of land acquired, of which the constructions of
approximately 1.91 million sgm completed, including trade centres,
residential ancillary, logistics park, supporting facilities, etc.

CSC Harbin is now in operation, and covers industries including hardware
and building materials, chemicals, machinery products, automobile and
motorcycle parts, green food, small commodities, hotel supplies, leather
and fur, outlets, e-commerce, etc., on its trade centre premises. China
Green Food International Expo Centre located on the project site, aimed
to become an influential one-stop green food base with economies of
scale advantage, has been certified and licensed by China Green Food

Development Centre.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Zhengzhou
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China South City Zhengzhou
China South City Zhengzhou (“CSC Zhengzhou”) is located in Zhengzhou,
the capital of Henan Province, and adjacent to the Airport Economy

Zone (“AEZ") of Zhengzhou, which is the only state-level AEZ with a
complete network containing an international airport, highspeed train,
intercity train, metro and highway, to act as an integrated transport
hub as a whole to provide seamless connectivity. The project is highly
accessible and enjoys extensive transportation links — it is @ mere 16 km
away from Zhengzhou Xinzheng International Airport and a couple of
kilometres away from the Beijing-Guangzhou Railway Freight Station and
Beijing-Hong Kong-Macau Highway. The metro south line 2 across CSC
Zhengzhou with three stations is currently in full operation. In addition,
there are several exits from the Beijing-Hong Kong-Macao Highway,
the Airport Highway, and the City Beltway to the surroundings of CSC
Zhengzhou; in particular, there are two exits in merely 3 km area of the
project site, which will generate more business opportunities and visitor
flow for CSC Zhengzhou.

CSC Zhengzhou has a total planned net land area of approximately
7.00 million sgm, and total planned GFA of approximately 12.00 million
sgm. As at 31 March 2022, CSC Zhengzhou had a total planned GFA
of approximately 10.19 million sgm of land acquired, of which the
construction of approximately 5.21 million sgm completed, including
trade centres, residential ancillary, logistics park, public facilities like park,
etc.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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CSC Zhengzhou is now in operation, and covers industries including
building materials, small commodities, hardware materials and machinery
products, home furnishing, automobile and motorcycle parts, non-
staple food, outlets, e-commerce, etc., on its trade centre premises. CSC
Zhengzhou will speed up the development of residential ancillary and
commercial facilities such as multi-purpose commercial properties, in order
to meet the local demands.

CSC Zhengzhou was elected to be “Provincial Key Project”, “Provincial
Key Investment Promotion Project”, and “Priority Relocation Site for
Wholesale Markets of Zhengzhou City Centre”. In response to the local
policy to support innovation and entrepreneurship, CSC Zhengzhou is also
actively promoting emerging industries, specially the e-commerce industry
base. CSC Zhengzhou has gradually become a “Provincial E-commerce
Demonstration Base” since 2016, “Provincial Cross-border E-Commerce
Demonstration Base” and “Provincial Innovation Model Bases for Micro
and Small Enterprises”. In June 2021, CSC Zhengzhou and Wanda Group
held a signing ceremony for the fourth-generation Wanda Plaza to enter
CSC Zhengzhou.
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-

EMEMPCRARE - BmX ST OMREMNZLE
EEBEEN I Em hoKRE KB ER
fid - BIRG  RE REKTLRETHES - HME

i

MG RE R L REEOES Y AR RAE
SREREHEOES - £ SHRETARAET
CLEES

ENEmR I ADTEEEREREE ] [TEE
BERBESIEEE JR[EIN AR R TS E i
Bt | o ST ETH T IR SR BV RIS BIRTAIZE - BINER
RGBS RNERE  HPNEEEEEE L &
MEFMMIE2016FBRESK B EREFABTEE
] DR BRE SR Em | RTREE /M
EAIZAIFUREEM] - 202166 7 + BOMNZER M HE
BESERPENEN - FEREERSGEEEM

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZR IR A T




Project Overview (Continued)

5B #R (&)

M 7B
R DA =]

Huasheng Outlets in CSC Hefei
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China South City Hefei

China South City Hefei ("CSC Hefei”) is located at Anhui Feixi Economic
Development Zone of Hefei, the capital of Anhui Province. Anhui Feixi
Economic Development Zone of Hefei is a core area for municipal
development — Hefei “1331 Project”, and was elected to be “Anhui
Provincial Key Investment Project”, “Anhui Provincial Dispatch Project”
and “Anhui Provincial 861 Construction Project”. As Hefei city plays its
role as the political, economic, cultural and financial centre at the heart of
Eastern China, CSC Hefei benefits from the advantageous geographical
location equipped with well developed infrastructure: a planned
transportation system of railways, highways and river transportation
across China. The metro south line 4 across CSC Hefei has been under
construction in October 2020 and is expected to open to the traffic in
2024.

CSC Hefei has a total planned net land area of approximately 10.00 million
sgm with a total planned GFA of approximately 12.00 million sgm. As at
31 March 2022, CSC Hefei had a total planned GFA of approximately 5.99
million sgm of land acquired, of which the construction of approximately
3.68 million sgm completed, including trade centre, residential ancillary,
logistics park, public facilities like secondary school, etc.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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'. Birdview of CSC Hefe
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CSC Hefei is now in operation, and covers industries including automobile ~ AIEZERHEIRALIE - BHRX 5T OTRENEE
and motorcycle parts, hardware materials and machinery products, ¥REBIETERE - ASKS - KEEM - H15R
building and decoration materials, textile and clothing, hotel supplies, %  JA/EA & - BERY - I\BR LR REERE -
outlets, small commodities, non-staple food, etc., on its trade centre E£WHEXH - @BREE - WSl  BERHERE - 558
premises, combining various functions, such as trading, logistics and 7t « AI¥TR#E - EEEE  HEEEE)EL
distribution, production display and promotion, information exchange and @k « LA B ERBEZEIHEEN — -
innovation, industry cluster, training base for education industry, featured

tours and comprehensive supporting facilities for urbanization as a whole.
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Chongging
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. Qianlong Logistics Park in CSC Chongging
EEERPNEZEDRER

China South City Chongqging

China South City Chongging (“CSC Chongging”) is strategically located at
Banan District of Chongging, the only direct-administered municipality in
midwestern China, as well as the essential location seamlessly connecting
both ”Belt and Road” initiative and “Yangtze River Economic Belt”.
CSC Chonggqing is also the Group's first project in direct-administered
municipality. The project is highly accessible to the city centre and other
regions given its highway network strategic location in the Chongging
Highway Logistics Base, the state-level giant transportation infrastructure
in the western region. Such location is also the starting point of national
strategies of “The New International Land-sea Trade Corridor” and
"Chongqging-ASEAN International Logistics Channel”. On 18 March
2021, Yuzhou Household and Building Materials Market has contracted
to settle down at CSC Chongging. In the same month, as a professional
service provider for market optimization and upgrade in Chongging City,
CSC Chongging has attracted a great number of merchants, further
diversifying the business industries of its merchant portfolio and increasing
project value.

Under the background where the government has put great efforts to
promote the development of Chengdu-Chongging Economic Circle and
the expansion and upgrade of Chongqging High-tech Zone, Chongging
has shifted its focus towards the development of the western area of
the city, making CSC Chongging which is located at the prime area of
Western Chongging a new hot spot for development with huge potential
for future development. In addition, coupled with the growing maturity of
business in Banan district, the groundwork of transportation infrastructure
and commercial environment was laid for the project. Following
Chongging government’s announcement that the development of new
town in the core Southern District, where CSC Chonggqing is located, it is
expected the regional growth potential will be on the rise.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Huasheng Outlet, International Hardware Materials and Machinery Products Expo
® and Trade Centre and Residential Ancillary (Bananhuafu) in CSC Chongging

E:

CSC Chongging has a total planned net land area of approximately 5.90
million sgm with a total GFA of approximately 13.10 million sgm. As at 31
March 2022, CSC Chongging had a total planned GFA of approximately
6.50 million sqm of land acquired, of which the construction of
approximately 2.33 million sqm completed, including trade centres,
residential properties, logistics park, public facilities like primary and
secondary schools, etc.

CSC Chongging is now in operation, and covers industries such as small
commodities, hardware materials and machinery products, hotel supplies,
building and decoration materials, textiles and clothing, automobile and
motorcycle parts, lightings and lamps, outlets, metals, cultural tourism,
etc., on its trade centre premises, providing a tremendous momentum for
the development of commercial logistics and trading industry in Southwest
Region. Four functional areas of CSC Chongging include exhibition and
trading area, central park commercial and leisure area, facilities for living
area and logistics and warehousing.

There are Southwest University CSC Primary School and CSC Junior High
School established on CSC Chongging to cope with the on-site demand
in course of development. With the opening of the schools, apart from
attracting the flow of people to CSC Chongging, it drives the need
of various facilities for living, which in turn further accelerates pace of
development on the project.
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FY2021/22 MAJOR EVENTS
2021/2281 F KEL

20 r21)1| 2021 Hefei Southwest Urban Development Summit

Forum and China South City Brand Signing
Conference was successfully held

20215 A BRI T R S BB E i m g
BREMEBEINET

A April 4B

)

“Inheriting the Red Gene and Singing the Centenary of the
Bainian Huadan”, China South City held a theme activity

to celebrate the 100th anniversary of the founding of the
Communist Party of China
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2021 “Zhuang March 3 - Bagui Carnival” was
successfully held in CSC Nanning
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CSC Nanchang was added a
Base” by the Ministry of Co
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nal E-commerce Demonstration
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China South City Group and Wanda Group entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement
ERMEEESEEEERBSERD

CSC Zhengzhou, the “2021 Central Region
Building Materials & Hardware Trade Fair — Spring”
was successfully held
MR AR 20210 B (FE)

AN
BHASERS] June 6A ~

CSC Shenzhen
was awarded the
“Guangdong Province
Enterprise of Observing
Contract and Valuing
Credit” by Shenzhen
Administration for
Market Regulation in 3
consecutive years
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September 98 A

Qianlong Logistics was awarded the "Excellent
Logistics and Supply Chain Service Provider”
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November 118 A December 128 A

Numerous of activities of “2021 China South
City Good Things Festival” was successfully held
[2021 =B Y& | R 5 E S B R ERTT

CSC Shenzhen was awarded the “National Excellent
Enterprise with Foreign Investment Shenzhen Top Ten Tax
Payment Enterprise (2020)"

IR EER AT BB FINTIRE b — IR+ KT

- ‘F

October 108 A October 108 A

CSC Shenzhen was awarded “Top 100 Chinese CSC Zhengzhou held the “2021 Central Region Building
Commodity Market” Materials & Hardware Trade Fair — Autumn”
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September 98 A October 108 A

Shenzhen Longgang Wanda Plaza, the first fourth-generation CSC Nanchang “Honggu Tan Building Materials and Home
Wanda Plaza was grand opened in CSC Shenzhen Furnishing Procurement Trade Fair — Autumn” was successfully held
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March 38 A

China South City Group — Shenzhen Planning Institute and
Signing Ceremony of CSC Shenzhen Urban Renewal Project
Planning and Design was successfully held

EMREE AAREES BRI ERRRTEINIAR
BEIRABEDEXBWET

December 128 A

China South City Group and SZCDG signed the
shares subscription agreement
(Completion of subscription on 16 May 2022)
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) February 2A x
" China South City Group and Shenneng Nanjing Energy
Holdings Co., Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shenzhen

Energy Group entered into a strategic cooperation agreement
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January 1A A

“Happy City — Chinese New Year” CSC New Year
Shopping Festival was successfully held
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February 2B A

China South City and SZCDG's subsidiary
Pengcheng Zhihui Gongxiang Technology
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MR

(in HK$'000 F&7T)

Revenue

A
2022 10,311,628
2021 N 11,309,304
2020 D) o.887,654
2019 D 10274255
2018 W o.405.370

Net assets value

BEFE

2022 45,089,972
2021 T 41,296,550
2020 D 34,882,520

2019 D 36,149,827

2018 D 36,400,754

Profit attributable to
owners of the parent

FREIEE AR
2022 760,200
2021 [ 2,415,498
2020 [ D) 2.633,141

2010 (D 3250552

2018 D /679
Core net profit attributable
) to owners of the parent
FRREE AEMLZOFRE
2022 b 649,028
2021 D cso622
2020 D 2o
2019 D (o057
2018 D 1,608,548

—

Contracted Sales by Projects

ZHBESEHNHE

)—

Shenzhen &3l
Nanning Fg%
Nanchang &
Xi'an A%
Harbin M&EE
Zhengzhou ZFM|
Hefei &R
Chongqging EE
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Financial Highlights (Continued)

MBERE(E)
For the year ended 31 March Change
BZE3A31BLFE 2022 2021 2iE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Contracted sales BRIHE 11,794,714 16,148,856 -27.0%
Revenue 1 ON 10,311,628 11,309,304 -8.8%
Among which, recurring income  Er ¢ FHEEUA 2,958,150 2,765,366 +7.0%
Gross profit margin FEH=E 29.3% 43.7%
Core net profit attributable to B ARER ARG
owners of the parent* 12 F A 649,028 1,885,622 -65.6%
Profit attributable to owners B ARHEA AEIEFE
of the parent 760,200 2,415,498 -68.5%
Earnings per share — Basic FRABF —HEK HK9.39 cents3&1l HK29.85 cents;& 1l
Asset-liability ratio BEBER 63.8% 65.7%
Net assets FEE 45,089,972 41,296,550 +9.2%
* Mainly represents the net profit attributable to owners of the parent excluding fair value gains on investment properties and certain tax effects,

impairment of goodwill, and loss of forward contracts etc.
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2021/228t BEE
HK$11,795 million
117.95(878 7T
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2019/208F B E
HK$13,514 million

13514428 T
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FY2020/21

2020/218 B4 E
HK$16,149 million
161.4988 T
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ERE®|E

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries,
| present herewith the consolidated results of the Group for the financial
year ended 31 March 2022 (“FY2021/22", the "Year”, or the “Reporting
Period”).

In the previous financial year, international trade tensions worsened,
China-US relations were tightening, and the economy faced increasingly
challenging conditions. Meanwhile, with the resurgence of the epidemic
domestically, first-tier cities such as Shanghai and Shenzhen also adopted
different level of precautionary measures. Apart from that, the real
estate sector and related industries suffered a downturn while others
encountered severe operational challenges. In the first half of the previous
financial year, liquidity crisis occurred consecutively across several sectors
and within well-known companies due to the worsening macroeconomic
situation and a difficult domestic and external capital market. In October
last year, international rating agencies downgraded the credit ratings
of nearly 30 listed companies in Mainland China and offshore financing
channels and refinancing nearly stagnated, leaving a number of
companies facing financing difficulties. In the second half of the financial
year, the Russia-Ukraine conflict further disrupted the international
landscape and brought more uncertainty to future developments. In the
first quarter of the year 2022, China’s gross domestic product (GDP) grew
by 4.8% year-on-year, a significant drop in growth.

During the Reporting Period, China South City was also affected by trade
tensions, of pandemic and torrential rain in CSC Zhengzhou, which
contributed to instability affecting the development of the cross-border
e-commerce industry impacting incubation and investment within the
industry. Recurring outbreaks further raised the difficulty of operations
in the e-commerce and trade industries. In projects deployed by the
Group, including in Zhengzhou, Chongging, Harbin, etc., daily planning
and operational activities reduced, the number of visitors declined while
logistics costs increased.

Despite the various challenges faced by the Company during the
Reporting Period, the Board and the management have proactively sought
solutions to address them. On 30 December 2021, China South City and
Shenzhen SEZ Construction and Development Group Co., Ltd. (“SZCDG")
entered into share subscription agreement and a strategic cooperation
agreement pursuant to which the Company shall allot and issue 3.35
billion shares to SZCDG, representing approximately 29.28% of the total
issued share capital as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the shares,
forging a strong alliance based on the principle of “Complementary
Strengths, Strategic Synergies and Innovative Development”. On 16 May
2022, the subscription was fully completed and SZCDG became the single
largest shareholder of China South City.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(E)

Established by the Shenzhen Municipal Government in September 2011,
SZCDG is a municipal state-owned enterprise set up for the purpose
of accelerating the reform of investment and financing system and
promoting the integration process of the Special Zone. In February 2016,
the municipal government further clarified SZCDG as the municipal
operating entity for infrastructure investment, construction and operation
with its principal activities being infrastructure investment, construction
and operation, development, construction and operation of industrial
park, strategic emerging industry investment, regional economic
cooperation and PPP project implementation. As of December 2021,
SZCDG had a registered capital of RMB33.509 billion, total assets of
RMB99.021 billion and net assets of RMB42.919 billion. Over the past
decade since its establishment, SZCDG has effectively played a role of
major infrastructure construction, industrial upgrading and expanding the
room of development providing support for industrial cooperation. With
such cooperation with a state-owned enterprise, China South City can
further integrate resources, maximize the synergy effect, reduce financing
costs and strengthen its comprehensive financial strength. As a state-
owned enterprise, SZCDG will give full play to its strategic leading role
and support China South City to further develop its main business and
grow stronger with innovations. In the future, SZCDG will always keep
“Three Unchanging Aspects” i.e. the management team of China South
City will remain unchanged, the market-oriented operation mechanism
will remain unchanged and the industrial positioning and development
direction will remain unchanged. Besides, SZCDG will take advantage of
the state-owned enterprise status to promote China South City to achieve
"Three Changes”: firstly, to improve the credit level and enhance capital
liquidity; secondly, to optimize the asset structure and reduce asset-liability
ratio effectively; thirdly, to strengthen the import of resources and realize
industrial transformation and upgrading.

With SZCDG as a Shareholder, the Company believes that it can improve
the management and operational efficiency as well as enhance its
financial capabilities by leveraging SZCDG's resources and experience
within the industry. In turn, it can further enrich and complement the
Company’s capabilities and resources in developing and exploring other
potential under an integrated trade and logistics ecosystems model. On
the other hand, the Company will expand cooperation opportunities
with SZCDG with the objective of realising business synergies in order
to maximise shareholder return while at the same time supporting the
sustainable development of the Group’s operation.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(E)

Pursuant to the strategic cooperation agreement entered into between
the Company and SZCDG, SZCDG intends to deepen its collaboration with
the Company on various aspects including (i) urban renewal as part of the
CSC Shenzhen project; (ii) upgrade the Company’s existing project sites
to make them become more intelligent and continuous optimisation of
operation means; and (iii) freeing-up cooperation resources by introducing
high-quality brands and improving the quality and influence of such
project sites in the process of coordinating, developing, constructing and
operating key national urban areas of the Company.

In addition to introducing the new shareholder amid a sluggish market
environment, China South City, on the basis of stabilizing the project sites
operation, has made every effort to proceed asset realization, accelerate
the return of capital funds and continuously expand new financing
channels. For example, capital funds of more than RMB1.7 billion were
recovered by disposing two high-standard logistics and warehousing
projects belonging to Qianlong Logistics Group Co., Ltd. in Zhengzhou
and Hefei, while a new credit facility of RMB4 billion was granted by a
strategic cooperation agreement with Bank of Shanghai. Meanwhile,
China South City has also strived to improve the efficiency of operations
and further optimize management and staff structure to reduce costs
and increase efficiency while maintaining safe and stable operations.
China South City, in various regions, has combined local characteristics to
accurately introduce new industries and new business models that are in
line with future development trends. The new fourth-generation Wanda
Plaza opened in CSC Shenzhen and two national-level bases centred
in CSC Nanchang are two examples of new business models and new
consumption patterns breakthroughs. Qianlong Logistics, a subsidiary of
the Group, is actively developing the cold chain business and the related
warehousing and leasing business has achieved growth and it is also
discussing development opportunities with strategic investors. Through a
series of initiatives, the asset-liability ratio of China South City decreased
to 63.8% and net assets per share increased to HK$5.57.

In terms of transportation infrastructure, there have been more than 20
metro stations in the projects of China South City across the country
among which CSC Xi'an ushered in the opening of a new Metro line and
CSC Hefei Metro is under construction. With the successive operation
of metros and railway trunk lines of China South City projects in various
regions, the overall regional transportation advantage of China South City
will be further strengthened.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(E)

At present, the overall layout of China South City highly adheres to major
national development strategies such as the “Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area” and “Accelerated Push for Building a National
Unified Market”. Under the top-level design and strategic deployment of
the central government for the reform, China South City will expand and
strengthen its trading and logistics industry in close compliance with the
industrial policies of the central government and local governments in a
bid to build a special consumption centre in the Greater Bay Area. At the
same time, the Group has entered into a strategic cooperation agreement
with Urban Planning & Design Institute of Shenzhen* (% Il 71 35 77 8 &1
Rt IE BT B R A &) (the "UPDIS”), a subsidiary of SZCDG, and will
officially starting the substantive planning of the first phase of the urban

renewal project of CSC Shenzhen.

Results and Dividends

During the Year, the contracted sales of the Group amounted to
HK$11,794.7 million (FY2020/21: HK$16,148.9 million); revenue
decreased by HK$997.7 million to HK$10,311.6 million (FY2020/21:
HK$11,309.3 million), with recurring income up by HK$192.8 million to
HK$2,958.2 million (FY2020/21: HK$2,765.4 million).

Net profit attributable to owners of the parent was HK$760.2 million
(FY2020/21: HK$2,415.5 million), while core net profit attributable to
owners of the parent (excluding fair value gains on investment properties
and certain tax effects, impairment of goodwill and loss of forward
contract, etc.) was HK$649.0 million (FY2020/21: HK$1,885.6 million).
Basic earnings per share was HK9.39 cents (FY2020/21: HK29.85 cents).
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
FY2021/22 (FY2020/21: HK3.0 cents per share).

*  For identification purpose only
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(E)

Review of the Market and Operations

As a leading developer and operator of large-scale integrated logistics
and trade centres in China, the Group has kept abreast of market
changes, continuously improved its operations, continuously promoted
transformation and upgrading, introduced new industries and strived to
achieve multi-business collaborative development. During the Reporting
Period, due to the repeated outbreak of the pandemic and the general
environment of a downturn within the real estate sector, the Investment
and Development division will continuously decrease financial levergage
and speed up disposal of assets. In terms of management and team
building, the Investment and Development division strives to implement
refined management and optimizes the organizational structure, to
maintain stable operations.

During the Reporting Period, adhering to the investment strategy of
“Recruiting Big and Good Merchants” and the service spirit of “Go Out
and Invite In”, the Business Management division of China South City
promoted a change in focus of merchant recruitment from “Quantity
to Quality” through external cooperation and internal and external
interactions thus achieving a breakthrough in merchant recruitment.

Qianlong Logistics provided customers with comprehensive supply chain
integrated logistics solutions through three business platforms with the
“Logistics Park Operation Platform” as the foundation, the “Warehousing
Service Platform” as the core and the “Forwarder Distribution Platform”
as the substance. During the Reporting Period, leveraging its wealth of
quality services and experiences throughout the years, it has gained a
number of high-quality merchants and was awarded “The First Batch
of MNC Regional Headquarter” and “Qutstanding Logistics and Supply
Chain Service Provider” in the 2021 CILF. In addition, capital funds of
more than RMB2 billion were recovered through disposing certain mature
projects in Xi'an, Zhengzhou and Hefei.

n ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 43R

miEREE DR
ERTBEBLNAREGE YR RERR ST LR
BMEER  ARERRETSEL - THRIHENE
BOKE - JEHEEATR  SIANER  HEER
ZEBHRARRE - HEHR - XHNRBERENF T
ETTHARE  RRSEREER S HES MR
AR - EEEMEGGEER L - RFARENERA
LER - BLERRE  REBTEE -

WEMA - EFEPHEREERIBAR - BFEIN
FRREMELE  BERINRBBS - AHbE
& WINEE) - (REBH TEHETNENEE - BE
R8P RAT R

HEVMRITENERELE TS | RHER U AFR
BYaIREL U EEREATA I RTEHN =KX
BEe REPRHEZHEEREAMRMATER - W
A BRRENBERENLRZFNERER
FIEZEBRERF - WARRERI EHERR LA
X RERER  2021FMESIBEYREHER
RIS RIS - BN BBHEH S BAKANFA
2 BN - RIERE  BEREcEEBARK20E

o

dl



Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(E)

As for operation management, with the continuous development of new
generation information technology such as big data and cloud computing,
China South City has accelerated the improvement of intelligent hardware
infrastructure and intelligent systems in line with the trend of the times.
The Company aims to realize the data and internet-based management
of the project sites through the integration and connection of “Internet
of Things + Internet” following the concept of “Data-Driven and Active
Service”. At present, data in many fields such as smart elevator, energy
consumption of the project sites, intelligent customer service, smart
parking and passenger flow analysis can be accessed at the mega data
platform of smart industrial parks in China South City.

Regarding external cooperation, taking the opportunity of the share
subscription made by SZCDG and leveraging the resource advantage
of the state-owned platform, China South City has reached strategic
cooperation with many large enterprises to further improve the industrial
ecosystem of the project sites through cooperative development and
resource sharing. On 16 February 2022, China South City entered into
a contract with Pengcheng Zhihui Gongxiang Technology (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd.* (ME¥L B 2 H=ZRHZ ORI B R A 7)), a subsidiary of SZCDG,
under which they will deepen comprehensive cooperation in such areas
as parking scenario construction, operation and management services,
value-added operation services, road-by parking, project sites security,
dedicated line services and intelligent project sites construction. On 23
February 2022, China South City entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement on distributed green energy with Shenneng Nanjing Energy
Holding Co., Ltd.* ( R AR ¥ B B BR A 8)), a subsidiary of
Shenzhen Energy Group, for carrying out all-round active cooperation in

NP

K BE

the fields of rooftop distributed photovoltaic, cogeneration, carbon asset
management, various types of energy storage, integrated energy, contract
energy management and other fields, marking the formal entrance into
the new energy sector. On 3 March 2022, China South City entered into
a strategic cooperation agreement with Shenzhen Planning Institute, a
subsidiary of SZCDG, for carrying out all-round cooperation in project sites
planning and design, urban renewal planning, architectural design and
other fields based on the nationwide project sites of China South City. On
31 March 2022, China South City reached a cooperation agreement with
Shenzhen International Holdings Limited to effectively revitalize its assets
and further strengthen its cash flow by transferring its Qianlong Logistics’
two high-standard logistics and warehousing projects in Zhengzhou and
Hefei.

*  For identification purpose only
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(E)

Financial Management

During the Year, the Group remained prudent in its financial management
to maintain multi-channel financing for better cash management and debt
structure. The Group has no issuance of senior notes in offshore market.

The Group continued to maintain the smooth development for multiple
financing channels in both domestic and offshore capital markets,
selected the proper window based on market conditions and improved
the overall debt structure. The Group further optimized its debt structure
by repurchasing and cancelling offshore bonds. In addition, since the
financial year of 2020/21 and up to the Year, the Group was granted a
number of domestic long-term bank loans issued by various banks with
terms ranging from 5 to 15 years. Such loans shall significantly extend the
loan terms and increase the flexibility of working capital. On top of the
repayment of the original loans, it allows the Group to acquire additional
liquidity by making full use of property valuation. Looking forward to
the next financial year, the Group will maintain and extend its prudent
and sound financial management strategy as well as flexible and smooth
financing channels in both domestic and offshore capital markets with the
aim of achieving steady growth under healthy financial structure thereby
creating maximum value for shareholders.

Prospects

Looking ahead to the next financial year, the international trade landscape
remains intricate and complicated and routine measures have been taken
for the pandemic prevention and control, which are expected to bring
continuous impact and challenges to the development of enterprises.
China South City will continue to focus on real business and make every
effort to promote transformation and upgrading in line with future
development direction.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(E)

With the successful completion of SZCDG's share subscription, the
comprehensive financial strength of China South City has been further
enhanced, financing channels have been increased and financing costs
are expected to be reduced. Both parties will join hands for future
development by carrying out all-round cooperation at a higher level
and in more fields to achieve complementary advantages and mutual
benefits in a wider scope. We will jointly promote the integration and
complementation of corporate culture, take cultural interconnection as
the “First Move” for inclusive development, move faster to build cultural
consensus and foster a more open and inclusive corporate culture
concept system. We will jointly push the integration and improvement of
management mechanism, fully respect the market-oriented operation and
management mechanism, standardize management in accordance with
the requirements of modern corporate governance, strengthen risk control
and continuously improve management systems. We will also jointly
facilitate resource integration and sharing, focus on open cooperation,
strategic synergy and innovative development and optimize resources in
development and construction, project sites operation, financing resources
and urban renewal to gain momentum and empower high-quality and
sustainable development. In the meantime, the Group will step up efforts
to destock and maintain a safe and sound cash flow to focus on core
industries such as the trade and logistics business.

The Group will continue to adopt a prudent attitude and actively face
challenges. Relying on the “Trade and Logistics+” model that has been
adhered to for many years coupled with market procurement trade
pilot, the national e-commerce demonstration base and other policy
advantages, the Group will continue to improve the trade industry
ecosystem and strive to create an “Integrating Industries into Projects,
Building Beautiful New City Conducive to Work and Life”. For investment
and development business, the Group will draw on SZCDG's advantages
in Shenzhen and the Greater Bay Area to seek development opportunities
such as urban renewal and project sites upgrading projects, revitalize
project sites resources, introduce new industries and create new growth
points. The first phase of the urban renewal project of CSC Shenzhen has
started substantive planning, which includes land area of 430,000 sg.m.
The fully-launched urban renewal projects will also generate new growth
potential for the Group. | warmly welcome SZCDG's strategic subscription
of the shares of China South City to open a new chapter of cooperative
development. | sincerely look forward to the rapid and synergistic
development of both parties under the leadership of the Party Committee
of SZCDG giving full play to the resource advantages of the state-owned
enterprise and promoting the high-quality development of China South
City.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my heartfelt &% @ AAEREZET S HEAEENEERE - &
appreciation to our honourable shareholders, customers and business ~ FLAREBZHE —EH ARG AN EENSEETFEHUA
partners for their ongoing support and trust in the Group. | would also like — SFZRAEGE - RIFMEAIEIRERE THHEER
to thank the management and staff for their dedication and wholehearted 3 Bz AT KFTERI BB KR 20 A -

commitment which have helped China South City grow from strength to

strength.

Cheng Chung Hing o [FN

Chairman and Executive Director FERHTEE

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022 B 2022F6H30H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE D

Business Review

Introduction of State Capital Deepened Cooperation
During the first half of the fiscal year, international trade frictions
continued, domestic and offshore financing environment deteriorated
and economic downward pressure gradually became apparent. A number
of well-known listed companies experienced debt crisis. The continued
tightening of financing policies and liquidity crisis affected the confidence
of the market consumer. According to data released by the National
Bureau of Statistics, China’s gross domestic product (GDP) grew by 4.8%
year-on-year in the first quarter of this year, a significant drop in growth
as compared to the same period last year. As many industries such as real
estate endured a downturn, industries such as trade and logistics were
affected with adverse factors such as the recurring pandemic affecting the
Group's overall operations.

In response to the economic downturn and the complicated and
ever-evolving domestic and international circumstances, the management
and all colleagues of the Company worked hard to overcome the
difficulties. We adjusted operating strategies in a timely manner and
made every effort to promote asset disposal, enhanced operation and
management standard, optimized employee structure, reduced costs
and increased the liquidity of the Company and to maintain safe and
stable operations. During the Reporting Period, China South City and
SZCDG entered into an equity subscription agreement pursuant to which
SZCDG will subscribe 3.35 billion shares of China South City, representing
approximately 29.28% of the total issued share capital as enlarged by
the allotment and issue of shares forging a strong alliance based on the
principle of “Complementary Strengths, Strategic Synergies and Innovative
Development”. After the completion of the subscription, SZCDG becomes
the substantial and single largest shareholder of China South City. With
introduction of a substantial shareholder as a state-owned enterprise,
China South City can further integrate resources, improve industries,
reduce financing costs and strengthen its comprehensive financial
strength. The Group can also take the advantage of SZCDG's investment
to reduce the Company’s financing costs and optimize its debt structure
by lengthening the average tenor of its loan facilities, both of which are
beneficial to the long-term development of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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In addition, the Company continued to push ahead with assets disposal,
especially the sale of large-scale assets, to accelerate the recovery of
capital funds. For example, capital funds of more than RMB1.7 billion
were recovered through disposing two high-standard logistics and
warehousing projects of Qianlong Logistics Group Co., Ltd. in Zhengzhou
and Hefei, and income of approximately RMB1.3 billion was generated
for the Group by disposing its warehousing project in Xi‘an and entering
into a land resumption agreement with the Xi’an government. In the
future, the Company will continue to proceed asset realization to provide
additional financial support for the Company.

On the basis of stabilizing the project site operations, the Group has
proactively expanded in newer industries and newer businesses and
achieved the collaborative development of multiple industries by
continuously improving the standard of merchant recruitment and
operations. On the one hand, China South City strengthened and
upgraded its presence in the original industries. For example, the grand
opening of the first fourth-generation Wanda Plaza in CSC Shenzhen
demonstrated a perfect complement to the existing businesses of CSC
Shenzhen; CSC Nanchang was approved as the National E-Commerce
Demonstration Base and became the second national e-commerce base
following CSC Shenzhen; CSC Chongqing built a famous hotel supplies
cluster and CSC Nanning has introduced sports industry projects in
another example of the promotion of a new industry cluster. On the other
hand, with the opportunity of introducing state capital, China South
City has begun comprehensive and renewed cooperation activities to
continuously explore new value and growth.
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After entering into a strategic cooperation agreement with SZCDG on 30
December 2021, on 16 February 2022, China South City entered into a
contract with Pengcheng Zhihui Gongxiang Technology (Shenzhen) Co.,

Ltd.* (B ZHEZRFORYD AR A E]), a subsidiary of SZCDG, under

which they will cooperate in such areas as parking scenario construction,
operation and management services, value-added operation services and
intelligent project sites construction to upgrade the intelligent parking
system of the project sites in all aspects. On 23 February 2022, China
South City entered into a strategic cooperation agreement on distributed
=
BERIEAR B BR A /), a subsidiary of Shenzhen Energy Group, for carrying

NN

green energy with Shenneng Nanjing Energy Holding Co., Ltd.* (RBERE
out all-round active cooperation in the fields of rooftop distributed
photovoltaic, cogeneration, carbon asset management, various types of
energy storage, integrated energy, contract energy management and
other fields, marking the formal entrance into the new energy sector.
On 3 March 2022, China South City entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement with Shenzhen Planning Institute, a subsidiary of SZCDG, for
carrying out all-round cooperation in project sites planning and design,
urban renewal planning, architectural design and other fields based on the
nationwide project sites of China South City and starting the substantive
planning of the first phase of the urban renewal project in CSC Shenzhen.
This cooperation reflects the cooperation between the Company and state
capital, in particular SZCDG.

During the Year, the Group’s total revenue was HK$10,311.6 million
(FY2020/21: HK$11,309.3 million). Its recurring income was HK$2,958.2
million (FY2020/21: HK$2,765.4 million), accounting for 28.7% of the
total revenue (FY2020/21: 24.5%). Gross profit margin was 29.3%
(FY2020/21: 43.7%). Core net profit attributable to owners of the parent
was HK$649.0 million (FY2020/21: HK$1,885.6 million). Profit attributable
to owners of the parent was HK$760.2 million (FY2020/21: HK$2,415.5
million). Basic earnings per share amounted to HK9.39 cents (FY2020/21:
HK29.85 cents).

*  For identification purpose only
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Investment and Development Division

Project Investment and Development

The investment and development division mainly focuses on the Group’s
project investment, development and construction, laying a solid
foundation for subsequent merchant recruitment and project operations.
To meet local demands of projects in different places, the Group has
developed various types of commercial complexes in a number of
projects. Multi-purpose commercial properties and auxiliary facilities have
been developed in various places such as Zhengzhou, Xi‘an, Nanchang
and Shenzhen. Furthermore, government service centres, science and
education industries, sports industries and e-commerce industries have
been introduced in certain projects. In the previous fiscal year, the
investment and development division further promoted cost reduction
and efficiency improvement, carried out de-stocking, de-leveraging
and optimized the staffing structure thus creating a stable corporate
development environment.

CSC Shenzhen

As of 31 March 2022, construction of a GFA of approximately 2.39 million
sg.m. was completed in CSC Shenzhen; in addition, planned construction
of a GFA of approximately 250,000 sg.m. was underway.

CSC Nanchang

As of 31 March 2022, construction a GFA of approximately 2.40 million
sg.m. was completed in CSC Nanchang; in addition, planned construction
of a GFA of approximately 710,000 sg.m. was underway.

CSC Nanning

As of 31 March 2022, construction of a GFA of approximately 1.95 million
sg.m. was completed in CSC Nanning; in addition, planned construction
of a GFA of approximately 150,000 sg.m. was underway.
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CSC Xi‘an

The development of CSC Xi'an is well underway with a GFA of
approximately 2.41 million sq.m. completed; in addition, planned
construction of a GFA of approximately 760,000 sg.m. was underway.

CSC Harbin

The development of CSC Harbin is well underway with a GFA of
approximately 1.91 million sq.m. completed; in addition, planned
construction of a GFA of approximately 880,000 sq.m. was underway.

CSC Zhengzhou

The development of CSC Zhengzhou is well underway with a total GFA
of approximately 5.21 million sgq.m. completed; in addition, planned
construction of a GFA of approximately 2.11 million sg.m. was underway.

CSC Hefei

The development of CSC Hefei is well underway with a GFA of
approximately 3.68 million sq.m. completed; in addition, planned
construction of a GFA of approximately 640,000 sg.m. was underway.

CSC Chongging

The development of CSC Chongqging is well underway with a GFA
of approximately 2.33 million sq.m. completed; in addition, planned
construction of a GFA of approximately 500,000 sq.m. was underway.
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Logistics and Warehousing Services

Qianlong Logistics, a subsidiary of the Group, is an integrated modern
logistics enterprise. As a professional operator of e-commerce, logistics
and information industrial parks, it adopted the “Internet + Logistics
Parks” operation mode to realize the integration of information and
resources between transportation, warehousing, distribution and
other logistics services providers and production, manufacturing, sales,
e-commerce and other cargo owners across the country through the
platform focusing on the establishment of the integrated CSC logistics
network. Qianlong Logistics has vigorously expanded its comprehensive
third-party logistics services of warehousing and distribution. It has set up
subsidiaries in 16 core cities in China and vigorously developed logistics
resources in the Greater Bay Area and Yangtze River Delta. It has built
more than 1 million sq.m. of standardized and modernized e-commerce
logistics industrial parks that are already in operation adopting various
technical means and applications such as big data, artificial intelligence,
automated equipment, visualization, sensors etc., striving to transform
and upgrade itself to intelligent and digital modern logistics in all aspects.
During the Reporting Period, Qianlong Logistics completed warehouse
area reached cooperation with renowned manufacturers both at home
and abroad and enhanced its service level by upgrading the warehouse
standard comprehensively. It was awarded “The First Batch of MNC
Regional Headquarter” and “Outstanding Logistics and Supply Chain
Service Provider” in the 2021 CILF. Besides, Qianlong Logistics has
successfully achieved large-scale replication. Capital funds of more than
RMB2 billion were recovered through transferring certain mature projects
in Xi'an, Zhengzhou and Hefei, which has greatly strengthened the cash

flow of the Group.
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Outlet Operations

Huasheng Outlet, a subsidiary of the Group, is specialized in outlet
development and operation, and increasingly enhances its commercial
value through professional and effective commercial asset management.
Benefiting from upgrading transportation, improving auxiliary facilities and
the opening of Wanda Plaza, Huasheng Outlet continued to attract huge
customer flows. It also held the “10th Anniversary Celebration” activities
and the Brand Supplier Alliance to further expand its influence and lay
the foundation for future development. During the Reporting Period,
Huasheng Outlet won the honours of Outstanding Performance Award of
2021 Shenzhen Shopping Festival, High-Quality Economic Development
Growth Award of Jiangnan District in Nanning City and Outstanding
Enterprise in Industrial Development Contribution of Xi‘an International
Trade and Logistics Park.

Business Management Division

The Service Spirit of “Go Out and Invite In” was Successfully
Implemented for Cooperation in Merchants Recruitment

The Business Management team is mainly dedicated to the Group's
project tenant recruitment and operation management providing
professional operation and management services for all links of China
South City, including development, investing and financing. The business
scope includes trade centres, logistics parks, hotels, comprehensive
business centres, commercial blocks, ancillary residential, multi-functional

properties etc.
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During the Reporting Period, with the repeated outbreak of the pandemic,
some exhibition and marketing activities were reduced, visitor flow
decreased and operating costs further increased. In response to many
unfavourable external factors such as economic downward pressure,
pandemic and torrential rain, adhering to the investment strategy of
“Introducing Large and Good Merchants” and the service spirit of “Go
Out and Invite In”, the Business Management division of China South
City promoted change in merchant recruitment from quantity to quality
through external cooperation and internal and external interactions
thus making new breakthroughs in merchant recruitment. Longgang
Wanda Plaza, the first fourth-generation Wanda Plaza in CSC Shenzhen,
opened in September last year and has attracted more than 200,000
visitors on its first day with an average daily flow of more than 100,000
visitors in a single month. CSC Zhengzhou organized the industry
benchmark event — CSC Home Building Materials Expo — which provides
an influential and aggregated exhibition and sales platform for businesses.
With the opportunity of the “14th National Games”, CSC Xi'an has
comprehensively enhanced the quality of the project site. CSC Nanning
has focused on industry upgrade and successfully introduced sports
industry projects; CSC Nanchang was awarded the “National E-commerce
Demonstration Base” and its B2B offline supermarket supply warehouse
project commenced in September. CSC Hefei has continued to expand
its education and training business. CSC Chongging and CSC Harbin
made progress in relocation of old markets. CSC Harbin has attracted
old market merchants to renew business contracts for small commodities
and hardware and building materials; CSC Chongqing has successfully
developed the hotel supplies market and created a preferred platform for
wholesale procurement in the hotel supplies industry in Southwest China.
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In addition, the Group and the person in charge of merchants recruitment
in each city endeavoured to proceed with merchants recruitment. We
visited various e-commerce associations, hardware and machinery
chambers of commerce, home building materials associations, automobile
and motorcycle associations, second hand car industry associations,
Chaoshan Chamber of Commerce and other business associations, invited
national industry associations and famous enterprises to pay field visits,
and organized various key activities, such as “CSC Chongqging Hotel
Supplies District Merchants Recruitment Meeting”, “Southwest Hefei
Development Summit Forum and CSC-Brand Signing Conference”, “CSC
Nanchang Second Hand Car Market Merchants Recruitment Conference
& CSC Motor Vehicle Registration Service Station Trial Operation”, “CSC
Nanchang Trade and Logistics & Huasheng Outlet Merchants Recruitment
Conference and Business Appreciation Meeting”, “Heilongjiang Province
Enterprise Benefiting Policy Interpretation and CSC Harbin Education
and Training Industry Inspection and Exchange Conference” and “CSC
Zhengzhou Development Dialogue Summit Forum”, enabling the
implementation of many projects and the contract signing of brands such
as Yuzhou Household and Building Materials Market and Jiangxi Tea

Service Centre.

During the Reporting Period, the overall layout of China South City
highly adheres to major national development strategies such as the
“Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area” and “Accelerated
Push for Building a National Unified Market” which focuses on optimizing
the trade and logistics infrastructure vigorously developing the third-party
logistics system. Under the top-level design and strategic deployment
of the central government for the reform, China South City will expand
and strengthen its trading and logistics industry in close compliance with
industrial policies of the central government and local governments to
build a special consumption centre in the Greater Bay Area.
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Property Leasing and Property Management

The Group implements diversified property management mode. As a
leading developer and operator of large-scale integrated commercial
logistics and trade centres in China, China South City has developed
diversified and flexible property management and ancillary services model
to ensure stable revenue sources and sustainable development in the
future. Residential facilities, shopping malls, wholesale markets, as well
as conference and exhibition are developed to create synergy. Business
is tuned and optimized according to local market demands. After years
of development, the property management division has gained National
First-Class Property Management Qualification. It was one of the few
integrated property management enterprises capable of managing
both trade centre premises and residential properties in China. During
the Reporting Period, China South City was awarded the “2021 China
Excellent Corporations of the Characteristic Industrial New Town” and
“Top 100 Commodity Markets in China”. Also, First Asia Pacific Property
Management, a subsidiary of China South City, was awarded the honour
of “The 40th Anniversary Brand Enterprise of Guangdong Property
Management Industry”.

As the projects in various cities matured over time, the Group continuously
seeks to add multiple streams of income to improve its operation,
including advertising and exhibitions, temporary space leasing and parking
charge. Meanwhile, the Group continued to strengthen digitalization on
its property management through the application of mobile payment,
online payment, electronic invoicing, smart device control, etc., with a
view to provide higher usability while significantly reducing manpower
costs at the same time increasing efficiency.

Exhibitions and Events

During the Reporting Period, the development of various exhibition
activities was adversely affected due to the recurring pandemic and
the consequential requirements for pandemic prevention and control.
The Group organized several large-scale exhibitions and events while
actively implementing the pandemic prevention requirements of local
governments.

In April 2021, the “Zhuang March 3 — Bagui Carnival” and the 6th CSC
“March 3" Folk Culture Festival was held topping hot searches in Douyin’s

same city section and attracting more than 150,000 visits.
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In May 2021, CSC Zhengzhou held the “2021 Central Region Building
Materials & Hardware Trade Fair — Spring” covering an area of nearly
40,000 sg.m. with more than 1,600 standard booths including more than
1,200 booths for the existing merchants in China South City with the
remaining 400 booths open to the public.

In September 2021, China South City and Qianlong Logistics attended the
"16th China (Shenzhen) International Logistics and Supply Chain Fair in
2021". During the fair, Qianlong Logistics was also awarded the “Excellent
Logistics and Supply Chain Service Provider” in the 2021 China (Shenzhen)
International Logistics and Supply Chain Fair organized by the Shenzhen
Logistics and Supply Chain Management Association.

In October 2021, CSC Zhengzhou held the “2021 Central Region Building
Materials & Hardware Trade Fair — Autumn” covering a total area of
approximately 40,000 sg.m. offering a total of 1,200 standard booths to
more than 1,000 exhibitors. Within the three days, it achieved sales of
approximately RMB60 million, acquired intended orders of approximately
RMB150 million and attracted many citizens from the surrounding area.

In January 2022, The New Year Goods Festival under the theme of “Happy
City — Chinese New Year” was held aiming to create a one-stop New
Year shopping platform through the combination of online and offline
channels reliving the traditional atmosphere in the New Year.

In addition, China South City also held various marketing campaigns and
small-scale exhibitions across its various projects to attract more customer
flows and expand its brand influence.
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Strengthening the Senior Management Team

In order to meet the rapid development needs of the Group’s businesses,
China South City has continued to strengthen its senior management
team to ensure that its long-term development goals are achieved
with the best combination of administrative resources and operational
capabilities.

On 16 June 2022, Mr. Wan Hongtao (“Mr. Wan") has been appointed
as an Executive Director and the Group’s Vice President. Mr. Wan is
primarily in charge of the Company’s operation management, strategic
coordination and new business development. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Wan previously held various positions in SZCDG and its certain
subsidiaries, including a supervisor of Guangdong Special Construction
Development East Investment Co., Ltd.* (ERFEZERPILEARAR]),
a subsidiary of SZCDG; and the deputy director of the Discipline Inspection
and Supervision Office (Office of the Board of Supervisors), the deputy
director of the Office (Secretariat of the Board of Directors), and the
director of the Office (Secretariat of the Board of Directors) of SZCDG. Mr.
Wan graduated from Nanjing University of Science and Technology with a
major in Economic Law and a minor in Accounting in 2000, and obtained
a Master’s degree in Business Administration from Lanzhou University in
2016.

On 16 June 2022, Mr. Qin Wenzhong (“Mr. Qin") has been appointed as
an Executive Director and the Group’s Financial Controller. He is primarily
in charge of the Company’s internal audit, financial management, tax
management and fund management, coordinating the financing of the
Company and is responsible for coordinating domestic financing, etc.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Qin previously held various positions in
SZCDG and its certain subsidiaries, including the head of the cost contract
audit department and the head of the financial management department
of SZCDG. Mr. Qin is currently the chairman of the board of directors
of Shenzhen Special Construction Development Asia Business Private
Equity Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd* (RIS LE
R EH S EE AR AR]), a subsidiary of SZCDG. Mr. Qin obtained a
Bachelor of Economics from Peking University in 1988.

*  For identification purpose only
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On 16 June 2022, Ms. Shen Lifeng (“Ms. Shen”) has been appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Board. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Shen served as the legal
director and deputy general manager of China Textile Import & Export
Corporation Hebei Branch Company* (45 # H O 48R B dEE 5 A F)),
the executive deputy general manager of Shenglun Import & Export Group
Co., Ltd. (BBmiE T O EE % BBR A F]), the vice chairman of board
of directors and the general manager of Shaanxi Kunzheng Mining Co.,
Ltd.* (PP IERE S A% 1D B R 2 &), the chief executive officer of Hong
Kong Porda Havas International Financial Communication Group* (& /&
1o S 2 F R B 4C{B AT ). Ms. Shen is currently an executive director
of China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited (stock code:
1427) and an independent non-executive director of Hebei Construction
Group Corporation Limited (stock code: 1727), shares of both companies
are listed on the Stock Exchange. She is also the deputy secretary general
of the Hong Kong State-owned Assets Investment Association and an
independent director of SZCDG. Ms. Shen has solid basic professional
knowledge of civil law, company law, financial law and other civil and
commercial law. She has worked in multinational institutions in Hong
Kong for 7 years and has 20 years of experience in large state-owned
enterprises, foreign companies, multinational companies, and had been
executives and independent directors of listed companies. Ms. Shen
obtained a Master’s degree in Sociology from the University of Hong
Kong, a Master’s degree in Economics from Hebei University, and a Ph.D
in Civil and Commercial Law from Peking University.

Under the leadership of the Board, the strengthened senior management
team will lead the Group to create greater value for shareholders and
propel the goal of comprehensive transformation and upgrade.

*  For identification purpose only
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Land Bank

Adapting a unique and flexible business model, the Group intends
to retain commercial properties including logistics and warehousing
facilities and hotels as well as certain trade centre units for self-use or
long-term leasing purposes in order to generate stable recurring income
and achieve asset appreciation. The remaining trade centre units and
residential facilities will be listed for sale to generate cash flow for the
Group's development. The first phase of the urban renewal project of
CSC Shenzhen has started substantive planning. On 3 March 2022,
CSC Shenzhen entered into a strategic cooperation agreement with
Shenzhen Planning Institute, a subsidiary of SZCDG, for carrying out all-
round cooperation in project sites planning and design, urban renewal
planning, architectural design and other fields based on the nationwide
project sites of China South City. Meanwhile, after SZCDG secured a
stake in the Company, the Group will deepen its cooperation with SZCDG
and state capital in the future especially to draw on SZCDG's advantages
in Shenzhen and the Greater Bay Area in order to seek development
opportunities such as urban renewal and project sites upgrading projects,
revitalization of project sites resources, introduction of new industries
thereby creating new growth.

Tt

BFHEBREERREENRRES  ARERREET
VRERRERE  BESHEVELBRR ST LA
WIERBEENRMLERS - WESREHELKA
AREERE M TNERR S0 EHE R ETER
E AEEFEFHE  RAKBEZEREHAFHOR
B o AYIFERR T EIABEAELREIRE
B 0 20224F3 A3 H ERM AR R R EE TR
ERBE ARG BT BERERERRER - &
BERBIR  BHEHARE - BEERFFRERRA
2HUAE  ARESREZERBEARARER - KK

&
~F

@ 37e

SEeREFREXEBLEENGE  KrlZH
REERIEKERNES  SHENR  BEARS

TREE  BEIERER - SIAERE  8lEHRE
=& -

Properties
planned
for future Planned GFA for
Properties  development Total acquired land
under on GFA planned (% to total
Projects Completed properties” development acquired? GFA® planned GFA)*
REME CEHitRE
RRBEN BEEE
BEH Bt EEECE ] (sERERgE
b= BRINE L BEEE? BEEREY AEAEAL)
Saleable
and in
(in sq.m.) Sold operation Estimated Estimated
(FA%) BE WEREET st Bt
(SC Shenzhen YR 923,100 1,469,200 248,800 66,200 2,707,300 2,707,300 100%
(SC Nanchang EEE 1,407,000 993,900 710,700 1,682,800 6,866,000 4,794,400 70%
(SC Nanning HEEER 695,100 1,258,000 154,800 372,100 4,880,000 2,480,000 51%
CSC Xi'an FRERH 1,644,900 767,600 761,500 995,000 17,500,000 4,169,000 24%
CSC Harbin REZEY 708,300 1,205,900 881,500 2,980,400 12,000,000 5,776,100 48%
(SC Zhengzhou EIfh 3,175,000 2,035,000 2,111,200 2,871,000 12,000,000 10,192,200 85%
CSC Hefei ARERH 2,447,100 1,229,100 641,200 1,675,600 12,000,000 5,993,000 50%
(SC Chongging EEERN 915,200 1,419,000 495,400 3,672,200 13,100,000 6,501,800 50%
Total i 11,915,700 10,377,700 6,005,100 14315300 81,053,300 42,613,800 53%
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Notes:

(1

Represents the GFA for which the construction of all various types
of buildings had been completed, including properties held for sales,
warehouses, multi-purpose commercial properties, hotels and trade centres
held for rental purpose as well as self-use properties.

@)

Represents the remaining GFA after deducting the completed properties and
properties under development from the total planned GFA for acquired land.

(©)

Represents the planned GFA upon establishment of the projects. The actual
land and GFA to be acquired or built are subject to different factors and may
vary subsequently.

)

Represents the planned GFA for the land acquired including completed
properties, properties under development and properties planned for future
development. The actual GFA may vary subsequently according to needs of
the Group.

Financial Review

The main objective of the Group’s financial management is to pursue
long-run sustainable growth while maintaining financial health through a
strong and stable capital base.

The Group proactively adjusts its business development strategies, the
pace of land acquisition and other capital expenditures in concurrence
with its cash flows from operating and financing activities, in order to
maintain liquidity while uphold growth momentum.

The Group actively manages its financing structure through various
financing channels, from onshore and offshore bank loans to different
interbank and capital market instruments, in order to achieve an optimal
capital structure and maturity profile. As at 31 March 2022, the total
interest-bearing debts of the Group were HK$35,975.4 million (31
March 2021: HK$37,345.4 million). The gearing ratio was 69.4% (31
March 2021: 67.6%). Furthermore, as at 31 March 2022, cash and bank
balances were HK$4,681.1 million (31 March 2021: HK$9,442.8 million).
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Comparing with the last fiscal year, the revenue of the Group decreased
by 8.8% to HK$10,311.6 million (FY2020/21: HK$11,309.3 million),
and the core net profit attributable to owners of the parent decreased
by 65.6% to HK$649.0 million (FY2020/21: HK$1,885.6 million) during
the Year. Net profit attributable to owners of the parent decreased by
68.5% to HK$760.2 million (FY2020/21: HK$2,415.5 million) and the
basic earnings per share decreased to HK9.39 cents (FY2020/21: HK29.85
cents). The decrease in net profit attributable to owners of the parent and
basic earnings per share are mainly due to (i) decline in average selling
price of properties delivered during the Year, resulting in the decrease
in the gross profit margin; (ii) the decline in commercial properties
leasing demand in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic and depressed
macro market environment, resulting in a decrease in fair value gain on
investment properties; (iii) increase in finance cost; and (iv) increase in the
provision for inventory impairment.

Revenue

Revenue for the Year decreased by 8.8% to HK$10,311.6 million
(FY2020/21: HK$11,309.3 million) comparing with last fiscal year. The
decrease was mainly attributable to less sales and delivery of properties
during the Year.

HEFHBREFELR - AEEBRRFEZNRAR D
8.8% £103.116B & 7T (202021 A ERFfE : 113.093
BT MEBRAREAR ABEMLZLFFERD
65.6% % 6.4901&8 71 (20202 1B L F[Z : 18.856 18
PEIT) o PR TEIHEA AR FFER ) 68.5%%7.602
BAETC(2020218 U [E « 2415588 70) - B/ E
RNEFIF A ZE9.39781L (202021 B K E E : 29.8578
i) - BAREA ARGEFERERERBFIR DX
Z)FARNHMENTHEE TR - BREN KR
D (NZTEEEUERRREMISRIES -
PHEHERTRKTER BRIREMELTEBERER
Do iR ERAR B ARG EETRE S REE
e

WA

BEFHRFELR  AEENKRARD88%E
103.116 878 7T (2020721 B BUF & + 113.093 8%
) RPEEZERARERAFERIOMEHER
RAFFTER

FY2021/2022 FY2020/2021 Change
2021/22 2020/21
HHREE HEFE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 %
FHET FAT %
Sales of properties and MIZIHE K&
finance lease income RERSWA 7,353,478 8,543,938 -13.9
Sales of properties HEYZE 4,302,115 8426,662 -48.9
Finance lease income BEHEUA 579,892 117,276 +394.5
Others Py 2,471,471 - N/A
Recurring income =H AT PN 2,958,150 2,765,366 +7.0
Property leasing and VEi
management service income FRFEMA 1,629,290 1,523,386 +7.0
Other recurring revenue Hppts B M A 1,328,860 1,241,980 +7.0
10,311,628 11,309,304 -8.8
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Sales of Properties and Finance Lease income

Revenue from sales of properties decreased by 48.9% to HK$4,302.1
million (FY2020/21:
attributable to less sales and delivery of properties during the Year.

HK$8,426.7 million). The decrease was mainly

Finance lease income derived from the leasing of office buildings increased
significantly by 394.5% to HK$579.9 million (FY2020/21: HK$117.3
million). The increment was primarily attributable to more finance lease
income on office building at CSC Shenzhen made during the Year.

Property Leasing and Management Service Income

The Group intends to retain certain of the trade centre units for
self-use or rental purposes. Meanwhile, the Group also provide property
management services for its trade centres, shops and residential
properties delivered and in use. Given the diversity of its property
types and industries in China South City projects, the Group’s business
management division continued to provide diversified leasing and property
management services, to cater the needs of different property types and
industries across respective projects during the Year. Property leasing
and management service income will become an important component
of the recurring income of the Group in the long run. CSC Shenzhen,
being the more mature project in the Group’s portfolio, contributed a
substantial part of the property leasing and property management service
income. During the Year, property leasing and property management
service income of the Group increased by 7.0% to HK$1,629.3 million
(FY2020/21: HK$1,523.4 million) comparing to last fiscal year.

Other Recurring Revenue

Other recurring revenue increased by 7.0% to HK$1,328.9 million
(FY2020/21: HK$1,242.0 million). As different business segment gradually
recover under the pandemic, revenue from logistics and warehousing
services increased 3.5% to HK$436.3 million (FY2020/21: HK$421.5
million) during the Year. It is worth noting that the continuous and
direct impact of the novel coronavirus outbreak, the revenue from outlet
operations decreased 33.2% to HK$358.7 million (FY2020/21: HK$536.9
million), which in turn affected the growth rate in the Group's overall

recurring income.

HEMERBEHEERA
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Cost of Sales

The Group's cost of sales mainly includes construction costs, borrowing
costs and land costs of properties sold and properties sold under finance
lease, and operating costs of recurring business. During the Year, the
cost of sales increased by 14.5% to HK$7,286.4 million (FY2020/21:
HK$6,365.1 million). The increase in cost of sales was mainly due to the
increase in GFA of properties delivered by the Group during the Year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit decreased by 38.8% to HK$3,025.3 million (FY2020/21:
HK$4,944.2 million). During the Year, gross profit margin decreased to
29.3% (FY2020/21: 43.7%), which was mainly due to the decrease in
average selling price of properties sold.

Other Income and Gains/(Losses)

During the year, other income increased by 12.9% to HK$297.9 million
(FY2020/21: HK$264.0 million), which was mainly attributable to the
increase in interest income. In addition, during the Year, other gains/(losses)
turned back from the losses of HK$284.7 million to the gains of HK$804.2
million, which was mainly attributable to the gains on land resumption.

Fair Value Gains on Investment Properties

The fair value gains on investment properties was HK$148.2 million
(FY2020/21: HK$1,054.3 million), mainly attributable to the decline in
commercial properties leasing demand in the midst of the COVID-19
pandemic and depressed macro market environment, resulting in a
decrease in fair value gain on investment properties. During the Year, the
fair value gain mainly comes from logistics and warehousing assets.

For each of the interim and annual financial reporting date, the Group
appoints an independent professional qualified valuer to determine the
fair value of our investment properties. The change in fair value of our
investment properties may be affected by a variety of internal and external
factors, such as rental area, rental rate, market prices of comparable
properties.
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Based on our business model, the Group may have new additions of
investment properties every year that generate fair value gains. The fair
value gains/(losses) may fluctuate with time due to the change in the
volume of the investment properties, the change in market conditions and
different construction phrases of our projects. Therefore, the amount of
fair value gains/(losses) will also fluctuate accordingly.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group's selling and distribution expenses decreased by 24.1% to
HK$369.2 million (FY2020/21: HK$486.1 million). The decrease was
mainly attributable to the implementation of effective cost control
measures over marketing activities on the sales of properties during the
Year, and certain property sales are directly sold by the Group to end
customers rather than through intermediaries.

Administrative Expenses
Administrative expenses decreased by 2.6% to HK$1,014.6 million
(FY2020/21: HK$1,041.5 million), which remained almost the same as last

year.

Other Expenses
Other expenses increased by 15.5% to HK$473.2 million (FY2020/21:
HK$409.6 million), which was mainly attributable to the impairment of
trade receivables, properties held for sales, goodwill and financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets and other
long-term receivables.

Finance Costs

Finance costs increased by 23.6% to HK$788.9 million (FY2020/21:
HK$638.4 million). Due to the change in capital market conditions, the
Group's weighted average financing cost increased to 9.0% as at March
2022 (31 March 2021: 8.4%).

The average financing cost of bank and other borrowings, medium term
notes, domestic company bonds and senior notes are 8.2%, 8.5%, 8.0%
and 10.5% respectively as at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021: 7.1%,
8.5%, 8.0% and 10.0%).
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Tax

Income tax expenses recorded a decrease of 11.8% to HK$870.7 million
(FY2020/21: HK$987.0 million), which was due to the relevant tax effect
of the drop in fair value gains of investment properties and the decrease
in revenue and operating profits during the Year.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group finances its development and operations primarily through
internally generated funds, bank and other borrowings, and the issuance
of different types of bonds and notes on the onshore and offshore
market, which includes but not limited to senior notes, short-term notes,
medium-term notes, corporate bonds and domestic company bonds. The
Group will continue to explore different financing means and to extend its

financing channels.

Cash and Bank Balances

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had HK$4,681.1 million cash and bank
balances (31 March 2021: HK$9,442.8 million). The Group's cash and
bank balances were primarily denominated in Renminbi, HK dollars and
US dollars.

Borrowing and Charges on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 March 2022, the total interest-bearing debts of the Group was
HK$35,975.4 million (31 March 2021: HK$37,345.4 million). The details
of borrowings and charges on the Group's assets are set out below.

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

The Group had aggregated interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
of HK$21,083.6 million as at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021:
HK$18,899.0 million), of which HK$8,530.8 million is repayable within
one year or on demand, HK$5,941.6 million will be repayable in the
second year, HK$2,178.2 million will be repayable in the third to fifth
years and HK$4,433.0 million will be repayable after five years. As at 31
March 2022, the Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of
approximately HK$20,600.3 million were secured by certain buildings,
investment properties, properties under development, properties held
for finance lease, properties held for sales and bank deposits with a total
carrying value of approximately HK$51,955.5 million.

All interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group were
denominated in HK dollars, Renminbi and US dollars with interest rates
range from 3.75% to 15.00% (31 March 2021: 3.75% to 12.00%) per

annum.
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Insurance of Notes REBZBT

Senior Notes BERE

During the Year, the Company repaid 11.5% senior notes due 2021 with ~ AARFE * A AT ER2021F8 AR HREERSE
a principal amount of US$200 million upon maturity in August 2021 2{83£70211.5%2021F E AR E L = iE K E 72021
and 6.75% senior notes due 2021 with a principal amount of US$315.9  4F9 A B HARHERE A ©5E3.159183ET.26.75%20214F
million upon maturity in September 2021. BB EAEE -

During the Year, the Company made on-market repurchase of 6.75%  RAFE » NAFHR20214F7 A M8 ANTIHE
senior notes due 2021 with a principal amount of US$16.808 million in A% %81,680.8& 3% JT 2 6.75%2021 E| B 9 B L ==
July and August 2021, 11.5% senior notes due 2022 with a principal & : B2021F7 AR M HEE B A S FE200EETL 2
amount of US$2 million in July 2021 and 10.875% senior notes due 2022 11.5%2022 8| HiM @£ 2% « RFR2021F7 ARTH
with a principal amount of US$4 million in July 2021. The repurchased  [EIFEAREE4008 X T,210.875%2022 5| B E L E

notes were cancelled accordingly. & - ZELERIBC TS -
Details of movement are set out below: BEFBFHINT ¢
Dec 2019 Sep 2020
Sep and and Feb and and
Aug 2020 Oct 2016 Jan 2020 Jun 2020 Nov 2017 Jan 2021 Mar 2021
11.5% 6.75% 11.5% 10.875% 1.25% 10.75% 11.95%
senior notes  senior notes  senior notes  senior notes  senior notes  senior notes  senior notes
Issued Date due 2021 due 2021 due 2022 due 2022 due 2022 due 2023 due 2023
20195 20205
12K 98K
2020 20165 20205 20205 20175 2021 20215
88 9% 10A 1A 2K6A 118 1A 38
11.5% 6.75% 11.5% 10.875% 7.25% 10.75% 11.95%
2021%F 2021 2022 2022 2022 2023%F 20235
E}- Jd ) ) )l ) ) )
BITHE BARE BARE BEARE BEEE BEEE BEER BEARE
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
T T % T % % %
Issued nominal value BIEE 200,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 300,000 370,000 225,000
As at 1 April 2021 R2021E4 711 200,000 332,700 350,000 350,000 276,500 370,000 225,000
Repayment upon maturity B R B (200,000) (315,892) - - - - -
Repurchase and cancellation fBE R - (16,808) (2,000) (4,000 - - -
As at 31 March 2022 %202293A31H - - 348,000 346,000 276,500 370,000 225,000

All of the notes above are listed and traded on the Singapore Stock  _bilFiBZBEAEFHIFEELFZFHALITLES -
Exchange.
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As at 31 March 2022, the carrying value of senior notes were
HK$12,295.2 million (31 March 2021: HK$15,947.7 million). The senior
notes are jointly guaranteed by certain subsidiaries and part of the senior
notes are secured by pledges of share of certain subsidiaries.

Medium-Term Notes

In April 2019, China South International Industrial Materials City
(Shenzhen) Company Limited (“China South International”) issued the
first tranche of the medium-term notes of 2019 with a total principal
amount of RMB600 million with a maximum maturity period of 3 years
and at an interest rate of 8.5% per annum. The amount was fully settled
on April 2022.

Domestic Company Bonds

In August 2019, China South International issued the first and second
tranche of the domestic company bonds of 2019 with an aggregate
principal amount of RMB1.4 billion with a maximum maturity period of 3
years and at an interest rate of 8% per annum. In July 2021, the principal
amount of RMB12 million of domestic company bonds were sold back to
China South International and then the outstanding principal balance was
RMB1.388 billion.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying values of China South International’s
medium-term notes were HK$799.4 million (31 March 2021: HK$765.6
million) and domestic company bonds were HK$1,797.3 million (31 March
2021: HK$1,733.1 million).

Gearing Ratio
The Group's gearing ratio (net debt divided by total equity) was 69.4% as
at 31 March 2022, and 67.6% as at 31 March 2021.

Net Current Assets and Current Ratio

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had net current assets of HK$6,426.6
million (31 March 2021: HK$8,427.9 million) and a current ratio of 1.12
(31 March 2021: 1.18).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEN W R (&)

Contingent Liabilities

The Group has provided guarantees mainly with respect to banking
facilities granted by certain banks in connection with mortgage loans
made by purchasers of the Group’s trade centres and residential
properties, and bank loans made by lessees of the Group’s residential and
commercial properties. The guarantees granted to purchasers of trade
centres and residential properties will be released when the purchasers
obtain building ownership certificates, which will then be pledged to the
banks. For leased residential and commercial properties, the guarantees
will be released accordingly when the lessees repaid the loan. Further
details to the above and other matters are set out in notes to the financial
statements.

Commitments

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had future capital expenditure
contracted but not yet provided for amounting to HK$13,512.5 million (31
March 2021: HK$15,429.1 million).

Acquisition and Disposal of Subsidiary and
Associated Companies

The Group had no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and
associated companies during the Year.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group conducts its business primarily in Renminbi. The income and
bank deposits of the Group were substantially denominated in Renminbi
to meet the Group’s development and operation needs in the PRC. Other
than the bank deposits, bank borrowings and senior notes denominated
in foreign currency, the Group does not have any other material exposure
to foreign exchange risk. During the Year, the Group entered into
certain forward currency contract with a bank to hedge the amount of
approximately US$70 million against the foreign exchange exposure. All
forward currency contract had been settled during the Year.

The Group continues to adopt a proactive approach to closely monitor
the foreign currency market and explore the domestic capital market for
financing opportunities. Other hedging arrangements will be made if such

need arises.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Economic, Commercial and Other Risks

The Group may be exposed to the risk of negative developments in
national and regional economies, property and financial markets. It may
result in reductions in sales and selling prices of the properties, rental
rates and occupancy rates of properties, and demand for ancillary services
and facilities it provides. It may also result in recession, inflation, deflation
and currency fluctuations as well as restrictions in the availability of
credit, increases in financing and other operating costs. The development
of the Group’s projects may subject to market risks as it usually takes
time to complete. Though the Group appoints quality partners for the
development of its projects, it may still be subject to associated risk of the
quality and safety of the products and services provided to the Group.
The Group may also be subject to a number of regulatory environments
in the territories in which it operates. Changes in the regulatory approach
to such matters as ownership of assets and businesses, regulations
related to development and operations, exchange controls, tax rules and
employment legislation may impact the business of the Group. Changes
in the political environment in such territories may also affect the business
of the Group. The management of the Group will keep abreast of the
environment and policy changes and make the necessary adjustments
in response to such changes, if any. Further steps taken by the Group to
manage the financial risk are set out in notes to the financial statements.

Land for Projects and Restriction on Sales

The Group enters into project agreements with local governments prior
to the development of all projects in order to outline the long-term
blueprints of relevant projects. These agreements generally set out the
size and use of lands and the related development plans. However, the
actual acquisition of lands, land area and terms and conditions of such
acquisition are subject to the relevant regulations and local governments’
requirements, the Group’s development plans and the results of the
relevant public tender, auction and listing. Since the development of each
of these projects may last for more than ten years, the Group and the
local government may discuss to adjust the details of these agreements to
align with the actual needs of developments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The pace of the land acquisition and project development depends on the
progress of the Group’s planning, as well as the procedural formalities
as determined by the local government departments. As the procedures
and requirements set by different local governments vary, the Group may
adjust the development of each project according to relevant conditions.
In view of its substantial land bank and flexibility in project planning, the
Group believes such circumstances will not have material impact on its
development as a whole.

Pursuant to certain project and land related contracts and documents,
some of the land acquired by the Group may have sales restrictions on
properties built on it. According to the Group's business model, the Group
intends to hold certain trade centres and commercial facilities for leasing
and self-use, the related sales restrictions will not have significant impact
on the Group.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a workforce of 2,816 employees.
The Group aims to recruit, retain and develop competent individuals
who are committed to the Group’s long-term success and growth.
Remunerations and other benefits of employees are reviewed annually
in response to both market conditions and trends, and are based on
qualifications, experience, responsibilities and performance. In addition
to basic salaries and other staff benefits, discretionary bonuses and
share options may be awarded to employees who display outstanding
performance and contributions to the Group. During the Year, the
Company granted in aggregate of 55,000,000 share options to an
executive director and certain employees of the Group.
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Future Plans and Outlook

In the past two decades since 2003, the Group has built a large-scale
integrated commercial logistics and trading platform across the country by
relying on the effort of our outstanding management team and forward-
looking vision. Now, SZCDG has become the largest shareholder of China
South City, with two executive directors from SZCDG participating in the
daily operations of the Group, demonstrating a strong endorsement for
the future development of China South City. China South City and SZCDG
will join forces to seek common development. In particular, the group
will take advantage of SZCDG's presence in Shenzhen, Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area and the Northern Metropolis area
of Hong Kong to pursue more development opportunities such as urban
renewal projects and the upgrade of commercial logistics parks. The
above-mentioned area is one of the most economically dynamic regions
where construction and development prospects are among the best in the
country, implying strong development space and market potential. It is
expected that both parties will develop rapidly under the leadership of the
Party Committee in SZCDG giving full play to the resource advantages of
state-owned enterprises introducing new business formats and promoting
the high-quality development of China South City.
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PROJECT PORTFOLIO

HBAS

Completed Properties held for sale/finance lease

ERTIEHE REREYE

Approx.
Group's land area Approx. GFA
Project Location Interest (sgm)  Description (sqm)
B LimE BHAREER
L] bk AEERS (FHK) AR (FHK)
China South City Shenzhen ~ No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, 100% 1,023,500  Phase | trade centres 1,100
el Pinghu, Longgang District, —HBRG%0
Shenzhen, China
FE Ry = T Phase Il residential facilities 300
EFAE—H “HEERESRR
Logistics zone commercial and other 300
ancillary facilities
WiREREERAMEERE
- Office tower
- Bne
China South City Nanchang ~ No. 1, Huanan Avenue, 100% 1,807,800  Phase | trade centres 171,300
HEERN Honggutan New District, —HZ S50
Nanchang City,
Jiangxi Province, China Phase | residential facilities 2,400
FETEEEE TR —HEERES
EHAE-R
China South City Nanning No. 56, Shajing Avenue, 100% 890,000  Phase | trade centres 357,700
HEER Jiangnan District, —HR G0
Nanning City, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, Phase | residential facilities 1,600
China —HAEEERE
FEERMLRE AEEED
ITrgRE D HRHES65E
China South City Xi'an No. 8, Port Avenue, Xi'an 100% 1,926,000  Phase | trade centres 97,500
ARER International Trade and Logistics —HR S
Park, Xi‘an City,
Shaanxi Province, Phase | multi purpose properties 5,300

China
FERAEERT
AL ERERE
TN L

B EQUEZUES
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Project Portfolio (Continued)
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Completed Properties held for sale/finance lease

ERTIEHE REREYE

Approx.
Group's land area Approx. GFA
Project Location Interest (sgm)  Description (sqm)
B LimE BAZEEE
L] bty AEERS (¥HXK) RA (EHK)
China South City Harbin Tuanjie Town, Daowai District, 100% 2,386,700  Phase | trade centres 643,800
MREEERN Harbin City, —BRSP0
Heilongjiang Province, China
FEREIEREENENE Phase | multi purpose properties 1,700
L B MEmE
Phase | residential facilities 16,600
— B ERERE
China South City Zhengzhou  Longhu Town, Xinzheng City, 100% 3,684,200  Phase | trade centres 648,700
B R Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, —HRS% 0
China
TEABESM BT Phase | residential facilities 12,200
R — B ERERE
China South City Hefei Fanhua Avenue, Taohua Industrial 100% 2,450,100  Phase | trade centres 15,800
AIEERER Park, Feixi County of Hefei City, —HR G0
Auhui Province, China
FEZHEAETERAREIEE
ZEXE
China South City Chongging  No. 1 Dongcheng Avenue, 100% 2,751,400  Phase | trade centres 391,000
BEERY Nanpeng, Banan District, I
Chongging Municipality, China
FEEETERR Phase | residential facilities 125,500

BERBARER

—HEERERE
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Project Portfolio (Continued)
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Investment Properties

BREM=

Group's Approx. GFA
Project Location Interest  Description (sqm)  Lease Term
BOREEE
EH ik rRERE AR (FHX)  RHEH
China South City Shenzhen  No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, 100%  Phase | trade centres 167,100 Medium Term Lease
AR Pinghu, Longgang District, —ERFH R
Shenzhen, China
REAMERET S Phase | commercial and other
AR ancillary facilities
— g RAMEERE
- Business centres 22,400 Medium Term Lease
- ABRD ik
- Hotel properties 31,800 Medium Term Lease
- EEE RN
Phase Il trade centres 446,400 Medium Term Lease
ZHRSH0 RN
Phase Ill trade centres 304,800  Medium Term Lease
ZHRHHR0 ik
- Warehouse 135,600 Medium Term Lease
-RR RN
China South City Nanchang ~ No. 1 Huanan Avenue, 100%  Phase | trade centres 247,000  Medium Term Lease
HEEHR Honggutan New District, —HBR S0 R
Nanchang City, Jiangxi Province,
China
HEIEEREMAARE
BN
China South City Nanning ~ No. 56 Shajing Avenue, 100%  Phase | trade centres and offices 555,200  Medium Term Lease
HEERY Jiangnan District, Nanning City, —BRSPONETE RHRY
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, China
PEEREMLRE AREED
LR D RIES6%
China South City Xi'an No. 8, Port Avenue, Xi'an 100%  Phase | trade centres 401,300 Medium Term Lease
ELER International Tradee and Logistics —ER S0 R

Park, Xi'an City,
Shaanxi Province,
China
HERAERLZH
REERBHE
B AEST:
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Project Portfolio (Continued)

HEAS (&)

Investment Properties

RENE
Group's Approx. GFA
Project Location Interest  Description (sqm)  Lease Term
BOREEE
R ik rEEERE AR (FHR)  ZAES
China South City Harbin Tuanjie Town, Daowai District, 100%  Phase | trade centres and multi 448500 Medium Term Lease
BREEER Harbin City, purpose properties )
Heilongjiang Province, —ERSPUASRENE
China
PEEETIERRETENE
E&R
China South City Zhengzhou  Longhu Town, Xinzheng City, 100%  Phase | trade centres 838,700  Medium Term Lease
BzEm Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, —HBRHH0 R
China
MET B BN THET
e
China South City Hefei Fanhua Avenue, Taohua Industrial 100%  Phase | trade centres and 1,068,400 Medium Term Lease
ARERS Park, Feixi County of Hefei City, warehouse ik
Auhui Province, China —ERSPLMEE
PERRE TR IEE
ZERE
China South City Chongging  No. 1 Dongcheng Avenue, 100%  Phase | trade centres 495400 Medium Term Lease
EEERY Nanpeng, Banan District, —HBZHH0 HhEIRA

Chongaing Municipality, China
PEEETEHE
EEZVIYN - ki
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Project Portfolio (Continued)
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Properties under Development — with Land Use Rights Certificates

REPYX - BELIHERERS

Properties Estimated
Approx.land  Total Planned under completion
Group's area® GFA® Development calendar
Project/Location Interest (sqm) (sqm)  Description (sqm)  Stage of completion year®
B L Rag
R REERY RAE it
BE /1Y A5ERS (FAX) (FA%)  RE (FAX) THER BIEED
1. China South City Shenzhen 100% 1,023,500 2,707300  a. Trade centres, warehouse and other 248,800 Foundation work and 2022-2023
Mgy ancilary facilties superstructure in progress
No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, Pinghu RERL - RRREMEER S HETRRFETREH
Longgang District, Shenzhen, China
RERMEEETA b. Remaining portions - Planning -
ERRES §THH R
2. China South City Nanchang 100% 1,807,800 4,794,400 a. Trade centres, residential, commercial, 710,700  Foundation work and 2022-2023
HEZEH warehouse and other ancilary faclties superstructure in progress
No. 1, Huanan Avenue, REBLFE EE ERRELEE HATRR LETREMR
Honggutan New District, *i
Nanchang City, Jiangxi Province,
China b. Remaining portions - Planning -
HEIREEEMIARHE “84 £2)m
EERE-H
3. China South City Nanning 100% 890,000 2,480,000 a. Trade centres, warehouse and other 154,800 Foundation work and 2022-2023
HEEEY ancillary facilties superstructure in progress
No. 56, Shajing Avenue, Jiangnan Rem - BREIEBEERE WETRREETRENH
District, Nanning City, Guangi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, China b, Remaining portions - Planning -
TEEEMRSARRET @rEn £2)h
TERDHAESS
4. China South City Xi'an 100% 1,926,000 4,169,000 a. Trade centres, commercial, warehouse and 761,500  Foundation work and 2022-2023
AREEN other ancillary facilties superstructure in progress
No. 8, Port Avenue, X/an Interational 250l BE  RRERABEERE WETRRTETREM
Trade and Logistics Park, Xi'an City,
Shaanxi Province, China b. Remaining portions - Planning -
HEREE AT TRL AR R #T85 Pkl
BAESH
5. China South City Harbin 100% 2,386,700 5,776,100 a. Trade centres, residential, commercial, 881,500 Foundation work and 2022-2023
REEEEY hotels, warehouse and other ancilary superstructure in progress
Tuanjie Town, Daowai District, facilties HETER LETREMD
Harbin City, Hellongjiang Province, Reml - E BEBE ARRE
China ficE R
HEEETARBETENERGH
b. Remaining portions - Planning -
815 HRE
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Properties under Development — with Land Use Rights Certificates

REPYX - BELIHERERS

Properties Estimated
Approx.land  Total Planned under completion
Group's area? GFA® Development calendar
Project/Location Interest (sqm) (sqm)  Description (sqm)  Stage of completion year®
Bats REe
R BEEEY BRANE it
B/ 4% rEEESR (FA%) (FH%) A& (Fr%) THERR RIEEY
6. China South City Zhengzhou 100% 3,684,200 10,192,200 a. Trade centres, residential, commercial, 2,111,200 Foundation work and 2022-2023
BMNEmn warehouse and other ancilary faclties superstructure in progress
Longhu Town, Xinzheng City, Reml - E BE ARRELEE WETRR LETRERT
Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, B
China
PEEEPNmTEn b. Remaining portions - Planning 2022003
EiE #TEs HEm
1. China South City Hefei 100% 2,450,100 5993000 . Trade centres, commercial, warehouse and 641,200 Foundation work and 2022-2023
SREmH other ancillay facilties superstructure in progress
Fanhua Avenue, Taohua Industrial ReRL - BE ARREMEERE WETRR FETREMR
Park, Feixi County of Hefei City,
Auhui Province, China b. Remaining portions - Planning -
HERGEARETER N HElt
WEIXEZERE
8. China South City Chongging 100% 2,751,400 6,501,800  a. Trade centres, residential, commercial, 495,400  Foundation work and 2022-2023
EREm warehouse and other ancilary faclties superstructure in progress
No. 1 Dongcheng Avenue, Nanpeng, REML - FE EE ERRELEE HETRREETRETS
Banan District, Chongging Ri
Municipality, China
HEEETCRREYRANE-T b. Remaining portions - Planning -
Gl REl

Notes: B

(1) Represents the land area acquired by the Group as at 31 March 2022. (1) REAEER2022F3A31BCES 2t -

(2)  Represents the planned GFA for the land acquired including completed  (2) REXEBESZTHNHLZLAAREEDEIVER
properties and properties under development. The actual GFA to be built BEERYE  RETREINEETESREREER
may vary subsequently according to needs of the Group. NEEMEMEE -

(3)  Represents the estimated time for completing the first phase of the project. () REZEEH IR TAEFEERE -
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FIVE YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEMBERE

Summary of Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

REBRRERHE
For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A31ALEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET FHET FET TAT
RESULTS B
Revenue WA 10,311,628 11,309,304 9,887,654 10,274,255 9,405,370
Gross Profit EH 3,025,256 4,944,205 4,522,647 4,439,594 4,069,179
Profit before tax TEIRNE 1,629,860 3,402,087 4,470,759 5,376,775 6,783,465
Income tax expenses FfEHREX (870,736) (986,958) (1,842,611) (2,133,661) (2,281,133)
Profit for the year AEEHE 759,124 2,415,129 2,628,148 3,243,114 4,502,332
Attributable to: TEIR AL
Owners of the parent ISYNC]EZ=PN 760,200 2,415,498 2,633,141 3,250,962 4,511,679
Non-controlling interests IR (1,076) (369) (4,993) (7,848) (9,347)
Core net profit attributable to BATRE AEGZD
owners of the parent* FRIE* 649,028 1,885,622 1,553,250 1,749,575 1,608,548
Earnings per share attributable BEBREATEER
to ordinary equity holders BRBEEAZ
of the parent BREA
Basic R HK9.39 cents ~ HK29.85cents  HK32.47 cents  HK40.33 cents  HK56.35 cents
gl &l el el gl
Diluted g HK9.39 cents  HK29.85cents  HK32.47 cents  HK40.33 cents  HK56.19 cents
gl L Al el gl
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Five Years' Financial Summary (Continued)

TFEMBBE(E)
Summary of Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
BANERARHME
As at 31 March
R3A318
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TEL FET TET AL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE

Non-current assets ERBEE 64,954,963 64,328,859 59,080,150 59,867,531 59,267,098
Current assets mEEE 59,432,461 56,214,071 54,353,902 53,239,431 52,278,868
Total assets BERE 124,387,424 120,542,930 113,434,052 113,106,962 111,545,966
Current liabilities FEEE 53,005,850 47,786,203 50,299,050 48,873,586 43,910,048
Non-current liabilities )=y 26,291,602 31,460,177 28,252,482 28,083,549 31,235,164
Total liabilities BERE 79,297,452 79,246,380 78,551,532 76,957,135 75,145,212

Equity attributable to owners of BRAIEAA
parent JERRER 45,073,744 41,278,881 34,832,726 35,990,593 36,218,344
Non-controlling interests IR 16,228 17,669 49,794 159,234 182,410
Total equity BREE 45,089,972 41,296,550 34,882,520 36,149,827 36,400,754

* Mainly represents the net profit attributable to owners of the parent  * FERKXRIREMEATERERETHRECE -
excluding fair value gains on investment properties and certain tax effects, PERE - REEHEE - AMENESRIRERERN
impairment of goodwill, loss of forward contracts, impairment loss of BEELRBEZEBRENE AREE AEEFAE -
available-for-sale investments and loss on redemption of senior notes, etc.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT

ESRFTEEEEBE

Executive Directors

Mr. CHENG Chung Hing, aged 61, is our Chairman and an Executive
Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has been a Director since 2
August 2002. He acted as Co-Chairman of the Group from 30 September
2009 until he was re-designated as Chairman of the Group on 25 July
2017. He is primarily responsible for formulating the overall strategies and
assessing the performance of the Group as well as providing leadership
for the Board. He has more than 39 years of management experience in
the manufacturing, wholesale and distribution businesses. Mr. Cheng has
been awarded the “Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong 1997" from
the Federation of Hong Kong Industries and the Chinese Outstanding
Entrepreneur Award 2008 from the China Enterprise Confederation and
the China Enterprise Directors Association. Mr. Cheng is the vice chairman
of the China Chamber of International Commerce, a member of the 10th
and a standing member of the 11th Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and
a member of the 3rd, the 4th, the 5th and the 6th Shenzhen Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Cheng is
also presently a standing member of the China Enterprise Confederation
and the China Enterprise Directors Association, vice president of the China
Federation of Logistics and Purchasing, vice president of the Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region Federation of Industry and Commerce, vice
president of the Guangxi Overseas Friendship Association, vice president
of the China Chamber of International Commerce Shenzhen, honorary
chairman of the Shenzhen Logistics and Supply Chain Management
Association, vice chairman of the Federation of Shenzhen Industries,
honorary life president of the Hong Kong Gemstone Manufacturers’
Association Limited and member of the Shenzhen Overseas Friendship
Association. Mr. Cheng is the father of Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman,
an Executive Director, and a younger brother of Mr. Cheng Tai Po, a
Non-Executive Director.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Ms. GENG Mei, aged 51, is our Executive Director and Chief Operating
Officer. Ms. Geng joined the Group as the Chief Operating Officer of the
Group since 1 April 2021, and she has been appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company and the Chief Operating Officer of the Group
with effect from 20 April 2021. She is primarily responsible for the overall
operation and management of the Group to achieve the long-term
development goals of the Group. Ms. Geng has more than 21 years of
experience in the operation and management of real estate companies.
Ms. Geng studied for an EMBA at Renmin University of China. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Geng served as a cadre of the International Hotel
Youth League Committee of the National Tourism Administration*, the
vice president of Beijing Xinhengji Group*, the vice president of Beijing
Huahan Group*, the managing director of the Northern Region of Ping
An Real Estate Co., Ltd. and the managing director of Headquarters
Construction and Operations Centre of Ping An Real Estate Co., Ltd.

Mr. WAN Hongtao, aged 43, has been appointed as an Executive
Director and the Group's Vice President since 16 June 2022. Mr. Wan is
primarily in charge of the Company’s operation management, strategic
coordination and new business development. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Wan previously held various positions in Shenzhen SEZ Construction
and Development Group Co., Ltd.* (RYITH @ EZREREBMERAA)
("SZCDG", the single largest shareholder of the Company) and its certain
subsidiaries, including a supervisor of Guangdong Special Construction
Development East Investment Co., Ltd.* (ERFEZERPILEFRAR]),
a subsidiary of SZCDG; and the deputy director of the Discipline Inspection
and Supervision Office (Office of the Board of Supervisors), the deputy
director of the Office (Secretariat of the Board of Directors), and the
director of the Office (Secretariat of the Board of Directors) of SZCDG. Mr.
Wan graduated from Nanjing University of Science and Technology with a
major in Economic Law and a minor in Accounting in 2000, and obtained
a Master’s degree in Business Administration from Lanzhou University in
2016.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Mr. QIN Wenzhong, aged 55, has been appointed as an Executive
Director and the Group’s Financial Controller since 16 June 2022.
He is primarily in charge of the Company’s internal audit, financial
management, tax management and fund management, coordinating the
financing of the Company and is responsible for coordinating domestic
financing, etc. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Qin previously held various
positions in SZCDG and its certain subsidiaries, including the head of the
cost contract audit department and the head of the financial management
department of SZCDG. Mr. Qin is currently the chairman of the board of
directors of Shenzhen Special Construction Development Asia Business
Private Equity Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd* (& JIl T 4 & 2%
DELEREREESEEEMR AR, a subsidiary of SZCDG. Mr. Qin
obtained a Bachelor of Economics from Peking University in 1988.

Ms. CHENG Ka Man Carman, aged 33, has been appointed as an
Executive Director since 4 May 2017. She is primarily responsible for
the administration and operations of the Group. Ms. Cheng graduated
from the University of London with a Bachelor of Science degree in
Financial and Business Economics. She also obtained a Master of Science
degree in Management from the Imperial College London and a Master
of Philosophy degree in Real Estate Finance from the University of
Cambridge. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Cheng was an executive
director of Man Sang International Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 938). She had also
worked in a leading investment firm in Asia. Ms. Cheng is the daughter
of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, the Chairman and Executive Director and the
niece of Mr. Cheng Tai Po, a Non-Executive Director.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)
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Non-Executive Directors

Mr. CHENG Tai Po, aged 70, is a Non-Executive Director. He has been a
Director since 30 April 2010 and is primarily responsible for advising on
the formulation of the Group’s general business models, development
strategies and the resolution of major issues. Mr. Cheng has over 39 years
of experience in manufacturing, wholesale and distribution businesses.
Mr. Cheng is the chairman of Hong Kong Overseas Puning Sheshan
Clansmen Association and the permanent honorary president of Hong
Kong Association of Jie Yang Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese
Limited. He was a board member of the Zhanjiang Ocean University,
China and a general committee member of the Hong Kong Jewelry
Manufacturers’ Association. Mr. Cheng is an elder brother of Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing, the Chairman and Executive Director, and is an uncle of Ms.
Cheng Ka Man Carman, an Executive Director.

Mr. LEI Ming, aged 38, has been appointed as a Non-Executive Director
since 27 October 2021, is primarily responsible for advising on the
formulation of the Group’s general business models, development
strategies and the resolution of major issues. Mr. Lei joined Tencent
Group which includes Tencent Holdings Limited (the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock
code: 700) in July 2005. He is currently the Senior Director of the Smart
Industry Department | of Tencent Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd*. Mr.
Lei has held positions in the mobile Internet business group and the
group strategic development department of Tencent Group in relation to
Internet products, operations, strategic investment, strategies, etc. Mr.
Lei graduated from the University of Electronic Science and Technology
of China in 2005 with a Bachelor of Engineering in Communication
Engineering (Computer Communication Direction)*, and received an MBA
from Guanghua School of Management, Peking University in 2016.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Kwan Yuen Andrew, GBM, GBS, JP, aged 71, has been an
Independent Non-Executive Director since 4 September 2009. He has more
than 42 years of management experience in the textile manufacturing,
wholesale and distribution businesses. Mr. Leung was elected as the
President of the Sixth Legislative Council of Hong Kong on 12 October
2016 and a member of the Industrial (First) Functional Constituency of
the Legislative Council of Hong Kong, he is also a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.
Mr. Leung is currently the honorary chairman of Textile Council of Hong
Kong, the honorary president of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries,
a fellow member of the Textiles Institute as well as the Clothing and
Footwear Institute in the United Kingdom. He was a council member of
the Hong Kong Trade Development Council. In addition, Mr. Leung is
an independent non-executive director of Wharf Real Estate Investment
Company Limited (stock code: 1997) and Dah Sing Financial Holdings
Limited (stock code: 440), both are companies listed on the Main Board of
The Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. LI Wai Keung, aged 65, has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director since 4 September 2009. Mr. Li has more than 44 years of
experience in financial management. Mr. Li graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic and holds a Master degree in Business Administration
from the University of East Asia, Macau (currently known as the University
of Macau). He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Li is currently a standing member of Guangdong
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, the honorary president and director of Hong Kong Business
Accountants Association, a member of China Overseas Friendship
Association and Advisor of Management Accounting of the Ministry of
Finance, PRC. Mr. Li is an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen
Investment Limited (“SZ Investment”), Hans Energy Company Limited
("Hans”), Centenary United Holdings Limited (“Centenary United”) and
Midland IC&I Limited (“Midland IC&I"). SZ Investment, Hans, Centenary
United and Midland IC&! are listed on the Main Board of The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (stock codes: 604, 554, 1959 and 459 respectively). Mr.
Li was an executive director and chief financial officer of GDH Limited,
an executive director of Guangdong Land Holdings Limited (stock code:
124) and a non-executive director of Guangdong Investment Limited
(stock code: 270) until his resignation effective from 27 June 2019, 31
December 2019, 20 February 2020 and 28 March 2020 respectively. Mr.
Li had worked for Henderson Land Development Company Limited (stock
code: 12).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)
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Mr. HUI Chiu Chung Stephen, /P, aged 75, has been an Independent
Non-Executive Director since 11 April 2011. Mr. Hui has over 51 years
of experience in the securities and investment industry. He served as a
council member and vice chairman of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
a member of the Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission, a director of the Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited, a member of the Listing Committee of the Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited, an appointed member of the Securities
and Futures Appeal Tribunal, a member of the Standing Committee on
Company Law Reform and an appointed member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Investigation Panel A, a member
of the Committee on Real Estate Investment Trusts of the Hong Kong
Securities and Futures Commission and a member of Government
“Appointees” (independent member) of the Appeal Panel of the Travel
Industry Council of Hong Kong for a number of years. Mr. Hui was
appointed by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region a Justice of the Peace (JP) in 2004 and was also appointed as a
member of the Zhuhai Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference from 2006 to 2017. He is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and a senior fellow
member of Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. Mr. Hui also
serves as a non-executive director of Luk Fook Holdings (International)
Limited (stock code: 590) and an independent non-executive director
of Lifestyle International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1212), Gemdale
Properties and Investment Corporation Limited (formerly known as Frasers
Property (China) Limited) (stock code: 535), SINOPEC Engineering (Group)
Co., Limited (stock code: 2386), Agile Group Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Agile Property Holdings Limited) (stock code: 3383) and FSE
Lifestyle Services Limited (formerly known as FSE Services Group Limited)
(stock code: 331), of which the shares are listed on The Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. Since 30 April 1998, Mr. Hui has been an independent non-
executive director of Zhuhai Holdings Investment Group Limited (formerly
under stock code: 908), the shares of which were delisted from The Hong
Kong Stock Exchange on 18 June 2021.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Ms. SHEN Lifeng, aged 56, has been appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee since 16 June
2022. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Shen served as the legal director
and deputy general manager of China Textile Import & Export Corporation
Hebei Branch Company* (#7531 D& R &)L & 5 /A 7)), the executive
deputy general manager of Shenglun Import & Export Group Co., Ltd.
(EmiEH OEBRMKH AR AR]), the vice chairman of board of directors
and the general manager of Shaanxi Kunzheng Mining Co., Ltd.* (Bt 7
#IFRE D BER A F), the chief executive officer of Hong Kong Porda
Havas International Financial Communication Group* (& i 18 i & %
BX B £ {2 51 £ [E). Ms. Shen is currently an executive director of China
Tianbao Group Development Company Limited (stock code: 1427) and
an independent non-executive director of Hebei Construction Group
Corporation Limited (stock code: 1727), shares of both companies are
listed on the Stock Exchange. She is also the deputy secretary general
of the Hong Kong State-owned Assets Investment Association and an
independent director of SZCDG. Ms. Shen has solid basic professional
knowledge of civil law, company law, financial law and other civil and
commercial law. She has worked in multinational institutions in Hong
Kong for 7 years and has 20 years of experience in large state-owned
enterprises, foreign companies, multinational companies, and had been
executives and independent directors of listed companies. Ms. Shen
obtained a Master’s degree in Sociology from the University of Hong
Kong, a Master’s degree in Economics from Hebei University, and a Ph.D
in Civil and Commercial Law from Peking University.

*  For identification purpose only
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Key Management

Mr. CHAN Mau Cheong Bryan, aged 43, is the Group’s Chief Financial
Officer. Mr. Chan joined our Group as the Group’s Chief Finance Officer
since 15 November 2019 and also served as Company Secretary from
1 February to 15 August 2021. Mr. Chan is responsible for the overall
financial management of the Group, establishing and maintaining investor
relations and executing the Group’s capital market financing, mergers
and acquisitions, and business cooperation projects. Mr. Chan has 20
years of experience in financial management, specializing in auditing,
accounting, financial due diligence and investments management. Mr.
Chan graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a first
class honours degree in Bachelor of Business Administration. Mr. Chan is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
Chartered Financial Analyst. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan was the
chief financial officer of a Hong Kong based family office. Mr. Chan had
worked in Big 4 international accounting firms, Arthur Andersen & Co.
Hong Kong, PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd. and PricewaterhouseCoopers
Consultants (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Shanghai Branch for about 15 years.

Mr. YU Mingming, aged 43, is the Group’s Vice President and General
Manager of Qianlong Logistics, Secretary of the Party Branch of Qianlong;
currently in charge of the Strategic Operation Centre and the Public
Affairs Centre. Mr. Yu joined our Group in June 2017 as the General
Manager of Qianlong Logistics Group Limited, and was appointed as the
Group’s Vice President in June 2021. He assists in overall operation of
the Group and is responsible for the overall operation and management
of Qianlong Logistics Group Limited. Mr. Yu graduated from Shanghai
Maritime University with a Bachelor degree in Logistics Management and
subsequently graduated from the Economics and Management School of
Wuhan University with an EMBA degree. Mr. Yu was qualified as a Senior
Logistician by J#1t& A1 &R {RFEEE (Hubei Provincial Department
of Human Resources and Social Security*) in 2016. Mr. Yu has extensive
experience in investment, operation and management of logistics parks.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yu was the general manager of Southern
Region of China Merchants Logistics Group Limited and an assistant
to the general manager of China Merchants Logistics Group Limited (a
subsidiary of China Merchants Group Limited which is a state-owned
backbone enterprise directly administered by the central government of
China with its headoffice based in Hong Kong).

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. QIU Wen, aged 49, is the Group’s Vice President; currently in
charge Centre’s of Planning and Design, Cost Management, Engineering
Management and Residential Commercial Marketing. Mr. Qiu joined our
Group in July 2016 and served as the General Manager of CSC Shenzhen.
He has been the Investment Development Division’s Vice President in
December 2018, and was then appointed as the Executive Vice President
and the President in June 2019 and July 2021 respectively, responsible
for the operation and management of the Investment Development
Division. Mr. Qiu has extensive experience in construction management,
cost control, real estate sales planning and corporate management.
Mr. Qiu graduated from the Industrial and Civil Architecture College of
Huanghe S&T University, and obtained an Executive Master of Business
Administration degree from Lingnan (University) College. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Qiu was a general manager of Guangzhou region in
Hopson Development Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 754). He also
worked in Guangdong Pearl River Engineering General Contractor
Limited*, and served as a deputy general manager of Beijing region in
Zhujiang Investment Co., Ltd*, and a general manager of Beijing office in
Guangdong Han Jian Construction & Installing Engineering Co., Ltd.

Mr. CHEN Weiguo, aged 54, is the Business Management Division’s
President. Mr. Chen joined our Group as the General Manager of CSC
Nanning in February 2018. In December 2018, he was appointed as the
Business Management Division’s Executive Vice President, and was then
appointed as President of the Business Management Division in April
2020, responsible for merchants recruitment, operation and property
management. Mr. Chen graduated from Chemistry Department, Hanshan
Normal University. Mr. Chen has extensive experience in merchants
recruitment and management in the wholesale market. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Chen worked as managing director of China Pearls
and Jewellery International City Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of Man Sang
International Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of The Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 938). He had also worked with Man
Hing Industry Development (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Mr. CHAN Hing Chau, aged 43, has been appointed as the Company
Secretary since 16 August 2021, is responsible for the offshore financing
of the Group, company secretarial duties and investor relations. He has
more than 17 years of extensive experience in financial management,
mergers and acquisitions, corporate governance, company secretarial
matters, and establishing and maintaining investor relations. Mr. Chan
obtained his bachelor’s degree of arts in accountancy and master degree
of Corporate Governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in November 2004 and September 2018 respectively. He is a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Chan was a general manger of finance department of
Redco Holdings (Hong Kong) Co., Limited in March 2013, then served
as a company secretary of Redco Properties Group Limited (it is listed
on the main board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code:
1622) from October 2013 to July 2021. Mr. Chan worked for the Big
Four international accounting firm — PricewaterhouseCoopers for about 9

years.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

The Board hereby presents this annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the fiscal year ended 31 March
2022.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group are developing and operating large-
scale integrated logistics and trade centres in China, and has developed
and been operating eight projects located in Shenzhen, Nanning,
Nanchang, Xi‘an, Harbin, Zhengzhou, Hefei and Chongqing. Adhering
to its “trade and logistics+" model and focusing on real business, China
South City endeavors to provide an online-and-offline combined logistics
and trade integrated ecosystem for SMEs. Throughout the years, the
Group has evolved a diversified and flexible business model. As the
projects in various places are becoming mature, China South City has
actively been adding new industries and businesses in the respect of
innovation and technology on these project sites, apart from continuously
strengthening the provision and services on residential units, multi-
purpose commercial properties, office buildings, commercial complexes,
property management, conference and exhibition facilities, warehousing
and logistics, outlets and financial services. The Group is striving towards
the world-class integrated trade and logistics centre, digital centre,
innovation centre and living centre, and aiming to “Integrating Industries
into the Projects, Building Beautiful New ‘City’ Conducive to Work and
Life”.

Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out
under Management Discussion and Analysis as well as in note 1 to the
financial statements of this annual report respectively.

Results and Dividends

The Group's results for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2022 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out under
Chairman Statement as well as in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 172 to 324 of this annual report respectively.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect
of FY2021/22 (FY2020/21: HK3.0 cents).
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
BEEeRE(HE)

Closure of Register of Members
The register of members of the Company will be closed for the following
periods:

For the purpose of determining shareholders of the Company who are
entitled to attend and vote at the AGM to be held on Thursday, 22
September 2022, the register of members of the Company will be closed
on Monday, 19 September 2022 to Thursday, 22 September 2022, both
days inclusive. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM,
Shareholders shall lodge all transfer documents for registration with the
Company'’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 16
September 2022.

Business Overview

The business overview of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement, the Management Discussion
and Analysis and the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of this

annual report.

Share Capital
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

Reserves

Details of the reserves are disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the section headed “Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity” and in note 44 to the financial
statements, respectively.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
BEEeRE(HE)

Distributable Reserves

Details of the Company'’s reserves available for distribution as at 31 March
2022, calculated in accordance with Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), amounted to
approximately HK$336.7 million (31 March 2021: HK$351.1 million of
which HK$242.8 million was declared in last fiscal year) will be retained
for daily operation of the Company, are disclosed in notes 11 and 44 to

the financial statements.

Debts Securities

Details of the outstanding senior notes issued by the Company during the
Year are disclosed in the section headed “Issuance of Notes” and note 28
to the financial statements.

Details of outstanding medium-term notes and domestic company bonds
issued by China South International, a subsidiary of the Company during
the Year are disclosed in the section headed “Issuance of Notes” and
notes 29 and 30 to the financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

Donations

During the Year, in order to care about the society where the Group
operates its business, the Group made charitable donations totaling
approximately HK$0.02 million (FY2020/21: HK$2.51 million) to various
charitable organizations.

Subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 are
set out in note 1 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
BEEeRE(HE)

Directors

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors*

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Chairman)

Mr. Zhao Lidong (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operation Officer)
Mr. Wan Hongtao (Group’s Vice President)

Mr. Qin Wenzhong (Group’s Financial Controller)

Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman

Non-Executive Directors**
Mr. Cheng Tai Po

Mr. Lin Ching Hua

Mr. Lei Ming

Independent Non-Executive Directors***
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew GBM, GBS, JP

Mr. Li Wai Keung

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung JP

Ms. Shen Lifeng

Notes:

* %

* %

* KKk

Mr. Zhao Lidong resigned as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
with effect from 16 August 2021.

Ms. Geng Mei has been appointed as Executive Director and Chief Operating
Officer of the Group with effect from 20 April 2021 and 1 April 2021,
respectively.

Mr. Wan Hongtao has been appointed as Executive Director and Group's
Vice President with effect from 16 June 2022.

Mr. Qin Wenzhong has been appointed as Executive Director and Group's
Financial Controller with effect from 16 June 2022.

Mr. Lin Ching Hua resigned as Non-Executive Director with effect from 27
October 2021.

Mr. Lei Ming has been appointed as Non-Executive Director with effect from
27 October 2021.

Ms. Shen Lifeng has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
and a member of each Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee with effect from 16 June 2022.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
BEEeRE(HE)

The Company's Articles provide rotation and re-election for all Directors.
In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation. The Articles also
provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible to offer for re-election,
and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible to offer for re-election.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Board considers all Independent Non-
Executive Directors to be independent.

The list of names of all Directors who have served on the boards of the
subsidiaries of the Company up to the date of this report is available on
the Company’s website.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into service contract with the
Company while each of the Non-Executive Directors and Independent
Non-Executive Directors has entered into letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years. The service contract and the letter of
appointment may be terminated by either party thereto by giving not less
than one month’s prior written notice.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

None of the Directors had a material beneficial interest, whether directly
or indirectly, in any significant contract to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, its holding companies or a subsidiary of its holding
companies was a party during the Year or as at 31 March 2022.

ARRERAELREFARFRERERET - R
BERRTE  RARBASERRAFAG L EF=
DZ—HER(FMABRLIE=X=EE  BIR&
BIENIR=02 —MABO ARG RIE - BRI
REHRHEESZENESERRARESIRE
=i HESMEEERRR TARRAS - EESA
BERERELT MEMHEFTSZENEZIUES
BERHMEKE  HEHEEEARR TARRAEASF
RE - ERBTEERERESE -

ARBEERERBIYIFNTESTRET BB AMES
AR ETRR D E3.136Mm R F E B LR

L -EFERAERBAUFNTESHRBELAL -

&

& PaNyrt:::]
SR

FH=

BEARELHY  MALELAARNBARESEH
EEMERRECHNARREY

EERBEYN
BERTEFCEARRRFLMBAL - AR JRE
BIFNTESRBIIFNTERII LR IR - ZRH
BRRZREHRB=F - - S AT AHHEEEL
AOR—E A EFRME I ZAHHEER

EFRARABME L EMARRR —FATERE
OEFERERINT AR IEOREEL -

EEREASHNER

MAFERNKN2022F3A318 - BEESENARA
SETAKB AT « HEMRA B s E TR A B8k B
AR RERENPEESEEREERER
T

NS

o

E/

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZREFIRA T “




Report of the Directors (Continued)
BEEeRE(HE)

Biographical Information of Directors and Key
Management

The biographical information of the Directors and Key Management of
the Company is set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Key Management” on pages 71 to 80 of this annual report.

Enforcement of the Deed of Non-Competition
Pursuant to the deed of non-competition dated 4 September 2009 (“Non-
Competition Undertaking”) entered into by Mr. Cheng Chung Hing has
undertaken with the Company (for itself and on behalf of each other
member of the Group) that so long as the Company is listed on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange and so long as:

° in respect of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, he remains as the controlling
shareholder or a director of the Company;

that he shall not, and shall procure his associates not to, either alone
or jointly with any other person or entity, or for any other person, firm
or company, or as principal, partner, director, employee, consultant or
agent through anybody corporate, partnership, joint venture or other
contractual arrangement, be engaged, invested, or otherwise involved,
whether as a shareholder, director, employee, partner, agent or otherwise,
directly or indirectly, in the carrying on of any business in any form or
manner in China that is in competition or is likely to be in competition,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, unless those business
opportunities have been first offered to the Group upon terms of which
are fair and reasonable and the Board has declined such opportunities,
in accordance with the provisions of the Non-Competition Undertaking,
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing or his respective associates may pursue such
opportunities.

The Company has received an annual confirmation from Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing confirming his compliance with the Non-Competition
Undertaking during the Year.

Directors’ Emoluments
Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments for the fiscal year ended 31
March 2022 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

Save as disclosed above, the Company has received confirmations from
all Directors that none of them have engaged or were interested in any
business which were in competition or were likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during the Year.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

BEEERE(E)
Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in BEERFTETHAERESFNES
Securities

As at 31 March 2022 the interests and short positions of the Directors 7202293 A31H * EERARA G E ARG AR
in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and (& RFEHF R EEEH([EEREEEH ) EXVED)
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within )RR EIREA ([R%13 1) ~ ABRIRR (5 K (EHEE R B &
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the ~ AKRRABIRIEZES M EEIEHIEIS2IEBTEENE
“SFO")) as recorded in the register maintained by the Company under  &Cfft © SRR E M BEITAZFHITESF R S HIEEST
section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the Company and The Hong Kong Bl ([1Z%# 58I ) BRI E AN R M E BB ZHTRERE M
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by~ JRE0T

Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") were as follows:

Long Position in the Shares and Underlying Shares  RZAQTARGEABRONTFE
of the Company

Number of Shares held
FisERG#E

Approximate

percentage of

the Company's

Corporate Personal Family Share total number of

Name of Directors Class of Shares interest interest interest options Total issued Shares®

A

BEG

R A%

EBpE ReER NERR AR RS BRE @t R Al

Cheng Chung Hing Ordinary Shares 2,306,553,7911 - - - 2,306,553,791 28.50%
LN LRk

Cheng Tai Po Ordinary Shares 588,984,145 4,936,000 - - 593,920,145 7.33%
Ly ERER

Geng Mei Share Options - - - 30,000,000% 30,000,000 0.37%
i BiE

Cheng Ka Man Carman Share Options - - - 7,800,000%) 7,800,000 0.09%
BEX Bk

Li Wai Keung Share Options - - - 2,000,000¢ 2,000,000 0.02%
% BiE

Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew Share Options - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.02%
REE BiE

Hui Chiu Chung Share Options - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.02%
Fidit Bk
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Notes:

(1) Mr. Cheng Chung Hing is interested in 100% of the issued share capital of
Accurate Gain Developments Limited which in turn holds 2,306,553,791
Shares and is therefore deemed to be interested in the aforesaid
2,306,553,791 Shares. He is the father of Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman and
the younger brother of Mr. Cheng Tai Po.

2) Mr. Cheng Tai Po is interested in 100% of the issued share capital of
Proficient Success Limited which in turn holds 588,984,145 Shares and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the aforesaid 588,984,145 Shares. He is
the elder brother of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing and the uncle of Ms. Cheng Ka
Man Carman.

(3) The relevant interests are share options granted to Ms. Geng Mei and Ms.
Cheng Ka Man Carman pursuant to the Company’s 2019 Share Option
Scheme adopted on 13 September 2019. Further details of the 2019 Share
Option Scheme are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in
this report.

4) The relevant interests are share options granted to Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen
Andrew, Mr. Li Wai Keung and Mr. Hui Chiu Chung pursuant to the
Company’s 2009 Share Option Scheme adopted on 4 September 2009.
Further details of the 2009 Share Option Scheme are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme" in this report.

(5) The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 8,091,892,848
Shares issued as at 31 March 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, to the knowledge of
the Directors, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be: (i)
notified to the Company and The Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which the Directors and chief executives were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); (i) entered in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified to
the Company and The Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

The relevant interests of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing and Mr. Cheng Tai
Po were changed due to the issued shares of the Company has been
enlarged to 11,441,892,848 shares on 16 May 2022. Further details
are set out in the section headed “Subsequence Changes of Substantial
Shareholders’ Interests in Securities” in this report.
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EEE®RE ()

FERRAEBSHNER

M2022F3A31H - BEEMAM - U TAL(EFRK
ARBEBITBRAEBRIN RO SAABR O T HEE
FWRBHE EREARIEEF M EGRPIEXVERE2
R3DEMEXBRAARRRIRE - KBMARRARIRIEE
F B RDIFEIBHAETHFENECMAEE IR

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Securities

As at 31 March 2022, to the knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had or
were deemed or taken to have interests or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which

P

were recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section & :

336 of the SFO:

Long Position in the Shares RIRBHEEFE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the Company'’s
Shares or total number
underlying of issued
Name Nature of interest Shares held Shares®
R EARQFE
AR BITIRIDBE
wE/EB EEME RIGEE BMHAB D™
Accurate Gain Developments Limited ~ Beneficial owner 2,306,553,791" 28.50%
EmlERA
Tencent Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 955,936,666 11.81%
FERER B R A A WARVER I EE e
THL H Limited Beneficial owner 955,936,666@ 11.81%
EmEAA
Proficient Success Limited Beneficial owner 588,984,145 7.27%
EmlERA

Notes:

SRR

B\ B 5 A4 A5 Accurate Gain Developments Limited
BEEITIRANE 100% M 1 o

(1 Mr. Cheng Chung Hing owns 100% of the issued shares capital of Accurate (1)
Gain Developments Limited.

(2)  THLH Limited is wholly owned by Tencent Holdings Limited. (2)  THLH Limited B BEFIEIRBRARIZEHE ©

BB K 3R 5% A= 8 8 Proficient Success Limited B 217 B A
#9100% M fH #E s o

(3) Mr. Cheng Tai Po owns 100% of the issued share capital of Proficient 3)
Success Limited.

BEARB D IR ER2022F3A831BE &7 2
8,091,892,848 fe(nztE -

(4) The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 8,091,892,848 (4)
Shares issued as at 31 March 2022.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, to the knowledge of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company, no other person (other than
a Director or chief executive of the Company) had, or were deemed or
taken to have interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
which were required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the

register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Subsequence Changes of Substantial Shareholders’
Interests in Securities

On 16 May 2022, upon the allotment and issuance of 3,350,000,000 new
shares to SZCDG per the Subscription Agreement between the Company
and SZCDG, the issued Shares of the Company has been enlarged to
11,441,892,848 shares; to the knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had or
were deemed or taken to have interests or short position in the Shares
or underlying Shares which were changed and required to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

B EXXFrIREESN - 2022438318 @ BEEHA
RAIEBITHRABHA  HEEMA T (ESHAR
AlEZITIRA BRBRIN) ROAR ) SAERA AR 17 7 A St
BRESEEERBIRIEFS LB GOIEXVEBE2 &3
DEZHEBRMARRIREE - RIREES RS GG
FEIBCEFHMARNRANFENE LM 2 ERIAE -

FERRABSNEDSNRERE

202257160 - REBEAQAEREEEEE
BErvHORERZEASEER S ERE KRBT
3,350,000,000 Ak 0 1& - AR BB BTG B4
KZE11,441,892,848[% (8 17 : IESFTAN - LLRAL
(BFHARRIEZITHABBRIN PARR ) 548 AR 17
PSR AN E EEBREFES KBS KA EXY
2R3N EIEBRAN TR B - HEA
RARRIEES KRB GAEIBCKRAETHFENER
riEmsAR -

Long Position in the Shares RBROFPHEE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the Company'’s
Shares or total number
underlying of issued
Name Nature of interest Shares held Shares®
FriERG EARDFE
HARES BITRGAEE
HE/IERE EEME RIEE MAOB DS
SZCDG Deemed interest in controlled corporation 3,350,000,000" 29.28%
Frimd s WRIERIEHEE S
SEZCDIH Beneficial owner 3,350,000,000 29.28%
Rl 3R BEmlEAA
Accurate Gain Developments Limited Beneficial owner 2,305,553,791@ 20.16%
EmBEBA
Tencent Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 955,936,666 8.35%
FRUIER AR A A RIS EE S
THL H Limited Beneficial owner 955,936,666 8.35%
EmlEAA
Proficient Success Limited Beneficial owner 588,984,145 5.15%
EmBEBA
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Notes:

Q)

SEZ Construction & Development Investment Holding LIMITED is an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of SZCDG (“SEZCDIH").

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing owns 100% of the issued shares capital of Accurate
Gain Developments Limited.

(3)  THL H Limited is wholly owned by Tencent Holdings Limited.

)

Mr. Cheng Tai Po owns 100% of the issued share capital of Proficient
Success Limited.

(5) The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 11,441,892,848

Shares issued as at 16 May 2022.

Information on Share Options

Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 4 September 2009
became effective on 30 September 2009 and expired on 29 September
2019 (the “2009 Share Option Scheme”). In light of the expiration of the
2009 Share Option Scheme, a new share option scheme was adopted by
the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
13 September 2019, after which the Company obtained a conditional
listing approval for such new share option scheme from The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (the “2019 Share Option Scheme”).

No options can further be granted under the 2009 Share Option Scheme
which has been expired on 13 September 2019. However, for the
outstanding 95,000,000 share options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2009 Share Option Scheme remain valid and exercisable
in accordance with the terms of the 2009 Share Option Scheme,
representing approximately 1.17% of the total number of issued Shares
of the Company as at 31 March 2022.

2009 Share Option Scheme
The major terms of the 2009 Share Option Scheme were summarized as
follows:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme was to provide incentives
to eligible persons for their contribution to the Company and to
enable the Company to recruit high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group.

Bt

FRERFEREEZRERAFHFREEEEME
HENZEMBAR(FREHERE]) -

M

B\ B 5T A A Accurate Gain Developments Limited
B EITIRANE100% M 1A o

THL H Limited BEEFFIZIRBIR A B2 EHA -

B K 3 5% A A Proficient Success Limited 2 31T A% 2K
#J100% &5 1z o

AT DL IRER2022F5816 88 172
11,441,892, 848 % i (h 51 & ©

TEBRENESR

BRAETE
RAER200949 A4 B ER M IE AR #E 5T &1 ([ 20095
BERERERTE] ) 20099 A30H AR » W 201949
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201959 A 13 A RITHM AR RIRREAF RN GIRMNITE
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- WATARHE2009 4 BEARAE AT EI B IGRFRATIE - HER
RAERR20229F3 A31HEBITIRMDBEL1.17% °

2009F BB IR 5T 2

2009F FERRHESTBIM £ BIEFIEER DT ¢

ZERE B E ERBABBALTEHARRRR
EERL - TR AEESARERSES RES
AT e

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZREFIRA T “




Report of the Directors (Continued)
BEEeRE(HE)

The Board may at its discretion grant options to Directors,
employees, officers, agents, consultants or representatives of the
Group.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from
time to time. The total number of Shares in respect of options
which granted under the Share Option Scheme was not permitted
to exceed 10% in nominal amount of the issued Shares as at
the date of commencement of the listing of Shares on The Hong
Kong Stock Exchange unless with the prior approval from the
Shareholders. The Share Option Scheme limit was refreshed at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 August 2013.

The total number of Shares issued upon the exercise of share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) to each grantee
in any 12-month period up to the date of grant should not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to approval of the Shareholders.

The period during which a share option may be exercised would be
determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion, save that
no share option may be exercised more than 10 years after grant.

The consideration paid by each grantee for each grant of options is
HK$1.

The exercise price in relation to each share option would be
determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion and should
not be less than the highest of: (i) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of The
Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares on the date of grant.
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The table below summarized the details of the movements in the share  FZANEE NARIE 20094 R PAE A+ 21 1% IR 2 B
options granted pursuant to the 2009 Share Option Scheme during the  FBERSHEN TR ZA :

Year:
Number of Share Options
BREZE
As at As at Exercise
Date of Vesting 1 April Cancelled/ 31 March Price  Exercisable
Name Grant Period 2021 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2022 HKS  Period
#2021% 120225 e
£ REAHE  BRED 4818 BRI BiTE 2E#/ 4% 38318 B {TRE
Directors
Bz
Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew  13/4/2018 - 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 181 13/42018-
2EE 12/4/2023
13/4/2018- 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1.81  13/4/2019-
12/4/2019 12/412024
Li Wai Keung 13/412018 - 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 181 13/412018-
FRE 12142023
13/4/2018- 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 181 13/402019-
12/4/2019 12/4/2024
Hui Chiu Chung 13/4/2018 - 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1.81  13/4/2018-
SR 12142023
13/4/2018- 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 181 13/412019-
12/4/2019 12/412024
Advisers 13/12016" 13/1/2016- 39,995,000 - - (39,995,000) - 1.528  13/1/2017-
B 12/112017 121112022
3720170 - 40,000,000 - - - 40,000,000 1.52 3/72017-
2/712022
3/712017- 40,000,000 - - - 40,000,000 1,52 3/772018-
2/7/2018 2/7/2023
13/42018% - 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 181 13/42018-
12/4/2023
13/4/2018- 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1.81  13/4/2019-
12/4/2019 12/412024
Employees 22/8/2016 - 4,250,000 - - (4,250,000 - 175 22/82016-
= 21/82021
22/8/2016- 6,250,000 - - (1,250,0000 5,000,000 175 22/82017-
21182017 21/8/2022
22/8/2016- 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 175 22/8/2018-
21/8/2018 21/8/2023
140,495,000 - - (45,495,0000 95,000,000
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Notes:

2019

Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen resigned as Vice Chairman of the Group and
Executive Director and has been appointed as Senior Advisor of the Group
with effect from 1 April 2020.

Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel was retired as Independent Non-Executive Director
and has been appointed as Honourable Advisor of the Group with effect

from 22 September 2020.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 33 to the financial
information.

Share Option Scheme

The major terms of the 2019 Share Option Scheme are summarized as

follows:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
to eligible participants to contribute to the Company and to enable
the Company to recruit high-calibre employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group.

The Board may at its discretion grant options to Directors (including
executive and non-executive Directors), employees, officers, agents
or consultants of the Company or any subsidiary.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and all outstanding options must not exceed
30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. The total number
of Shares in respect of options which may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the issued
Shares on adoption date that is 810,722,884 Shares. The maximum
number of the Shares available for issue upon exercise of all share
options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme is
716,422,884 Shares, representing approximately 8.85% of the total
number of issued Shares of the Company as at 31 March 2022.
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The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) to
each grantee in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the number of shares in issue of the Company as
at the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to approval of the Shareholders.

The period during which a share option may be exercised will be
determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion, save that
no share option may be exercised more than 10 years after grant.

The consideration paid by each grantee for each grant of options is
HK$1.

The exercise price in relation to each share option will be
determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion and shall be
at least the highest of: (a) the closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day; and (b) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant.

No further options will be granted under the Share Option Scheme
after the date of expiration. In respect of the options granted and
accepted prior to the date of expiration and not then exercised,
they shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in
accordance with the Share Option Scheme.
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The table below summarized the details of the movements in the share ~ AZAREE NRE2010F BT 2R HEE AR &
options granted pursuant to the 2019 Share Option Scheme during the BN TR ZA ¢

Year:
Number of Share Options
BREZE
As at As at Exercise
Date of Vesting 1 April Cancelled/ 31 March Price  Exercisable
Name Grant Period 2021 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2022 HKS  Period
#2021% 120225 e
£ REAHE  BRED 4818 BRI BiTE 2E#/ 4% 3A31H B TES
Directors
Bz
Zhao Lidong" 7212020 7/2/2020- 6,000,000 - - (6,000,000) - 100 72202021-
IR 6/2/2021 6/2/2025
71212020~ 6,000,000 - - (6,000,000 - 1.00  7/2/2022-
6/2/2022 6/2/2025
71212020~ 6,000,000 - - (6,000,000) - 1.00  7/22023-
6/2/2023 6/2/2025
Geng Mei 29/6/2021 29/6/2021- - 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000 100 29/6/2022-
Mg 28/6/2022 28/6/2026
29/6/2021- - 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000 1.00  29/6/2023-
28/6/2023 28/6/2026
29/6/2021- - 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000 1.00  29/6/2024-
28/6/2024 28/6/2026
Cheng Ka Man Carman 7212020 7/2/2020- 2,600,000 - - - 2,600,000 100 7222021-
LN 6/2/2021 6/2/2025
71212020~ 2,600,000 - - - 2,600,000 1.00  7/22022-
6/2/2022 6/2/2025
71212020~ 2,600,000 - - - 2,600,000 1.00  7/22023-
6/2/2023 6/2/2025
Employees 7212020 7/2/2020- 12,500,000 - - (2,000,000) 10,500,000 100 7222021-
=5 6/2/2021 6/2/2025
71212020~ 12,500,000 - - (2,000,000) 10,500,000 1.00  7/22022-
6/2/2022 6/2/2025
71212020~ 12,500,000 - - (2,000,000) 10,500,000 1.00  7/2/2023-
6/2/2023 6/2/2025
29/6/2021 29/6/2021- - 25,000,000 - - 25,000,000 100 31/32022-
30/3/2022 30/3/2026

63,300,000 55,000,000

(24,000,000) 94,300,000
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Notes:

Mr. Zhao Lidong resigned as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
with effect from 16 August 2021.

2. The Closing price of the Shares immediately before the date of the share
options granted on 29 June 2021 was HK$0.83 per share.
3. Details of the Share Option Scheme is set out in note 33 to the financial

information.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debt
Securities

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests in Securities” and “Information on Share Options” in this report
and in note 33 to the financial statements, at no time during the Year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company (including their
spouses or children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
During the Year, the Company and a subsidiary of the Company
repurchased and cancelled part of the senior notes with an aggregated
principle amount of US$22.808 million from the open market. Details are
set out in the section headed “Senior Notes” and notes to the financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above and notes to the financial statements, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

Bank Borrowings
Details of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 March 2022 are set out
in note 27 to the financial statements.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

The aggregate sales to the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for approximately 30% (FY2020/21: less than 10%) of the Group's total
sales and sales to the largest customer accounted for approximately 20%
(FY2020/21: less than 10%) of the Group's total sales for the fiscal year
ended 31 March 2022. The aggregate purchases from the five largest
suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 22% (FY2020/21:
40%) of the Group’s total purchases and purchases from the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 7% (FY2020/21: 12%) of the
Group's total purchases for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2022.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any Shareholders which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s total
number of issued Shares has any interests in the Group's five largest
suppliers or customers.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to achieving high standard of corporate
governance. Detailed information on the Company’s corporate
governance principles and practices are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report as contained in this annual report.

Environmental, Social and Governance

The Group is committed to fulfilling its corporate social responsibility in
community affairs, environmental protection and corporate governance
during its business operation in order to achieve its sustainable
development. The Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance
Report is set out in this annual report.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date
prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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Five Year’s Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five fiscal years is set out on pages 69 to 70 of this annual report.

Management Contract

During the Year, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed.

Events after the Reporting Period

Change of Share Capital and the Single Largest
Shareholder Upon Completion of the Subscription
of New Shares

On 16 May 2022, immediately upon the Completion of Subscription of
New Shares, there are 11,441,892,848 Shares in issue and Shenzhen SEZ
Construction and Development Group Co., Ltd. (“SZCDG", a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Shenzhen State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission) through SEZ Construction & Development
Investment Holding LIMITED is interested in 3,350,000,000 Shares,
representing approximately 29.28% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Subscription
Shares. SZCDG has become a substantial Shareholder and the single

largest Shareholder.

Details of “Change of Share Capital and the Single Largest Shareholder
Upon Completion of the Subscription of New Shares” were disclosed
in respective announcement dated 31 December 2021 and the circular
and the notice of the extraordinary general meeting (“EGM") dated 27
January 2022 of the Company, the announcements in relation to the poll
results of the EGM held on 18 February 2022 regarding, among other
things, the Subscription, and the announcement with respect to the
update on the Subscription dated 29 April 2022.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors are not aware of any
significant event requiring disclose that has been take place subsequent to
31 March 2022 and up to the date of approval of this report.
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Auditor

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs. Ernst & Young who
will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of Messrs. Ernst
& Young as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

For and on behalf of the Board
CHENG CHUNG HING
Chairman & Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022

m ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 43R

B BLEm

MWK B LRGN EHAER - HFRELTE
BRNERERREAFAGERET - BELKGTED
EBMAARRRBILAZBEN ORERB N EERRE
FREER -~

RRESE
LUE N
FTIERWTEF

FH 202256 A30H



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PN

TEERRE

The Company recognises the value and importance of achieving high
standard of corporate governance to enhance the corporate performance
accountability and is committed to doing so. To the best knowledge and
belief of the Directors, the Company has complied with the applicable
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the Year.

The Board of Directors

Board Composition

With effect from 16 August 2021, Mr. Zhao Lidong resigned as Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer; Mr. Lin Ching Hua resigned and
Mr. Lei Ming has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
on 27 October 2021. Since then, the Board comprises eight Directors,
including three Executive Directors, two Non-Executive Directors and three
Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Since 16 June 2022, (i) Mr. Wan Hongtao has been appointed as
Executive Director and Group's Vice President; (i) Mr. Qin Wenzhong has
been appointed as Executive Director and Group’s Financial Controller;
and (iii) Ms. Shen Lifeng has been appointed as Independent Non-
Executive Director and a member of each Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee; the Board comprises eleven
Directors, including five Executive Directors, two Non-Executive Directors
and four Independent Non-Executive Directors.

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and Key Management” on
pages 71 to 80 of this annual report.

Independent Non-Executive Director

During the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements of
Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three Independent Non-Executive Directors and
representing at least one-third of the board with at least one Independent
Non-Executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

During the Year, all existing Independent Non-Executive Directors have
made an annual confirmation of independence in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that each of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors to be independent.
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Role and Function

The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and performance
monitoring of the Group. It delegates day-to-day operations of the
Group to the Executive Directors and key senior management within the
control and authority framework set by the Board. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Further details
of these committees are set out in this annual report.

Relationship between Directors

Mr. Cheng Tai Po is an elder brother of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing and
the uncle of Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman, whereas Ms. Cheng Ka Man
Carman is the daughter of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing.

Change in Information of Directors

The change in the information of Directors since the publication of the
2021/22 interim report up to the date of this annual report is set out
below pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

o Mr. Li Wai Keung has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Midland IC&I Limited with effect from 29
March 2022, a company listed on the Main Board of The Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 459).

o Mr. Wan Hongtao has been appointed as Executive Director and
Group's Vice President with effect from 16 June 2022.

o Mr. Qin Wenzhong has been appointed as Executive Director and
Group's Financial Controller with effect from 16 June 2022.

o Ms. Shen Lifeng has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive
Director and a member of each Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee with effect from 16 June
2022.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Compliance with the Model Code for Securities BIEEETESFR S ZBETA
Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as a code of conduct of AAREHMNIZESTE]  {EARRNBEZHETELR
the Company for Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific =~ ZHIZ%E « KRQRIE A2 EE S AEERE @ &
enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied with the required ~ EREZ2022F3A31A LB FERESREA—&H
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the relevant period of — ESFZESFRIFFE AR FE AR - A K AT sLEE GRF
the fiscal year ended 31 March 2022. Employees who are, or likely to be, ~ ANARIHEBR MDA R AMREHZE R EE TSR
in possession of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the ~ ZEHIHIRE B AR TR °

Company or its Shares are required to prohibit from dealing in shares of

the Company during the black-out period.

Board Meetings EEgER
During the Year, five Board meetings were convened by the Company. RAFER » ARG ARANEFE S EF2
The attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings was as follows: FHERNESLEBEINAT
Number of
Attendance/
meeting held®
HE BT
Directors == BRRHW
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Chairman) LN E ) 5/5
Mr. Zhao Lidong (Chief Executive Officer) RS S A (FT AR L) 1”1
Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operating Officer) Mgzt (#E&£8H) 5/5
Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman Bzt 5/5
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Cheng Tai Po BN 5/5
Mr. Lin Ching Hua® MIREE SO 2/2
Mr. Lei Ming® EIS A 3/3
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REESLE 5/5
Mr. Li Wai Keung FREBEE 5/5
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung AR T4 5/5
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Notes:

(1) Mr. Zhao Lidong resigned as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
with effect from 16 August 2021.

(2) Mr. Lin Ching Hua resigned as Non-Executive Director with effect from 27
October 2021.

3) Mr. Lei Ming has been appointed as Non-Executive Director with effect from
27 October 2021.

(4) The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings
such director is entitled to attend.

The Directors are provided with agenda and Board meeting materials
related to the agenda before the meeting. They can access to the senior
management and the company secretary of the Company at all time and,
upon reasonable request, seek independent professional advice at the
Company's expense.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into service contract with the
Company while each of the Non-Executive Directors and the Independent
Non-Executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company’s Articles provide retirement by rotation and re-election
for all Directors. In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation.
The Articles also provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board shall hold office only until conclusion of the
next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible
to offer for re-election, and any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible to offer for
re-election/election. Accordingly, five Directors, namely, Mr. Cheng Chung
Hing, Mr. Wan Hongtao, Mr. Qin Wenzhong, Mr. Lei Ming and Ms.
Shen Lifeng will retire from office and are eligible to offer themselves for
re-election/election at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEERES (F)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

To ensure a balance of power and authority, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer are segregated. During the Year, Mr.
Cheng Chung Hing was Chairman of the Company and he provided
leadership for the Board and ensured the proper and effective functioning
of the Board in the discharge of its responsibilities, while Mr. Zhao Lidong
was accountable to the Board for the overall implementation of the
Company’s strategies and the coordination of overall business operations
of the Group up to his resignation with effect from 16 August 2021.

Having deliberated the Company'’s prospects carefully, the Board considers
that the chief executive officer’s responsibility should be shared by the
current senior management during the transitional period, so that Ms.
Geng Mei, Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer of the Group,
has taken up the daily operation management until a suitable candidate is
appointed since 16 August 2021.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of the Board and the
Company’s affairs. All board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which have been published
at the websites of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company
respectively. The board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for the review and supervision of the
Group's financial reporting process, risk management and internal control
system and review of the Company’s financial statements. The written
terms of reference are in line with the provisions under the CG Code and
the roles and the responsibilities delegated to the Audit Committee by the
Board, which include to determine the appropriate corporate governance
practices applicable to the Group’s circumstances and to ensure processes
and procedures are in place to achieve the Group's corporate governance
objectives.
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Since 16 June 2022, the Audit Committee consists of Mr. Li Wai Keung as
chairman, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew, Mr. Hui Chiu Chung and Ms.
Shen Lifeng. All the Audit Committee members are Independent Non-
Executive Directors. During the Year, two Audit Committee meetings were
held to review the FY2020/21 annual results and the FY2021/22 interim
results of the Group before submission to the Board.

During FY2021/22, the Audit Committee had reviewed the risk
management and internal control system, connected transactions, interim
results and annual results of the Group and the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group. The attendance of the Directors at the
Audit Committee meetings was as follows:

H2022F6 H16H R EZZEEHFTE®RAA(E
fE)  REELRE  TRPEERBABELZTAERK -
ERZESMEREYRBYIERITES - NAFE
N BEFAMABEZZEGEH  UWNRERESEEH
FHIRE 2020721 BB F E 545 K 2021228 I 2

22021220 BFE - BREZESEEHAEENE
S RANPELERS - WERS - PHEERESFEE
ARAEERNN ST RAIREN - BEREESEFH
WEFHEBROT -

Number of
attendance/
meeting held

HiE BT
Directors = BRRE
Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman) FEWIE(FE) 2/2
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REESLE 12
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung FTRRAR LA 2/2

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations
on Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration and other benefits.
The remuneration of all Directors and senior management is subject to
regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee so as to ensure that
the level of their remuneration and compensation are reasonable. The
specific written terms of reference are in line with the provisions of the
CG Code.

Since 16 June 2022, the Remuneration Committee comprises three
Independent Non-Executive Directors and one Executive Director,
including Mr. Li Wai Keung as chairman, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew,
Ms. Shen Lifeng and Mr. Cheng Chung Hing.
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The primary goal of the Group’s remuneration policy for Executive AEEBMRITEETHMEREZ BN AELRR AW
Directors is to enable the Company to retain and motivate Executive ~EEBHIEEFEEMNEARREAEENDEBZMN
Directors by linking their compensation with their individual performance A& ¥R - RINZEEAIALEMSEN © L%
as measured against the Group’s corporate objectives and operating B NMHBEIHITESE - ITEENFHFBIERIEE
results, taking into account also the comparable market conditions. The — A4 « @WK SHEEIELL - LEEERT 2 & E
principal elements of the remuneration package of an Executive Director ~ #if&7F|  FJEMITE R (BIEBI IFNITE S ) BN =
include basic salary, performance and/or discretional bonus, participation EBEEEHNEN2EBIETE YHEFELS
in the Share Option Scheme and other benefits. The remuneration of BESMNBENAIEALETSBEREETE -
Non-Executive Directors (including Independent Non-Executive Directors)

includes mainly the director’s fee and participation in the Share Option

Scheme which is a matter for the Board to decide by reference to their

duties and responsibilities and the comparable market conditions.

During the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held to  RAFEER > GEA—XFHEESSH - UEHA
review the structure of the remunerations for Directors of the Company A REENHIEREARBEBREAZIRTESH
and the grant of share options under the Share Option Scheme to Director ~BIEEE - HFMEZESeZNESHFEBROT

of the Company. The attendance of the Directors at the Remuneration

Committee meeting was as follows:

Number of
attendance/
meeting held

HiE BT
Directors = BRRE
Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman) TEBEE(EE) 7
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REESLE 11
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing /NS e 1”1

The remuneration of the senior management (excluding Directors) by — &Z2022F3A31 B IEMBFE @ eREBRAE (T

band for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below: PEEE) 2 HHBESEHNT :
Number of
persons
Remuneration band FNEEE A¥
HK$1,000,000 to HK$3,000,000 per annum & 4F1,000,0001 7T % 3,000,000 7T 5

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the five BIREEMERALRSHFATZESZHE 2kt
highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix — TR RIS+ 2R EWE - WEHPB B HRENES
16 to the Listing Rules are set our in notes 8 and 9 to the financial ~ K&9-

statements.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendation
on the nomination of Directors with a view that the appointment of
suitable individuals with relevant expertise and experience to enhance
the constitution of the Board and to contribute to the Board. The specific
written terms of reference are in line with the provisions of the CG Code.

Since 16 June 2022, the Nomination Committee comprises three
Independent Non-Executive Directors and one Executive Director,
including Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew as chairman, Mr. Li Wai
Keung, Ms. Shen Lifeng and Mr. Cheng Chung Hing. During the
Year, the Nomination Committee were reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board, including the skill, knowledge,
experience and diversity of background of its members, and the
re-designation of senior management of the Company. The attendance of
the Directors at the Nomination Committee meeting was as follows:

REEEE

REZBEAANEFRAREMES  URETARKH
SR N EROEE AR UR(CEZTERER
B REFSFLER HAREARERENAE
JASTRIMRE e

B202256 160 - REEZBEH=BBEIFNTT
EER—RARTESAN  BREREELE(ERE) -
FEBEE  HBERLTRBNELE - RAFE
W IRBRZER TESEEE - ABIER - BIE
ERENEMNEEE - A% CRESENZEE U
RARNBSHRERBEZAT - RELZECEEENES
EREERAT

Number of
attendance/
meeting held

HiE BT
Directors = BRRE
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew (Chairman) REEFEFERE) 11
Mr. Li Wai Keung FERSTE 1”1
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing BFAEL S A 11

Board Diversity Policy

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity by adopting a board
diversity policy which stipulates that when identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Directors, the Nomination Committee will
consider the benefits of all aspects of diversity, including but not limited
to a number of factors, such as age, race, cultural and educational
background, professional and business-related experience, reputation of
candidates for integrity and his/her accomplishment, skills, knowledge and
length of service, in order to maintain an appropriate range of balance
of skills, experience and background on the Board. The appointments of
Directors will be based on meritocracy and take into account the aforesaid
factors as a whole for the benefits of the Company, as well as the
business model and specific needs of the Company from time to time.

m ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 43R

EEEREZ TR
REZEFEREZ L ARFRNEFEFENES
TEEE  ERAZZESEVEARAEERETES
ZALTE - BERBZTIAES T EMER - B ET
BRR—LEEFIINFER Bk - UERHEER &
ENEBEBLR  mEANBEERBE IR - &
B AMBMRBES - UEEFSAGBSEALN
BHFEFIRM - KREER - EF2RIHAERE
B2 RRA - URARRNFN aBEEEE LlRE
RABERARNRANGNRBRALAEBRR -



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRE (H)

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

During the Year, the Company arranged appropriate Directors’ and
Officers’ liabilities insurance coverage in respect of legal action against its
Directors and officers.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for overseeing the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and reviewing its effectiveness.
A defined management structure with specified limits of authority and
responsibilities is developed for safeguarding assets against unauthorized
use or disposition, the maintenance of proper accounting records for
the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publications and the compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Group has established an internal audit department to perform
regular financial and operational reviews and recommend necessary
actions to the relevant management. The works carried out by the internal
audit department ensure the risk management and internal control
systems are in place and function properly as intended. The results of the
internal audit and reviews are reported to the Executive Directors and
Audit Committee of the Company.

For the annual review on the risk management and internal control,
the Audit Committee considered the internal control report and risk
management report were satisfied as to effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. There were no matters of
material concerns relating to financial, operational or compliance control.
The Board is satisfied with the adequacy and the effectiveness of the
systems of the risk management and internal control of the Group during
the Year.

Independent Auditor’'s Remuneration

The Group’s independent auditor are Messrs. Ernst & Young. During
the last three years, the Group did not change any independent auditor.
For FY2021/22, the remuneration paid and payable by the Group to the
independent auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services provided
by them were as follows:
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Directors’ Responsibility

Every newly appointed Director will receive briefings and comprehensive
induction on appointment to ensure understanding of the Directors’
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements. Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to refresh their knowledge and skills
and the Company would organize appropriate directors’ training to help
ensure they are apprised of the role, functions and duties being a director
of the Company.

The Directors are aware that they should give sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Company and they are continually adapted with
regulatory developments and business development of the Group to
discharge their responsibilities. The Directors’ knowledge and skills are
continuously developed and refreshed by, inter alia, the following means:

(1)  Attending training session organized by and/or reading materials
provided by the Company, which included but not limited to legal
and regulatory changes and matters relevant to the Directors in
discharging their duties, including the laws, rules and regulations
relating to the corporate governance;

(2)  Participating in continuous professional training seminars/
conferences/courses/workshops on subjects relating to directors’
duties and corporate governance, and rules and regulatory
changes, organized by the other companies, professional bodies or
government authorities; and

(3)  Reading news, journals, magazines or other reading materials from
time to time as regards legal and regulatory changes, economics
and matters relevant to the Directors in discharging their duties.
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According to the records provided by the existing Directors, the Directors
received the following trainings during the Year:

REBEREESARENCE  RAFER  EF2H

ZIEEFIEAT

Type of Training

Directors = EIER
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Chairman) LN E ) (1) and (3)
Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operating Officer) Bzt (EEBE) (1) and (3)
Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman Bt (1) and (3)
Non-Executive Directors FHTESE

Mr. Cheng Tai Po BRI (1) and (3)
Mr. Lei Ming BISEAL (1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHTES

Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REERE (1), 2) and (3)
Mr. Li Wai Keung FEEEE (1), (2) and (3)
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung BT A (1), (2) and (3)

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2021/22 which
were prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards.

The reporting responsibility of the independent auditor of the Company
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 165 to 171.

Company Secretary
Mr. Chan Hing Chau has been the Company Secretary of the Company

EERLEMR M BRRARNEE

BN ERE YRR AR E2021228 BRFE
RAPBRENEML  LERBEERELER ST

RIS -

ARBBLZBMEAREGA BRI BHREE

HRE1652 171 BB ZERFHER -

REAMWE

IREREEB2021F8 16 R BEARR T Z A RIM

since 16 August 2021. He is a full time employee of the Company with £ - AKX R G 2HES  EAEEERMERK
professional qualifications and extensive experience, and has adequate % ' N AEHE AN TIELSR - UETTARIWERE
working knowledge on the Company to discharge his duty as the & ° RAFER  FRICEERBSETTDN15/)E
Company Secretary. During the Year, Mr. Chan confirmed that he has 2 fEBEE Z 4551 A S FT B AL FI&0GY, -
received relevant professional training of not less than 15 hours to update

his skills and knowledge.
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Communication with Shareholders and Noteholders
The 2022 AGM of the Company to be held at Garden Room, 2/F., New
World Millennium Hong Kong Hotel, 72 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East,
Kowloon, Hong Kong on Thursday, 22 September 2022 at 2:30 p.m.

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders,
noteholders and other investment communities is essential. During the
Year, the Executive Directors, Chief Financial Officer and team of investor
relations of the Group held regular briefings, press conferences and
analyst meetings of interim and annual results, attended investor forums
and participated in roadshows, conducted meetings and visits to projects
of the Group with institutional investors and financial analysts in Mainland
China, Hong Kong and overseas to keep them abreast of the Group’s
business and development. Investors can also communicate with the

Company through email at ir@chinasouthcity.com.

The shareholders’ meeting provides a useful platform for the shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. The Directors and Chief Financial
Officer of the Group will attend the shareholders’ meetings to answer
the questions raised by the shareholders. Shareholders can also direct
their enquiries and proposals to the Company. The contact details of
the Company are set out in the “Contact Us” section of the Company’s

website at www.chinasouthcity.com.

Shareholders’ Right

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), shareholders of the Company holding not less than 5% of the
total voting rights of all the members having a right to vote at general
meeting may request the Directors to call a general meeting. The request
must state the general nature of business to be dealt with at the meeting
and may be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic
form and must be authenticated by the person or persons making it
in accordance with the provisions under sections 566 to 568 of the
Companies Ordinance and the Company's Articles.
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The attendance of the Directors at the annual general meeting of the  EHM2021F9A28ARITZ AR FIBREFFEAEH

Company which was held on 28 September 2021 was as follows: HEERAT
Number of
attendance/
meeting held
HE BT
Directors = BRRE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Chairman) LN E ) ”n
Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operating Officer) Bigz+(#E &8 ) 17
Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman BiF A+ 1”1
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Cheng Tai Po BRI - 1”1
Mr. Lin Ching Hua M4 7
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REERE 1”1
Mr. Li Wai Keung FERSTE 11
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung BT A 1”1

Published documents together with the latest corporate information and A B ZMH X HHER SN AR ER KFHE - 71 2E
news are available on the Company's website at www.chinasouthcity.com. 2 RI48¥www.chinasouthcity.com e
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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BR - HEHEREE(H)

About this Report

This report is the environmental, social and governance report (the
"Report”) of China South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”, “China South City”, “we” or “us”). The
Group has been adhering to the sustainable development philosophy to
create and share sustainable values with its stakeholders in environmental,
economic and social aspects. The Report detailed China South City’s
contribution to sustainability management.

The Report was prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “Guide"”) set out by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Report has
complied with all the “Comply or Explain” provisions of the Guide and
reported on all the recommended disclosures in the Guide.

Reporting Principles
The Group has considered the following reporting principles in preparing
the Report:

Materiality: The Group identifies the material environmental
and social issues through interviews with the management and
questionnaire surveys targeted at internal and external stakeholders,
as well as evaluating the impact of various environmental, social
and governance issues on the operations of the Group. For more
information, please refer to the “Materiality Assessment” section.

Quantitative: The Report would perform annual performance
comparison with suitable quantitative data recorded and estimated
by relevant departments of the Group when applicable, and state
the information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions or
calculations wherever appropriate.

Balance: The information in the Report was mainly derived from
our internal statistical reports, documents and communications for
2021/22. We are committed to providing an unbiased picture of our
performance and fair disclosure of progress and ongoing challenges
in the most critical aspects for the Group’s performance.

Consistency: We have reported in accordance with the Stock
Exchange’s “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” since 2015. Where practicable, the Group uses consistent
methodologies. If there are any changes that may affect the
comparison with previous reports, the Group has added remarks to
the corresponding content of the Report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Scope of the Report and Reporting Period

The Report covers the businesses which are financially significant and
operationally influential to the Group, including the five core services of
the projects in Shenzhen, Nanchang, Nanning, Xi'an, Zhengzhou, Harbin,
Hefei and Chongging in the PRC, including project investment and
development, business management and operation, property leasing and
management, logistics and warehousing services and outlet operations.
The above five core businesses accounted for over 90% of the Group's

revenue.

Reporting period: 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022, same as the financial
period of the annual report.

Cornerstone for Sustainable Development

The Group has always adhered to its business philosophy of “Innovation,
Integrity, Consensus and Collaboration”. While striving to develop its
business, the Group also pays attention to the demands, opinions and
expectations of various stakeholders and integrates the concept of
sustainable development into its corporate management, group culture
and operational strategies to continuously optimize its performance
and development in relation to environment, society and corporate
governance.

ESG Development Strategies

Based on its environmental, social and governance considerations,
China South City has achieved business operations in a sustainable way
and maintained transparency and accountability to stakeholders. The
Group has developed the environmental, social and governance policy
(the "Policy”), which outlines our environmental, social and governance
("ESG") commitments and related management practices as well as guides
the Group towards and achieves its vision of sustainable development
and its mission to become a premium logistics trade centre in China.
Our sustainability approach is divided into five core aspects, including
environment, employees, customers, supply chain and community, which
guide the overall ESG direction of the Group.

o E R A
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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ESG Policy Highlights of China South City

ERHMESGEBURES
Environment Strive to use renewable energy and recycle materials
R BOOERR B4R RERE
. Prevent or reduce emissions of air pollutants, greenhouse gases, hazardous and non-hazardous wastes and
sewage
PrIEsom A B ZERISAY  RERE - BERESEZEYITK
. Identify, monitor and manage the significant impact of our business on the environment
Bl BERKEBEBHRREEANEATYE
. Require relevant operating departments to practice and strengthen environmental management
ERF RS EBPIEELINBIRFETR
. Conduct a climate risk assessment to identify the potential impact of climate change on the Group'’s

business operations and how to address it

ETRIERBRE - LB REECHAEERRGLENEETE - RERHTR

Employees . Continuously review employees’ welfare and benefits, etc.
BT HEFERETHFBRENSABOKR
. Provide a safe working environment to protect employees from occupational hazards
RE—(EL2HITIERE - MREE TR EBEREER
. Encourage employees to pursue continuous education and proactively arrange training for employees to

enhance their knowledge and skills to perform their job duties
SEE T TEEE - FBLHETIFI - B TRTIIEREMNAH R
. Strictly enforce the Group’s guidelines on labor standards to ensure no misuse of child labor and forced
labor is never used
BUBAIT RSB 85 TRERMIES] RIS REE T NRASE

Customers . Continuously improve the quality of products and services to ensure that the products sold do not affect
BE the safety of customers and users, and comply with standards and regulations on advertising, labeling and
other matters
SERSEQNBRBRE  BRELNERTSHETFPRAFPNLZ S WETES  FESEENE
ERER
. Protect the personal data of customers and all employees; hold, use and process such data in a lawful and
prudent manner

REEF REMNEREREBENEAER  TRENSEZEFRENTARE K6  RNEEEHRER

Supply chain e Uphold the principle of fair trade and work with suppliers to enhance sustainable development
fitpEsE performance in all aspects
FHATRHRA - BHEFHHEERASTENAHEERRR
. Strengthen employees’ awareness and conduct of anti-corruption to eliminate any bribery, extortion, fraud

and money laundering
LB THRESHRAMMRET - HBEMHE PR - BEFERETR

Community . Make appropriate community investments surrounding stakeholders in each region and provide financial or
#HE other resource assistance to those in need

HEwENEENEABTELEANEREE  URHERTEALERSEXEMERIEE
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ESG Governance Framework

China South City believes that good ESG governance is an important
cornerstone for the sustainable development of our business. The Policy
sets out the management framework to enable us to deliver on our ESG
commitment. The Board of Directors undertakes overall responsibility
for the Group’s ESG strategies and oversees the implementation of the
Company'’s sustainability strategies. Meanwhile, the Board of Directors
has also appointed the ESG working group comprising representatives
from different departments to carry out ESG development work,
thereby enhancing the ESG governance framework and integrating ESG
management concepts into all aspects of corporate management from
top to bottom, so as to explore and grasp opportunities to promote
sustainable development.

Members of the ESG working group are selected from the management
of each business unit and are responsible for implementing ESG policies
and promoting their development. The working group reports regularly to
the Board of Directors on the ESG implementation and collects feedback
to further improve ESG governance and promote its development, so as
to achieve sustainable business growth.

The ESG governance framework of China South City is as follows:

ESGEJAIEZR

B E RITOESGE AR KB R MEBIIFELR
BRHOEZERLR - NECRITHAEIRER  EHMEEER
HIRE  MHeROEBTRFTENESE BEFSHAE
ERRE g REARKEAEERER  WEER
NRIAFEEERBEHNIT - AR  EFNERA
TRMPAIRKRAERIRE - g RERIIENEEM
BAITESGER I - MIRAESGEARE B LEE
THESGEERSMACELEEEMSERE - #
MERMICERE S ERROKE -

ESGT{EMERK BB XA FIEEEhBRAMN -
BEAENNITESGIER L e H &R - T/ MEEH
AEFEHREESCGHITRARKERR - £E—Fx=
ESGEVARMBHEER - EETHENEBIER -

FERIRESGEVAZRIBINT ¢

N

Board Committees of China South City\
EENEEEEE

N

ESG working group
ESGI{E/NE

\

Management of each business unit \
BEGAMEIERE
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Review, Reporting and Disclosure

Recognizing that stakeholders’ expectations are constantly changing,
the Group regularly reviews its business operations and proactively
communicates with stakeholders to identify and respond to emerging
issues as appropriate. In addition, the Group’s Sustainability Committee
regularly reviews its performance and practices on corporate social
responsibilities and reports to the Group’s Board of Directors. The Group’s
performance on corporate social responsibilities is not only disclosed
through internal communication channels, but also truthfully disclosed to
the public through the Group’s website, annual report and ESG report.

Statement on ESG Governance from the Board of
Directors

As a leading developer and operator of large-scale integrated logistics
and trade centres in China, we are committed to contributing to society,
nurturing talents and protecting the environment, while striving for
business growth to achieve our mission of creating a premium logistics
trade centre in China.

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company has overall
responsibility for the ESG strategies and reporting of China South
City, as well as monitoring key ESG issues. The Board is involved in
determining the materiality and priority of ESG issues, as well as responds
to the demands and expectations of various stakeholders through the
engagement of different stakeholders in the materiality assessment, with a
view to improving the sustainable governance of the Group. Furthermore,
key ESG risks have been incorporated into the Group’s risk management
system. In addition, the Board reviews the progress of ESG objectives
and indicators at our annual meetings and proposes countermeasures to
address them.

The Board would like to thank all shareholders, customers and business
partners for their long-term support and express its sincere gratitude to all
employees for their contributions and efforts. Looking forward, the Group
will proactively implement the ESG development strategies to ensure the
Group's towards sustainable development in all aspects.

The Report was confirmed and approved by the Board of Directors on 30
June 2022.
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Stakeholder Engagement

The Group places great emphasis on communication with stakeholders
and strives to understand the ESG expectations, opinions and suggestions
that are of concern to stakeholders. The Group incorporates these
concerns into its operations and decision-making processes and always
seeks to maximize shared value with stakeholders. The Group’s key
stakeholders including customers, employees, shareholders and investors,
regulators, suppliers and local communities. The communication channels

are set out below:

Stakeholder

R ESH
AEETAEZERNEOBE BN TRAMINR
5 HEREROML  BRMEE  SHIERA
AEENBLTRRBE  —EEREERNE X
BENFAL - AEENEERBADEES &
B BRERREL  EEHE  HEEREELLE -
BRREHTINT

groups Communication channels
HHEAR BERE
Customers < Customer evaluation form 3 Questionnaire, industry exhibitions
BF BRPIHER HEHETERESR
& Telephone/email

B35 BB
Customer visits and factory audits
EP2E M THEZ

K3
”

K3
°

Employees Regular meetings
BT EHEE

K3
<

Occupational health and safety training
B RET 2
<> Internal publications/memo boards

MEBTIY,ERIR

Shareholders and Annual and interim reports
investors FEAP RS
RERIREE

K3
o

Annual and interim results announcements
2FRPEEERD
Company website

MRk

K3
<

3 Questionnaire comment box/mail/email
MBRAEERME 1=/ SFBM
3 Performance appraisal
TERBFZ
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Stakeholder

groups Communication channels
B EAA R BERE
Regulators <& Official documents/meetings <> Supervision/inspection and evaluation
EERE NP BB BE RV
< Government websites
BURF A8k
< Report paper/visits
NEREFH
Suppliers <> Annual audit of suppliers < Questionnaire
e HEBFEEZ DEeEEES
< Telephone/email
Bk, ETEM
< Site visits
BihE R
Local communities Participation in community activities
EHE SEA B EE)
< Donation/sponsorship
BR BB
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Materiality Assessment

The Group has been working to effectively assess and identify the issues
that are most important to its stakeholders. The materiality assessment
was carried out independently by professional consultants to understand
the expectations of our stakeholders and the challenges we face in global
sustainability. This will help us to develop our sustainability strategies and
identify core aspects to improve our overall sustainability performance for
inclusion in the Report.

During the period from 2021 to 2022, the Group has updated the
materiality assessment through questionnaires of the Board and
stakeholders to identify the sustainability issues that are most important to
the Group and its stakeholders. The list of materiality issues and the results
of the assessment have been submitted to the Board for confirmation and
approval.

BRI

REE—ENEN - B AR B ROt T 4 N8 3
FOEBREENZE - EENTETEShEXEE
BB TT - THRFNENHEMRMEDRAHE
BRI LA PR o REULA B R FIHIE T RE R RS
B - SRR EES - (e 2R R IR AT A %
AW WHAREZT -

fE2021 520226 - REBEBBREZTSRENE
MERAE  EMBENTE  UWREUAEE RS
NEZAEENIHESREE - EEZMERBEEMN
A RORRESSERLEL -

Materiality Assessment Process

BB EBR

5 Opinion Collection Y

B R

Identification

Ez9sll

Prioritization Y

Bk

Confirmation

SR

The Group identified the most relevant and important ESG issues to its
business and stakeholders with reference to the ESG Guide of the Stock
Exchange, industry characteristics as well as risks and opportunities of
its business, corporate policies and management strategies. Through
the questionnaire survey, stakeholders including the Board of Directors,
employees, suppliers and customers were invited to evaluate the
materiality of each issue from their own perspective. The key issues were
selected and a materiality assessment matrix was drawn up to produce
preliminary findings, thus determining the core of its sustainability
strategies. The ESG working group then discussed and validated the
findings of the materiality assessment and reported to the Board.
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RE -

No.
Fol

HEHEERRE(E)
A
Moderate-importance issues High-importance issues
FEENER SEEMEE
: @
°
£ 172510
< (3
O v 3-19
© = 12
2 X ©
= ®
2%
[
gz
5 ® 0
5 @
g
Low-importance issues
EEEHHRE
A
~
Importance to the development of China South City
HEMPERNEE
ESG Issues No. ESG Issues
ESGHRE iwS: ESGERE
Exhaust emissions 12 Talent management and development
RERBRL AT ERRER
Greenhouse gas emissions 13 Procurement and supply chain management
REREBHN M EEEIR
Waste and recycling materials management 14 Product quality
REEY) R EIYIRIE TR EmmE
Energy management 15 Product innovation
BERE R E Bl
Water management 16 Customer services
FAKER BF R
Packaging materials management 17 Information security and personal data protection
BEMHHER Bz REAERHR#E
Environment and natural resources 18 Protection of intellectual property rights
RIERRAER RIS BB ERE
Climate change 19 Corporate governance and risk management
RIEEL hEERMERETR
Employee benefits and welfare 20 Anti-competition
BIRMEASFE REREITR
Equal opportunities 21 Community involvement
FEKe ==}
Health and safety
ERELTE
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During the reporting period, the Group engaged an independent
consulting company to conduct an ESG-related questionnaire survey and
materiality assessment with stakeholders so that the Group can better
understand the concerns and expectations of various stakeholders. By
analyzing the results of the survey, the Group identified the following 7
issues as the most important among the 21 ESG-related issues:

RNBERR - AEBZ BB QR BB HEET
ESGHEEMMESHEREEWTE  FAEEEER
THRERGENBE IR RNEE - BRSTEEAELE
R REEE21VEESGHEAZRET - U T7TEHRERA

ERREE

Employee benefits
and welfare
BITRA KRS

Health and safety
[EE TS

Talent management
and development
AABERER

Customer services Product quality

Information security

Equal opportunities

E PR EmmE BHLE TEHE
For more information on the above ESG issues, please refer to the relevant ~ Z14R TR & % Al MESG#E @ B2 M ARS8
sections of the Report. HIZEED o
Protecting the Environment and Pursuing Green RERE HEEKHK

and Low-Carbon Development

Protecting the earth is an important cornerstone for the sustainability
of our business and communities. China South City has been fulfilling
its corporate social responsibility to reduce its carbon footprint, control
carbon emissions, optimize the use of resources and improve the
management of pollutant emissions. We continue to innovate and
implement effective environmental measures to reduce the impacts of
our entire industry chain, including our activities and operations, on the
environment, community and governance. Meanwhile, we have been
doing our best to improve our environmental performance of the entire
industrial chain, from design to construction, by promoting a number
of recycling programs, in a bid to meet the national goal of “carbon
neutrality”.

Environmental Management

The Group complies with the relevant requirements of the Energy
Conservation and Emission Reduction Management Regulations that have
been prepared to ensure effective reduction of emissions in the course
of operation. The project management and property management teams
are responsible for introducing and evaluating energy-saving technologies
and equipment, managing and developing programs and data analysis
respectively. At the same time, the Group strictly complies with the laws
and regulations of local governments, including the regulations on waste
sorting, for example, the CSC Shenzhen complies with the Shenzhen
Municipal Regulations on the Management of Domestic Waste Sorting.
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The Group’s emission targets and the measures taken to achieve these NS HEIR B 121 A EIH 5 L B Z M ER AU 5 i 40
targets are as follows: T

Environmental

targets Directional indicators Measures taken during the year

RREE T B tEiEE FRBEE

Promote the use of Establish the equipment using 1. Installed a large solar water heating panel to supply hot water
renewable energy renewable energy using solar energy

EBHEEEIR INER AR IRR i T REUKIGREEVKIR - R KIS EE RER 2K L

2. Added new energy electric trucks for distribution to reduce
reliance on fossil fuels

ERFRERESEHETRZX - RO E LA AKE

3. Built charging stations for new energy vehicles in Shenzhen and
Nanning Qianlong Logistics Parks to facilitate and encourage
tenants to use new energy vehicles.

DRERYI R RS REYRERAZHERER AT - SR
TSR BN 3 A HT B IR R 4

Improve energy Adopt energy-saving productsand 1. Air conditioning in the office was set at approximately 26 to 28
efficiency measures degrees Celsius
RA LR & PR B M M HE it MAENZEFRERE RROEK265228E

2. When purchasing electrical appliances and other equipment,
products with excellent energy efficiency were prioritized
HRERERER  BAZRERIRERNER

3. Used LED lighting system
5 FALEDERAA K 4%

4. Posted environmental protection and energy saving slogans
and signs in each park to encourage employees to be
environmentally friendly and energy saving
& EE R R IRRENRE IR RS MARGE - FEASREN B TR
IRENRE
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Environmental

targets Directional indicators Measures taken during the year
BREE T A IEE FRAREE
Reduce emissions 1. Minimize the emission of 1. Added 30 new energy electric trucks to replace fuel vehicles

B BER ) exhaust gases, so as to
reduce the emission of

direct greenhouse gas

MAOBERNES - BRRD

HERERENES 2.

2. Reduce the demands for
electricity, so as to reduce
the emission of indirect
greenhouse gas

RIESENTRK  Z22RD 3

EERERENEL

3. Reduce the generation of
sewage
B TTKRIEE
4.
5.
6.

and reduced emissions, such as nitrogen oxides
WERI0AFREREEEE - REMBER - BMOELERER -
m: mEly

Participated in annual vehicle review and regular exhaust
emissions inspections as required by the transportation
authorities to reduce the emission of direct greenhouse gas
BBAFIRE2MEWMFE - THRBERR - #Fumd
BRAEREMNEL

Cement and other construction materials which are easily blown
into the air were sealed and stored, and construction waste
was discharged and transported through special airtight refuse
passages or containers to reduce air pollutants

ARMEAL S RGERRZEM BT - I I5ERA
HEAERNICRBEN AT EDE - IR =R5RY

When purchasing electrical appliances and other equipment,
products with excellent energy efficiency were prioritized to
improve the efficiency of electricity consumption and thereby
reduce the emission of indirect greenhouse gas
REERERMER  BEEAZRERIGERNER  RAFE
W FEILR AR EREBNES

LED lighting system was established to optimize the efficiency of
electricity consumption and thus reduce the emission of indirect
greenhouse gas

RRLEDRAA RS - B AEMEE - FIUR DB EREN
EHE

The rainwater, sewage and wastewater from construction
sites were treated separately. Sewage went through technical
treatment before being reclaimed. The remainder of processed
water was discharged into municipal sewage pipelines
or recycled for greening and road flushing to reduce the
generation of sewage.

METEMEIRRK 57K~ BEKEITDIMEIE » BEKERIMTEEIE
& EUHE R AT EY T ATHEA T BUS /K E #7381 BIU A AR
e RBRE RS - B TKEE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

Environmental

targets Directional indicators Measures taken during the year

BREE T EEIEE FRNIEE

Reduce waste Reduce the use of paper 1. Adopted OA system for daily office application processes and
RIREEEY) B AME AR OR promote paperless office

EHOARFETAERANZTIREFRIE - REEM MR

2. Created electronic files to reduce copying and printing
B BTFIEE R EENFZIED

3. Encouraged employees to use double-sided printing as much
as possible when printing and to use them for draft paper or
environmentally friendly printing paper
SE B ISR ESFERAEEIIE  TERAERANIRRT
EN4R

Responding to Climate Change EH R RS

The Group faces acute risks and transition challenges arising from climate 7 5= & [ B 5, 5= 8L BT % 2 19 37 BN M 3L fe Ko 8 A0 Bk
change. Acute risks include natural disasters, such as increased frequency & » BB £ RS B IER K - 1S 0B IR Ee R K 7k SEAY
of super typhoons and floods, or desertification. In the short term, acute ~ #8% » kRS - WHWE @ WBHXLEHEE
natural events can directly damage the Group’s assets and facilities, BEWZEBEEENEN FETRERBIEDASE
hence affecting the progress of construction and logistics. In the long & - KEIM 5 » RIFAIEMEE(CIFAI RSG5 EE %
term, chronic changes in climate can also gradually weaken the Group’s — T#i0E » WEHEERE -

business areas and lead to asset impairment.

In addition to acute risks, climate-related business transition challenges B} 7 ENEFIE RS 2 40 - SRR RE A 3 A5 R Dk Es o]
may have a negative impact on the business, operating results and ~ £BM¥ER LEEENVEIREKATTE I
financial condition of the Group, and may be detrimental to the  FIREMEBBENH o« THRZFELRER - L LR
reputation of the Group. It is particularly important to understand the & - MAEEF LR LHEEN - Btk NEEFE
nature and scale of these potential risks in order to mitigate their impact.  Hi&iHi Rigst RIS AR - ARERBMIELE
Therefore, the Group regularly assesses and reviews the risk of climate & B BRI ELE o

change and makes long-term and effective deployment to mitigate the

risk.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

During the reporting period, the types of risks, descriptions and

countermeasures for climate change of the Group are as follows:

ﬁgﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁﬂ? :

Type of risk Description Response measures

E R fut FES R

Acute risk Natural disasters, including typhoons, The Group has formulated the Operational Emergency Plan
BNES 1 RS flooding and hot weather, can lead to and set up an emergency response team to direct emergency

disruptions in construction, suspension of
the supply chain and the risk of reduced
production capacity due to shutdowns in

engineering and logistics.
REEMH - BIERE
£ AEHETIRE

AER TR -

KR REERRR
B - R ER
RiF TMEMTIE MR AR ETTE

and disaster relief and rescue work.
HREEZSIIENEEESE
FE%LMSZM“TA EﬁIﬂE o

To prevent flooding, we have carried out drainage design in
accordance with the relevant national laws and regulations,
and the drainage design has been approved by the relevant
government departments and is subject to the supervision
of the government departments; we have checked the
structural safety of the buildings in advance before the
arrival of typhoons and report any problems immediately
to the emergency response team; we also have purchased
the emergency equipment according to the Operational
Emergency Plan, such as spare emergency generators, water
pumping machines, sandbags, Tarpaulin, emergency medicine
boxes, medical kits, etc.

RUAMIORE - BIMRBE KB ERERETHKERE
HOKRREHES BT BB B PTRRT AT - B X BUR P PT A B
EHERAIENRAMEREYNEELY  WERME
VARERSIENM  REBEGEERSRRIER)E SR
BUIE =R - 0 - BARESEEE - HKE - e - BIk)
e EREN BERSE-

The Group has implemented the Construction Plan for the
High-Temperature and Rainy Season and the guidelines of
local government departments on protection of outdoor
workers to perform temperature reduction and heat
dissipation, so as to ensure the safety of workers.
REEEM(ERENEZMRIARE) - AREHIAFEFIE I
THEABRRERBIESIMITER  BESHENIE -
RIEABNR R -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

Type of risk
E b RE

ERRE (F)

Description
i pus

Response measures

e

Policies and laws

PR BOAE

Market risk
%R kR

The progressive tightening of legal
regulations related to climate change
in products, services and operations
has resulted in higher operating costs,
including increased product development
and compliance costs.

FEEEm - R REETEARIEE(CE
B EEEREESNE  AMSEEER
REF  BEEMFE  SHRKEREN -

Governments and markets are increasingly
concerned about climate change and
many countries have rising demand for
renewable energy, therefore, priority has
been given to green products when they
make procurement.

EEETETSE R mEE - ARk
ZARRE A BERERNFE L TEIRS
R BT RBAEERM

The Group has implemented various energy saving and
emission reduction measures for its businesses and strictly
complied with relevant environmental regulations, striving
to enhance energy saving and emission reduction standards
while complying with laws and increasing production capacity.
RN EXBAETZIANERRTE I - WEAKETHE
IRBEBEVER - BSRER AR RIGINER R - D8k
R ETBE BB KAE -

The Group has always supported the concept of green
development, and our products and services have been
applied in the fields of logistics, engineering and property
management, etc. We hope to further promote sustainable
development in the competitive market.
SE-EXHGERRERNES - FRMAERRRFER
BEDREYR TR MEEREEY  HERETSH
FHFERDASELR -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Green Operations

The Group has been incorporating environmental considerations into its
business activities, and has effectively reduced the impact of its business
on the environment through using new energy facilities. In addition,
the Group has increased green procurement and extended the concept
of environmental protection to the entire supply chain, thus promoting
sustainable development in all aspects.

Green Procurement

To promote sustainable development, the Group places great emphasis
on the environmental performance of suppliers and the impact of
products on the environment during the procurement process, so as
to protect the environment and natural resources. We continue to
implement a green procurement policy, giving priority to suppliers with
good environmental performance and purchasing new energy equipment
and eco-friendly materials, such as electric forklifts, energy-efficient
appliances and biodegradable plastic bags. Moreover, the Group’s
contracts with suppliers clearly state the relevant rules and regulations
to ensure that the suppliers’ production, transportation, sales and after-
sales activities comply with national environmental laws. The Group also
regularly evaluates suppliers and project execution to review the suppliers’
compliance on environmental protection. In the meantime, the Group
strengthens communication with suppliers and continues to advocate and
support green procurement.

Green Buildings

During the business expansion, the Group insists on the principle
of environmental protection and implements green buildings by
incorporating green concepts into our buildings. In Hefei “Qianlong
E-Commerce Logistics Park Warehouse Nos.1-7" and “CSC Xi‘an Logistics
Park D Zone Warehouse Nos.11-12", we have applied eco-friendly
construction materials such as autoclaved aerated concrete blocks and
ALC panels to reduce the negative impact on the environment during
and after the construction of the buildings. We have also adopted an
energy saving and emission reduction plan in the CSC Hefei by installing
large solar panels on the top floor of the complex to store solar energy to
provide warm water to users. Besides, the architectural design of our park
was designed by a professional company and evaluated by the relevant
national authorities. During the year, all residential projects developed by
China South City were designed and built with gardens and green areas
in order to meet national requirements, thereby achieving the goal of
optimizing the environment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

=4
B /A

BR - HEHEREE(H)

The Group applied the national standards on energy-saving buildings to
its building design and construction in its projects. During the reporting
period, several projects of China South City obtained the National Award
for Green Building Design (One Star & Two Star).

AEENIREREERERMERERELETR
T c RAREHA - FRMSEBEBHERSE

F—EN_ERSERERIDE -

Construction scale

Subsidiary Project name (1,000 sq.m.) Certificate
it B8 A &) HE AR BERAB(TEAK) EERESE
CSC Hefei 1668 Kaiyuan Plaza 100.9  Green Building Design Label (Two Star)
SIEERER 1668 T E% B eRERE
1668 Wealth Plaza 118.9  Green Building Design Label (One Star)
166881 = &5 —ERRERERE
1668 Times Square 281.7  Green Building Design Label (Two Star)
16688 X B35 _ERmERERS
CSC Zhengzhou Kaiyuan Phase | (underground garage, 178.8  Green Building Design Label (One Star)
F1, F2, F3, F5)
EB)NEE R T —HBA( T ERE - 148 - 218 - —ERRERERS
31 - 5iE)
Green Construction #eEmT

The Group closely monitors the potential impact of its project development
on the environment. We strictly comply with the regulations of competent
government departments on traffic, construction noise and production
safety at the construction sites, complete the relevant procedures in
accordance with the regulations and notify Party A and the supervisor in
writing. We also strictly have aligned with applicable laws and regulations
on environmental protection, and has formulated civilized construction
standards, including the Environmental Protection and Occupational
Health and Safety Management Standards, Management Standard for
Safe and Civilized Construction at Sites with Diagrams, Standard for Fire
Safety at Construction Sites, Management System for Safe and Civilized
Construction, Management System for Fire Safety in Construction, etc. At
the same time, the Group strengthens the environmental management
at the construction sites in strict compliance with the requirements of
environmental inspection and audit. We strictly implement measures
to prevent and control the pollution of dust and waste water as well as
ecological protection and soil and water conservation measures during the
construction process, striving to protect the surrounding environment.

AEERERIEERZBRETAREHRTERNT
2 BRETBRFHIEMPIEEISHE TR
EUEMZEEERMNERRTE  WREIEEH
FE INEEEANSF  BEIE - BRETEH
RBFREEFRER - LHIE T XA ITHER - B4
(REFRENBERELZE2EEGE) (EIRER
EXHmIERRENKE) GETRGEHZ2E
B (LE2XHABIERHE) (IREHLEE
BHEF - Rl AEBEEBRBREREEZE
Ko g TRSHRITER - Tt T8RP EBRRZ
BEWE - BKE SR ER R ERRE KR
e - BUIRERSRIR -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

In respect of exhaust gas and dust pollution, we strictly abide by applicable
laws and regulations, including the Ambient Air Quality Standards.
Cement and other construction materials which are easily blown into
the air are sealed and stored; and construction waste is discharged
and transported through special airtight refuse passages or containers.
Construction sites are also equipped with enclosed waste stations where
construction waste and domestic waste are classified and stored.

In respect of sewage discharge, we comply with relevant laws and
regulations, including the Comprehensive Sewage Discharge Standard.
Sedimentation tanks have been built at the cleaning space for concrete
carrier vehicles for diversion of rain, sewage and wastewater from
construction sites. Sewage is treated through technical treatment before
being reclaimed. The remainder of treated water is discharged into
municipal sewage pipelines or recycled for greening and road flushing.
The Oil, thinner and paint on construction sites must be placed in storage
rooms whose ground must have received anti-seepage treatment to
prevent any groundwater pollution.

Electricity Management

The Group is aware that we mainly rely on fossil fuels for electricity
generation currently, which generates a large amount of greenhouse
gases and causes serious damage to the environment. Therefore, through
regular monitoring and evaluation of electricity consumption, the Group
is able to set energy saving targets and promote more energy saving and
low carbon measures.

We are committed to promoting the use of renewable energy. During
the year, Qianlong Logistics used 30 new energy electric trucks for
distribution and will continue to promote it. During the year, large solar
water heating panels were installed on the top floor of the complex in
the Hefei Company to supply warm water to users, thereby reducing the
consumption of electricity for water heaters by the users. In addition,
the Group also formulated and implemented the regulations related
to water and electricity consumption in the Management Regulations
on Energy Saving and Emission Reduction (Version 2020A). During the
year, we proposed to give priority to energy-efficient products based on
the energy efficiency label assessment provided by the manufacturers
when purchasing electrical appliances and other equipment; set the air-
conditioning temperature in offices at approximately 26 to 28 degrees
Celsius; and use LED lighting systems in most of Qianlong Logistics’
warehouses. Besides, we also posted energy saving slogans and signs in
each park to encourage our employees to be environmentally friendly
and energy saving. In the future, the Group will strive to promote energy
saving and emission reduction measures and equipment to move towards
the national goal of “carbon neutrality”.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

During the reporting period, the total energy consumption of the Group

was as follows:

AEHEA - AEBHAEFERE

VEEBTS

Total energy

Type of energy Unit consumption
RRERE B RERMEE
Total Energy consumption kWh 447,342,112.08
RELRMEE T E B
Total energy consumption intensity kWh/employee 158,857.28
HELRHERE FTRE BT
Direct energy consumption kWh 54,020,113.93
HEERES TR
Direct energy consumption intensity kWh/employee 19,183.28
BEERREERE FTRE BT
Of which:
Hep e
Oil consumption kWh 2,278,269.14
oS FE &
Oil consumption intensity kWh/employee 809.04
aEERE FTRE BT
Gas consumption kWh 51,741,844.80
MRFEE T B
Gas consumption intensity kWh/employee 18,374.23
MEFEETE FRE BT
Indirect energy consumption kWh 393,321,998.15
e RfE S TR
Indirect energy consumption intensity kWh/employee 139,674.01
A E R E FTRE BT
Of which:
Hep e
Electricity consumption kWh 393,321,998.15
BHREE FRE
Electricity consumption intensity kWh/employee 139,674.01
BHRERE FTRE BT

Note:

Energy data has been converted to kWh for lower calorific value;

Fuel consumption includes unleaded gasoline and diesel; and

Gas consumption includes purchased natural gas.

BiaE

BERBUIE2 EREAMERE RTRE

PRRFEE BIE - BN TR R EOH - AR

MAEBEIE - MENRAR -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Water Management

Water is the lifeblood of all life on our planet. In order to protect our
precious water resources, the Group requires water conservation in all
its operations, strictly regulates sewage treatment and optimizes water
resources management. During the reporting period, the Group strictly
complied with national laws and regulations on water resources and
applied for relevant discharge permits in accordance with local government
regulations, and was subject to the supervision of local environmental
protection monitoring authorities. Besides, we also implemented water
conservation measures in accordance with the regulations on water and
electricity consumption as set out in the Management Regulations on
Energy Saving and Emission Reduction (Version 2020A) formulated by
the Group. We regularly reviewed the use of domestic water and the
effectiveness of water conservation, and strengthened the management
for water resources to protect water resources. During the reporting
period, our domestic wastewater was disposed of in the municipal
wastewater treatment plant through the municipal wastewater treatment
network. In respect of water saving, CSC Shenzhen and CSC Harbin have
applied water saving equipment and facilities, using sensor-activated
taps and pedal-enabled water-saving toilets, which effectively reduced
the water usage of the plazas and public areas. Administrative Tower
and Trade Centre Plaza 3 of CSC Nanchang and Trade Centre Plaza 2 of
CSC Xi'an have applied water saving equipment and facilities. During the
reporting period, the Group did not encounter any problems with water

sourcing.

KEFRER

KRR E— ARSI - AT RED BHIK
BB AEEBSREEBHNEK  BISRETKE
1 ARBOKEREE « REMHRN - AEEMBRIGY
FEFKEBERNERER - MR BITE T
TeR AR T - T M B (R E B E I
B o B - BN IR IR AN M M0 AR HE S
1230 5% ) (2020AKR) T K FB B AR B 45 S 01T E 40 B
KB - FHIEIRAERKMERIER - AR5
K2R AR EEE ARSI - TRk
BIR o REHR - AEEN LIRS BB TS
RIEREME RS TS KRR G —E1T5 KRR -
PESRRKTE « R R R R R SRR A
KRB Rk - R 3 B VR BE BE S RS IR 67K
BE AR TERNZSESRALBAAK -
HEEENTHE - SR SEEREREER %
X BB IVRBEINERE - RFEHMA - AEERE
BEURE AR -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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BR - HEHEREE(H)

During the reporting period, the total water consumption of the Group
was as follows:

AHERA - AEBERBFKENT ¢

Unit Water consumption
B KEFREE
Water consumption m? 7,406,740.00
FEKE TR
Water consumption intensity m3/employee 2,630.23
FRkERE SNHEASEBT

Packaging Materials

The Group is mainly engaged in logistics, transportation and business
management, which are not manufacturing or retail industries and thus
does not involve any packaging process. As such, packaging materials are
not significantly related to our business. As a result, the Group does not
keep records for packaging materials and no relevant records are available
for the reporting period.

Waste Management

Proper disposal of waste is one of the important tasks to protect the
environment. The Group continues to reduce the generation of waste and
handle hazardous waste properly. The Group classifies hazardous wastes
in accordance with the National List of Hazardous Waste and complies
with the Environmental Protection and Occupational Health and Safety
Management Standards to store toxic and hazardous waste in qualified
containers. During the reporting period, we strictly prohibited the mixing
of different types or incompatible toxic and hazardous waste in the same
container to avoid danger. Containers containing toxic and hazardous
waste shall be sealed, packaged and properly marked for identification,
and stored in designated storage areas. Toxic and hazardous waste shall
be handed over to units that have the qualifications for the transportation
of toxic and hazardous waste issued by the environmental protection
department for disposal, so that hazardous waste can be safely and
properly managed.

BEMH

AR TERRAESEH AT - UHREES
TEE  EPOESREMELBE  FUBEIH
BAEBREEARE - Bl - ARERERBEY
KHERZER « FTIAK SRS B30 5 ARBRAEER -

EEEYERE
EREFENSREBENEETE2—  A4£H
TEROEEBENREERBEEEY - AEER
B AREREDAE) - BREREDELSE 1Y
TORBRENBERERZTRIDE)  KESHE
BEMEHEABNARA « RFEEA - RIIBRZE
FREBEXETEANESEEEYRNER—2 %
M URBERR - MEASHEEENODEE
I EE% - EHIEEIES - A2 H®E - BN
EMERE - BEEEEN R ABBIRBPIS
BMESEEEENERSENELERE  FEE
BEWETE AR ENEE -

ek
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

In addition, the Group has also implemented a series of waste reduction
measures for non-hazardous waste. For example, the OA system was used
for application processes in daily office to promote paperless office; the
document management team has established electronic files and scanned
all contract documents to reduce copying and printing; we encourage
employees to use double-sided printing as much as possible when
printing, and the blank side of non-confidential documents should be used
as draft paper or environmentally friendly printing paper; old stationery
was traded in for new ones to reduce waste; environmental protection
slogans and signs were posted in each park to encourage employees to
make good use of resources, so as to effectively reduce non-hazardous
waste. The Group also sorts recyclable waste (e.g. waste paper, plastic
products, wooden boards, etc.) by cleaning staff and notifies professional
collectors for recycling.

During the reporting period, the amount of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste generated by the Group was as follows:

BESN - ARERBIRETEEERERY) - FH — RIIROIREE
o Bl - EFAOARMETHERANEIRRE
mE - REERLERL  REERARYETESR

P REREEE - BAEEMIE : REEE
THENREEFEREESIE - MIFERENZER—®
ZEZARERBIIRRITER « XARBAERH -
WARE & EERARBRRAORERRE - S8
BTERER  #UAMROEBEERY - AREY
SRl E R (ANREAR Y ~ BB S - ARE) IRIRIZ
BETTORERE  BAERWSHETE -

ARERAN  FEBNEERBEEEEYELS N
T~

Type of waste Unit Waste generation
BESRY R By BENEES
Hazardous waste tonne 0.42
BEEED NI

Hazardous waste intensity tonne/employee <0.0002
BEERYTR AW BT

Non-hazardous waste tonne 230,096.56
BEEEY NI

Non-hazardous waste intensity tonne/employee 81.71
BEEEDEE RmWE/BT
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Exhaust Management

Although air pollutant emissions are unavoidable in our production
process, the Group has strictly abided by the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Prevention and Control of Air Pollution and the emission
standards of different local governments. Furthermore, the Group also
tries to reduce the generation of air pollutant with advanced technology.

The Group strictly controls emissions and implements emission reduction
measures to ensure that the emissions from each of its operations meet
the local government regulations. During the reporting period, the
exhaust emissions from the Group’s operations were in compliance with
the local government regulations. The vehicles owned by Qianlong Group
have attended annual review as required by the transportation authorities,
with their exhaust emissions meeting the national regulations and passing
annual inspections. We regularly review our exhaust treatment in order to

minimize exhaust emissions.

In addition, the Group continued to promote the development of electric
vehicles during the year, with a view to gradually replacing the oil-fired
forklifts. During the reporting period, Qianlong Logistics basically replaced
fuel trucks with rechargeable trucks in its warehouses and will continue to
promote them. Besides, CSC Shenzhen and CSC Nanning built charging
stations for new energy vehicles in the park to facilitate and encourage
tenants to use new energy vehicles. As a result, roadside emissions were
greatly reduced and roadside air quality was improved.

During the reporting period, the annual vehicle emissions and gas fuel
data of the Group was as follows:

BEREE

FEEERRES  HAHUBRLSBRERSRY B2
EAREEBRRET(PEARKMBARSRIA
o [RIEF - AR

ED ~ DARANRI M0 75 TR B BE SR HE R
SENREA T ERMBUEERISRNESE -

AEBBREERERYOYEN - WHETTHEARIHE
e - AREAR S (AR BE R B E = B8 W BUF /A
IR o REHA - REBEBH RN A K
FTEER - RoRe R BBEA M ERRBEFIRES M
FE - BERICEIBEFRELBBFERE - T

BEPRRERREE  BIEERNERK -

IS -

it RARRERE EWEER - EREERE R -

RIREHA - A LB ETFHRR R RN

T

Emissions of

AEBEFABEEDEPIENRR - B2
BB ANE - KREHRN - LEDRNEE
ERUAFREANEERRWEANE - W EREETH
& BE AER - mERRDHIEERANRZHE
IREBMTEL - SRS EEF LA AERER -

Pollutants Unit exhaust pollutants
VEE S By BRITRIBHRE
Nitrogen oxides (NO)) kg 529.58
AEALH (NO) Fr
Sulphur oxides (SO,) kg 31.58
et (so) Fr
Particulate Matter (PM) kg 37.58
FERL (PM) T
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

During the reporting period, the greenhouse gas emissions of the Group ~ AIHREHIA » AEBEREEREHRENT ¢
were as follows:
Greenhouse
Type of greenhouse gas emissions Unit gas emissions
BERBBERER By BERBENRE
Total greenhouse gas emissions tCO,-e 433,984.57
HRERBENE AE_SULiRE S
Total greenhouse gas emissions intensity tCO,-e/employee 154.11
HRERBEHNEE AE—EfhirgE 8T
Direct emissions (Scope 1) tCO,-e 106,698.74
BEHR(BE—) AW tIRE 2
Energy indirect emissions (Scope 2) tCO,-e 326,624.22
seRM s (FE ) AE_SULiRE S
Other indirect emissions (Scope 3) tCO,-e 661.61
HipHEH s (BE=) AE_ALIRE S
Note: 3T

The calculations are based on the Environmental Key Performance Indicators
Reporting Guide published by the Stock Exchange, the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for
National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, the China
Grid Baseline Emission Factor for the 2019 Emission Reduction Projects.

Scope 1: includes gasoline use from mobile vehicles, diesel use, purchased natural
gas, carbon dioxide fire extinguishers, etc.

Scope 2: includes energy indirect emissions from purchased electricity; and

Scope 3: includes business travel.

People-oriented, Diversity and Inclusion

The success of our business through operational excellence depends on
the talent, innovation and contribution of our employees. In a highly
competitive market, we ensure that our talent strategy meets the
immediate and long-term operational needs. China South City adheres
to a “people-oriented” management philosophy and is committed to
protecting the legitimate rights and interests of our employees and
supporting their development. We are committed to providing an equal,
diversified, warm and inclusive platform for our employees, continuously
promoting their personal development and protecting the physical and
mental health of all employees, in order to enhance their happiness and
sense of belonging.
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Our Team

As at 31 March 2022, the number of employees of the Group by different

categories was as follows:

A HY B B
HZE2022F3A310 » AEBZRTRENESHES
ANEAR -

Number of
employees
Category ok} EEAE
(person)
(A)
By gender BRI &5
Male St 1,519
Female pogi 1,297
By type of employment REEBERES
Full-time a7 2,797
Part-time TR 18
Contract =X 1
By age group RERARNE S
15-24 years old 1552455, 93
25-34 years old 25E345% 1,182
35-44 years old 355 445%, 1,034
45-54 years old 4555475, 454
55-64 years old 55E645% 52
65 years old or above 65m% A = 1
By geographical region Ry EE D
Mainland China B RE 2,805

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

EFREFITTHR

11

Note:

The calculations are based on the Social Key Performance Indicators Reporting
Guide published by the Stock Exchange.

MRt

SHEERE PG S BRERIERREES] -

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZREFIRA T “




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

During the reporting period, the average monthly employee turnover rate
of the Group was as follows:

AHEMA - AEENEAFHRERARLEMOT

Average monthly

employee
turnover rate
BR¥HER
Category 2E MK =R
(%)
By gender &M B2
Male EEla 8.12
Female egid 6.87
By age group RERANE D
15-24 years old 1522455, 19.09
25-34 years old 2523457, 8.71
35-44 years old 35% 4453, 6.30
45-54 years old 4555475, 4.13
55-64 years old 55Z647% 4.17
65 years old or above 65m% A & 0
By geographical region Ry EE D
Mainland China H B K 7.37
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region BARRIITH R 5.30

Note:

The calculations are based on the Social Key Performance Indicators Reporting
Guide published by the Stock Exchange.

Talent Management

China South City strictly abides by the laws and regulations and relevant
practices such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Employment
Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Special Provisions
on Labor Protection of Female Employees, the Trade Union Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Minors and the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.
In accordance with the above laws and regulations, we also constantly
improve the monitoring and protection system for employees’ rights and
interests to ensure fairness and impartiality in recruitment and promotion
as well as create an equal and diversified workforce. We prohibit any form
of discrimination and arrange working hours and holidays for employees
in a lawful and reasonable manner, striving to provide a healthy and
safe working environment for employees and promote the common
development of the enterprise and employees.
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Equal Opportunities and Diversity and Inclusion

The Group is committed to providing equal opportunities for its employees
by adhering to its philosophy of diversity and anti-discrimination
personnel management. Our equal employment opportunity policy
applies to employment arrangements including recruitment, employment,
promotion, job replacement, layoff and dismissal, ensuring that all
employees and candidates are treated equally regardless of race, religion,
gender, family status, sexual orientation, physical disability or any other
reasons. During the year, the Group continued its efforts to regulate the
collaborative relationship among employees through effective allocation
of human resources and achieved a win-win situation for both employees
and the Company.

Talent Recruitment and Retention

China South City allocates human resources and makes timely adjustments
to its team structure according to the actual needs of business
development. We have a comprehensive and transparent recruitment
process to ensure that the entire recruitment process is fair, just and
open. For all job vacancies, we usually only consider the applicants’
working experience, talents and academic qualifications. In considering
the promotion of employees, we adopt the principle of “fit for purpose”
and make reference to the performance evaluation of employees,
their experience and personal abilities and potentials as the criteria for
promotion. During the year, the Group adopted a digital system in human
resources management and brought technology into the operation. Apart
from providing customers more convenience, the Group can reorganize its
job structure in line with its development demands.

Welfare Benefit

To enhance the Group’s competitiveness in attracting and retaining
talents, we offer competitive remuneration packages and employee
benefits. The Group has established a set of objective and fair
remuneration guidelines. The remuneration of our employees is
determined with reference to the overall economic environment and
the remuneration levels of our peers, as well as taking into account
factors such as position, personal ability, performance, education and
professional qualifications. In addition, we enforce our labor system in
strict compliance with national and local laws such as the Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Employment Promotion Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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The Group has formulated its employee benefit system in accordance
with the requirements of the Ministry of Human Resources and Social
Security of the People’s Republic of China, including a reasonable leave
system for sick leave, casual leave, marriage leave, bereavement leave,
maternity leave, paternity leave, lactation leave, annual leave, injury leave
and statutory holidays. The employee benefit system is under constant
improvement to take better care of our employees and their personal
growth.

Care for Employees

The Group strives to foster a frank, open and efficient communication
environment where employees are harmonious and trusting each other.
We encourage two-way communication between the management and
employees to develop mutual trust, thus to enhance productivity and
motivate employees’ morale.

The Group attaches great importance to caring for and helping
employees. Adhering to the concept of “The Company Has Love, Mutual
Assistance”, we raised charitable donations for employees who suffered
from family tragedies, providing care and economic support to them
and their families. Besides, we also care about the physical and mental
health of our employees. To this end, our factories regularly organize
diversified activities for employees to enrich their spare time, promote
their communication and teamwork, thereby enhancing friendship and
cohesiveness.

"Growing for New Power"” Training Camp
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Talent Development

China South City believes that the continuous development and personal
growth of our employees is the key to the long-term prosperity of
the Group. Therefore, we put more efforts to the career planning of
employees, including the balanced development between personal career
and life. We continue to enhance our employee training system and
provide training for all levels of employees, including orientation and
training for management development. We have extensive and diverse
training programs, including lectures and seminars, online learning,
outward bound courses and experience sharing programs. We hope to
effectively assist our employees in enhancing their skills through various
types of training, helping them to realize their career planning and fully
utilize their strengths and potentials in their respective positions.

’h
soe ® OB

4

“CSC Talent Program”

The Group recognises the importance of cultivating an excellent
management team. The “CSC Talent Program” is a training program
specifically designed for the management to help them understand their
management responsibilities and roles, adapt to their management
positions and quickly improve their management standards, thus
establishing a highly qualified and professional management team with
vitality, creativity and commitment for China South City.

BEAT
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Talent Development Activities for Employees
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New Talent Development

The Group provides orientation for new employees, covering corporate
culture, systems and procedures, to help them quickly integrate and
understand the working environment and culture of the Group. In
addition, it has been the talent management objective of China South
City to nurture the best young generation for the society. With diversified
businesses, China South City can provide graduates with a sound platform
to facilitate their integration into the workplace, so that outstanding
graduates can show and explore their talents and build their ideal career.

During the reporting period, the percentage of employees trained and the
average training hours completed per employee of the Group by different
categories were as follows:

HAEE

AEBEREHABIEN - HINATRELEE - H
ERESE  NEDHME TRERMARTBAEENT
ERFEMXL - o RHEBEESFE R
EEH—EBROATERAER - EERS TR E
B RBRERE—EXENFE - B fIEFR
585 REFEFLERRNBEACHTE &
SIEREBRAE ©

s 97 - AKEETREAIE S 0 R RSN ED L
RE AR AEREITFHHRT

Percentage of Average training
total employees hours completed

trained per employee
hEZIER BEEERER
Category 28 Rl ZHI TG E
(hour)
(%) (/INEF)
By gender BRI 8D

Male Exls 56.05 17.22
Female gk 43.95 14.22

By type of employee RESERES
General employees —MET 68.79 16.42
Middle management g 25.93 18.85
Senior management =g 5.28 14.13

Note: 3T

The calculations are based on the Social Key Performance Indicators Reporting
Guide published by the Stock Exchange.
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Occupational Safety and Health Management

China South City regards occupational safety and health as a “top”
priority for the Group. We endeavor to take various preventive measures
to minimize potential occupational safety risks in our operations and
to provide a healthy and safe working environment for our employees.
The Group’s occupational health and safety policies are formulated in
accordance with laws and regulations such as the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases

and the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Construction Safety

Although the construction works of China South City are completed by
contractors, in view of the relatively high occupational safety and health
risks associated with the construction business, we require the main
contractor to prepare an effective occupational risk management plan to
identify, assess and control potential sources of hazards on all projects
and to ensure the safety of the project works through control measures in
accordance with the national and project location regulations, rules and
contractual requirements on safe and civilized construction. The Group
has also implemented the Project Inspection and Assessment Management
Regulations to regulate its safety management committee and project
management centre to conduct regular inspections and assessments for
the safe and civilized construction of each project on a regular basis, so
as to protect the health and safety of workers through a two-pronged
approach by strengthening the attention of the main contractor and the
supervisory unit to safety.

Park Safety Management

In the daily operations, project inspections by the safety team are arranged
to eliminate potential safety risks and proactively eliminate hazards, and
regularly inspect fire-fighting facilities and safety signs. As required by the
State Council, the Group also carried out the “Production Safety Month”
activities to promote safety management in places, including but not
limited to, office premises, construction sites and the entire project area.
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Health and Safety Culture

Safety education and training are the cornerstones of a successful
production safety system. Therefore, the Group has established and
implemented a sound production safety education and training system.
We provided regular occupational safety education courses and training
to our employees, conducted a number of safety seminars and fire drills to
enhance the safety awareness of all employees and upgrade their safety
skills. Apart from accident prevention, we have also invested resources to
enhance the health awareness among employees. Moreover, in response
to the prevailing running trend in recent years, we have organized running
groups and hired professional coaches to give guidance. CSC Shenzhen
has its employee dormitories furnished with various fitness facilities such as
gyms and table-tennis tables, treadmills, multi-training machines, indoor
cycling accessories, etc.

Employee Dormitories furnished with Gyms

BIRERERAE

In response to work-related accidents, the Group communicates and
reports to the Human Resources and Social Security Bureau in the first
instance, and ensures adequate risk prevention and emergency response
measures by reviewing the accidents. The Group also delegates its labor
union personnel to visit the injured employees, console their family
members and seek for the best treatment plan from various aspects in
cooperation with medical institutions. During the reporting period, the
number of lost days due to work injuries was 55.
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Labor Standards

The Group also recruits in accordance with the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong and the Labor Law of the People’'s Republic of China, which
prohibit any form of forced labor and compulsory overtime work. During
the reporting period, the Group did not record any cases of child labor or
forced labor. In case of any violations, the Group will refer them to the
law enforcement agencies in accordance with the law. The Group also
conducts regular inspections to prevent child labor or forced labor, and
strengthens internal training to raise awareness of its subsidiaries for laws
and regulations, so as to achieve the goal of prohibiting child labor and
forced labor.

Prevention of Child Labor

To eliminate the occurrence of such incidents, we check and review
the identity documents, relevant certificates and work experience of
job applicants during the recruitment process to verify their age. Once
child labor is found, we will immediately stop their work and conduct
investigations to identify loopholes and implement remedial measures to
prevent the recurrence of such incidents.

Prevention of Forced Labor

The Group enters into employment contracts that meet the requirements
of local laws and regulations with employees before their official
employment, which clearly stipulate the rights and responsibilities of both
parties, protect the rights and interests of employees, prohibit any form
of forced labor, ensure that all employees work on a voluntary basis,
and prohibit the use of any forced labor or indentured labor, corporal
punishment, imprisonment, or threat of violence. If overtime work is
required for manufacturing operations or under special circumstances,
overtime work must be arranged with the consent of the employee
without affecting the employee’s physical condition and compensated by
overtime pay.

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations on the
prevention of child labor or forced labor, including the Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China, and there were no violations during the
period.
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Quality Property and Considerate Services

Adhering to the quality management policy of quality-based, continuous
improvement, brand protection and customer satisfaction, China South
City continues to improve its internal project quality management and
strives to provide a comfortable and quality commercial and residential
environment for its customers. We are committed to enhancing the
overall sustainability of our value chain while maintaining our competitive
edge. We proactively communicate with and manage our suppliers and
contractors to establish long-term and mutually beneficial partnerships,
thus creating synergies and bringing positive impact to the society.

Quality Assurance

China South City clearly understands that product quality and safety are
important to our customers, the community and our corporate reputation.
We regard delivering excellent product quality and performing product
responsibility as the cornerstone of our business. The Group strictly
complies with the Construction Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Regulations on Quality Control of Construction Projects, the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights
and Interests and the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China,
and other laws and regulations and industry standards related to product
quality and safety that have a significant impact on the Group.

During the reporting period, the Group had one incident of non-
compliance with the project approval requirements and paid the fine in
accordance with the penalties imposed. Immediately after the incident,
the Group commenced an internal investigation to identify the cause and
took corrective and preventive measures to prevent the recurrence of such
incident.
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Project Quality Management

We have formulated the Project Management Manual of China South
City Holdings Group to regulate project management responsibilities and
quality management systems for the early, middle and later stages of
projects and project delivery and acceptance, such as management system
for project inspection and evaluation, management system for prevention
and control of common defects in project quality, management system for
safe and civilized construction, management system for emergency plan
for major engineering accidents, project inspection and reporting system,
management guidelines for project delivery and acceptance, etc. All these
systems have been designed to ensure the quality management in all
stages of projects.

During the year, the Zijingmingdu project of CSC Zhengzhou was awarded
the certification by the Construction Industry Branch of China Safety
Industry Association and the “Sanxia Cup Quality Structural Project” by
Chongging Construction Engineering Quality Association, demonstrating
our efforts in project quality management.

TREEEHR
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Operation Manual for Project Management Quality Control of

China South City

Group

(FEHEEIREE EEEEEHREFM)

Before
commencing
construction
B TAl

During

the
construction

TRH

After
completion

BI®

® Regulate the preliminary management of project construction, carry out overall planning of the project management

process in the early stage of construction so that the construction layout, project progress, quality, safe and civilized
construction and other project management work can be more standardized, reasonable and efficient, and strengthen
the project pre-control management to ensure the smooth implementation of the project.

MEAE ERNAREETE  BATRESAMY TRERBIETERES - ERTATFEME  TIREL -
B8 TEVHREISETIRERANIEINRE - 51 - % R(TIEREER - REHEBEFF)iE

Regulate the management of project construction process, clarify the control points and difficulties of project
management, ensure the management for the quality, progress, safe and civilized construction of the whole process of
project, continuously improve the level of project management, and finally achieve project development goals.
MEAE ERRREE  HRTREEATHEHMERY  BRETRBREHZBENEE  EE  RENHE
TEE  TERATLRBIKT  REERBEBEFREER -

Regulate the management of completion acceptance to ensure the smooth completion of the project completion
acceptance on schedule. The Project Management Department shall cooperate with the Project Department and the
QOutreach Department to prepare the special acceptance plan, preliminary acceptance plan and completion acceptance
plan.

REDR TRKER - BRZIERN K TRERTRE T - TIREIRAEE TRIBMINGE IR ZERGTE - )
FERUETEIFR TERIKGTE -
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Customer Health and Safety

The health and safety of our customers is always the top priority for
the Group’s business. The Group has set up a Safety Management
Committee, which is responsible for formulating rules and regulations on
fire prevention, disaster prevention and epidemic prevention for various
areas from the safety office to construction environment, and to the
management of the entire project area, and all relevant departments
are required to comply with these rules and regulations. The Safety
Management Committee also inspects and prevents individual safety
matters. For example, it regularly checks the implementation of safety
measures of each construction unit and the project site, and reminds
employees and relevant units to beware of fire and theft before the long
leave.

In response to the coronavirus (COVID-19), internally, we strengthened
cleaning and disinfection for the park and all buildings, conducted
temperature checks on all people entering and leaving the mall, and
implemented masking and social distance measures, as well as posted
epidemic prevention messages and precautionary information. Externally,
the Group also strengthened communication with other governmental
and local organizations in response to the government’s call, and
implemented epidemic prevention and control procedures in accordance
with relevant regulations.

Committed to Epidemic Prevention and Control

NI B E
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Establishing Relationships with Customers

The Group believes that customers’ opinions are the driving force for the
sustainable development of China South City. Therefore, we listen to
customers’ demands and opinions through various channels, including
satisfaction surveys and complaint handling, in order to continuously
improve the quality of our services and enhance customer experience and
satisfaction.

The Group has formulated the implementation rules of customer
satisfaction surveys. The Group would collect and analyze the extent of
customer satisfaction to China South City in respect of product planning
and design, property management, construction quality, business
operation and customer service through customer satisfaction surveys.
Accordingly, specific optimization policies would be developed based on
the analysis results to continuously improve customer management and
services and hence enhance customer satisfaction and repurchase rate.

To ensure that customer complaints can be responded to and resolved
in a prompt, effective, fair and reasonable manner, the Group strictly
follows the policy for customer complaint management and handling
guidelines, which clearly define the responsibilities and authority of the
property service centres of the Group in the management of customer
complaints in every aspect. General complaints would be concluded
within two working days from the date of receipt in order to appropriately
address customers’ demands. During the Reporting Period, the Group
received and processed 784 customer complaints in accordance with the
regulations, with a completion rate of 100%.

BEYEFR®F
AEERAEFHERZHEERHIFERA RS
1o Hult  BMIRRZEERE  PEAEERALE K
FEBEREZFPERLER UTHIRSREE X
NIRAEFRBMMER

AREEFERREFPAEEAETERAR - ETR
FREENRAL  WREAMEPHEMMERER
RETEYMEEE  TIREE  BHELYE  REFPR
BETHAMEE - YR ERRFTREIBRETT
o URHETSEFERAERS  THRAZFRE

EREHEE -

REREPRFEFBINE - A% - 2F  AEMNE
e R - AEBEBIZRE P IRFEIRBE MR

FEEIRNTT - ZIESI AR EA S BN Y ERG T L E
BEEEEFRFEETHFTABE EER - —fRIRGF
EXBRFEEMETFERANGSR  BREDEER
FPHR - RREHA - AEEWKEI L Z IR E RIE K
BEPIR784%E » 5TAE100% °
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Advertising Standards

China South City has always maintained high transparency and accuracy
when launching products and releasing promotional materials to enable
customers to make well-informed decisions. Our frontline employees
are also required to provide customers with complete and clear product
descriptions, and misleading advertising or sales practices are strictly
prohibited. China South City adopts responsible marketing strategies to
ensure the compliance of all advertising and other promotional materials
with applicable local and national laws and regulations, including the
Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China and other applicable
regulations.

Protecting Customer Privacy and Intellectual Property

Protecting personal data is fundamental to maintaining the trust of our
customers and employees. The Group is committed to maintaining and
protecting the personal data privacy of our customers and employees.
We strictly comply with the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests and other privacy-related laws
and regulations, and require all employees who have access to technical
and trade secrets of the Group and its customers to observe confidentiality
obligations, so as to prevent leakage of information and trade secrets and
ensure the confidentiality of customer information. To protect consumer
information and privacy, customers’ personal data has been uploaded to
the Mingyuan system, which is equipped with the latest firewall and anti-
virus software and is protected by a dedicated person responsible for the
use of the system account. Access to customer information is restricted to
authorized persons on a need-to-know and need-to-use basis.

We also emphasize originality and respect intellectual property rights.
Therefore, employees are not allowed to disclose or exploit any patents
and trademarks of the Group and its customers without authorization.
Moreover, the Group has signed a non-disclosure agreement with its
employees when they enter into employment contracts, which stipulates
that employees are obligated to prevent the disclosure of the information
of the Group and protect the interests of the Group and relevant
stakeholders.
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Supply Chain Management

The solid business development of the Group depends on the reliable
support of our suppliers. As one of the key stakeholders in our business
value chain, suppliers have a close and inseparable relationship with us.
The Group is also fully committed to building a good partnership with our
suppliers. China South City endeavors to adopt an environmentally and
socially responsible approach to its supply chain, gradually incorporating
environmental and safety requirements into its established procurement
workflow standards, so as to meet the demands arising from future policy
changes. We will keep an eye on market trends and make early warning
and responses according to specific circumstances.

During the reporting period, the number of suppliers of the Group by

HEEEE
AEBMEBBUBREE - BREERT RN o
HENREELHEERTEENRMES —  BR
MEZBBEN - TTASMBE - EEF2 HER
B RER RS RITOBAERR  EREBARGIE
#FRREBEREEABEANLH IR - BHEK
FHRETERREE FMABENZ2HBENS
K+ BARERT R RER A TR B ¢ FE - A
SEHWITEDN - HIREERFEERRER
Jjgo

#eh
=

AFERA - AEERTRMRE DR EREE 0

different regions was as follows: T
Number of suppliers by regions
RiWEESNWEHETHE
62 . @ Shenzhen Z#Y|
105 h ® Nanning F%E
o E
/ Nanchang &
® Xi'an A%
) 126 , .
A) @ Harbin "5FE
- China South ity @® Zhengzhou ZFM|
\, / ® Hefei BE
>
- \ » 67 @® Chongging EE
92 @ Other EAh
Note: M3 -
The calculation is based on the Social Key Performance Indicators Reporting Guide 5+ EE R A AN S BIBE ISR ME S| -

published by the Stock Exchange.
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Supplier Selection System EmBAREE

The Group values product quality and cost control, also most of its AEBERERNE 2 KAEARIEGH] - KEbHHRE
procurement would go through a tender process. The Group has  YEBIBIZHETT o AEE RAIDE(CHBITHE SR
established standardized management practices for tender procurement, — ¥#5% + E R BBRESI B EREE 77 =\ K AR S0 B IZ B R AR
which clearly specify the procurement methods and regulate the tender — FIFFFTRAIREEKEZZA L] - LIRS RENGE NG
procurement process, as well as provide for rewards and penalties for 2 ' EEASBEREEEZ - RARSHN - AEEH
procurement inspection and assessment, in a bid to enhance the efficiency  [AIE 1T Al IR B K BE B (I MO FER ££ 7335 -
and quality of procurement and safeguard the legitimate interests of the

Group. During the reporting period, the above management policies and

employment practices were applied to 733 suppliers.

Supplier Management HrEmEE

The Group has established a supplier management process to strengthen  ZAEE R HEFEIERIE @ LN HEREE RRE
supplier management and ensure the quality of products and services — {fERFTIREAERLRBENESE -

provided by suppliers.

Supplier sourcing  The Group sources suppliers through a variety of methods, including public solicitation and peer solicitation.
For suppliers through internal referrals, we require our employees to make referrals in real name to avoid
potential risks in the relevant supply chain.

HEE=IR rEEFBRZEARN - BREAFRESE  BITEESE - MPRAEHBORES  RASERAFEIER
BHER - AR AR EEREERR -

i

\

Supplier admission Inspection teams from different departments of the Group will conduct inspections and professional
evaluations of suppliers.

HIER A S BAAEETEEFIEROER NMNEREERETERREEANE o
o Goodwill verification: remove those suppliers with quality defects, illegal acts or bad reputation in the

past two years
. EEZE  JIRBEMFANFEESME - BATR  EETRIMHER
o Preliminary vetting: verify supplier’s qualification, financial status and past performance

o EBEEE: REMHERNEE  MBERLEERS

Performance We will conduct performance evaluation of our partner suppliers and manage them in a tiered manner to
evaluation monitor and evaluate their sustainable performance, so as to ensure the supply quality.
JRHRHE BB EEFHERETROMNE - WERFETHRIEERE  UERMTEO MO SHERRER - R

[EHELE -
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Communication with Suppliers

The Group promotes its concepts and experience in sustainable
development to the supply chain through supplier conferences, supplier
visits and on-site exchanges. Meanwhile, we learn from advanced
experiences and latest technologies at home and abroad to keep abreast
of the times.

Sustainable Supply Chain

In line with the Group’s vision and mission of sustainable development
and corporate citizenship, we also expect our suppliers to work together
with us to reduce the environmental and social impacts during business
operations. Therefore, when selecting suppliers, the Group also takes into
account their environmental awareness and social responsibility. We adopt
a collaborative approach throughout our supply chain and encourage
suppliers and other partners to explore and implement sustainable
business practices.

Integrity and Compliance
The Group strictly enforces applicable laws, environmental codes of
practice and social standards in the jurisdictions in which it operates.

The Group has always adhered to the principles of “compliance and
legality, honesty and trustworthiness, and fair trading” and strictly
prohibits any acts of bribery and corruption during its business operation.
The Group strictly complies with national laws and regulations, and
has prepared an employee handbook in accordance with relevant
requirements and ethical requirements of the industry, which clearly
stipulates the code of conduct for employees’ integrity and self-discipline.
The code illustrates how to deal with employees’ business activities, part-
time jobs, personal investments, commissions, kickbacks, and bribes from
trade associations. In addition, the Group requires all suppliers, business
partners and agents to sign the Anti-Commercial Bribery Clause when
signing contracts with the Company to clarify the responsibilities of both
parties in anti-corruption. Besides, the Group also engages an external
independent auditor to conduct financial audits to objectively, fairly and
accurately reflect the company’s financial status.

HEEER
AREBBHERAS  HEFED BHERIR

SWAEHRERE HERAFERRIESNER - R
TEIRERE B RSN LB AR B - B R -

AR R R AR
ATHAKENAFHEZRNMERCEARMNBESM
Ean - HPIEHEHEFERM—RES - BIEH
BLEHRYRENMMENTE - IEERBHERNE -
AEETEBHERNRREMAMLERERAAE
BEE - HPEREHRERREBIET X - SEHE
BN EMAIERHREMEGARENSEET -

BEREZ aRE%
AEBBRRRITHERDEEERABERED - REFE
TR R EiRsE o

AEE-ERTUIAGREZE  HETE  AFXF]
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ABRE - g B BHeRREESTR - BE
AEBERMARER 2BRBHMREARRRE
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“Growing for New Power” Training Camp

\ (R-EFHBH]IIRE

If any employee of the Group commits any bribery and corruption, which
seriously affects the reputation and image of the Company, he/she will be
dismissed immediately and those suspected of committing crimes will be
referred to the judicial authorities. The Group also has a whistle-blowing
mechanism, where whistle-blowers can report in their real names or
anonymously through hotline, email, and mailbox (physical). If any of our
colleagues are found to have obtained commissions or rebates from our
customers without reporting to the Group, they shall report to the Group.
Those who fail to do so shall be punished accordingly to enhance the
deterrent effect.

To strengthen the anti-corruption culture, the Group held regular
education and training sessions on compliance with the law and integrity
in Business during the year. Special training sessions were held to teach
employees how to be clean and honest, and the consequences of
corruption and bribery were shared through case studies. All employees
are required to undergo induction training upon joining the Group. As
an important part of the Employee Handbook, the corruption prevention
policy must be trained and assessed on new employees, so as to enable
them to establish a culture of integrity. The directors of the Group also
received practical advice and tips through participation in the Directors’
Training Programme offered by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange to refresh
and enhance their knowledge and skills, and lead the Group towards
better anti-corruption governance. During the reporting period, the Group
had no litigation cases on corruption.
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Contributing to Society for Harmony and Inclusion
China South City has been actively engaged in charity affairs at
communities to create harmonious communities by giving back to the

areas it serves.

The Group operates in many parts of China and is closely involved in
the development of communities. We are always concerned about the
development needs of the community and are committed to making
contributions to the community. During the 2021 Zhengzhou floods, we
responded to the government’s call and organized an immediate donation
of materials. The headquarter of Qianlong Logistics Group was responsible
for guiding and coordinating the relief work, and the person in charge of
Qianlong Logistics Hefei quickly deployed resources from all parties, with
more than 10,000 square meters of rainproof cloth deployed within just
4 hours under the shortage of flood prevention materials in the market,
securing the golden window for rescue while providing flood prevention

materials.

In the meantime, the Group also instructed its subsidiaries including CSC
Hefei, Qianlong Logistics and Huasheng Commercial to step up their
support efforts by urgently allocating and generously donating anti-flood
supplies. In just half a day, the Group deployed the supplies and took the
lead to deliver the relief materials to the flood control duty points in the
Yanhe community of Feixi Economic Development Zone to support the
frontline rescue work. In order to pay further efforts on the rescue, the
person in charge of Qianlong Logistics Nanchang, under the leadership
of Xiong Heping, deputy secretary of the Party Working Committee of
the Management Committee of Xinjian Economic Development Zone,
personally visited the flood control headquarters of Xiangshan Town in
Xinjian District to console the frontline flood control personnel and send
them rescue materials, so as to enhance their morale and provide them

with more assistance.
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In addition to our commitment to rescue, we also care about the
sustainable development demands of different operating regions and will
always consider the benefits to the community in any business operation
in order to give back to the community. In the future, the Group
will continue to improve our charity affairs at communities to create
harmonious and inclusive communities for our next generation
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

Index to the Environmental, Social and Governance

Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange

A Environmental

A RE

Aspect A.1
FHA1
KPIA. 1.1
FEIEA 1.1
KPIA.1.2
FEIEA.1.2
KPIA.1.3
JEIEA 1.3

KPIA. 1.4

FEIFA 1.4

KPIA. 1.5
FEIZA 1.5
KPIA. 1.6

EIZA 1.6

Emissions

s

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.
Pt B AR R

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

BE(EE) RabREE (BE2) REREBHRE AEE) R(ER)BE
(WABES RN - BIERMEE) ©

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FEABEEEY RS CAETE) R(nER) BE(NAFESEN - §IHR
HEETE)

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FEEREEEYES (VAT E) R(ER) ZE (ASES B -
poEtE)

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

@l
g

A PTETSZ VRN E B 1R R AE RS & B R P ERERE) 28R -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

It ERIR A = M EEEREYN X - AR PrR] SZARRE B iR R ARE RS B
SFTERER BB o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

A Environmental

A BRI

Aspect A.2 Use of Resources

FHEA.2 EIR{E R

KPIA.2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil)
in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

EIRA2. 1 RS SMEE R SEEER(WE - fEih)@REEATETREE)
RER(WAGES B - FIERMETH)

KPIA.2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

EIZA.2.2 BRKEREE (MABEEEN - BIARBTHE) °

KPIA.2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

1517A.2.3 FM P ET SZ BV AL IR (L FA s B AR R R iE R3S AL B AR FTEREREY 2258 o

KPIA.2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,
water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

EIEA.2.4 HEIUSKEGE A ZOR LRI A R RERE - LARPTR] S8Rk Es B IR R ARE R s L
B IRFTERERE) 25 ©

KPIA.2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable,
with reference to per unit produced.

FEIFA.2.5 R MR BEMHEE (CAEETE) R (ER) BEESEMhE -

Aspect A.3 The Environment and Natural Resources

JIHA.3 RENRRAER

KPIA.3. 1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and

natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

JE1RA3.1 M EBEBHBREIARABERNEAZERE KN ERFHEZENTE
Aspect A.4 Climate Change

FHEA4 RIREE

KPIA.4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and

those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

EIFA4.1 B RAREEHETAEEZENEARKEHEE - REHTE -
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Green Operations

ReRE

Green Operations

REEE
Green Operations

reEE
Environmental
Management
BRER

Green Operations

Lrfe B
Green Operations
RELE

No incidents that
have significant
impact on the
environment and
natural resources
during the reporting
period
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

B Social

BiHE

Aspect B.1

HEB.1

KPIB.1.1
FEIZB. 1.1
KPIB.1.2

E1%B.1.2
Aspect B.2

J7TEB.2
KPIB.2.1

E1ZB.2. 1

KPIB.2.2

EFEB.2.2

KPIB.2.3

E1ZB.2.3

ERRE (F)

Employment

&R

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time),
age group and geographical region.

RIER - RIEERE (N2 MERE) - SR RitmE 5 aE B 4% -
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.
ZIMER - FhAER Rt RE S K EBRKLLE -

Health and Safety

fEEEL S
Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three
years including the reporting period.

BE=F(BRAREH)SFATTROABKILE -

Lost days due to work injury.

RITBERTIEASE -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

R PTER AR B R R R 2 2457 - PARABRER T REESRIE -
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People-oriented,
Diversity and
Inclusion
AARTR

L HR

Our Team

AP B

Our Team
AP B B
Occupational

Safety and Health
Management
B2 e
During the past
three years including
the reporting
period, there was
only one work-
related fatality in
2020/21 reporting
period.

BIERIRE BN
BE=F - RE
202021 REH - A
—REIHHEN -
The lost days due to
work injury during
the reporting period
were 55 days.
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TEHBEASEH -
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BRI HEH

B Social

BiHE

Aspect B.3
JHEB.3
KPIB.3.1

E1ZB.3. 1
KPI B.3.2

F51ZB.3.2
Aspect B.4
7 HEB.4
KPIB.4.1
FEIZB.4.1
KPIB.4.2
FE1ZB.4.2

Aspect B.5

FHB.5
KPIB.5.1

E1ZB.5.1

KPI B.5.2

EFZB.5.2

KPI B.5.3

EFZB.5.3

KPI B.5.4

EFZB.5.4

ERRE (F)

Development and Training

R RIEdl

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g.
senior management, middle management).
RUERREERI(ERERE TREEB)EASNZIIEEBDL °
The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category.

RIERIREELERED - FEEETHZIINTIHRE -

Labor Standards

45 TR

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and
forced labor.

R R RIS B B pE AR 2 2 T M58 BIS5 T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

R AEETE R BN ERE R BERATRERA SR -

Supply Chain Management

HIEEERE
Number of suppliers by geographical region.

iR E S EREE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers
where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

A I AEERNEL - mERTERENINHEREE - ARBERT
NMEETE -

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

H BRI SRR ERSAIRR R ERBHOED - LARABENITRER
A °

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products
and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

F AR R (I P R (2 (2 2 R ERIREE m ARG HVIE Bl - LA RABRIsIT R BE 5
7 e
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Talent Management
AT EE

Talent Development

BEAT

Talent Development

BAEAS
Labor Standards
45 TA=R|
Labor Standards

LT AR

No violations during
the reporting
period.
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BRI HEH

B Social

BiHE

Aspect B.6
77 [EB.6
KPIB.6.1

7E1ZB.6.1

KPl B.6.2

#51ZB.6.2

KPI B.6.3

E1ZB.6.3
KPI B.6.4
FE1%B.6.4
KPI B.6.5

E1ZB.6.5

ERRE (F)

Product Responsibility

EmEE

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.

EEdDEXERERT AR ERFEAMACKRNBEOL -

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are
dealt with.

BRI EE an MRSV IR AR B B A R FEHTE o

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property
rights.

i B R SRS AN E R G RV B -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

S SA2E RIE RERBIYIRT o

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

AU EEERRERLRBER - ARBERITRERTTE
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Section

0]

Quality Assurance
m B RE

No products were
recalled for safety
and health reasons
during the reporting
period.
REBNRGE
A 22 & B 2 FR IR
A ZEmE Y o
During the
Reporting Period,
the Group received
and processed

784 customer
complaints in
accordance with the
regulations, with a
completion rate of
100%.
REHA - A&
Elbelhizzzehal
B EPIRAFRT784
8B EKE100%
Quality Assurance

mERE
Quality Assurance
m B RE
Quality Assurance




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

B Social

BiHE

Aspect B.7

HTEB.7

KPIB.7.1

FE1ZB.7.1

KPIB.7.2

151%B.7.2

KPIB.7.3

EFZB.7.3

Aspect B.8

J51HEB.8

KPIB.8. 1

E1ZB.8. 1

KPI B.8.2

E1ZB.8.2

ERRE (F)

Anti-corruption

REF

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against

the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases.

RAREHAHETASEEERHI B EENESHARMOBE RAFaAE

o
Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

Hap ot e R BB RAR - PARABRARIT REER 0% ©

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

ftREE R B TREMNRESHE -

Community Investment

HEREE

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labor
needs, health, culture, sport).

EIEREE(IHE  REFHE  STHFR  BE Xt 85 -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EF BB AER (NS ERER) -

m ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 43R

Section

0]

Integrity and
Compliance
BIERRZ
BREE

No litigation cases
on corruption
during the reporting
period.
ABREHAREE
TSERFARL -
Integrity and
Compliance

B IERRR
AREE

Integrity and
Compliance

& IERRR
BREE
Contributing to
Society for Harmony
and Inclusion
Bt
A&
Contributing to
Society for Harmony
and Inclusion
B R

FEE R
Contributing to
Society for Harmony
and Inclusion
BRI

K AL



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

VR8T

e
EYzx

To the members of China South City Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China South
City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 172 to 324, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that as of 31 March 2022, the Group’s current portion
of interest-bearing debts amounted to HK$20,750 million, while its cash
and bank balances amounted to HK$4,681 million. This condition, along
with the current situation as set forth in note 2.1, indicates that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

REEARRERDTERR
(REEZMA L. HRAE)

=R
RPEEREERERERAR(TEAF]) RAHE

AF([EEEDERF172ER4BNRAMTERE -
EHREHAR2022F3 A3 BHNGATBMRRE - K&
EZALFENGESERE KEA2AKER
ERXEHRNGEEERER - URGAMBHRERM
7 BREEEEHBORME -

AN
N %ﬂ'\:l

BMRE  ZEREVBERREREEESHAE
([BEEFRAE ) BHh s BENBEREELN([EH
PEREEN DEEMAAMKET BHEEMR2022
FIANAMGETBRAREBEEZA LFENES
PHRRRGARERE  YEERBREB QM

RRZER

BABBEEEEMAGRHZEBETER(EE
FRTEADETER - REZFEAUT  RFINEE
WA E N B L& oA & B R BREZ BT
—ERE— M - RIBEE RN B ERES
g TAI([<PR)]) - BB BEEE - IR
BTRIETHEMBREL - RIFUBE - HAAESD

=

=

HBEKERANERTREM
REIERAUEHRERKE21 - K EESL - &
£2022F3A[310 - BB EAERNHYE
20,750 B @B MRS RRITHFHELE81EH &
BT o ZEE M B ERHEMEIE (WM EE2.1F7
) RPEGFEEERTHEE  HAgey =56
FBLEMRE DB EARR R - BMWEI ISR
MHER -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B % BETEHRE (&)

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

REEZEE

MARFZFARBEAMANERHE - RRYRMFR
$HHF'EJ@/\E7H‘%$&§E7%EEZ$IE SEEHERE
BAEREMBHRRBEBETERLINBERAZER
TERE - 3 \%ﬂéﬁii%lﬁ?ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ T

TatE—FBRAEREZP RNARIE 2 H TR AL A5

BRI ARS P EHME LA BRI EE
—HPRARMEE - BREAEREEREZET B
It BPINEZERMTEERYERMBRRTA
ERBREULR RGN RE ZIEF © BRIEFHAE
RERREATEENEF - REMEHHEEE
BRENBZE L IRHER -

HREEZER

Fair values of investment properties

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of investment properties
was HK$57,767,160,000. Fair value gains on investment properties
amounted to HK$148,244,000 which accounted for 9.10% of profit
before tax of the Group. The Group engaged an external valuation
expert to perform valuations of the Group’s investment properties
to estimate their fair values as at 31 March 2022. The fair values of
investment properties were determined principally using the income
capitalisation method by capitalising the rental income derived from
the existing tenancies with due provisions for the reversionary income
potential of the properties. The determination of application of the
valuation technique, future rental income and rental rate involved
significant management judgement and estimates.

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our audit procedures included evaluating the valuation process and the
independence and expertise of the external valuation expert. We assessed
the related data of the properties used by the external valuation expert as
inputs for the valuations by comparing to the historical data and market
index. We also involved our internal valuation experts to assist us in
evaluating the valuation methodology and the underlying assumptions,
which principally included the market unit rental rate and capitalisation
rate.

REYEZ 2 FE

HZE2002F3A318 REYWENEEMAEA
57,767,160,000 B 7T - L EWME 2 A FE K =
7 148,244,000 T - h ESEBE WA FE
9.10% - ESEZEIIBHEZERETT E\m.
BEWERR2022F3A31BEE - BEWER
BEEXERBRABEREEE ﬁiﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ
SMESBAERNE - WHMERBE A ESRA
FHREE R AT HERITMER - KRB
AR R E AR E IR E HIET A -

RN TR RS M MR E3R14 -

ZEREF P TEE

BN EZREFBREFEGERFRINIHEER
B MEREEN - R BREL BB RTI5E
2 MmN BEEERARGETEENEE
BHEA - ﬁfﬁﬁﬁé%%ﬁiﬁﬂﬁWW%TE?}%T%EJJ%%
FHERITDE - BREMSELNEERRER L XRE
TREMER -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B % BETEHRE (&)

Key audit matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

HAREXEEG

HREZER

Impairment of trade receivable balances

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of trade receivables was
HK$2,351,409,000. Assessment of the recoverability of trade receivables
involves a high level of management judgement. During the year,
management used a provision matrix to calculate expected credit losses
(“ECLs") for receivables. The matrix was initially based on the Group's
historical default rates, and specific factors that management considered
in the estimation of the rates, including the type of customers, ageing
of the balances and recent historical payment patterns. Management
then calibrated the matrix for the historical credit loss experience with
forward-looking information, such as forecasted economic conditions.

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We evaluated the design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls which govern credit control, debt collection and
estimation of ECLs.

We assessed, on a sampling basis, whether items in the trade receivable
ageing report were classified with the appropriate ageing bracket by
comparing individual items in the report with the relevant sales invoices.

We assessed the adequacy of the ECL provision by: (i) evaluating
management’s assumptions used in establishing the ECL provision
matrix; (i) examining the information used by management to form such
estimations, including testing the accuracy of historical default data, and
evaluating whether the historical loss rates were appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and forward-looking information;
and (iii) examining the actual losses recorded during the current financial

year.

FEW B 5 ARk Bl B

M202263A31H ERESEFEREAR
2,351,409,0007 7T ° FEUE 5 BR FRAY AT B U1 Y ET
HEHEREKTENEREAE - F1 - TREFEARE
BEM T E RN WTEEEEE - BEEYE
RAEEE L ENE R EREL M FEREZED
FERZ  REREFPEL  SHERIHAEL S
RS o K& - BIEEMFAATIEEE S (FImTERIR
PG ) RS S A= FR 1B R AC B 0 BB o

MR T E N AR A B ISR M T3 )22

BZEREF P UEE

BAAIRHE THERIEERS - WENBREEERRK
SHHOBESE A ERIEBIRERET - BReMEEBUIL -

BPEBLBRETNEERE LRRHEERS -
A7 R BN E SRR RSP HIEA 2
BIEEHRRERIED LR ©

HABBATTAFEEREEBERBNHTY
1 ()FHEEEBEZBMEEERREEME
Fr{E A RIRRER © (RS EIRE R AR LT a
8 BREAMESLZOBENERE  FHES
BARXEOREBEE BN MATIEEE B ETE
BIE - UR(iVRERT R EHSNERERE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B % BETEHRE (&)

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the

consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations

or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

m ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 43R
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B % BETEHRE (&)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BREMBERARSMBRRAREZ2EE
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oNe)
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B % BETEHRE (&)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the

consolidated financial statements (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 3

BREMBERARSMBRRAREZ2EE

(&)

HEERAFECESHTERZREHERS
i WIRB TR BRRE  RERBFH
HEEMHKBERBBIENTEEN - A8
4 BERBERERKEZRNBREREE 40
BFIRBFEERTEEN - AIEB2EZH
B s IR AE LB S M mERH 28
MARE  INAEIRETR  MERES
BER - #fNEwEENBERHERE A H
IEPRERIS VBB A1 - RREMHHER
ATREEE BEREEARELE -

AHERAMBRRZERIRIA - BEREA
R BREEEEHN  URGAUBHRELR
ARBRIBARZHEIR °

. BERBERIEFEHZMBENERTT
DRBENEZRE - AHGREMBRRER
BR -BMEERE BBMNATEEERZ -
BMEEZERAESHEL -

BMEERZE QAR ETHE  BHLHERE

REZEAEFE  BRRMEFZHEER LA
B 2 (AT B KERFE ©

BAITAEZZBESRXEH  FAKRMETEEH
B2 HRERENR - WREEEEMA QBB

EXERMBEL M BEREMER - LRI

PUBBREE 2 TTB B T 2 Ph g fE it (AEmm) -



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B % BETEHRE (&)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the RYMBRERGEVBBRREAREZER
consolidated financial statements (Continued) (#8)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we BIEBZZE BB BT @ KMBETHAPLRE
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the BB HEXZ B HAEZ 2 F1H - EMEKBREZ
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore T8 o HFIAXERIRE R ZSEEE © [FIPERE
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report AR PIAHFAFFEZESEE @ EBHER 2B
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or T * HAEEH TR MFHE P EBRBHERZ A
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should ~ EERRBEBBEES 2 ARFE - BB TEER
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of & H/BEZ=IE o

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest

benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent — ANSBIMAZEAN RS 2 BAZIHE AR ABRENE -
auditor’s report is M.L. Chau.

Ernst & Young =T ES T
Certified Public Accountants e E 3=y

27/F, One Taikoo Place BB

979 King’s Road ==V

Quarry Bay HE2iEI79%
Hong Kong RN —EE271E
30 June 2022 20226 A30H

China South City Holdings Limited ERHIZER AR A T 171




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
SEBRIER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(%E202293A31HILFE

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A31BLEE
2022 2021
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BiaE FExT FET
REVENUE WA 5 10,311,628 11,309,304
Cost of sales SHERAR (7,286,372) (6,365,099)
Gross profit E7 3,025,256 4,944,205
Other income and gains/(losses) Al A R U zs,(E51E) 5 1,102,162 (20,753)
Fair value gains on investment properties "EMENFE WS 5 148,244 1,054,256
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HFX (369,156) (486,088)
Administrative expenses THAX (1,014,560) (1,041,540)
Other expenses B2 (473,185) (409,630)
Finance costs REE R 7 (788,901) (638,363)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B30 R0 6 1,629,860 3,402,087
Income tax expenses FiisHim X 10 (870,736) (986,958)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR I EE R 759,124 2,415,129
Attributable to: THIE T L
Owners of the parent [EVNSIEZZEUN 760,200 2,415,498
Non-controlling interests EiSliligriE (1,076) (369)
759,124 2,415,129
EARNINGS PER SHARE FEREBARAEER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EEBEAZ
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT SERER 12
Basic HoK
— for profit for the year - REFHE HK9.39 centsi&{ll HK29.85 centsi&l
Diluted E
— for profit for the year - AFEFE HK9.39 centsi&{ll HK29.85 centsiill
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEEZERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(%E202293A31HILFE

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MALEFE
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEFHE 759,124 2,415,129
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hit2EWA
Other comprehensive income that may be R A e EN AR
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent BaRrHMEERA
periods:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BMEFINERFHIER 5
operations 3,260,544 4,280,977
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME KEERBTEEM2EBA
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 3,260,544 4,280,977
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEEAEBEA
FOR THE YEAR 4,019,668 6,696,106
Attributable to: TF& 75 L
Owners of the parent [SYNEIEZZ=PN 4,021,109 6,684,377
Non-controlling interests VTR (1,441) 11,729
4,019,668 6,696,106
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B R IR R &R

As at 31 March 2022 7202243 H31H

31 March 2022
202243 H31H

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
s FET FHT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB REEE 13 817,380 949,329
Investment properties wEMZE 14 57,767,160 55,695,354
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 543,937 993,811
Properties under development BERAPYE 15 1,578,157 2,499,166
Financial assets at fair value through profit  FiBEIEA N FEYIERZ

or loss DRLEE 17 3,325 9,214
Other long-term receivables HAb R HIFEWGRIA 18 560,758 807,013
Deposits paid for purchase of land use rights §8 & b RES NS 19 - 15,985
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE E 31 3,684,246 3,358,987
Total non-current assets B EELRE 64,954,963 64,328,859
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties held for finance lease BHIERMEHREME 20 135,251 212,451
Properties held for sale FEREME 20 46,693,652 42,259,146
Inventories & 21 51,353 55,894
Trade receivables FEWE SRR 22 2,351,409 824,705
Prepayments, other receivables and other  JB{fFRIA « Eith JE U FIE &

assets HAth & B 23 5,519,728 3,407,024
Financial assets at fair value through profit  #EiBEIEA N FETIRZ

or loss ERLEE 17 - 12,069
Cash and bank balances R RIRITFER 24 4,681,068 9,442,782
Total current assets REAERE 59,432,461 56,214,071
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 M HE M FERFRIA 25 12,049,373 11,281,121
Contract liabilities EHEaE 26 15,543,565 16,212,034
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t 2R1T M EMEE 27 8,530,761 7,232,328
Senior notes BEERE 28 9,622,708 7,681,918
Medium-term notes REAZRR 29 799,382 60,343
Financial liabilities at fair value through BEBHEARNTEYEZ

profit or loss ERBE 17 14,231 19,010
Domestic company bonds BARAIES 30 1,797,258 1,378,177
Tax payables FETFEIE 4,648,572 3,921,272
Total current liabilities BB B 53,005,850 47,786,203
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 6,426,611 8,427,868
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEREBERRBAEE

LIABILITIES 71,381,574 72,756,727
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e M ERR R (&)

As at 31 March 2022 7A2022%3H31H

31 March 2022 31 March 2021
202253H31H 202143H31H

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 FET BT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEAE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B2 iR1T M EMEE 27 12,552,811 11,666,645
Senior notes BEZR 28 2,672,456 8,265,791
Medium-term notes REAZR R 29 - 705,279
Domestic company bonds BAAEIES 30 - 354,960
Other long-term payables HAib RHIFE /IR 16(ii) 15,413 36,044
Deferred tax liabilities RETRIBEE 31 11,050,922 10,431,458
Total non-current liabilities JEmB A ERE 26,291,602 31,460,177
Net assets EEFHE 45,089,972 41,296,550
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the parent  FF A RIEHR A FE(GIERS
Share capital A&7 32 7,222,312 7,222,312
Other reserves EAbfEE 34 37,851,432 34,056,569
45,073,744 41,278,881
Non-controlling interests FEFERR MR 16,228 17,669
Total equity ERAR 45,089,972 41,296,550
CHENG CHUNG HING ZR#2 & CHENG KA MAN CARMAN ZBE 3%
Director =5 Director &%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GERBEEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(%E202293A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SRR
Statutory Share  Exchange Non-
Share surplus option ~ fluctuation Copital  Revaluation  Retained controling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
regs  BRE BN &x Eff R Fk s
KA Ffe i i e e i 3t s Eet
Notes HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
fifsk Téin TEr TR  TER  TEr TEr TR TEr  TEr TEn
Note (i)
fi )
At 1 April 2020 202054818 7222312 2,999,582 78433 (4360460)  (250,283) 286,456 28,856,686 34,832,726 49,794 34,882,520
Profit for the year TEEHE - - - - - - 2415498 2415498 (369) 2,415,129
Other comprehensive ~ AFEEMZE
income for theyear: ~~ JA:
Bichange differenceson ~ AESHERHE
translation of foreign ~~ REE
operations - - - 4268879 - - - 4268879 12,098 4,280,977
Total comprehensive ~ AFFEZENA
income for the year - - 4,268,879 - - 2415498 6,684377 11,729 6,69,106
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ EEHELA - - - (1,521) - - - (1,521) 333 1811
Acquisition of s Es
non-controlling interests - - - - (254) - - (254) (51,186)  (51,440)
Transfer of share option TR R &R
feserve upon the forfeiture T2 HTRIE
or lapse of share options ~ Eff - - (2939 - - - 22,936 - - -
Capital contributions from  FEAMRERTE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - 4,000 4,000
Equity-settled share option LA EZEEH)
arrangements Bz 3 - - 6,310 - - - - 6,310 - 6310
Final 2020 didend paid 20205 K5
RE il - - - - - - Qa5 42,757) - 4275
Transfer from retained ~ EHARET/E
profits - 249,184 - - - - (249,184) - - -
At 31 March 2021 2021534318 720312 3248766 61.807F (93,102 (250,537)F  286,456* 30,803,179* 41,278,831 17,669 41,296,550
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
MEERBEHR(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(%E202293A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATER AR
Statutory Share  Exchange Non-
Share surplus option  fluctuation Capital Revaluation  Retained controlling Total
capital reserve  reserve  feserve  reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
rER  BRE  ENRD g4 Bf ] FER B&

Bx Cid Cid Cid Cid Cid R it it i
Notes  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
iF: TR TR TR TR TExn  TEx  TEx  TExn  TExn  TEx

Note (i)
iz ()

At 1 April 2021 02154818 7222312 3,248,766 61,807 (93102)  (250,537) 286,456 30,803,179 41,278,881 17,669 41,296,550
Profit for the year TEEHE - - - - - - 760200 760,200 (1,076) 759,124
Other comprehensive  AFEEMZE

income for theyear: ~~ JA:
Bichange differenceson ~ AESHERME

translation of foreign ~~ REE

operations - - - 3,260,909 - - - 3,260,909 (365) 3,260,544
Totl comprehensive  AFFEZENA

income for the year - - - 3,260,909 - - 760,200 4,021,109 (1,441) 4,019,668
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ EEHEL 3 - ) - 9,755 - - - 9753 - 9,753
Transfer of share option B RIERAT K3

reserve upon the forfeiture  TEEEENRE

orlapse of share options ~ f& - - (20479 - = - 20419 - = -
Fquity-settled share option bIEREE)

arrangements BivERl 3 - - 6,758 - - - - 6,758 - 6,758
Final 2021 dividend BER0E

declared RERE 11 - - - - - - (475 (42,757) - (a75)
Transfer from retained ~~ ERERBH|E

profits - 251902 - - - - (251,902) - - -
At31 March 2022 2022638318 7222312 3,500,666* 48,086* 3177562 (250,537)*  286,456* 31,089,199* 45,073,744 16,228 45,089,972
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
REEREEHR(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(%E202293A31HILFE

Note:

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of
HK$37,851,432,000 (31 March 2021: HK$34,056,569,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the Company's subsidiaries
registered in the PRC are required to appropriate 10% of the annual
statutory profit after tax (after offsetting any prior years’ losses) to the
statutory surplus reserve. When the balance of this reserve fund reaches
50% of the entity’s registered capital, any further appropriation is optional.
The statutory surplus reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to
increase capital. However, the balance of the statutory surplus reserve must
be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered capital after such
usages.
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ZERERREGAVBRAERMEANSEE HE
i, =% & 37,851,432,000 78 7T (20213 A31 8
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(%E202293A31HILFE

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MBLEE
2022 2021
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BtaE THERT FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETPHRENE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax AT 1,629,860 3,402,087
Adjustments for: FEE
Finance costs AN 7 788,901 638,363
Interest income FLEMA 5 (192,567) (105,820)
Losses/(gains) on disposal of property, BEME - BEMEER
plant and equipment and right-of-use EREEEZEE
assets, net (Was) - %R 5 33,145 (2,185)
Gains on land resumption T e 5 (856,425) -
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERREBEZITE
equipment 6 140,572 155,388
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CTREEENTE 6 89,972 120,196
Changes in fair value of investment WEMENTELE
properties 5 (148,244) (1,054,256)
Impairment of trade receivables JEWE 5 R FURE 6 72,369 231,465
Impairment of financial assets included ST ATERRRIE - B EN
in prepayments, other receivables FRIE I ELA B B R AL
and other assets and other long-term REEWHIE, S@E
receivables ERE 6 264,357 10,785
Impairment of properties held for sale FHEHSEMERE 6 85,556 -
Impairment of inventories FERE 6 - 25,185
Impairment of goodwill [EEEAE 6 - 34,128
(Gains)/losses on disposal of subsidiaries BEWBARZ (W),
&8 5 (6,277) 57,505
Gains on repurchase of senior notes OB =g 2 W 5 - (20,062)
Losses on redemption/repurchase of asset-  B&[E /I B E S 1# &5
backed securities B8 5 - 9,111
Fair value losses on financial assets/ FRBEANFESEZ
liabilities at fair value through profit or TREE BEQAFE
loss, net 2R ¥ 5 2,130 17,966
Losses on disposal of financial assets/ BREiHEBEmANTED
liabilities at fair value through profit or FEremEE AfEz
loss, net JEiE - SRR 5 25,598 214,421
Equity-settled share option expense A E R E R 2 6 6,758 6,310
1,935,705 3,740,587
Change in properties held for finance lease #F{EREETAE RIHEMEZ
and sale =g 1,885,715 5,495,776
Change in inventories a2zt 4,541 36,849
Change in other long-term receivables HAbRHAEWRIE 2 81k 89,440 (176,718)
Change in trade receivables JEWE SRR #1b (2,109,883) (449,824)
Change in contract assets SREE - 174,945
Change in prepayments, other receivables B /18 « E eI TE I
and other assets Hih&E 2 &1k (772,220) (849,651)
Change in contract liabilities AHBEBEZE (1,551,943) (552,417)
Change in restricted cash ZRHIEE 2 E 941,554 (54,805)
Change in pledged time deposits in HE{EIR B AR E EHE
connection with cooperation projects BMiERE 1,833,960 1,487,011
Change in trade and other payables B 5 R EMERFIE 2z #1b 720,839 (5,086,351)
Cash generated from operations KESHNIRE 2,977,708 3,765,402
Taxes paid [RERE2E! (347,710) (754,736)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEEBEERAFE 2,629,998 3,010,666
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

REeRERER(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(%E202293A31HILFE

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MBLEE
2022 2021
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Pt e FTHET FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REFHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEE % « BE M RE 13 (76,586) (192,850)
Net cash inflow on purchase/disposal of BRBEEAAFEYRZ
financial assets at fair value through profit BE HRESBEERS
or loss transactions WEFEEMA 12,069 160,264
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant ~ BREW% - ME N RIEFS
and equipment FRIA 9,190 13,958
Proceeds from land resumption B T RS RIE 292,046 -
Net inflow/(outflow) on disposal of BREMBARBREIRA
subsidiaries (et - 35 35 34,029 (5,644)
Additions of right-of-use assets ERREERE (1,671) -
Additions to properties under development #EEFMERE (53,776) (2,010,955)
Interest received AL ERIRSN 152,266 105,820
Decrease/(increase) in time deposits with B, G Be =@ A%
maturity of more than three months HRE EIE R 93,166 (112,789)
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing SEEBRESRA S (RL)
activities FRE 460,733 (2,042,196)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

REeRERER(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(%E202293A31HILFE

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MBLEE
2022 2021
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Pt e THET FHT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBHRESRE

ACTIVITIES
Issue of senior notes BITBAEE 28 185,203 6,901,474
Payment of interest MBI (3.064,698) (2,886,927)
Repayment of senior notes EEELEER 28 (4,023,957) (4,467,013)
Repayment and redemption of asset-backed {&i& MIERIEE S #E5H

securities = (390,619)
Repurchase of the senior notes BB RIE - (1,146,452)
Repurchase of domestic corporate bonds BB AR RIES 30 (14,452) -
Acquisition of non-controlling interests B FEE AR i 2 = (51,440)
New bank and other borrowings FERIT REMER 9,405,241 11,796,730
Repayment of bank and other borrowings ~ {BiZR1T R EME R (7,568,049) (10,761,475)
Principal portion of lease payments SAHEN RSN 16 (71,503) (84,968)
Capital contribution from non-controlling ~ FE¥ERAEZTE

interests - 4,000
Dividends paid DIRAR S = (242,757)
Net cash flows used in financing activities — BA& EENIR © 7 HFEE (5,152,215) (1,329,447)
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND RERREEEWFH

CASH EQUIVALENTS L3[4 (2,061,484) (360,977)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FHIMR & RIEELEEY

of year 3,447,947 3,537,611
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ R B2/ 2 R %8 168,450 271,313
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRNRERBEEEY

THE END OF YEAR 1,554,913 3,447,947
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERREZ BRI

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents RekRE&EED 24 1,554,913 3,447,947
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

31 March 2022 202243H31H

1. Corporate and Group Information 1. RAFARAEEER
China South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited EMPERAERAT(ARR D ERB MK
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered office NABRAT c ARAFMPEEMRER
of the Company is located at Suites 3306-08, 33/F., Tower 5, The NBERDEERBE 1558 BN E S 7 E33E
Gateway, 15 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong. 3306-08Z °
During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively FA - ARAREMB AR (SEIAER])E
referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in the ENEZERREERNIVGEMREELZSH
development and operation of large-scale integrated logistics and D FERTEERE - MEBTEURRERY
trade centres, the development of residential and commercial mEERERS - BRERKETESE REFEERE ©
ancillary facilities, property management and the provision
of logistics and warehousing services, outlet operations and
E-commerce services.
Information about subsidiaries MELARER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: AARMEZEMBARGFBAOT ¢
Nominal value of
issued ordinary/  Date of Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share capital  incorporation/ equity attributable
Name registration and business asat31March 2022  registration to the Company Principal activities
HHIL/ R02F3A31BB T AH
8 aMREE LS LE/RMRARE RRAL/ZMEH EfEERA DL TEXH
Direct Indirect
B 5t
% %
China South International Industrial Materials ~ The People’s Republic HK$2,200,000,000 18 December 2002 100 - Development and operation
City (Shenzhen) Company Limited (ii)(iv) of China ("PRC")/ 2,200,000,0007C  18-12-2002 of integrated logistics
("China South International”) Mainland China and trade centres
ERERTERER ORI BR D)) e/ REAKE FABEMIRARRS
(TEmER]) PLORERER
Nanchang China South City Company PRC/Mainland China Renminbi (“RMB") 16 November 2007 - 100 Development and operation
Limited (i)(iv) ("CSC Nanchang") HE/REARE 1,100,000,000  16-11-2007 of integrated logistics
HEEMAARRRWN) AE1,100,000,0007 and trade centres
(Tmezmn)) FREBMRRERZ ST
HURES
Nanning China South City Company PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 28 August 2009 - 100 Development and operation
Limited (jil(iv) (" CSC Nanning") B/ RE AR AR1,000,000,000  28-08-2009 of integrated logistics
BEERAAR AR and trade centres
(azEmi)) FRBEMRRARR AT
FEREL
Xi'an China South City Company Limited (ii) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 12 November 2009 - 100 Development and operation
BREEHERD i) RE/REAR AEH1,000,000,000  12-11-2009 of integrated logistics
and trade centres
FREEMRRERZHPL
HERES
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 March 2022 202243 A31H

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued) 1. RARFTEEER®
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) A R E R ()

Nominal value of

issued ordinary/  Date of Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share capital  incorporation/ equity attributable
Name registration and business asat 31 March 2022 registration to the Company Principal activities
AL/ R202253A31E %1 2|
£ EMREE LS EE/EMRAEE HfAL/ZMEH EEREAD L TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# 3
% %
Harbin China South City Company Limited (iii) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,500,000,000 9 January 2012 - 100 Development and operation
BREEENER D i) RE/REAR ARH#1,500,000,000C  09-01-2012 of integrated logistics
and trade centres
FREBMRRERZ ST
HERES
Harbin Baolitong Market Development PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 22 December 2011 - 100 Development and operation
Management Company Limited (i) BE/REARE ARE500,000,000T  22-12-2011 of integrated logistics
LREE NRNSREERER ) and trade centres
FRBENRRARR AT
HERES
Zhengzhou China South City Company PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 17 May 2012 - 100 Development and operation
Limited (jil(iv) (" CSC Zhengzhou") E/EAR ARH1,000,000,000  17-05-2012 of integrated logistics
BRI B R A A v) and trade centres
(T&msl) FREEMARERZHPL
RERES
Hefei China South City Company Limited (ii)(iv) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,200,000,000 25 December 2012 - 100 Development and operation
("CSC Hefei") RE/REARE AR#1,200,000,000  25-12-2012 of integrated logistics
BEZEEAARRAN and trade centres
) =) FREBMRRERZHTL
RERES
Chongging China South City Company PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 27 December 2013 - 100 Development and operation
Limited (iiiv) (" CSC Chongaing”) hE/REAR AR¥1,000,000000  27-12-2013 of integrated logistics
EEERHMERA ) and trade centres
(E-E2) FRBEMRRARZHPL
FERES
Shenzhen Huasheng Commercial Development  PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 19 November 2010 - 100 Management of outlet
Company Limited (i) HE/hEARE ARE100,000,000C  19-11-2010 operations
YRR R R RAR AR ARREESELEE
Shenzhen China South City Digital PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 19 April 2012 - 100 Development, operation
Technology Company Limited (i) E /AR ARH100,000,0007  19-04-2012 and management of an
HmERAETREARA A E-commerce platform
EFHETORYE Ee
BB

China South City Holdings Limited ZRHZR IR A T “




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 March 2022 202243 A31H

1.

Corporate and Group Information (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Nominal value of

1. QEIRAEEER

MEBARIER (@)

issued ordinary/  Date of Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share capital  incorporation/ equity attributable
Name registration and business asat 31 March 2022 registration to the Company Principal activities
AL/ R20223831RE %1 LI
£ EMREE LS EE/EMRAEE HfRL/ZMEH EEREAD L TERK
Direct Indirect
EE 3
% %
Shenzhen First Asia Pacific Property PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 31 December 2003 - 100 Provision of property
Management Company Limited (i) FE/REAR AR#50,000,0007  31-12-2003 management services
RE—TAYEEERERAF) RANEERRS
Shenzhen China South City Logistics Group PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 11 November 2021 - 100 Provision of logistics services
Limited (i) R/ hEAE AR10,000,000  11-11-2021 REMRRS
AYERA IR EBERA )
Shenzhen HOBA Home Furnishing Chain Store  PRC/Mainland China RMB480,000,000 12 October 2001 - 983411 Furnishing market operation
Company Limited (ii) RE/REAR ARH480,000,000  12-10-2001 FEEGEL
A A FREEERABRA)
Shenzhen China South City Commerce Group ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 20 December 2018 - 100 Provision of commercial
Limited (i) B/ R EARE AE%100,000,000  20-12-2018 management services
MIHEBEXEEARA) REABEERRS
China South City Management Company Hong Kong HKST 9 November 2007 - 100 Provision of management
Limited EE 17T 09-11-2007 services
EMHERARALT REERRY
China South City Group Company Limited (i)~ PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 20 July 2004 - 100 Investment holding
EEAEEBRAA) e/ hEAE ARH300,000,0000  20-07-2004 RERR
Chongging Zhenzhong Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 24 May 2016 - 100 Development and operation
Development Company Limited (ii) E/REAR ARE50,000,0000  24-05-2016 of residential and

ERRPRHEREERARN

commercial ancillary

HERER R LES
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 March 2022 202243H31H

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Sino-foreign equity joint ventures under PRC law.
Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.
Limited companies under PRC law.

Pursuant to certain project and land related contracts signed by
the subsidiaries of the Group and the local governments, as well as
pursuant to the requirements of the local governments and the local
authorities related to the relevant public tender, auction and listing,
some parcels of the land acquired have sales restrictions on properties
built on them. The saleable area of the trade centres of China South
International is limited to 30% of the total buildable gross floor area
("GFA") of the properties built on the relevant parcels of land. The
saleable area of the trade centres and logistics facilities built on certain
parcels of land acquired by CSC Nanchang and CSC Nanning in 2010
is limited to 60% of the relevant total buildable GFA. The saleable
area of trade centres or commercial properties built by CSC Hefei and
CSC Chongging is limited to 50% of their relevant total buildable
GFA. The saleable area of trade centres or commercial properties of
phase | and future phases of CSC Zhengzhou is limited to 60% and
50%, respectively, of the relevant total buildable GFA. Except for
the restrictions mentioned herein, there is no sales restriction on the
parcels of land acquired by the Group.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in

the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),

principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial

portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

DNRIRAEEER ()

iEE

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

MEBARIER (@)

FEVARTHFIGELERT

FEORE T MINEEE DK ©

RELER THARAF]

BEAEENB AT EE MRFEINE THE
B R tHiERAR - A RBIRE KT EA
HREIPINXGER - BHEEEMET
FEIHERT - BiEEmBERARR EAR
SHEOMAHEEBERN B ERZEATMEN
30% : MEEMMMEEERMN2010F 5
BHET I - H ERRORSF L RAEFRR
MR P SHE ERER R S E LN ZREEE
M60% : AEEMBLEEEMPERNXS
PO EEMENHETBERRZEMERL
A EESEMIEAS50% ¢ BB FE R B AR B — 5
MG EHORSH LR ENENHER
BARIRRZEYEBE T ZEERMENC0% K
50% ° Br EHUERZ AN - ANEEA LI
SHEMRS] o

ERMIIDARRBNEERA/YRFEEES
EAFEIBRAKEEEFETEID 2K
RAMERA - EFRRRFEEMHBELRRZ
FHERER IR
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

2.1 REEXE

2.1 Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for investment properties and
financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern basis

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s current portion of interest-
bearing debts amounted to HK$20,750 million, while its cash
and bank balances amounted to HK$4,681 million. In view of the
prevailing slow-down of the property market, coupled with the
limited source of financing from the capital market, the Group may
take longer time than expected to realise cash from the sale of its
properties and/or have the cash from external financing to meet its
loan repayment obligations.

In view of aforementioned, the directors have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of financing in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial sources to continue as a going
concern. The following plans and measures are formulated to
mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve the financial position
of the Group:

(i) On 16 May 2022, the Company issued 3,350,000,000 new
shares to SEZ Construction & Development Investment
Holding LIMITED (an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
Shenzhen SEZ Construction and Development Group Co.,
Ltd. (“SZCDG")) (“SEZCDIH") and received the consideration
of HK$1,909.5 million from SEZCDIH, improving the liquidity
of the Group;
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FEKEER

2022563 A318 - AEER A S B FEENEER
2 /20,7508 &8 0 MASBENE S KIS
ZEYWRA681ABBIT - ERRITEHETS
WEE - M EEARTSHERRER - ANEEA]
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)
Going concern basis (Continued)

2.1 REEE)

BECEER@®

(i) SZCDG has issued an operation support letter to the iy HRFFEBEERANAFLEGNGEH
Company for a period of twelve months from the date of BERIDEZ BT AR NREE %
approval of these consolidated financial statements to make K i AIEH S AR BRI S I AW
reasonable efforts to enable the Group to meet its liabilities REBITEEENABISEEEAMERZE
as they fall due and carry on business without a significant 7%
curtailment of operations;

(i) The Group has obtained back-up facilities of HK$23,350 @iy AEBEEHRITEE233.5018 % LAY A]
million from the banks; RIRTTHEEEE

(iv)  The Group will continue to implement measures to accelerate (iv) ANEEEEREERE - NREEDERE
the pre-sales and sales of its properties under development % T EMTEE RIHE - WHRKEIRK
and completed properties, and to speed up the collection of [B1 £ 88 5 5% S EAth FE UK
outstanding sales proceeds and other receivables;

(v)  The Group is actively reviewing its debt structure and looking () AEEEGEREEHEETFIEEK
for funding opportunities; in addition, the Group is actively g AN - AEEERE L E S B
negotiating with several financial institutions to obtain new 7 - AREEA K AESHERK
loans at a reasonable cost;

(viy  The Group has identified targeted buyers for the disposal (vi) AEEEYEELER  piHEAEEE
of the Group’s equity interest in certain property projects to T2 E R RS REE SKT
raise the level of liquid funds; and 53

(viy The Group will continue to take active measures to control (vii) AEEEEREUERITEIREH EZIEK

administrative costs and maintain containment of capital
expenditures.

5 SUA B A ) o

EESCENAEEERENASERSRE
TR - HREH2022F3A31BRT PR+ =
BAAZERE - BERA  KERAGBENTEI R
T AEESEEMEEES RHEBIRRM
Bg 0 WETEB202293A31 8+ A
RE BB EHAEE - Bt - EFERA 1K
B e AR RS EEZE2022F3A31H 1
FEFEVBHREBEE -

The board of directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections prepared by management, which cover a period of
not less than twelve months from 31 March 2022. They are of the
opinion that, taking into account the above-mentioned plans and
measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance
its operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due within twelve months from 31 March 2022. Accordingly,
the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
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2.1 REEE)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

188

Going concern basis (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above. Whether the Group will be able to continue as a
going concern would depend upon the following:

(i) the successful and timely implementation of the plans
to accelerate the pre-sales and sales of properties under
development and completed properties, speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and other
receivables, and control costs and capital expenditure so as to
generate adequate net cash inflows; and

(i) the successful obtaining continuous support by the banks and
the Group's creditors.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above-mentioned plans
and measures and operate as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power

over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangement; and

(©)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2.1 REEEE)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
dates on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling

interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair
value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

mEeEEEW
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9,

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described
below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous
amendments which affect financial reporting when an
existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with an alternative
risk-free rate (“RFR"”). The amendments provide a practical
expedient to allow the effective interest rate to be updated
without adjusting the carrying amount of financial assets
and liabilities when accounting for changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and
liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of the interest
rate benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the
previous basis immediately preceding the change. In addition,
the amendments permit changes required by the interest
rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge designations
and hedge documentation without the hedging relationship
being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise on
transition are dealt with through the normal requirements
of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise hedge ineffectiveness.
The amendments also provide a temporary relief to entities
from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement
when an RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief
allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume
that the separately identifiable requirement is met, provided
the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component to
become separately identifiable within the next 24 months.
Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to disclose
additional information to enable users of financial statements
to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform
on an entity’s financial instruments and risk management
strategy.
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(Continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank borrowings
denominated in United States dollars based on the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR"”) as at 31 March 2022.
For the LIBOR-based borrowings, since the interest rates of
these instruments were not replaced by RFRs during the year,
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group. If the interest rates
of these borrowings are replaced by RFRs in a future period,
the Group will apply the above-mentioned practical expedient
upon the modification of these instruments provided that the

“economically equivalent” criterion is met.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021 extends the
availability of the practical expedient for lessees to elect not
to apply lease modification accounting for rent concessions
arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
by 12 months. Accordingly, the practical expedient applies to
rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments
affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June
2022, provided the other conditions for applying the practical
expedient are met. The amendment is effective retrospectively
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with
any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits at the beginning of the current accounting
period. Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has adopted the amendment on 1 April 2021.
However, the Group has not received COVID-19-related
rent concessions and plans to apply the practical expedient
when it becomes applicable within the allowed period of
application.

2.2 SHEERNESERBE@)

(a

(b)

(%)
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong 23 EEMEEMRERZEBMBERE
Financial Reporting Standards Z 8|
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, REEWENRZETHREER T2 8/ME
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial WA ERZ FE] R IER] BB SRS R
statements.
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework' BB IS ERE3R YRz IET!
CCHEN)
Amendments to HKFRS 10and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an EEMBMEERNEI05 K KEEZHAEBENFaA
HKAS 28 (2011) Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture® EBOERE285(2011) AR EELE
CCHEN) EE
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® BN BIMEERET5 R & AP
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® BENBIMEERET5 R & AP
CHEN)
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Initial Applications of HKFRS17 and HKFRS 9 - BRI REENETHR BAERE B BHEE
Comparative Information? CEHEN) BIZ 175 RE BB
EEREIR- BER?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or BRSHENSIR(BIIAR) HEELBATH
Non-current Enar
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies? BEGEAZVRREBBIY  BHHERE
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 BRELAEBRER2R
CEHEN)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates? BESTEAESR(BIIA) BB mTE
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities BEETEANE12R(EITR) HE-—XRGELNEER
arising from a Single Transaction’ BB F B
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; Proceeds before ARG ENR16R(BIIAR) UF  BERKE KT
Intended Use' SRz
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract' BREGTEAETREITAR) AESA—EXEHH
2
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs ~ Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative BRUBREEN18FE  BEYBHLENEEY
2018-2020 Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and 20205 ) [ it BHEERE 157 - BF
HKAS 41 HBHEERE95
BB BHEERZE16
REEHHBIETAIR
BB B EAEA R
(E5T4)
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 g 202241 A1 Bz & Fia 2 F 8 B A K
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 2 7202351 A1 B3z &% 2 FE HRE A
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for 3 SR AN B EAM IR - MERELER AN
adoption
4 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong 8 HEFBSTERE1HRUSETAR) - BHERE
Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification ESRMBREONZEN —ERAEBSEEK
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment EEERNEHERN S EEN2020F108 F
on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align the LMERT - A —1HR AR - &SI EES
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion
5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 3 A FER 20204 10 A fE 5 /) & 78 B 75 3R 5 22 R
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption FNTHRUERTAR) - BAMBREERFEIRE
that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for YERERT - NBRRERER - AFFRBATRN
annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023 202351 AMB ZRIABZ FEHEERESS

SHERISE395% i FE BB S ELERIFE ISR
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong 23 EEMEEMRERZEBMBERE

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS
3 an exception to its recognition principle for an entity to refer
to the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an
asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities and
contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed
in a business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should
refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that
contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition
date. The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively
from 1 April 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after
the date of first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.

R (4)

8 50 5 00 PR B £ B 0 8 B 3 S B
— AR -

BB BRELERIFEIGR(BFTA) §FELA2018
F6 ABMH S| R B IREHLAMEF IR S| At
R IR FZ AR R R 22 - TBAKIRE
BHBTE - ZZEI AR BB BIRE R
EIRHEESAMSERUAEERKEESA
BEZND 2 ERRAPE R —IBBIIMER - %01
SMBERIRTE - NI EB N B AT ER|$37
SRR ES(ERVEREREZEY) —2ES
QR EENNBBERIABENS @ WEZER
EEEBEEAMERNEBSHPESE  BIER
BN HREEANEIRNERENFRERE
SEHERIEI7HRRE S (BRI HRERERE
®)—REE215% - MIEBELR o 1o - ZF
ERTABBERAEENREE BT & BRI
o REMMETE2022F4 A1 BRIEATEBR
ERNZBAERT AN o R ZZER] AR AR KA
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction
is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new
mandatory effective date will be determined after the completion
of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current. The amendments specify that if an
entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity
complying with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting period if it
complies with those conditions at that date. Classification of a
liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 April 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong 23 EEMEEMRERZEBMBERE

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS
1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023
and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in
the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The Group
is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on the Group'’s
accounting policy disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The
amendments also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April
2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong 23 EEMEEMRERZEBMBERE

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences arising from these transactions. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 April 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related
to leases and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning obligations.
Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has applied the initial recognition exception and did
not recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences for transactions related to leases. Upon
initial application of these amendments, the Group will recognise
a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for deductible and
taxable temporary differences associated with right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, and recognise the cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented.
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong 2.3 E',ﬁEﬁHE' MARERZ BB ERE

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds
from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost of those
items, in profit or loss. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022 and shall be applied
retrospectively only to items of property, plant and equipment made
available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period
presented in the financial statements in which the entity first applies
the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract.
Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials)
and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item
of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as
well as contract management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty
under the contract. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022 and shall be applied to
contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies
the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as an
adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial application
without restating the comparative information. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group'’s

financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 —2020 sets out amendments
to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS
16, and HKAS 41. Details of the amendments that are expected to
be applicable to the Group are as follows:

° HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
new or modified financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies
the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or
exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting
period in which the entity first applies the amendment. The
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 April 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

° HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from
the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in Illustrative
Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives when
applying HKFRS 16.
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24 EXETTHERME

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments
in the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group'’s

investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations .
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24 EXRETHEHME S

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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24 EXRETHEHMES)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.
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24 EXRETHEHME S

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment

loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial assets/
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.
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24 EXRETHEHMES)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorized within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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24 EXRETHEHME S

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment properties), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-
generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant

accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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24 EXRETHEHME S

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 3% to 9%
9% to 18%
9% to 18%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions
at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. For a transfer from inventories to investment properties, any
difference between the fair value of the property at that date and
its previous carrying amount is recognised in the statement of profit

or loss.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost comprises the land costs, construction
costs, capitalised borrowing costs and other costs directly attributed
to such properties during the period of construction.

Properties under development are initially classified as non-current
assets and transferred to current assets under the category of
properties held for sale when the construction of the relevant
properties commences and the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to complete within the
normal operating cycle.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or

contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach

for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises

lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets

representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 40 years
Property 1 to 8 years
Machinery 2 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in trade and other
payables and other long-term liabilities.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of property and machinery (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option).

Lease payments on short-term leases is recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit
or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for

as finance leases.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or
both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are also recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend
will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired,;
or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration

that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 60 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.
Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 24 EXREHBEREME @)

(Continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings
or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, other long-term payables,
senior notes, medium-term notes and domestic company bonds.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in
hedge relationships as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement
of profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these
financial liabilities.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of
recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or
losses on liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except for the gains or
losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are presented
in other comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification
to the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, other long-term payables, senior notes, medium-term
notes and domestic company bonds are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation

is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in
accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial
assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit

or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date
on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the
fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives
are recognised directly in the statement of profit or loss.

Properties held for sale and held for finance
lease

Properties held for sale and held for finance lease include
completed properties held for sale and held for finance lease and
properties under development expected to be completed within
the normal operating cycle. Properties held for sale and held for
finance lease are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost includes land costs, all development expenditure,
applicable borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to
such properties. Net realisable value is determined by reference to
the prevailing market prices, on an individual property basis.

Inventories

Inventories comprise merchandise purchased for resale and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of
merchandise is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within
three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash

management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

3 in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual installments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge or over the benefits received by the
Group related to such assets.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under
the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the point
in time when the purchaser obtains the physical possession of
the completed property and the Group has a present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

Property management service, E-commerce, logistics
and warehousing services

Property management service income, E-commerce income,
logistics and warehousing services income are recognised

over time when the services are rendered.

Outlet operations

In outlet operations, revenue from the sale of merchandise
and commissions from concessionaire sales is recognised at
the point in time when control of the goods is transferred to
the customer.

Some contracts for the sale of merchandise provide customers
with rights of return. The rights of return give rise to variable
consideration.

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates of
variable consideration are applied in order to determine the
amount of variable consideration that can be included in the
transaction price. For goods that are expected to be returned,
instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised. A right-
of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment to cost of
sales) is also recognised for the right to recover products from

a customer.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Finance lease income is recognised when the significant risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of the properties have been
transferred to the lessee.

Other income

Interest income and micro-credit services income are recognised on
an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,

when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Revenue from the provision of consulting services is recognised over
the scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to

the customer).

m ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 43R

24 EXRETHEHME S

AT ()
H At SR R WS
T84 W A AR HA 28 ST L 31 B2 o

BMERERAEDEMAEN SO ERRRM
RS B 4a A TE AR RERR ©

HA

FMEBRARNBEERE ZHER - AFHRE
% REmTARERFHREERE(E
) AR BRI SIE R A AR RIR S WA LERE
FIRECREEREFENITIRE o

HAREP —RRAKEZ REFRAEEMRERZ
Mas - BOR B RHEHE RS 2 MAREE B
NIABARATER. °

P B AT B SR Y BR A SR B i 2R+ BB
HENLENERAERASEEARS S
REsR] SEMETE -

BHEE
RASEEEEREMHIREH B TP WA
RENHREAR(ABREERE)EREHE
& ANBERAKERTAN(AIREFEE
BRAEMIRIGHZE ) R R AU



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 March 2022 202243H31H

24 EXRETHEHMES)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil
a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(€0 The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the asset related. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the
goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured
at the former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any
expected costs to recover the goods and any potential decreases
in the value of the returned goods. The Group updates the
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returns and any additional decreases in the value of the returned

goods.

Refund liabilities BRREE

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some RFABRRESHUE -E‘ gﬁiﬂ B -
or all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a customer WIRAEBRETERNVERBEEPHSERT
and is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will 2 AEERE iﬁiﬁﬂﬁiﬁii STERRBEMET

have to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of
refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction
price) at the end of each reporting period.

(RRSERNARES)

China South City Holdings Limited ZRHZR IR A T

227




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 March 2022 202243H31H

24 EXRETHEHME S

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using an appropriate pricing model, further
details of which are given in note 33 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee
benefit expense. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or

performance conditions.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their respective payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension

scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in note 11 to the financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

3.

B ARG HE R AT
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RSB AEREATZENHE :

Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHlE
The Group applied the following judgements that significantly REBRAUTHE  BREZEEZFPSOH
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from A SRR EFFEAEE
contracts with customers:
(i) Determining the timing of satisfaction of contracts (i) BEHELEYEEEBHEAHEED
related to the sale of properties
The Group determined that the sales contracts with REEREEREPRINEESNERA

customers require the Group to complete the development
of property before transferring the physical possession
of the relevant property to the customer. The Group also
determined that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment from customers for performance completed
to date before the transfer of the physical possession of
the relevant property to the customer. Consequently, the
Group concluded that the timing of transfer of properties is
at the point in time when the purchaser obtains the physical
possession of the completed property.
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3. Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)
Judgements (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(ii)

Determining the method to estimate variable
consideration and assessing the constraint for the
sale of merchandise

Certain contracts for the sale of merchandise include a right-
of-return that gives rise to variable consideration. In estimating
the variable consideration, the Group is required to use
either the expected value method or the most likely amount
method based on which method better predicts the amount
of consideration to which it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the expected value method is
the appropriate method to use in estimating the variable
consideration for the sale of merchandise with rights of
return, given the large number of customer contracts that
have similar characteristics.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in
the transaction price, the Group considers whether the
amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group
determined that the estimates of variable consideration are
not constrained based on its historical experience, business
forecasts and the current economic conditions. In addition,
the uncertainty on the variable consideration will be resolved
within a short time frame.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its

investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based

on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,

such as the lease term not constituting a major part of the

economic life of the commercial property and the present value of

the minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially all the

fair value of the commercial property, that it retains substantially all

the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these

properties which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as

operating leases.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Transfer from properties under development to
investment properties

Properties under development are transferred to investment
properties when there is a change in use with sufficient evidence.
The Group determines whether a change in use has occurred based
on an assessment of all relevant facts and circumstances, which
include but are not limited to: (a) a business plan that reflects the
future rental income generated by the property; (b) the resources
to hold and manage an investment property; (c) legal permissibility
for the change in use; and (d) the commencement of development
if the property requires further development for the change in use.
Any excess of fair value over the original carrying amount of such
properties at the date of transfer was recognised as current year
profit or loss.

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independent of the
other assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion
that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only
if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The Group engaged Savills Valuation and Professional Services
Limited (“Savills”), an independent professional qualified valuer,
to perform the valuation of the Group’s investment properties at
the end of the reporting period. Such valuations were based on
certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty. In making
the estimation, information about the market unit rental rate
and capitalisation rate is considered and assumptions that are
mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period are used. The carrying amount of investment
properties as at 31 March 2022 was HK$57,767,160,000 (2021:
HK$55,695,354,000). Further details are given in note 14.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables,
other receivables and other long-term receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by product type, service type, customer type and
rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analyzed.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables,
other receivables and other long-term receivables
(Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in
the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

The Group estimates loss allowance for expected credit losses
for other receivables and other long-term receivables resulting
from the expected cash shortfalls. The Group bases the estimates
on the information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. The Group'’s historical
credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the future.
If the above conditions were to deteriorate, actual provisions
would be higher than estimated. The information about the ECLs
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on the Group’s other receivables and other long-term receivables 8-

is disclosed in notes 23 and 18 to the financial statements,

respectively.

Land appreciation tax T i IBER

Under the Provisional Regulations on Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT")
implemented upon the issuance of the Provisional Regulations of
the PRC on 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the transfer of
real estate properties in Mainland China with effect from 1 January
1994 are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from
sale of properties less deductible expenditures including land use
rights, borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Land appreciation tax (Continued)

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to LAT, which
has been included in income tax. However, the implementation of
these taxes varies amongst various Mainland China cities and the
Group has not finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining the
amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises these liabilities based on management’s best
estimates. When the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, the differences will
impact the income tax and provisions for land appreciation taxes in
the period in which the determination is made.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
The PRC New Corporate Income Tax Law, which became effective
on 1 January 2008, states that the distribution of dividends by a
foreign-invested enterprise established in Mainland China to its
foreign investors, from its earnings of 2008 or thereafter, shall be
subject to withholding taxes at an applicable rate of 5% or 10%.
The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. Further details
are given in note 31 to the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised
tax losses as at 31 March 2022 was HK$700,131,000 (2021:
HK$611,922,000). The amount of unrecognised tax losses as at 31
March 2022 was HK$2,277,191,000 (2021: HK$1,846,945,000).
Further details are contained in note 31 to the financial statements.
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

4. Operating Segment Information 4. REHHER
For management purposes, the Group is organized into business REEMS  AEEREERERBES AT
units based on their products and services and has three reportable EREBEN  WEEAT (AR RREES
operating segments as follows: &b -
(@) the property development segment engages in the (@ DEBESHANEFERESYREE®R
development of integrated logistics and trade centres and SHHRORETREELERE

residential and commercial ancillary facilities;

(b)  the property investment and management segment invests (b) WEREREBHIREGEYRLE®
in integrated logistics and trade centres and residential and RGP OLREZREERERBRILEEY
commercial ancillary facilities and engages in the provision of EBEERG &

property management services; and

() the “others” segment comprises, principally, the provision of (0 [EAM]DHER ERFERERREFR
logistics and warehousing services, outlet operations, micro- % - RATHENEE  NEERRE B
credit services, E-commerce services and other services. P TS AR 7S e EoAth AR 7S

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating EEEeBVEREE)BIEEMELEIR

segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about DEORERFIEERKRE - HFRBIBEAIZ

resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment HoEFE(E1B) (A AEHNFE, (&
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/ 1B)RETE - AR RIFIE, (E18) mAEE

(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The RATFEFE AR -3 EAMEWA - BREK

adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently with the KN AEEeHIAAFERZ (EEB) AR

Group's profit before tax except that interest income, finance costs, BIRER - ARIASX RARDRHEE XA &S

fair value gains/(losses) from the Group'’s financial instruments, HER o

head office, corporate expenses and unallocated cost of sales are
excluded from this measurement.
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

Operating Segment Information (Continued)
Segment assets exclude cash and bank balances and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, senior notes, medium-term notes, domestic company
bonds, tax payables and other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

No geographical segment analysis is presented as the majority of
the assets and operations of the Group are located in the PRC,
which is considered as one geographical location in an economic

environment with similar risks and returns.

Revenue of approximately HK$2,078,351,000 (2021: Nil) was
derived from sales by property development segment to a single
customer, which amounted to 10% or more of the Group's revenue
during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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31 March 2022 202243 A31H

4. Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4., REIFERGE)
Property
Property investment and
Year ended 31 March 2022 development  management Others Total
HZ2022F3A318 LFE NERRE NEREREE Hitr @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT THT FHT

Segment revenue: EHYA
Sales to external customers HONPEPIHE 7,353,478 1,629,290 1,328,860 10,311,628
Segment results before increase REMERNTFEEN

in fair value of investment properties B SPE45 1,428,137 1,075,996 628,478 3,132,611
Increase in fair value of investment & MEATFEL

properties - 148,244 - 148,244
Segment results after increase in fair & & MEATFEL

value of investment properties BOHER 1,428,137 1,224,240 628,478 3,280,855
Unallocated cost of sales RATHERA (107,355)
Interest income ﬂ g HSZ/\ 192,567
Fair value losses on financial assetsy  EBBRAATETIRZ 25

liabilities at fair value through profit é‘?/’é BERFEZEE

or loss, net E (2,130)
Losses on disposal of financial assets/ & & B BB U ATFEIIEZ

liabilities at fair value through profit ~ & B&E /&BEEE

or loss, net 3 (25,598)
Unallocated income and gains RAOTRA Rz 937,323
Unallocated expenses AABRX (1,856,901)
Finance costs BEKA (788,901)
Profit before tax BERIAIE 1,629,860
As at 31 March 2022 2022F3A31H
Segment assets IHEE 60,605,630 51,091,732 2,434,582 114,131,944
Reconciliation: #ik
Unallocated assets ROMEE 10,255,480
Total assets BERE 124,387,424
Segment liabilities IHEE 19,909,661 9,400,575 2,041,657 31,351,893
Reconciliation: i -
Unallocated liabilities *olaE 47,945,559
Total liabilities BERS 79,297,452
Other segment information: HippEs :
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH 135,333 22,497 73,112 230,942
Capital expenditure* BARS* 1,902,220 352,210 1,152 2,255,582
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31 March 2022 202243 A31H

4. Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4., REHIFERGE)
Property
Property  investment and
Year ended 31 March 2021 development management Others Total
22021538310 LFE MEER NEREREE Het 15t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THL THT
Segment revenue: FEBA
Sales to external customers HIMNBEPIHE 8,543,938 1,523,386 1,241,980 11,309,304
Segment results before increase REMERTELMR
in fair value of investment properties ~ FE&F{ERT 7 BL4E
and impairment of goodwill 3,510,211 1,072,242 569,062 5,151,515
Increase in fair value of investment XA ¥EATEIEN
properties ‘ - 1,054,256 - 1,054,256
Impairment of goodwil HERE - - (34,128) (34,128)
Segment results after increase in fair 1R EMERAFELIL
value of investment properties and ~ EEREZ D BEE
impairment of goodwill 3,510,211 2,126,498 534,934 6,171,643
Unallocated cost of sales ROTHERA (207,310)
Interest income FEHA 105,820
Fair value losses on financial assets/ BB AR TESIIRZ & &
liabilities at fair value through profit ~ &% /B ELTEZEE -
or loss, net FE (17,966)
Losses on disposal of financial assets/ [ & A BB U ATFEIIEZ
liabilities at fair value through profit ~ £REE /BEZEE -
or loss, net FE (214,421)
Unallocated income and gains A B AR 105,814
Unallocated expenses ANEFX (1,903,130)
Finance costs BERK (638,363)
Profit before tax BRI 3,402,087
As at 31 March 2021 2021F3A31H
Segment assets PHEE 54,277,006 50,145,678 3,193,034 107,615,718
Reconciliation: #ik
Unallocated assets FOMEE 12,927,212
Total assets BE®E 120,542,930
Segment liabilities APEE 20,304,589 8,948,257 1,109,604 30,362,450
Reconciliation: #ik -
Unallocated liabilities AOLEE 48,883,930
Total liabilities BERE 79,246,380
Other segment information: HipoE# :
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH 156,446 24,306 95,270 276,022
Capital expenditure* BARE* 2,446,700 428,583 4,479 2,879,762
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BAFAZBIEYE  WEMEE  FAREE

PEOENTHES BRPOERREDE

NE °

equipment, prepaid land lease payments included in right-of-use
assets, properties under development and investment properties.
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31 March 2022 202243 A31H

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains/(Losses), Fair 5. WA - Em AR K= (EE) -

Value Gains on Investment Properties REWELAFERES
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WASTTEAT -
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAET
Revenue from contracts with customers P& A= 8,426,294 9,932,697
Revenue from other sources H At AORUA
Rental income el A 911,596 866,226
Finance lease income FERERA 579,892 117,276
Others Hth 393,846 393,105
1,885,334 1,376,607
10,311,628 11,309,304
Above include amounts of HK$358,688,000 (2021: DA LB B 15 SRR A HE & i A 358,688,00078 7T
HK$536,899,000) related to income from outlet operations and (20214 : 536,899,000/ 7T ) & Wi I & b AR5
HK$436,284,000 (2021: HK$421,455,000) related to income from Yz A\ 436,284,000 7T (20214 : 421,455,000
logistics and warehousing services. BT
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31 March 2022 202243 A31H

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains/(Losses), Fair 5.
Value Gains on Investment Properties (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(i) Disaggregated revenue information

WA - Ht AR Kz (BR) -

REWME D ERE )

EREHWE
() PERAEH

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZE20225F3A31HLEFE
Property
Property investment and
development management Others Total
MERR WEREREE Htt @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx THET TET THET
Timing of revenue recognition & fER2 AR
Revenue recognised at EX-BENKERT
a point in time 6,773,586 - 748,357 7,521,943
Revenue recognised over time  FA— B EANIKEETE - 717,694 186,657 904,351
Total revenue from contracts BEPAHE
with customers 6,773,586 717,694 935,014 8,426,294
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HZE2021F3A31HIEFE
Property
Property investment and
development management Others Total
MEER  NERERER Ht o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Timing of revenue recognition UiREsRREF
Revenue recognised at TR ERTE
a pointin time 8,426,662 - 650,754 9,077,416
Revenue recognised over time A —EXBS A UESETE - 657,160 198,121 855,281
Total revenue from contracts RS ALz
with customers 8,426,662 657,160 848,875 9,932,697
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains/(Losses), Fair
Value Gains on Investment Properties (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were included
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting
period and recognised from performance obligations satisfied
in previous periods:

5. WA - Et AR WS (BE) -
BREMEDLAFEWE @)
BEEEHWE®)

() 2BEBAEBGE)
TRETARS BRERNKRRSHE %
W BB eERSRINEHNEELZH
RAEFATEEN SN BB HER

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Revenue recognised that was included B EEHEBINEHEB 2R
in contract liabilities at the beginning Uz & %8 ¢
of the reporting period:
Sale of properties VI HE 2,195,883 7,210,206

(ii) Performance obligations
Information about the Group's performance obligations is

summarized below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied when the physical
possession of the completed property is obtained by the
purchasers and the Group has a present right to payment and
the collection of the consideration is probable.

Property management services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered.

Others

Others include the sale of merchandise and commissions
from concessionaire sales included in outlet operations,
logistics and warehousing services and E-commerce services.
The performance obligation of logistics and warehousing
services and E-commerce services is satisfied over time as
services are rendered. The performance obligation of the sale
of merchandise and commissions from concessionaire sales
is satisfied when control of the asset is transferred to the

customer.

(i) EHEME
ERAEEEAOEENERESNT

WFEHE
BHOEERE T EFERIMENERE
M NN S B S IR R WO BAR AT R UK
R ERETT -

WREERY
BAEESBEERGOREMZGET -

Aty

HA B 18 BT AT SR 15 7 7 m 85 B A4S 5
RIHAHERE - WRTRRERBRE
BERE - MRNEFRELETEHER
B BB TG REE RF AR H MR E
17 - SN HERHERSNE
HETSEEENEHIRERGTPHE

7
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31 March 2022 202243 A31H

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains/(Losses), Fair 5.

Value Gains on Investment Properties (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)
An analysis of other income and gains/(losses) is as follows:

WA - Ht AR Kz (BR) -

REWME D ERE )

BEEEHWE®)

H AR Mas (BER) DT :

2022 2021
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BsE FHET FAET
Other income Hetg A
Interest income FBUWA 192,567 105,820
Government grants* BT AL 55,713 150,843
Others Hity 49,649 7,290
297,929 263,953
Gains/(losses) Wi (&)
(Losses)/gains on disposal of property, plant B & - BFE M &/ M
and equipment and right-of-use BE2(EE),/ W 38
assets, net (33,145) 2,185
Gains on land resumption** T A * 856,425 -
Fair value losses on financial assets/liabilities & i@IEE AN FETIHE 2 ¢/
at fair value through profit or loss, net LE/BRATEZES  FE (2,130) (17,966)
Losses on disposal of financial assets/ BREFBBEEUATFEIR
liabilities at fair value through profit cRMEE/BEIER T8
or loss, net (25,598) (214,421)
Gains on repurchase of senior notes ElIEELERE 2 W - 20,062
Losses on redemption/repurchase R BEEELHESFY
of asset-backed securities il - 9,111)
Gains/(losses) on disposal of subsidiaries REMBLAR U (FE) 35 6,277 (57,505)
Exchange gains/(losses), net &S/ (B18) - B8 2,404 (7,950)
804,233 (284,706)
1,102,162 (20,753)
Fair value gains on investment properties 1% & ¥% A FEKE 14 148,244 1,054,256

* Various government grants have been received from the relevant
government authorities to foster and support the development of
the relevant projects of the Group in Mainland China. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

*x On 2 September 2021, Xi‘an China South City Company Limited, the
subsidiary of the Group, entered into land resumption agreements
with the local government authority. The consideration for resumption
of the land use rights thereof amounted to HK$1,138,576,000 and
the transaction resulted in a gain of HK$856,425,000 during the year
ended 31 March 2022.
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31 March 2022 202243 A31H

6. Profit Before Tax 6. BiAUFE
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AREBMFATRER NG, (Gt A) T5|&HE :

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A31ALFE
2022 2021
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE THET FHAT
Cost of properties sold EEWMERAR 5,310,696 4,969,883
Cost of properties held for finance lease B ETEWERAK 614,645 63,844
Depreciation of property, plant and ME  BEREEINE
equipment 13 140,970 155,826
Less: Depreciation capitalised in respect of & : SERTWENERIE
properties under development (398) (438)
140,572 155,388
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAREENE 16() 89,972 120,196
Lease payments not included in the R AHEGETENHEENK
measurement of lease liabilities 16(iii) 8,516 8,003
Auditor’s remuneration e Gkl 3,500 4,650
Employee benefit expense (including EERNFx (BEESHM
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): (Ffi3E8)) :
Wages and salaries* TENTE* 416,687 436,189
Equity-settled share option expense PARE % 45 B ) BB AR ) 2 6,758 6,310
Pension scheme contributions BIRSE MR 30,381 32,999
453,826 475,498
Impairment of trade receivables** W E 5 BRFORE ** 22 72,369 231,465
Impairment of financial assets included in ~ §TAFE A « EfbEUKGRIE
prepayments, other receivables and other N EAth & & HA & B fE W5k 08
assets and other long-term receivables** 7 & @b & ER{E** 264,357 10,785
336,726 242,250
Impairment of goodwill* * PEERE** - 34,128
Impairment of inventories** FEME - 25,185
Impairment of properties held for sales**  3F{ES & ¥ R{E* * 20 85,556 -
Contract cancellation costs** & RIEUERAR 47,049 99,030
& Included an amount of HK$50,455,000 for the year ended 31 March * BEBE202F3ANBLEFENES SR
2022 (2021: HK$56,807,000), which was capitalised under properties 50,455,000/ 71(20214F : 56,807,000/ 7T)
under development. BETFUEREE AR YIE -
** Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit > S AERAEBmE[ HEtHALZIER -

or loss.
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31 March 2022 202243 A31H

7. Finance Costs

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

AE R
BARAZ AT :

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A31HLEE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FBT
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMEER S (B2E
(including senior notes, medium-term BERRE  PHRER
notes and domestic company bonds BARNEES) 3,409,124 3,245,855
Interest on lease liabilities HESENE 3,795 8,450
3,412,919 3,254,305
Less: Interest capitalised o BEAREFE (2,624,018) (2,615,942)
Total FEy 788,901 638,363
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

8. Directors’ Emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is

EEME

REFBBIAES LR LRI
BB D EHEGIE383(1)@) * (b) ' QROERA
A(WBEEENRERDRIIFE2E - RAFEDN

E=MEELT

as follows:
For the year ended 31 March
BZ3A31BLLEE
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET BT
Fees we 1,820 2,002
Other emoluments: B -
Salaries, allowances, and benefits in kind e R REWET 15,497 19,354
Performance-related bonuses* AR IFBMEA AT * 7,882 20,388
Equity-settled share option expense AR AR R IRER 2,055 2,743
Pension scheme contributions RIREET B FR 60 71
27,314 44,558
* Certain Executive Directors of the Company are entitled to o RAFETFHITE B EKEURZI R EE B

KR REMEAFERERE TR ERNRG
ERESNEAREE ABEGREFHEES
HEEBBRIR A (BRI BB
investment properties and certain tax effects and impairment of B)) e

performance-related bonus payments which are determined as a
percentage of the Group’s consolidated net profit attributable to
owners of the parent excluding adjustments on fair value gains of

goodwill, etc. (in addition to any discretionary bonus (if any)) of the
financial year.
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31 March 2022 202243 A31H

8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) 8. EEMEw®w
(a) Independent Non-Executive Directors (a) BAFHTES
The fees paid to Independent Non-Executive Directors during FANTEYIENTESTNESLOT

the year were as follows:

Equity-settled
share option

Fees expense Total

DR EEN
e HB AR R X #st
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000
THET THET FTHBT

2022 20225

Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REE 380 - 380
Li Wai Keung EXEL] 380 - 380
Hui Chiu Chung FTHR A 380 - 380
1,140 - 1,140

Equity-settled

share option
Fees expense Total

AR A E
e FERR R X it
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FET

2021 20214
Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REE 380 - 380
Li Wai Keung XL 380 - 380
Hui Chiu Chung FTHRH 380 - 380
Yung Wing Ki Samuel* BAKH* 182 - 182
1,322 - 1,322
* On 22 September 2020, Yung Wing Ki Samuel retired as an * FA2020E9 A22 B + Aok k4 RER
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. NEIZBNIERITES -
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31 March 2022 202243 A31H

8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) 8. EEMEw®
(b) Executive Directors and Non-Executive (b) HITEERFHITES
Directors
Salaries,

allowances  Performance-  Equity- settled Pension

and benefits related  share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense  contributions Total

Fe - 28 BRAAN  URREED BAREHE
e RENER WAL JRIRIERE X #3 @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR TER TAR AT TAR AR

2022 2022%

P

Executive Directors: HTES:

Cheng Chung Hing R - 5,850 6,568 - 18 12,436
Zhao Lidong* HUR* - 2,117 - - 6 2,123
Cheng Ka Man Carman ~ B3 - 1,500 1,314 380 18 3212
Geng Mei** g+ - 6,030 - 1,675 18 1,123
- 15,497 7,882 2,055 60 25,494

Non-Executive Directors:  3F#I{TEE :
Cheng Tai Po BrE 680 - - - - 680
Lin Ching Hua***** ;Mg}f%%’t***** - - - - — _
Lei Ming*** Elgxwx - - - - - -
680 - - - - 680
680 15,497 7,882 2,055 60 26,174
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8.

Company on 16 August 2021.

x* Ms. Geng Mei has been appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on 20 April 2021.

***%  Mr. Lei Ming has been appointed as a Non-Executive Director
on 27 October 2021 and voluntarily decided not to receive any
director’'s emolument from the Company, including a director’s
fee of HK$380,000 per annum since his appointment.

**%x  Mr. Wu Guangquan resigned as an Executive Director of the
Company on 1 February 2021.

**%x% Mr. Lin Ching Hua, a Non-Executive Director of the Company,
has voluntarily decided not to receive any director’s emolument
from the Company, including a director’s fee of HK$380,000
per annum since his appointment on 28 June 2014. Mr.
Lin Ching Hua resigned as a Non-Executive Director of the
Company on 27 October 2021.
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Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) 8. EEM<£w
(b) Executive Directors and Non-Executive (b) BITEERIHTES(H)
Directors (Continued)
Salaries,
allowances Performance-  Equity- settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions Total
- 2 HXBEYE  NERLEEN BRestEl
ik REMERN #IEAT ERER #3% &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TR THL TR TEL TAT
2021 20014
Executive Directors: HiTES:
Cheng Chung Hing LN - 5,850 16,990 - 18 22,858
Zhao Lidong AV - 7,590 - 1914 18 9522
Wu Guangquan**** St fErex - 4,414 - - 17 4,431
Cheng Ka Man Carman B/ - 1,500 3398 829 18 5,745
- 19,354 20,388 2,743 Al 42,556
Non-Executive Directors:  FE{TES -
Cheng Tai Po s 680 - - - - 680
Un Chlﬂg Hug**+** MET\%%**H* _ _ _ _ _ _
680 - - - - 680
680 19,354 20,388 2,743 7 43,236
@ Mr. Zhao Lidong resigned as an Executive Director of the @ N RS 2021468 A 16 B BHEIIT

KRB ZES -

** BB LZER20215E4B20 B EZ T AR
DRIZHITES -

ko RIS A B R2021F10827BEZ T
BIERTESR YABATAEZ (TR
TEAAATWBEIAEEHES 24
F4380,0008 TNEEWS °

*rkx RS RE A TA20214F2 A1 HEHIHITE
$ °

*xxx RNB)Z FFMITEEMBEAEBET
U ER B 201446 528 B E{EAZ T
ARARZEZHE  RIESFESHE
380,000/ 7T ° MIRFESE £ 2021410
R27BEHEIERITES -
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

9. Five Highest Paid Individuals 9. IAUESHAL
The five highest paid individuals during the year included four FR ANERFALIRBENZRES
(2021: four) Directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in (20214 : O%) - EEE N EXHIES -
note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid FARhEZEERFATHMEMFBNOT

individuals for the year are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3H31BLEEE
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FH&T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMEEWER 17,540 22,152
Performance-related bonuses AR IR MR TEAT 7,882 20,388
Equity-settled share option expense R A ERER 3,537 2,743
Pension scheme contributions RIRESET B 90 71
29,049 45,354

The number of the five highest paid individuals whose remuneration NEATEENEERSITATABAT :

fell within the following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EEAH

2022 2021

HK$2,000,001 to HK$10,000,000 2,000,001 7T 210,000,000/ 7T 4 4

HK$10,000,001 to HK$20,000,000 10,000,001,87C220,000,000/8 7T 1 -

HK$20,000,001 to HK$30,000,000 20,000,0018 7t £30,000,0007 7T = 1

5 5
During the year and in prior years, share options were granted to FARBEFE  FEZRERFTATHER
non-director, highest paid individuals in respect of their services to NEERM 2 R MR AR - HiE— P
the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosure in BEER M BEIRERMTESS - ZZHERNAFE
note 33 to the financial statements. The fair value of those options, (EXEBEHENGEBRRER) IRETA
which is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss HET  mMERNEAFEMBRRNSEEEE

over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and REXRE&RFTATHESEERER

the amount included in the financial statements for the current year
is included in the above five highest paid individuals’ remuneration
disclosures.
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

10. Income Tax Expenses 10.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has
been made as the Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year (2021: Nil).

Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China are calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the provinces in which the Group operates.

Under the relevant income tax law, the PRC subsidiaries are subject
to corporate income tax (“CIT") at the statutory rate of 25% (2021:
25%) on their respective taxable income during the year.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, a PRC
subsidiary of the Group obtained the High and New Technology
Enterprises qualification. Accordingly, it enjoyed a preferential
income tax rate of 15% for the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021.

The PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from
the sale of properties less deductible expenditures including land
costs, borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

The major components of income tax expenses for the year are as

RSBz

FR - BEFEHIBREREBEENGTE
B 16.5% (20214F : 16.5% ) KB R &t
e FR  BRAEERERE B BERM
FH - R EEHREEFIS R EES (202145 ¢
) o

AR B A B ) R AR Tt i R B 18 T R AR S [ B T
FEEDERITRERGHE -

RIEBEHRBHAEHE R FEKNBARA
B EARBRWMALE TR E25% (20214 :
25% ) AN EFTIS R -

RIE P BEEBEG RER - AEE—KP EHH
BARREEMBMEEER - At - Z2AH
REE2022F R2021F3A31BIEFEZEE
BATSRE15% o

B R EBHE30% 2 60% T F 8 2T X
sh 3 E B (BN ¥ 2 35 & TS SRIRR B35 T A
K AEERARABMERRFAXEAN A
RS2 ) IR (B o

FA - ARHAXEERWAT

follows:
For the year ended 31 March
BE3AMBLEE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current Mainland China CIT BIHERAR B K FE (2 FT1S R 482,535 230,412
LAT in Mainland China AR B R £ IR (B 384,249 (149,205)
Deferred Mainland China CIT (note 31) PRFE AR B K PE 1 FTSHT
(FF5E31) 3,952 905,751
Total tax charge for the year FERIBX HERE 870,736 986,958
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

10. Income Tax Expenses (Continued)

10. Fr8&iBAR(®)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax REEB R EE AR A A BT8R < 8
at the statutory rate to the tax expense at the Group's effective BRAEBEARFEEEBEAE T IER T H
income tax rate is as follows: BRAAE -
For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A3MBLEE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FT
Profit before tax DI EIbE 1,629,860 3,402,087
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% 1216.5% EE M X ENHIE 268,927 561,344
Higher tax rates enacted by local authorities i 75 14 B8 I & FO 8 = Bt 2R 148,385 312,437
Income not subject to tax AT A (98,814) (119,594)
Expenses not deductible for tax B 150,416 221,486
Tax losses utilised from previous years AR TFENFHIEESE (2,430) (1,719
Tax losses not recognised RIERBBIEEE 109,583 95,804
LAT THEER 384,249 (149,205)
Tax effect of LAT THIEEHRNR ST E (96,062) 37,302
Effect of withholding tax on the distributable %7 52 [&] 4/ B Fff /&8 2 &) &Y
profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries Al BECAEm A E A
PRSI & 6,482 29,103
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate RAEEBERBEAEN
BIES 870,736 986,958
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

11. Dividend 1. BB
For the year ended 31 March

BE3A31HLEE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET

Final dividend — Nil (2021: HK3.0 cents per  REIRLE — (20214 :

ordinary share) BRI 3.080) - 242,757

At a meeting of the Board held on 30 June 2022, the directors
resolved not to pay a final dividend to shareholders (2021: HK3.0
cents per ordinary share).

The final dividend of HK3.0 cents per share amounting to

HK$242,757,000 for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 was
approved on 28 September 2021.
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12. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Ordinary 12. RERASQAAEERESREEAZ
Equity Holders of the Parent BREF
The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the BREARBFTIREG AR EBRERFTEA
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the FEAE S WA K& S A E 3 178,091,892,848 %
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of (20214F : 8,091,892,848f% ) & i AR Ay fNE 15
8,091,892,848 (2021: 8,091,892,848) in issue during the year. HETHE o
No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share AR RITE Z EBRELFT25 T REREF
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 in CHABREEYE  WIWEREE2022F K&
respect of a dilution as the impact of the share options outstanding 202153 RA31BEFEMEY 2 BRERZF
had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share amounts SRAMEL TR -
presented.
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based BREAREERFINETHER
on:

For the year ended 31 March

HEIAMBLEE
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Earnings ZX
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders PR FHE A EAR M55 & T
of the parent, used in the basic and diluted 7 & AR E @B ITE A
earnings per share calculation FE(EFIE 760,200 2,415,498

Number of shares

B8
2022 2021
Shares [ 8viy
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FIA s+ & & IEA K #5527
in issue during the year used in the basic ZEAE BT RRANE
and diluted earnings per share calculation T8 8,091,892,848 8,091,892,848
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment

13. W% BERRE

Furniture,
fixtures and Motor
Buildings equipment vehicles Total
Bl - £8
gF & AE @t
31 March 2022 202293A31H Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fitzk TET THT THT THER
At 1 April 2021: R2021F4518 :
Cost AR 1,633,760 290,538 72,523 1,996,821
Accumulated depreciation REIE (796,524) (188,423) (62,545) (1,047,492)
Net carrying amount REFE 837,236 102,115 9,978 949,329
At 1 April 2021, net of R202164518 -
accumulated depreciation EHBRRNE 837,236 102,115 9,978 949,329
Additions AE 1,291 74,637 658 76,586
Transfer from properties BRAREHENE
held for sale 6,838 - - 6,838
Disposals RE (37,766) (3,543) (802) (42,111)
Disposal of subsidiaries REMBAR (66,760) (5) - (66,765)
Depreciation provided during ~ FEHEEME 6
the year (97,455) (40,879) (2,636) (140,970)
Exchange realignment ERAR 31,476 2,669 328 34,473
At 31 March 2022, net of M202263A318 -
accumulated depreciation EHBRRINE 674,860 134,994 7,526 817,380
At 31 March 2022: 2022437318 ¢
Cost AR 1,527,326 362,245 70,869 1,960,440
Accumulated depreciation ZENE (852,466) (227,251) (63,343) (1,143,060)
Net carrying amount RETE 674,860 134,994 7,526 817,380
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 13. Y% - BRERZE®)
Furniture,
fixtures and Motor
Buildings equipment vehicles Total
ik RE
75 Al e 3t
31 March 2021 2021%3R31H Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fitzk TET TET TET TET
At 1 April 2020: R2020%4 718 :
Cost %N 2,035,986 240,160 68,075 2,344,221
Accumulated depreciation ZEITE (685,600) (152,911) (54,402) (892,913)
Net carrying amount AR 1,350,386 87,249 13,673 1,451,308
At 1 April 2020, net of 0202054818
accumulated depreciation EHBRRNE 1,350,386 87,249 13,673 1,451,308
Additions hE 154,546 37,963 341 192,850
Transfer to properties BREHEHENE
held for sale (326,736) - - (326,736)
Transfer to properties under BREEERTYE 15
development (203,602) - - (203,602)
Disposals RE (8,764) (2,931) (78) (11,773)
Disposal of a subsidiary RERBAF (86,720) (16) 23) (86,759)
Depreciation provided during ~ FEHEEE 6
the year (125,484) (25,566) (4,776) (155,826)
Exchange realignment I 5 3% 83,610 5416 841 89,867
At 31 March 2021, net of 2021438318 -
accumulated depreciation EHBRRNE 837,236 102,115 9,978 949,329
At 31 March 2021: 12021438318 :
Cost R 1,633,760 290,538 72,523 1,996,821
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (796,524) (188,423) (62,545) (1,047,492)
Net carrying amount REFE 837,236 102,115 9,978 949,329
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 13.

Certain of the Group’s buildings with an aggregate carrying value
of approximately HK$6,285,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$502,568,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 27).

As at 31 March 2022, certificates of ownership in respect of certain
buildings of the Group in the PRC with an aggregate carrying value
of approximately HK$649,567,000 (2021: HK$755,288,000) had
not been issued by the relevant PRC authorities. The Group is in the

process of obtaining the relevant certificates of ownership.

M - BERZE®E
R2022F3A31H AEBEEREEAEY
6,285,000/ 7T (20214F : 502,568,000 7T ) Y
HETEFEEMEAREEEE —RIRITRLE
PR (HI5E27) ©

M2022F3H31H - AEERFEKEREBES
#£#7649,567,0007% 7T (20214 : 755,288,000
VT )R TEFARIEARRE P B B P A 4
& o AEEEERDIERPIARERE °

14. Investment Properties 14. BEWE
2022 2021
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Pt E THET FHT
Carrying amount at the beginning of ~ FHIHBERAE
year 55,695,354 50,873,673
Additions NE 142,303 84,333
Transfer from properties held for sale ¥ B35 1ESHEWE 1,082,820 99,458
Transfer to properties held for finance =S ERIETHEREEWE
lease and sale (1,641,805) (560,983)
Net gains from a fair value adjustment A F{EFHZF Iz 5 148,244 1,054,256
Exchange realignment PE W R 2,340,244 4,144,617
Carrying amount at the end of year FIRAREE 57,767,160 55,695,354

The Group's investment properties were revalued on 31 March
2022 by Savills at RMB46,850,900,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$57,767,160,000) (2021: RMB47,071,800,000 (equivalent to
HK$55,695,354,000)), on an open market, existing use basis.

The Group's investment properties with an aggregate carrying value
of approximately HK$37,003,006,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$30,711,786,000), were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 27).
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14. Investment Properties (Continued) 14. BEWE®E)

The Group's investment properties with an aggregate carrying value M2022F3A318  AEERAREY
of approximately HK$49,681,269,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021: 49,681,269,000/8 7T (20214F : 47,854,761,000
HK$47,854,761,000) are subject to sales restrictions (note 1(iv)). BT HIRE Y EZREER B (FFE13v)) o
The Group's investment properties consist of trade centres, REENREMEBDEETRBIOIZHN - B
commercial and other ancillary facilities in Mainland China. Each ¥ RHMEERE -  AEBENERETFRE
year, the Group’s management decides to appoint which external ZABRERNEEYZEEITINBAEERIINE G
valuer to be responsible for the external valuations of the Group's EADAE - EFRERERIBREMSANHE B2 B
properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, S AREREFEZREKRT - gt REE
independence and whether professional standards are maintained. MR EETHER  ANEENMBEBEGE
The Group’s finance department has discussions with the valuer MR EFPHRFERERGERERAELS
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results twice a year REITRIRET T ©

when the valuation is performed for interim and annual financial

reporting.
Fair value hierarchy NHERHR
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy REBREMENNTEFTEBRIN TR

of the Group’s investment properties:

Fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2022
using significant
unobservable inputs
(Level 3)
7"2022§3H31H
FREARTAHE
BAMBHEAFE
(5E34%)

HK$'000

Tt

Recurring fair value measurement for: PUTSENLE AT ERFE -
Trade centres, commercial and other ancillary RPHFD - BEREMRERE
facilities 57,767,160
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14. Investment Properties (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

14.

REWE®)
N EEHE

Fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2021
using significant
unobservable inputs
(Level 3)
R202163H31H
ERAEATAEHR
BABBEATE
(3#8%)

HK$'000

FHET

Recurring fair value measurement for:

Trade centres, commercial and other ancillary

facilities

AT FENERE R FENE -

ZHHL - BELEMEERE

55,695,354

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements

between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3

(2021: Nil).

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key

inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

Valuation

technique

fhERM

TR BIREF 2R EAREZEDNFER
ENER  F3IRNELTFEFE2EAKEL
(20214 : &) o

AT RIEEMELEMANGERMT;ERT
RHBEE

Significant
unobservable inputs Range
EXTABREBARE gE

As at As at

31 March 2022
202293 H31H

31 March 2021
MR202143/31H

Trade centres, commercial

and other ancillary facilities  method

RSP0 BEMEMBEE WABMEE

Income capitalisation

Market unit rental rate
(RMB/sgm/month)
mHEMES

(AR®/ F7HK/A

Capitalisation rate
B E

27-161 20-159

)

4.00%-8.25% 3.00%-8.25%
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14. Investment Properties (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The fair values of investment properties are determined principally
using the income capitalisation method by capitalising the rental
income derived from the existing tenancies with due provisions for
the reversionary income potential of the properties. The fair value
measurement is positively correlated to the market unit rental rate
and negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate. For the portions
which were under construction, the expended construction costs
and the costs that are expected to be expended to complete the
properties have also been taken into account in arriving at their fair
values.

15. Properties Under Development

14. REWME @)
NEEEBR
REMERNTEEIERRASMUEETE - 5
ERSHARERENESRAERL - L3t
YMEMEERESRAHREERE - ATE
SEETEESRELBRENMEERRRL o
MIEEREY 55 - ERTATER - O X
HORE SRR N % STk B B4 B TR AT IS S S MRk A
IREAE BIER ©

15. BERPYHE

2022 2021
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
{hEs FET FAT
Carrying amount at the beginning FHIMEREE
of year 2,499,166 1,120,379
Additions NE 2,035,022 2,602,579
Transfer from right-of-use assets ERETREEE 16(i) = 201,744
Transfer to properties held for sale and B =i 1EEE Y2
properties under development held REREPFIEHEME
for sale (2,237,526) (1,668,362)
Transfer from property, plant and HREYE  BE LG
equipment 13 = 203,602
Disposal of subsidiaries BEEWNEAQT (894,478) (63,286)
Exchange realignment b 5 R B 175,973 102,510
Carrying amount at the end of year FEROEREE 1,578,157 2,499,166
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15.

16.

Properties Under Development (Continued)
Certain of the Group’s properties under development with an
aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$1,166,998,000 as at
31 March 2022 (2021: HK$979,594,000), were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 27).

The government grants of approximately RMB297,100,000
(equivalent to HK$361,036,000) (2021: RMB2,213,372,000
(equivalent to HK$2,537,410,000)), which were provided by the
local government authorities to support infrastructure construction
and development activities in connection with the Group’s property
development projects and were previously deducted from the
additions of properties under development, have been credited to
the cost of properties sold during the current year.

Leases

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of property,
machinery and other equipment used in its operations. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the
owners with lease periods of 40 years, and no ongoing payments
will be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of
properties generally have lease terms between 1 and 8 years. Other
equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months or less.

(i) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

15.

16.

BRPYRGE)

M2022F3A31H ASEREHAEBELD
1,166,998,000 7% 7T (2021 4F : 979,594,000 7
TNETRRPYECIEIFIEAREBER—
ARIRTTREE AU IEIR (HI3E27) ©

#) A RH297,100,0007T (F8572361,036,0007%
7)) (20214F « AR#2,213,372,0007C (FHER
2,537,410,000% 7T ) ) B3t 5 IUF AR - §
EREEMERREEFTEENERERTRE
REREBIRM FHOBUTHEE - WHRARE
EABERTYERNG - MEFAREED
ERAIR -

HE

REBEEREEA
AEEARANERBLENYE - Has M
REZEHEENEESH - SRAMEL —RIE
KA E W BEE L3t - I R40F - B
BAEREZE T HEENERFFHFENK - B
ENHEHEBERIFESF - HtbREHWEEE
BRI1I2EAZIAT °

() ERAREE
AERBEEREEEZ FHEARRAFR
BB -

Leasehold land Property Total

HELH e a5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET THET TET

As at 1 April 2021 M2021F471H 910,495 83,316 993,811
Addition A= 1,671 1,510 3,181
Disposal RE (282,151) - (282,151)
Disposal of subsidiaries BEMBAR (99,114) (18,198) (117,312)
Depreciation charge HERZ (25,911) (64,061) (89,972)
Exchange realignment bE A% 33,955 2,425 36,380
As at 31 March 2022 72022463 H31H 538,945 4,992 543,937
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16. Leases (Continued) 16. HE &)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEEEREBEAE)
(i) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (i) FHEEEE)
Leasehold land Property Machinery Total
HE T IES ek CH
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THAT AT AT THET
As at 1 April 2020 20204811 1,259,232 164,943 42 1,424,217
Addition NE - 112,293 - 112,293
Transfer from deposits paid for & 5B E T {ERES T
purchase of land use rights wiEe 15,725 - - 15,725
Disposal of a subsidiary REMBAT (100,202) - - (100,202)
Revision of a lease term arising AT fiSEMOTE S HIE A 2L
from a change in the non- MEE OB
cancellable period of a lease - (120,533) - (120,533)
Transfer to properties under BRERRRMEIF5)
development (note 15) (201,744) - - (201,744)
Transfer to properties BRBHIEREENE
held for sale (97,971) - - (97,971)
Depreciation charge ERS (39,523) (80,631) 42) (120,196)
Exchange realignment [ 5 74,978 7,244 - 82,222
As at 31 March 2021 2021436318 910,495 83316 - 993,811
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16. Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(i)

Lease liabilities

16. HE®)
AEBEAFRBAE

(i)

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under trade

and other payables and other long-term payables) and the

HESE
HEAREBERSEIES REMEMRK
BN AR RN FOR ) Z BREEA R

movements during the year are as follows:

RAERZ BB :

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FT
Carrying amount at 1 April 4AR1B ZRHEE 88,874 171,653
New leases wiEE 1,510 112,293
Revision of a lease term arising from  FEAJ AT & B2 £ B4 L
a change in the non-cancellable i 2 4 838 BRI AT
period of a lease - (126,639)
Accretion of interest recognised RANEZRER A A 2IE 00
during the year 3,795 8,450
Payments INES (71,503) (84,968)
Exchange realignment I 5, FH 5 2,595 8,085
Carrying amount at 31 March 3A31MAZREE 25,271 88,874
Analyzed into: DT
Current portion BIHAER 9,858 52,830
Non-current portion JERNERER 15,413 36,044

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 43

to the financial statements.
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16. Leases (Continued) 16. HE &)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(iii) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
are as follows:

AEEEAERBA@®
(i) REXERREESAWSBEOT

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 3,795 8,450
Depreciation charge on right-of-use ~ FREAENTE
assets 89,972 120,196
Expense relating to short-term HEHAE REEEEE
leases and leases of low-value assets ~ THEH MR 8,516 8,003
Total amount recognised in B TER A ST
profit or loss 102,283 136,649

(iv) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 36(c) to
the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for
periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market
conditions. Rental income recognised by the Group during the year
was HK$911,596,000 (2021: HK$866,226,000), details of which
are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

(iv) FFARSRERNRDROBENIHER
RPFFE36()IRER

AEEEREHEA
REEBFRLETEE LB HAHIEE W2 (3
14) o ZEHEAER—MIFE A A Z TR
B WRBEERN TSR ERAEES - K
SERAFERRHEE WA R911,596,00074
JC(20214F : 866,226,000/ 7C) ' FFBEHBER
BiEES ©
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31 March 2022 202243 A31H

16. Leases (Continued) 16. HE®
The Group as a lessor (Continued) AEEFEREHEA®
At 31 March 2022, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by 202263 A31H - REASEEREHEERF

the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases Z DRI HEH AR 2 10 S B R OCR B ER A & A R a0
with its tenants are as follows: T

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT
Within one year —F A 1,045,442 1,175,618
After one year but within two years —FREMFNA 790,035 833,946
After two years but within three years MERE=FK 634,407 712,395
After three years but within four years =FRENFR 575,824 573,997
After four years but within five years WEERERFA 541,781 538,715
After five years AFE 3,750,301 4,676,324
Total A&t 7,337,790 8,510,995

17. EBEZULAFEIIRz2EME

17. Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value

Through Profit or Loss Eaf
31 March 2022
2022434318
Assets Liabilities
BE afE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Unlisted investments I EmRE 3,325 -
Interest rate swaps Tl EAZZ 5) = 14,231
Total EET 3,325 14,231
Current portion BNEAER 1D - (14,231)
Non-current portion JEBNHAER D 3,325 -
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

17. Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value
Through Profit or Loss (Continued)

17. EBRERULATFEIRz2E/ME
- Y-8 ¢ )

31 March 2021
202143 A31H

Assets Liabilities

BE afE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FA&T

Unlisted investments JEEMIRE 9,214 -
Wealth management products B Em 12,069 -
Interest rate swaps FEBEAR 5 - 19,010
Total “aEt 21,283 19,010
Current portion BRERER 1 (12,069) (19,010)
Non-current portion FERNERER (D 9,214 -

The above unlisted investments were classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss as the Group has not elected to
recognise the fair value gain or loss through other comprehensive

income.

The above wealth management products were issued by banks in
Mainland China. They were mandatorily classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows
are not solely payments of principal and interest.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge its foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk. These derivative financial
instruments are not designated for hedge purposes and are
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

FETREDERBEEBEARTFEIIRZE
REE RASAKERKEREAREMEE
Wt AR A FERER °

WA B BT ZE gl B B ERTT BT © %5
EmREHNRERENIFEBNAE LB
R BRHDBREBBRRAR AR S
BEE °

AEEFERATIESRIA @ flmIMNERS
# R B 2= 4 B XX 5 25 b S B L B e ) 2K
e GEMESMIATERERTHWE
B > FIARFEFTEHRE -
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

18. Other Long-term Receivables 18. HfttREIEWFIR
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Other long-term receivables H fb R EARE W kI8 246,600 261,488
Loans receivables* R E F* 456,492 557,084
Impairment BE (142,334) (11,559)
560,758 807,013
* The amounts represent loans made to customers of the Group's * ZeEARNER ) BEEREZEFPREENE
micro-credit services. All loans receivables are interest-bearing at rates o FTARBKEFIREMENF1.5%FE26%
ranging from 1.5% to 26% (2021: from 1.5% to 26%) per annum (20214 : 1.5% F26%) &t 2 - XN T3
with repayment terms from 3 month to 5 years (2021: from 3 month BAZESF(20214F : 3EAAESF) - €FA
to 5 years). Certain loans receivable amounting to HK$215,165,000 215,165,000/ 7T (20214 : 253,292,0005 1)
(2021: HK$253,292,000) are secured by the properties of the B T IEUE SRS KA RIS AEIE R ©
borrowers.
As at 31 March 2022, the loss rate of other long-term receivables 202293 A318 @ ERAREMERRIBL
applied was 30% (2021: 0.1%) and the loss rates of loans R E30%(20214F : 0.1%) © EARERERD
receivables applied were ranging from 1.5% to 30% (2021: 1.5% BRERE15%E30% (20214 : 1.5%%E3%) °
to 3%).
19. Deposits Paid for Purchase of Land Use Rights 19. BELHERARXINZRSE

The balance represents deposits paid for acquisitions of land use
rights for parcels of land in Mainland China. The carrying amounts
of the deposits paid for the purchase of land use rights approximate
to their fair values.
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31 March 2022 202243 A31H

20. Properties Held for Finance Lease and Sale 20. HERIEHERHEEWE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Completed properties held for finance lease  #{ERVETRE R T2 135,251 212,451
Completed properties held for sale FEHER T 16,634,524 17,275,345
Properties under development expected to  FEHARA IEF 4 E A HAA L THY
be completed within the normal operating ~ ZEE %
cycle 30,059,128 24,983,801
46,693,652 42,259,146
Properties under development expected BRAYETEIET R
to be completed and ready for sale AIESHE
Within one year —FR 16,524,011 10,957,698
Beyond one year —F1& 13,535,117 14,026,103
Total wBE 30,059,128 24,983,801

Certain of the Group’s properties held for finance lease and
properties held for sale with aggregate carrying values of
nil (2021: HK$36,808,000) and HK$13,227,962,000 (2021:
HK$11,729,679,000) at the end of the reporting period,
respectively, were pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 27).

The value of completed properties held for sales is assessed at
the end of each reporting period. An impairment exists when the
carrying value exceeds its net realisable value. As at 31 March 2022,
the Group’s completed properties held for sale with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$85,556,000 (2021: Nil)
recognised impairment losses.

REEHRE - AEBNETHERERED
E R EHEMERMGED B AE(20214F
36,808,000/ 7T ) 5.13,227,962,0007% 7T (2021
% : 11,729,679,000/48 7T ) B IR IE AR S E R
B—RBRITRE MR (FTE27)

ME AR A BRAERE - FEESRIMENE
BR#ETTE - ERMERB R FER -
BERBEEEL - 522022938318 ' £F
B35 1 85 6 W& T 5 1 BR T 42 {5 49 85,556,000
BIT(20214F « )R AFMEEK ©

21. Inventories 21. B8
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FET
Merchandises Hm 51,353 55,894
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

22. Trade Receivables

22. EWE SRR

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Trade Receivable FEWE SRR 2,773,572 1,274,822
Impairment VERIEL (422,163) (450,117)
2,351,409 824,705

Trade receivables represent sales income, rental receivables and
service income receivables from customers which are payable on
issuance of invoices or in accordance with the terms of the related
sale and purchase agreements. The Group generally allows a credit
period of not exceeding 60 days to its customers. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and
closely monitors them to minimize credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of this and
the fact that the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables
are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at 31 March 2022
and 2021 based on the payment due date, net of loss allowance, is

e E 5 AR IR AR R R SIRIZAH
BEEHRGREREFNHEELA - BREHES
FRTEWN » NEE —RIBH T HEEOREE
HTEP - AEEBRNHREERBRKES
BRRENES REEAEERRREERE - &
REEES T HENAMAR - BENL LN
SENEKRESERBRETREZFEH &
FEEAKFEERR - REBILA L LUK
EIRFFEEMONERSEMERER - &
WEZERSRE

R2022F K% 20213 A318 @ RIEN R EH
B EREZERNREEEBENERER DT

as follows: R
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 3 months 3E AR 2,127,284 561,290
Over 3 months BiB31E A 224,125 263,415
2,351,409 824,705
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

22. Trade Receivables (Continued)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

22,

FBWE Z R (@)
FEUWE SRR AR EERMT -

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

At the beginning of year FHEEH 450,117 298,090
Impairment loss (note 6) BB (MI7E6) 72,369 231,465
Amount written off as uncollectible 9P NUEE QL 6| (119,268) (103,623)
Exchange realignment M 5 B 18,945 24,185
At the end of year FIRER 422,163 450,117

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by product type,
service type, customer type and rating). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject
to enforcement activity.

AREBSES AV HFE AR ERRERER
Ut EBMEREER - B#REXENAGEUE
REANEEERFELENBBRE(WIRER
B RERE - BEPEEMFR) - KT E
RERT IR EER  ERSHEEENRRSE
BT ESHANBEEEMN - BATHRMARK
BRI A B A A ST HER - —/RiM
5 RUEZEFRNEMEE - FYRREM
HIERTTENEN R T AN -
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31 March 2022 202243 A31H

22. Trade Receivables (Continued) 22. EREFERMRE)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on TREFIEALEEERE SRR EERR
the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: FREEERENER
As at 31 March 2022 72022%3H31H
Past due
ot
Less than Over
Current 1year 1-2years 2-3years 3 years Total

BE DME 1225 2E3F @BE3fF oy

Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEX 2% 12% 46% 85% 100% 15%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) [RERE€Z(F#m) 2,017,250 332,184 117,191 60,641 246,306 2,773,572
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)  TBEMEEESE(THEIL) 30,461 39,782 54,279 51,335 246,306 422,163

As at 31 March 2021 M20214F3H31H

Past due
Less than Over
Current 1year 1-2years  2-3years 3 years Total

g AE 1226 2E3F  BR3F st

Expected credit loss rate EHEEEEE 8% 12% 44% 77% 100% 35%

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) JRERE SR (FET) 254,131 571,221 131,794 68,098 249,578 1,274,822
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) ~ TEEMEEEE(FHETL) 19,437 70,811 58,036 52,255 249,578 450,117
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

23. Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other 23. ENRIE - HtEWRERHME
Assets E
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FA&T
Prepayments TERTFRIR 1,028,101 767,662
Capitalised contract costs* BAREBE KR A+ 258,150 255,725
Land resumption due from the government  FEUER FF 1 3t 7k 18 945,644 -
Deposits and other receivables e R HMEWGRIE 3,241,547 2,210,148
Current portion of loans receivables (note 18) FEUWE 7 BIEAZR (5 (FIE18) 65,140 186,059
Current portion of finance lease receivables Bt & 7 & FE W E 2 BIER SR (5 - 16
5,538,582 3,419,610
Impairment RE (18,854) (12,586)
5,519,728 3,407,024
* Capitalised contract costs relate to the incremental sales commissions 3 BRI EHNKAREEEHEREAS
whose selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and BERE B INERRTYERTER G =N
purchase agreements for the Group’s properties which are still under HEHERLER - SHNKRRERBEY
construction at the reporting date. Contract costs are recognised as HHEERANBENEERERBHEHERD
part of “selling and distribution expenses” in the statement of profit SHEY | — 3D o BB B—FRAUKERN
or loss in the period in which revenue from the related property sales is B A #IPK AN A 54,146,000 78 (2021 4F -
recognised. The amount of capitalised contract costs that is expected 78,654,000/87T) °
to be recovered after more than one year is HK$54,146,000 (2021:
HK$78,654,000).
As at 31 March 2022, the loss rate of other receivables applied was 20223318 « FERREMEWFKEIER
0.1% to 1.5% (2021: 0.1%) and the loss rates of loans receivables RE0.1%%E1.5%(20214F : 0.1%) * FERARE
applied ranging from 1.5% to 3% (2021: 1.5% to 3%). Except for WERBAEA15%E3%(20214F : 1.5%
the loans receivables, other receivables are unsecured, non-interest- £3%) o REWE RN - H b fE U TR I8 A I
bearing and repayment on demand. - REREEKREE -
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

24. Cash and Bank Balances

24. RERBITER

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cash and bank balances e RIRITFR 4,681,068 9,442,782
Less: Restricted cash* W ZBRHRE* (2,854,895) (3,796,449)
Pledged time deposits in connection with HEEIER BB ER
cooperation projects** TE HTF 0 - (1,833,960)
Time deposits with maturity of more than iR =18 A 2 ERH E BA
three months T3k (271,260) (364,426)
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 1,554,913 3,447,947
* Restricted cash mainly comprises: (i) guarantee deposits for the & XREVESFEZEE : RBEEXSEYEZ

mortgage loan facilities granted by the banks to purchasers of the
Group's properties; (ii) guarantee funds of construction projects to
meet local authorities’ requirements; (iii) certain amounts of pre-
sale proceeds from properties placed as guarantee deposits for the
construction of related properties; (iv) certain amounts of proceeds
from lease of properties which have been placed as guarantee
deposits for the borrowings; and (v) pledged deposits to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group.

*x In the prior year, pledged time deposits in connection
with cooperation projects comprises pledged deposits of
HK$1,833,960,000 (the “Pledged Deposits”) to secure loan facilities
of HK$1,789,353,000 (the “Loans”) granted to certain independent
third parties (“Obligors”), in connection with certain cooperation
projects in which the Group and the Obligors jointly participated in.
Pursuant of the terms of the pledges, if there is any default of the
Loans by Obligors, the banks have the right to dispose of the Pledged
Deposits. The Obligors must repay the Loans so as to release the
pledges within 3 working days of receipt of such request from the
Group and have provided counter-guarantees to the Group for all
losses which may suffer due to the Obligors’ default of the Loans. The
Loans were fully repaid and the pledges were released accordingly
during the current year.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$4,675,315,000
(2021: HK$9,408,432,000). RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorized to
conduct foreign exchange business.
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31 March 2022 202243 A31H

24. Cash and Bank Balances (Continued) 24. BER|ITER@®)
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank FRIR1T 2B BEST A RITERFE 2 F &
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods FIRBEFE - RATHERNERASE
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate H—ARE=HATE  RIXEBAFHNRE
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective FTRME - A ARS8 58 A HA1F SRR =
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted cash BREX - RITFAREZBREBEHERREER
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of oF B3 BN AR R R EC SR ED ERTT o
default.
Certain of the Group’s bank deposits with a carrying amount of M2022%F3A318 - ASEEREBLER
HK$551,203,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$792,412,000), 551,203,000/ 7t (202 14F : 792,412,000/ 7T)
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the WE T EREBIRIEAREBER —RIBITR
Group (note 27). ERRERFE27) -

25. Trade and Other Payables 25. ESRHEMEBEARIE

31 March 2022 31 March 2021
2022%3H31H 2021%F3H31H

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BiaE FET FHET
Other payables and accruals HAn e 5B R ERTIE B 3,647,999 3,364,420
Notes payable e R 0) 2,378,031 1,628,850
Advanced rental and other receipts TEUE & R HEMFRIA 2,306,925 2,948,287
Due to non-controlling interests FE IEIERR = 40() - 398,767
Lease liabilities HEBE 16(ii) 9,858 52,830
Construction fee and retention payables — FEfIZEBEARRE S (ii) 3,706,560 2,887,967
12,049,373 11,281,121
(i)  An ageing analysis of the Group’s notes payable presented (i) REEHRTEEEREZEZENRE
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is HIBRER DATEAT
as follows:

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAxT
Within 3 months AR 356,239 405,566
Over 3 months HBiB31E A 2,021,792 1,223,284
2,378,031 1,628,850
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

25. Trade and Other Payables (Continued)

(i) An ageing analysis of the construction fee and retention

25. EFREMENSTIE®)
(i)  PIBEHRENEEE A RRESORR

payables as at the end of the reporting period is as follows: DITEAT :
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FET
Within 1 year 1A 2,774,755 1,945,718
Over 1 year HBIB1F 931,805 942,249
3,706,560 2,887,967

All the notes payable have maturity dates within 365
days. As at 31 March 2022, notes payable amounting
to HK$1,077,642,000 (2021: HK$896,274,000) were
discounted by these note holders.

The construction fee and retention payables are non-interest-
bearing and repayable within the normal operating cycle or

on demand.

The other payables are non-interest-bearing.
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31 March 2022 202243 A31H

26.

Contract Liabilities 26. ENAEE

Details of contract liabilities are as follows: BHEE

BRARZIREA T

31 March 2022

31 March 2021

202243H31H 202143 F31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Advances received from customers WERE Sy FE T35
Contract liabilities related to sales of HIHEYERENENAaE
properties 14,364,275 14,918,407
Value-added tax related to sales of properties B Us A B2 §HE Y A RIH
as included in pre-sales proceeds HE(ER 1,179,290 1,293,627
Sale of properties HEME 15,543,565 16,212,034
Contract liabilities include advances received from customers in BHEERFBEEESYERNEFAENENR
relation to the pre-sale of properties. I8 °

China South City Holdings Limited ZRHZR IR A T

279




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 March 2022 202243 A31H

27. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings 27. FFERITREMBEE

2022 2021
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) (%)
BRAI= Maturity HK$'000 BT Maturity HK$'000
(%) El TR (%) 58 T
Current i
Bank and other borrowings  $E1TREMEE
- unsecured —EiE 6.53-15.00 2022-2023 483,289 3.85-11.00 2021-2022 679,884
Bank and other borrowings BT R EMEE
- secured -EH#R 3.85-11.00 2022-2023 2,635,213 3.75-9.25 2021-2022 2,243310
Current portion of long-term &8R4 R EffE BRI
bank and other borrowings:  E§&H%
Bank and other borrowings ST R EE
~ unsecured —EER = - - 6.65 2021-2022 3,005
Bank and other borrowings /TR EMEE
- secured -EHR 3.75-12.00 2022-2023 5,412,259 3.90-12.00 2021-2022 4,306,129
8,530,761 7,232,328
Non-current SRR
Bank and other borrowings ST R Ef(EE
- secured —FER 3.90-12.00 2023-2036 12,552,811 3.90-12.00 2022-2035 11,666,645
12,552,811 11,666,645
21,083,572 18,898,973
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31 March 2022 202243H31H

27. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings 27. FHERITRHEMEE @)
(Continued)

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHT
Analyzed into: DN -
Bank and other borrowings repayable: AR T B EERIRIT R A
fiEE :

Within one year —FR 8,530,761 7,232,328
In the second year EF 5,941,635 4,920,608

In the third to fifth years, inclusive BE-EFAF(RIEERE
EER) 2,178,202 2,055,590
Beyond five years hF#& 4,432,974 4,690,447
21,083,572 18,898,973

Certain of the Group's bank and other borrowings are secured AMIEE13 ~ 14 - 15 - 20[%24F% - AEEET

by the Group’s buildings, investment properties, properties under RITREMEBEERAEEET  REME - &

development, properties held for finance lease and sale and bank BHME  FIEREHERBEEMERRITE

deposits as stated in notes 13, 14, 15, 20 and 24. PRI o

As at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021, all interest-bearing bank 202243 A31H KX20214F3A31H » K&EE

and other borrowings of the Group are denominated in HK dollars, STRBITREMEEHUEE  AREKRET

RMB and US dollars. RBEN o

Bank loans with a total amount of HK$20,600,283,000 (2021: # # 20,600,283,000 % T ( 2021 &

HK$18,216,084,000) are secured by: 18,216,084,000/48 7T ) HIIR1TE KA 51 Z 18K

#

(i)  Certain of the Group's buildings with an aggregate carrying (i)  FA20224F3 A31H BRHE 42 {E476,285,000
value of approximately HK$6,285,000 as at 31 March 2022 BT AEESE T &EF (2021 F ¢
(2021: HK$502,568,000) (note 13); 502,568,000 7T) (F7E13)

(i) Certain of the Group's investment properties situated (i) PM2022F3HA31HKEMAEMEBELD
in Mainland China with an aggregate carrying value of 37,003,006,000 # 7T & AN & E 7 7
approximately HK$37,003,006,000 as at 31 March 2022 HE K BE AR TR E W % (2021 5 -
(2021: HK$30,711,786,000) (note 14); 30,711,786,000/%7T) (HizE14)

(i) Certain of the Group's properties under development (i) M 2022 F3 A31THE#TRLRMEHD
situated in Mainland China with an aggregate carrying value 1,166,998,000 /& 7T B N & E iz 7
of approximately HK$1,166,998,000 as at 31 March 2022 AEETERSYE (2021 F -
(2021: HK$979,594,000) (note 15); 979,594,000/ 7T ) (FfzE15)
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27.

28.

Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

(Continued)

(iv)  Certain of the Group’s properties held for finance lease
and properties held for sale with aggregate carrying
values is nil (2021: HK$36,808,000) and approximately
HK$13,227,962,000 (2021: HK$11,729,679,000) respectively
as at 31 March 2022 (note 20); and

(v)  Certain of Group’s bank deposits with a carrying amount
of HK$551,203,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$792,412,000) (note 24).

All interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group were
denominated in HK dollars, Renminbi and US dollars with interest
rates ranging from 3.75% to 15.00% (31 March 2021: 3.75% to
12.00%) per annum.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
approximate to their fair values, which have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows at the prevailing interest
rates.

Senior Notes

The Company issued the following senior notes, which are listed on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, in the current
and prior years:

(i) On 13 September 2016 and 3 October 2016, the Company
issued senior notes with aggregate principal amounts
of US$200,000,000 and US$150,000,000, respectively,
(collectively known as, the “2016 Notes”). The 2016 Notes
carry interest at the rate of 6.75% per annum, payable semi-
annually on 13 September and 13 March in arrears, and will
mature on 13 September 2021, unless redeemed earlier.

The offering prices were at 98.960% and 98.964% of the

principal amounts of the 2016 Notes of US$200,000,000 and

US$150,000,000, respectively. The outstanding amount was

fully settled on 13 September 2021.
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28. Senior Notes (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

On 20 November 2017, the Company issued senior notes
with an aggregate principal amount of US$300,000,000
(the “2017 November Notes”). The 2017 November Notes
carry interest at the rate of 7.25% per annum, payable semi-
annually on 20 May and 20 November in arrears, and will
mature on 20 November 2022, unless redeemed earlier. The
offering price was at 97.96% of the principal amount of the
2017 November Notes.

At any time prior to 20 November 2022, the Company may
at its option redeem the 2017 November Notes, in whole
but not in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of
the principal amount of the 2017 November Notes plus the
applicable premium and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, as
of (but not including) the redemption date.

At any time and from time to time prior to 20 November
2022, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the
aggregate principal amount of the 2017 November Notes at
a redemption price of 107.25% of the principal amount of
the 2017 November Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest,
if any, as of (but not including) the redemption date, with the
proceeds from sales of certain kinds of capital stock of the
Company.

On 25 January 2018, the Company issued senior notes
with an aggregate principal amount of US$250,000,000
(the “2018 January Notes”). The 2018 January Notes carry
interest at the rate of 7.25% per annum, payable semi-
annually on 25 January and 25 July in arrears, and will mature
on 25 January 2021, unless redeemed earlier. The offering
price was at 99.011% of the principal amount of the 2018
January Notes. In the prior year, a subsidiary of the Company
repurchased part of the senior notes at an aggregate principal
amount of US$79,006,000 (equivalent to HK$616,247,000)
from the open market. The remaining amount was fully
settled on 25 January 2021.

28. BEEE®)

(ii)

(iii)
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28. Senior Notes (Continued)

(iv)

On 24 May 2018 and 4 June 2018, the Company issued
senior notes with the aggregate principal amounts of
US$150,000,000 and US$100,000,000, respectively
(collectively known as, the “2018 May Notes”). The 2018
May Notes carry interest at the rate of 10.875% per annum,
payable semi-annually on 24 February and 24 August
in arrears, and will mature on 24 August 2020, unless
redeemed earlier. The offering prices were at 99.654% and
99.649% of the principal amounts of the 2018 May Notes
of US$150,000,000 and US$100,000,000, respectively. In
the prior year, a subsidiary of the Company repurchased
part of the senior notes at an aggregate principal amount of
US$35,900,000 (equivalent to HK$280,020,000) from the
open market. The remaining amount was fully settled on 24
August 2020.

On 27 March 2019 and 12 June 2019, the Company
issued senior notes with the aggregate principal amounts
of US$200,000,000 and US$60,000,000, respectively,
(collectively known as the “2019 March Notes”). The
2019 March Notes carry interest at the rate of 11.875%
per annum, payable semi-annually on 27 March and 27
September in arrears, and will mature on 27 March 2021,
unless redeemed earlier. The offering prices were at 99.567 %
and 99.566% of the principal amount of the 2019 March
Notes of US$200,000,000 and US$60,000,000, respectively.
The outstanding amount was fully settled on 27 March 2021.
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28. Senior Notes (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

On 12 December 2019 and 21 January 2020, the Company
issued senior notes with the aggregate principal amounts
of US$150,000,000 and US$200,000,000, respectively,
(collectively known as the “2019 December Notes”). The
2019 December Notes carry interest at the rate of 11.50%
per annum. Interest will be paid on 12 August and 12
February of each year, commencing from 12 August 2020,
and will mature on 12 February 2022, unless redeemed
earlier. The offering prices were at 97.396% and 98.791%
of the principal amounts of the 2019 December Notes of
US$150,000,000 and US$200,000,000, respectively. During
the year, the Company has obtained the consent from the
note holders that the maturity date of the 2019 December
Notes has been extended from 12 February 2022 to 12
August 2022 and the Company may at its option redeem the
2019 December Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2019
December Notes plus the applicable premium and accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not including) the
redemption date.

On 26 February 2020 and 26 June 2020, the Company
issued senior notes with the aggregate principal amounts
of US$225,000,000 and US$125,000,000, respectively,
(collectively known as the “2020 February Notes”). The 2020
February Notes carry interest at the rate of 10.875% per
annum, payable semiannually on 26 June and 26 December
in arrears, commencing from 26 June 2020, and will mature
on 26 June 2022, unless redeemed earlier. The offering prices
were at 97.073% and 93.092% of the aggregate principal
amounts of the 2020 February Notes of US$225,000,000 and
US$125,000,000, respectively. In the prior year, a subsidiary
of the Company repurchased part of the senior notes at an
aggregate principal amount of US$35,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$273,000,000) from the open market. During the year,
the Company has obtained the consent from the note holders
that the maturity date of the 2020 February Notes has been
extended from 26 June 2022 to 26 October 2022. The
Company may at its option redeem the 2020 February Notes,
in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of
the principal amount of the 2020 February Notes plus the
applicable premium and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, as
of (but not including) the redemption date.
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(vii)
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28. Senior Notes (Continued)

(viii)

(ix)

On 12 August 2020, the Company issued senior notes with
an aggregate principal amount of US$200,000,000 (the
“2020 August Notes”). The 2020 August Notes carry interest
at the rate of 11.5% per annum, payable semi-annually on
11 February and 11 August in arrears, and will mature on 11
August 2021, unless redeemed earlier. The offering price was
at 98.191% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2020
August Notes. The outstanding amount was fully settled on
August 2021.

On 11 September 2020 and 13 January 2021, the Company
issued senior notes with aggregate principal amounts
of US$250,000,000 and US$120,000,000, respectively
(collectively known as the “2020 September Notes”). The
2020 September Notes carry interest at the rate of 10.75%
per annum, payable semi-annually on 11 April and 11
October in arrears, commencing from 11 April 2021, and
will mature on 11 April 2023, unless redeemed earlier.
The offering prices were at 96.521% and 99.845% of the
aggregate principal amounts of the 2020 September Notes of
US$250,000,000 and US$120,000,000, respectively.

At any time prior to 11 April 2023, the Company may at its
option redeem the 2020 September Notes, in whole but not
in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the 2020 September Notes plus the applicable
premium and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but
not including) the redemption date.

At any time and from time to time prior to 11 April 2023, the
Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal
amount of the 2020 September Notes at a redemption price
of 110.75% of the principal amount of the 2020 September
Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not
including) the redemption date, with the proceeds from sales
of certain kinds of capital stock of the Company.
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28. Senior Notes (Continued)

()

On 9 March 2021 and 22 March 2021, the Company
issued senior notes with aggregate principal amounts
of US$175,000,000 and US$50,000,000, respectively
(collectively known as the “2021 March Notes”). The
2021 March Notes carry interest at the rate of 11.95%
per annum, payable semi-annually on 9 September and 9
March in arrears, commencing from 9 September 2021, and
will mature on 9 February 2023, unless redeemed earlier.
The offering prices were at 96.081% and 96.081% of the
aggregate principal amounts of the 2021 March Notes of
US$175,000,000 and US$50,000,000, respectively.

At any time prior to 9 February 2023, the Company may at
its option redeem the 2021 March Notes, in whole but not
in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the 2021 March Notes plus the applicable
premium and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but
not including) the redemption date.

At any time and from time to time prior to 9 February 2023,
the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate
principal amount of the 2021 March Notes at a redemption
price of 111.95% of the principal amount of the 2021 March
Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not
including) the redemption date, with the proceeds from sales
of certain kinds of capital stock of the Company.
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28. Senior Notes (Continued)
At the end of the reporting period, 2017 November Notes, 2019
December Notes, 2020 February Notes, 2020 September Notes
and 2021 March Notes (collectively named as the “Senior Notes”)

contained liability components and early redemption options as

follows:

0]

(ii)

The liability component represented the present value of
the contractually determined stream of future cash flows
discounted at the prevailing market interest rate at that time
applicable to instruments with comparable credit status that
provided substantially the same cash flows, on the same
terms, but without the embedded derivatives.

Interest charged for the year was calculated by applying
effective interest rates of approximately 8%, 12%, 14%,
12% and 15% per annum to the liability components of
2017 November Notes, 2019 December Notes, 2020 February
Notes, 2020 September Notes and 2021 March Notes,
respectively, since they were issued.

Early redemption options were regarded as embedded
derivatives not closely related to the host contracts. The
Directors consider that the fair value of the above early
redemption options was insignificant on initial recognition
and as at 31 March 2022.
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28. Senior Notes (Continued) 28. BEEE W@
The Senior Notes recognised in the consolidated statement of ERGE B RERNELRBAENT ¢
financial position were calculated as follows:

2022 2021
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Pt TET FET
Carrying amount at the beginning of year ~ REXMEREE 15,947,709 14,319,504
Additions #ig () 185,203 6,901,474
Interest expenses FEMAX 1,647,373 1,732,014
Payment for interest LHRFE (1,461,164) (1,371,756)
Repurchase of the senior notes EREEB L RE - (1,166,514)
Principal repayment BELR® (4,023,957) (4,467,013)
Carrying amount at the end of year RELRREE 12,295,164 15,947,709
Current portion BNERFR{A (9,622,708) (7,681,918)
Non-current portion JERNHREB (D 2,672,456 8,265,791

Note: BfEE -

(i) During the year, the 2017 November Notes and 2020 February (i) FRN - RNBAFERBEMN217F 11 AZE
Notes repurchased in the prior year were resold to third parties, FM2020F 2 R EEEENRE=F » KAEmR%E
with an aggregate principal of US$41,650,000 (equivalent to 5 41,650,000 2 7T ( 48 & 7 324,870,000 /&
HK$324,870,000) and an aggregate offering price of US$23,744,000 TT) ¢ HBEE{T(E 523,744,000 E T (MEE R
(equivalent to HK$185,203,000). 185,203,000/7T) °

The fair value of the Senior Notes as at 31 March 2022 amounted R2022%F3HA31H - BAEEENAFEE

to HK$9,515,210,000 (2021: HK$14,712,259,000). The fair value 9,515,210,000% 7T (20214F : 14,712,259,000

was calculated by using the quoted market price of the Senior EBIT) o A ENFERELEEEN20229F3 A31

Notes on 31 March 2022. BB ERZ HEE -

29. Medium-Term Notes 29. HHIERE

The Group issued the following medium-term notes in the current AREFBEARNEE RBEEERITIATHEE

and prior years: B

(i) On 18 April 2019, China South International completed the (i) AR R2019F4 A 18H =K EF H R
issuance of the first tranche of medium-term notes of 2019 THIBTT2019F £ — BT BHRE - Xg
(the “2019 First Tranche MTN") with a total principal amount 4a%E A A R#600,000,0007T ° 2019F 5
of RMB600,000,000 in the national inter-bank market of the —HAh HAZE I A FR A8 5% + BEN4A
PRC. The 2019 First Tranche MTN carried interest at the rate 18X BiR G R A3F - HExEE RN
of 8.5% per annum, were payable annually on 18 April in 2022F4 B2 H S o

arrears, and have a term of up to 3 years at maximum. The
amount was fully settled in April 2022.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZR R A T m
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29. Medium-Term Notes (Continued)

The medium-term notes recognised in the consolidated statement

of financial position were calculated as follows:

29. FHAERE (@)

ERERE MBI R RER T MREFEWT ¢

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FT
Carrying amount at the beginning of year REVINEREE 765,622 707,667
Addition 0 = -
Repayment =¥ - -
Interest expenses FIERX 63,489 59,051
Payment for interest SRS (61,975) (58,466)
Exchange realignment I 54, F8 5 32,246 57,370
Carrying amount at the end of year REF AR BREE 799,382 765,622
Current portion BIEAER D (799,382) (60,343)
Non-current portion JERNERER (D - 705,279

The fair value of the medium-term notes as at 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$797,524,000 (2021: HK$766,058,000). The

MR2022F3A31H "HEBENAFES
797,524,000 78 7T ( 2021 € : 766,058,000

fair value was calculated by using the quoted market price of the
medium-term notes on 31 March 2022.

30. Domestic Company Bonds
The Group issued the following domestic company bonds in the
current and prior years:

(i) On 2 August 2019 and 5 August 2019, China South
International completed the issuance of the first and second
tranches of domestic company bonds of 2019 (collectively
known as the “2019 First and Second Tranches DCB")
with a total principal amount of RMB1,400,000,000 on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange of the PRC. The 2019 First and
Second Tranches DCB carry interest at the rate of 8.00%
per annum, are payable annually on 1 August and 5 August
in arrears respectively, and have a term of up to 3 years
at a maximum. In July 2021, China South International
repurchased part of the domestic company bonds at an
aggregate principal amount of RMB12,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$14,452,000) from the open market.
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30. Domestic Company Bonds (Continued)
The domestic company bonds recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position were calculated as follows:

0. ERATESE®)

ERGEEMBMARERNBEARRESFTE
e

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Carrying amount at the beginning of year REVINEREE 1,733,137 1,605,448
Repurchase B8 (14,452) -
Interest expenses FERAX 142,010 126,054

Payment for interest SAFE (136,102) (128,397)
Exchange realignment M 5 B 72,665 130,032
Carrying amount at the end of year RF LR BRHEE 1,797,258 1,733,137
Current portion REAER 1D (1,797,258) (1,378,177)
Non-current portion FERNERER (D - 354,960

The fair value of the domestic company bonds as at 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$1,675,964,000 (2021: HK$1,590,622,000). The
fair value was calculated by using the quoted market price of the
domestic company bonds on 31 March 2022.

China South City Holdings Limited ERHIZER AR A T 291

2022963 A318 - MARBEF A FEE
1,675,964,00078 7T (20214F : 1,590,622,000/5
7L) o AFEETIFERREARREF 202243 A
31 TISER 2 REE -




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 March 2022 202243 A31H

EERIE
FREERER AR AR BBIWT

31. Deferred Tax 31.

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year

are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities EEHEAE
Coststo  Accelerated  Revaluation Revaluation of Capitalised
obtain tax  ofinvestment  Withholding property, plant interest
contracts  depreciation properties taxes and equipment expense Total
B4 nE - BE
HEA  MERERE RENEEH s R&EMR EALFES @it
Note HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
iz T#r TR T#R T#n TAT T#ER T#n
At 31 March 2021 R2021%3A318 64,218 1,022,789 8,264,192 432,120 88,132 560,007 10,431,458
Deferred tax charged to the consolidated  £RREGABHZANH
statement of profit or loss during the ~ EJETHA
year 10 (2418) 168,723 (54,305) 6,482 - 80,276 198,758
Exchange differences EREE 2,738 45,520 325,711 18,283 3,709 24,745 420,706
Gross deferred tax liabilties at #0223 A31BHERTE
31 March 2022 FERE 64,538 1,237,032 8,535,598 456,885 91,841 665,028 11,050,922
Deferred tax assets EERIEESE
Provision for Change in fair
Losses  impairment Provision for value of
available of trade,  Tax effect of impairment of financial
for offsetting otherand  government inventories  assets at fair
Tax effect ~ against future long-term  grants relating Accrued  and properties  value through
of LAT  taxable profits receivables to assets expense  held forsale  profit or loss Total
FEdARSE -
UREE  HRRE  EEEEZ FER  BBEEN
IHEER  ARERH BWsE BB BENR#E  AVEIRZ
HhEYE  NENEE HERE Hinxe FEtHR RERE SREEZN% it
Note HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000

(o3 Tin TR T TR FiEn T TR TR

At 31 March 2021 R2021453A318 1,535,848 611,922 128,752 997,457 74,018 6,498 4,492 3,358,987
Deferred tax credited/(charged) & RRFABERA

to the consolidated statement 5t/ (415 )4)

of profitor loss during the ~ EXERR

year 10 36,208 61,552 28,956 58,538 (6,684) 17,610 (1,374) 194,806
Exchange differences ERER 65173 26,657 5843 29,063 3,017 531 169 130,453
Gross deferred tax assetsat 202293 A31R4]

31 March 2022 BEENEEE 1,637,229 700,131 163,551 1,085,058 70,351 24,639 3,287 3,684,246
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31. Deferred Tax (Continued) 31. EEHIEE)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIEAE
Change in
fair value of
financial assets
Costs to Accelerated Revaluation Revaluation of Capitalised at fair value
obtain tax  ofinvestment ~ Withholding  property, plant interest  through profit
contracts ~ depreciation properties taxes  and equipment expense or loss Total
ERERN
ESaH % BE NFEFIRZ
fEA  MEBERE  RENEER BR  RRRER  AALNE SREEZNE @t

Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
(o3 TR TR TR TR TR TR TR TR

At 31 March 2020 20205374318 38,551 809,013 7,457,240 371,941 81,525 503,827 3,386 9,265,483
Deferred tax charged to the ~ ERRFABERA
consolidated statement of ~ FIBAIEL

profit or loss during the year %8 10 21,841 143,603 225817 29,103 - 14,872 (3,547) 431,689
Exchange differences ERER 3,826 70,173 581,135 31,076 6,607 41,308 161 734,286
Gross deferred tax liabilties at - 7220214331 B

31 March 2021 EEiERE

BfE 64,218 1,022,789 8,264,192 432,120 88,132 560,007 - 10,431,458
Deferred tax assets BEEHEBEE
Change in fair
Losses value of
available  Provisionfor T effect of financial
for offsetting impairment government Provision for ~ assets at fair
Taxeffect  against future oftrade  grants relating Accrued  impairmentof  value through
of LAT  taxable profits receivables 10 assets expense inventories  profit or loss Total
A HABEEL BiBRRN
TEER  RRERH RS BFHES NYEFIRZ
OhiBre  NENSE HERE H#e EitR%  FERERE eREEsHE 5t
Note HK$'000 HK$000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
itz TiEn A Fiin TR TAL Tiin TR TAL
At 31 March 2020 R202053A318 1,456,325 450,946 83,662 1,479,861 74,384 - - 3,550,178

Deferred tax credited/(charged) £ ARGABERA

to the consolidated statement 3t A,/ (115 ) i

of profitor loss during the ~~ FER

year 10 (37,302) 120,560 31,881 (593,794) (6,195) 6,296 4,492 (474,062)
Exchange differences EizE 116,825 40416 8,209 111,390 52829 202 - 282,871

Gross deferred tax assetsat ~ #20214F3A31R4)

31 March 2021 BETREEE 1,535,848 611,922 128,752 997 457 74,018 6,498 449 3,358,987
At the end of reporting period, the Group has unrecognised RBERARE - REEREBEENRER
tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$1,150,010,000 (2021: i I8 &5 18 & 1,150,010,000 75 7T (2021 4 -
HK$652,598,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting 652,598,000/870) + AR 8AAEEE - LAMKSHE
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses HSIEE R RIARRERT R A o
arose.
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31.

Deferred Tax (Continued)

At the end of reporting period, the Group also has unrecognised
tax losses in Mainland China of HK$1,127,187,000 (2021:
HK$1,194,347,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China.
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings generated from 1 January 2008. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008. In the current year, the Group accrued withholding tax
of HK$6,482,000 (2021: HK$29,103,000) for those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China.

As at 31 March 2022, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
approximately HK$8,904,505,000 (2021: HK$9,641,642,000). No
liability has been recognised in respect of these differences because
the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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31.

IEEBE (#)

RIREBIRE - AEBIAP B AREEEMR
TR BIBEE A1,127,187,00078 7T (2021 4
1,194,347,000/8 7T) - R —ERFAER
A] AR AR S R SR FE SR B R A o

AR ZEEREAEHREBERE - REHNMER
AIEL - BRRBA/IL A REHE B ERBUE T
NEHZ SR BHANTIRER - S ERZE
EEERRLERIAEE °

REF B ERMEHE - AR B AR 78
MR B D EEREIME E & TIRAI IR B ZABMR
10%TEI0FTSHE © 23 E 5200851 A1 A A
%o WiEAR2008F1 A1 BETEE 2 AF) o
fisl /R B B NS & B BT RLARE R ET B B ik
% BIPIRAREEINAMEHE - AEE/E
ARER5%10% ° FHt - ANEEAEFHF E
A K 37 BT B A B 2R 200845 1 A 1 B & Pk
WA S MBRBINAEE - RAFE -
7N 5 B 5T 12 TR 1 AT 15 6,482,000 7% 7T (2021
4 :29,103,000/87T) °

7202293 A310 - BEAR ZKREMRH
MEAERAECHEAGECEREZEA
A H 49 A 8,904,505,000 7 JT (2021 4F
9,641,642,000/% 7T ) - BLE R A B = FEHER
15 75 R A 7 5= B A 42 I 488 0 B M 22 B 2 BRE ]
RER 2R AT TE R 2 i8R AT e g B m] o
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32. Share Capital 32. BA&
Shares 8l
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FHT
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRAZ
8,091,892,848 (31 March 2021: 8,091,892,848/% (202143 A
8,091,892,848) ordinary shares 31H :8,091,892,848%) &
=] d 7,222,312 7,222,312
A summary of the movements in the Company’s share capital is as RABHRAZEBHENT ¢
follows:
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
ERTRAOHE &N
HK$'000
FAxT
At 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 R20219F3A31H &
R2022%3A31H 8,091,892,848 7,222,312
Share options R AE
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share FARA R a8 RN EI T E #1TH
options issued under the scheme are included in note 33 to the EAEE FH N I SRR AIMIRESS -

financial statements.
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33. Share Options B

33.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 4 September
2009 (the “2009 Share Option Scheme”) to provide incentives
and reward to selected eligible persons which include directors,
employees, officers, agents, consultants or representatives of
the Group for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Company or its subsidiaries. The 2009 Share Option Scheme
became effective on 30 September 2009 and, has expired on 13
September 2019.

Another share option scheme (the “2019 Share Option Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders in annual general meetings and
became effective on 13 September 2019 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date. Pursuant to the terms of the 2019 Share Option Scheme, the
Company may grant options at its discretion, to any eligible persons
which include executive and non-executive directors, employees,
officers, agents or consultants of the Company or any subsidiary for
their contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

The following share options were outstanding under the 2009
Share Option Scheme and 2019 Share Option Scheme during the

AT E R 200949 A 4 B % 4 8 IR 7 51 &
([2009F FE R AERT &1 1) » MM AR A RIS H KT ES
AREL RSB EERNEEREEERALT
(BREASEES  EE - SfHE  RE - E
IR ) IR IRE R B3R - 2009F AR AE AT
£/ 520094F9 A30H RBAER + REM2019%9 4
138 EIE -

IR B ([ 2019F BAUERT 81 X
REFRG LRGERRIE - XHN201969A
13AAR - Bz BBERTF(FRIFBUESK
TERERT) - IRIF2019F B AR AT BI BV 16K
ARBARBER(ARABREMHBAR2ES
(BEHTIFNTES) - BE - SARBE -
RIBRER) AR EBALETHBEE - Y
IS ARERNEREEETRL

RE AR IR2009F FEAHE ST BIM2019F RB AR
FHEIRARITEE 2 BT

year:
For the year ended 31 March
BE3ANALEE
2022 2021

Weighted Weighted
average exercise Number of  average exercise Number of
price per share options price per share options

BRmE R ME
BiTeEE BREHA HAEE BRERA
HK$ ‘000 HK$ '000
B T BT 3
At the beginning of year R 1.3855 203,795 14210 275,790
Granted during the year FREN 1.0000 55,000 - -
Lapsed during the year FEREHR 14719 (53,495) 1.6105 (61,495)
Forfeited during the year FRIEN 1.0000 (16,000) 1.0000 (10,500)
At the end of year NGRS 1.2817 189,300 1.3855 203,795
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33. Share Options (Continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2022

Number of options Exercise price

33. BRE®®)
R HASR - o 773 B AR A e 1T (6 1B K2 7T (3 1R
T

20224

Exercise period

BREHE TEE 1TEE
‘000 HK$ per share
TR sRET
5,000 1.75 22-08-2017 to 21-08-2022
201748 H22H £2022%8H21H
2,000 1.75 22-08-2018 to 21-08-2023
201848220 £202358H21H
40,000 1.52 03-07-2017 to 02-07-2022
201757H3HE2022%7H2H
40,000 1.52 03-07-2018 to 02-07-2023
2018F7H3H £2023F7H2H
4,000 1.81 13-04-2018 to 12-04-2023
20184 H13H 2023548121
4,000 1.81 13-04-2019 to 12-04-2024
20194 H13H £2024%F4812H
13,100 1.00 07-02-2021 to 06-02-2025
202152 H7HE2025%286H
13,100 1.00 07-02-2022 to 06-02-2025
202252 H7HZ202552H6H
13,100 1.00 07-02-2023 to 06-02-2025
2023F2H7H%E2025%286H
10,000 1.00 29-06-2022 to 28-06-2026
20226 H29H 20266 H28H
10,000 1.00 29-06-2023 to 28-06-2026
20236 H29H £2026F6H28H
10,000 1.00 29-06-2024 to 28-06-2026
202456 H29H £202656 H28H
25,000 1.00 31-03-2022 to 30-03-2026
202253 H31H£202653H30H
189,300
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33. Share Options (Continued)
2021

Number of options

Exercise price

33. BRE®)
20214

Exercise period

fE S B 1T E kRt
‘000 HK$ per share
Fh& BT
39,995 1.528 13-01-2017 to 12-01-2022
201791 B 1382202291 A12H
4,250 1.75 22-08-2016 to 21-08-2021
201648 A22HZ=202148A21H
6,250 1.75 22-08-2017 to 21-08-2022
20174E8 A22HE202248H218
2,000 1.75 22-08-2018 to 21-08-2023
201848 22 H=202348A21H
40,000 1.52 03-07-2017 to 02-07-2022
201797 A3B 5202247 H2H
40,000 1.52 03-07-2018 to 02-07-2023
201847 3B £2023%7H2H
4,000 1.81 13-04-2018 to 12-04-2023
201844 1382023448 12H
4,000 1.81 13-04-2019 to 12-04-2024
201994 81382024947 12H
21,100 1.00 07-02-2021 to 06-02-2025
202142 78 %E2025%2 A6H
21,100 1.00 07-02-2022 to 06-02-2025
202242 A7B%2025%2 61
21,100 1.00 07-02-2023 to 06-02-2025
202342 A7B 202592 A6H
203,795
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33.

Share Options (Continued)

On 29 June 2021, a total of 55,000,000 share options under the
2019 option Scheme were granted to an Executive Director and
certain management in respect of their services to the Group. These
share options have an exercise price of HK$1.00 per share and an
exercise period ranging from 29 June 2022 to 28 June 2026.

The fair value of the 55,000,000 share options granted was
HK$6,134,000, of which the Group recognised a share option
expense of HK$4,827,000 during the current year.

The fair value of the share options granted on 29 June 2021 was
estimated as at the date of grant by Vigers Appraisal and Consulting
Limited, using a binomial model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. The following
table lists the inputs to the model.

Share price at the date of grant (HK$) 0.82
Exercise price (HK$) 1.00
Dividend yield (%) 5.40
Expected volatility (%) 37.06
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.68
Exercise multiple 2.30

The expected life of the options was based on the historical data
and was not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that
may occur. The expected volatility was determined based on the
movement of the share price of the Company since its listing, which
may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other feature of
the options granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair
value.

The Group recognised a share option expense of HK$6,758,000
(2021: HK$6,310,000) for the year ended 31 March 2022.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 189,300,000
share options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme, which
represented approximately 2.34% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue of 189,300,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and additional share capital of HK$242,630,000 (before
issue expenses).

33.

BREE

2021566 H298 - 1RIE2019F AR 2l
—ZHPTEBERETERASRESHASE
Fr 12 1 /9 BR 75 3% H & ££55,000,000 17 B8 B 4 -
ZEBRENITEEASR1.008TT - 1T6EH
£5202246 A29H E2026%F6A28H -

Ffr #% H 55,000,000 7 BE K #E 2 A FE B
6,134,000/ 7T + HR AL B E R AFENER
BERS#ERA S & ££4,827,000/5 7T °

7202146 A29 A K MR EN A TE - B
RETEEFHARABNE L B HRAZERN
BRAEZEEREETH - EHEZEBR
RS L B ) IR R MG » TRIIRATAER
MEZ =

AR B ZRECET) 0.82
TEE(BIT) 1.00
% 8.2 (%) 5.40
TE BB 1% (%) 37.06
A [ P M 2R (%) 0.68
TEfEE 2.30

BRZENFERFRDRELBEFL - RRY
BURAIBEEAERMITRIBN - MEKEETIIRE
ETEMERRRBREZESMERE - RU=

HRER - HEATES - LREEFELL
AR SAD 1 <

HZE2022F3A31HILFE - AEERERER
#F 2 46,758,000/ £ (20214F : 6,310,000/
JL) °

REEERE - RIBERESSE - X2FHF
189,300,0007 R1TEIEAR#E - HERARAFE
HEZEITRMDA2.34% © RIBARFRFRE
REETE  2EITERTEERESSER
N2 ) E£17189,300,0000% 58 5N 33 A% K2 FESNAR
78242,630,000/8 7T (FOBREATHIZAN) o
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33.

34.

35.

Share Options (Continued)

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 189,300,000 share options outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme, which represented approximately 1.65% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

Other Reserves

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current year and the prior year are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 176 to 178
of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Sino-foreign
joint venture enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group's
subsidiaries which are established in the PRC has been transferred
to the statutory reserve which is restricted as to use.

The capital reserve represents additional contribution made by the
shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries and, in the case of an
acquisition of an additional equity interest in a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary, the difference between the cost of acquisition and the
non-controlling interests acquired.

The revaluation reserve represents the difference arising from
change in use from owner-occupied properties to investment
properties carried at fair value.

Disposal of Subsidiaries

During the year, the Group disposed its 100% interest in certain
subsidiaries to independent third parties at a consideration of
HK$68,967,000 together with a waiver of debt amounting to
HK$50,319,000.
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33.

34.

35.

BREE

RZEVBREIES B - RIBBERETE
RAF)E 189,300,000 RITEEERRHE - FAER
AAAElEBEZEITRNDA1.65% ©

Hitf#E
ERAEERAFREFHNHEREZHER
IR IR KRF176 2178 E MG A ERE R
ﬁq o

REBEPINEELEBBERIER - AREIE
TEHERINMBARNTOMNEEEEE
REZRHIMEERES

BEAREEEARRRME AR 2 RERIEL & RESN
TE  ARENRB-FKIFEREME R BRREIN
Pt - WA AN B PT WFR FE R I e s W
E®

EhHEEEERZZEEMHERNEE /AR
FEFIRMAREYEMELHZR

BREMNB QT

FR - AEEBA68,967,000/8 TR EFE T
NEN00% MR L ERBIE =T - KRR
#£50,319,0007 LRI EHFA R ©
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35. Disposal of Subsidiaries (Continued) 35. REMBEARE)
The aggregate assets and liabilities in respect of the above disposals A FRENEELTNE BRI
were as follows:

2022
HK$'000
FTHET
Net assets disposed of: FEEZRE
Current assets MEEE 17,505
Non-current assets ERBEE 190,187
Current liabilities nEEE (195,029)
12,663
Exchange fluctuation reserve P 5 Eh (i (292)
Waiver of debt BEEERR 50,319
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries BEKNBARZEF 6,277
68,967
Satisfied by: SRAR
Cash receivables IR & EUGRIE 33,291
Cash Re 35,676
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and bank balances in respect FHAREWNBARNR e RRITFEFERAD
of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: MTEATR
2022
HK$'000
FTHET
Cash and bank balances disposed of FTRIRR & RIRITIF X 1,647
Net inflow of cash and bank balances in respect of EEEWE AR ARG RIRTT
the disposal of subsidiaries FROFMA 34,029
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35. Disposal of Subsidiaries (Continued)

35.

During the year, the Group disposed its 100% interest in

subsidiaries, which mainly held completed properties held for sale
in Xian, Hefei and Zhengzhou. Therefore, the Group regarded these

disposals as sale of properties and its related cash inflow as cash

generated from operations.

The aggregate assets and liabilities in respect of above disposals

were as follows:

BEMB QT @)

FRN - AEERETETEERALR - 5EHR
ENIFE B R T AFEEYEAME AR 100%8)
i o At - AEERRAEERIEMELE
BAREEFEFHHRSMA °

HALREMEEMATMBEEZNOT

2022
HK$'000
FET
Net assets disposed of: FEEZRE
Current assets MENEE 738,537
Non-current assets IERBEE 901,987
Current liabilities mENaE (1,323,839)
316,685
Exchange fluctuation reserve B 5,082 Eh (i 10,047
Waiver of debt B R 1,495,009
Satisfied by: SRAR
Cash receivable IR EUNGIE 1,494,296
Cash B4 1,013,376

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and bank balances in respect

of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows:

FHREMBARNEE RBTERFRAD
ranTs

2022

HK$'000

FET

Cash and bank balances disposed of TR e RIRITER 49,780
Net inflow of cash and bank balances in respect of the  FEEEWEB R RIFFAMIRE MIRTTERK

disposal of subsidiaries FmA 963,596
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36. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 36. EBEERERMHE

Flows
(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) FEHFRERS
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to FRN - AEEHEBEZHEREER@NE
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$1,510,000 RAEEERHEEABZIFRSIEIND A
(2021: HK$112,293,000) and HK$1,510,000 (2021: £1,510,00078 70 (20214F : 112,293,000
HK$112,293,000), respectively, in respect of lease 7 7t ) & 1,510,000 7 JT ( 2021 4 :
arrangements for property. 112,293,000/ 7T) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEZTHELENEEEH
activities
Interest- Interest payable
bearing bank included in
and other Senior Medium- Domestic trade and Lease
borrowings notes term notes company bonds  other payables liabilities
EAREM
HERTR SRR FEAFER
Hitfe & BERE PHRE &% WIERFIE HELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR THET TERL TERL TERL TAR
At 1 April 2021 202154818 18,898,973 15,947,709 765,622 1,733,137 45,267 88,874
Changes from financing &R 47
cash flows 1,837,192 (5,299,918) (61,975) (150,554) (1,405,457) (71,503)
New leases HHEE = = - - - 1,510
Interest expense FlEEZ 1,647,373 63,489 142,010 1,556,252 3,795
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ FE A (632,647) = = = = =
Exchange realignment B 5 58% 980,054 - 32,246 72,665 3,795 2,595
At 31 March 2022 120225378318 21,083,572 12,295,164 799,382 1,797,258 199,857 25,271
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36.

Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows (Continued)

REREREBRMEEGE

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BMETHELENEEEE (»)
activities (Continued)
Interest- Interest payable
bearing bank included in
and other Senior Medium- Domestic trade and Lease
borrowings notes term notes  company bonds  other payables liabilities
85 RAM
SERITR BARE JERFIER
AfbfEE BEFE PHZE &5 HIERTIS HEaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TATL TAL TATL TiEr TATL
At 1 April 2020 202064718 17121113 14,319,504 707,667 1,605,448 40,246 171,653
Changes from financing &% & H%E
cash flows 621,760 (83,747) (58,466) (128,397) (1,305,432) (84,968)
New leases #HE - - - - - 112,093
Interest expense FERZ 21,545 1,732,014 59,051 126,054 1,307,191 8,450
Gains on repurchase of ~ EEEERE 2 s
the senior notes - (20,062) - - - -
Losses on redemption/ ~ fEE] /EIEE A E T
repurchase of asset-  EHEIE
backed securities 9,111 - - - - -
Revision of a lease term 7R & BRI ] 1d
arising from a change 2 2 B):EHMHA
in the non-cancellable ~ HIEE
period of a lease - - - - - (126,639)
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ [RE —F1B A7) (111,937) - - - - -
Exchange realignment & 5§95 1,237,381 - 57,370 130,032 3,262 8,085
At 31 March 2021 R202143A318 18,898,973 15,947,709 765,622 1733137 4567 88,874
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36. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 36. mMEBRERERMT ®
Flows (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases () HEARESREH
The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated AGERERERNEERRESRE N
statement of cash flows is as follows: T
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FT
Within operating activities A RSN 8,516 8,003
Within investing activities FTARE RSN = -
Within financing activities STABE RSN 71,503 84,968
80,019 92,971
37. Pledge of Assets 37. EEEHA
Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group's bank and NAEENEEERFNRITREMEESE
other borrowings are included in notes 13, 14, 15, 20, 24 and 27 BRI RS TRARMIFET13 ~ 14~ 15~ 20~ 24 %27 »

to the financial statements.
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38. Contingent Liabilities 38. HARAE

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

RIBEEF - BREARGEBORAR R
T

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Guarantees given to banks in connection AT & ERABE M
with facilities granted to: IRITHRAEA IR -
Third parties E=7 10,939,159 16,295,692

The Group has provided guarantees in respect of banking facilities
granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group's
properties held for sale and held for finance lease. Pursuant to the
terms of the guarantees, if there is default of the loan payments by
the purchasers and lessees, the Group is responsible for repaying
the outstanding loans together with accrued interest thereon and
any penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers and lessees to banks.
The Group is then entitled to take over the legal titles and usage
rights of the related properties. For trade centre units and residential
properties sold, the guarantee periods commence from the dates
of grant of the relevant loans and ends when the purchasers obtain
the building ownership certificates which will then be pledged to
the banks. For residential and commercial properties under finance
lease, the guarantees will be released upon the full repayment of
loan principals by the lessees.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the financial
year in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities
granted to the purchasers and lessees of the Group’s properties.
The Directors consider that in case of default on payments, the net
realisable value of the related properties can cover the repayment of
the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest
and penalty, and therefore the fair value of the guarantees is not
significant.
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38.

39.

Contingent Liabilities (Continued)

In prior year, the Group has pledged deposits amounting to
HK$1,833,960,000 in favour of the Obligors to secure their
obtaining and use of the Loans, in connection with certain
cooperation projects in which the Group and the Obligors jointly
participated in. Pursuant to the terms of the pledges, if there is
any default of the Loans by Obligors, the banks have the right
to dispose of the Pledged Deposits. The Obligors must repay the
Loans so as to release the pledges within 3 working days of receipt
of such request from the Group and have provided counter-
guarantees to the Group for all losses which may suffer due to the
Obligors’ default of the Loans. The Directors consider that due to
the aforementioned counter-guarantees and that Obligors have no
default in the past, therefore the fair value of the guarantees is not
significant.

The Loans were fully repaid and the pledges were released
accordingly during the current year.

Commitments
The Group had the following commitments at the end of the
reporting period:

38.

39.

RAREE®)

REF - AEEEEHBE051,833,960,000%
TTRER - ERAEB LR S EE LS IER
BB &S AEERAE A E R - IRIBEEIFIER
MREBANERAEMEL - MRITEER
ERERGER - EHANBREEIREBZEK
R E % A3 TR REE B RARR R
BEW - EEALE EAEBIRERER
FEREBAEZNMEINRBEK - ESFR
B AR ERMRER  BEBABESLET
R4S - FLZBEROATFELTERK -

ERCNAFERERTZBEEMEENERID
fRRR -

ZS
REERBERE FHIRSE

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Contracted, but not provided for: DETAVBE AR -
Properties under development BERAYE 13,512,507 15,429,066

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZR R A T
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40. Related Party Transactions 40. BEALREF

(i) Outstanding balances with related parties (i) EHBREATZBENRESES
As at 31 March 2021, due to non-controlling shareholders of 202143 A318 - 2REMK BB ER
subsidiaries included in trade and other payables amounting IR I ET A 5 K& B fth FE AT RN IE
to HK$398,767,000 was unsecured, interest-free and had no 485 %A 5398,767,000/8 7T + %k IH A
fixed terms of repayment. As at 31 March 2022, due to non- IR - 0B REEEERHR - 72022
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries included in trade and F3A318 ' REMEB R AR R SEZER
other payables was fully settled. BERFIBF AE S REAENFIEE 25

KA o
(i) Compensation of key management (i) AEEFTEEIE A BN

personnel of the Group

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET T
Short term employee benefits HHEB R 25,199 41,744
Post-employment benefits BER2 1B 60 71
Share-based payments LARE 2= 4 B O BE IR F <2 2,055 2,743
Total compensation paid to key XN TFEEEEABNT LR
management personnel 27,314 44,558
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note E=PerE — P BEE RN MBS ERENAE
8 to the financial statements. 8
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41. Financial Instruments by Category 41. eRTASE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RIERR - SEEMITANERRENT :
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
2022 20224
Financial assets SRIEE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
BREZAATFEIRZEHEE

Designated as Mandatorily Financial assets

such upon initial designated measured at
recognition assuch  amortised cost Total
SRR REHERATE
EEA BHETR ZEMEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET THET TR
Trade receivables EWE SRR - - 2,351,409 2,351,409
Other long-term receivables Hth R WA - - 560,758 560,758
Financial assets included in STABNFE - EthERFIER
prepayments, other receivables and ~ HtEEz SRIEE
other assets - - 3,849,726 3,849,726
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BBEZAATFEIE 7 EREE
profit or loss 3,325 - - 3,325
Cash and bank balances B RFTER - - 4,681,068 4,681,068
3,325 - 11,442,961 11,446,286
Financial liabilities SRIEE
Financial liabilities
at fair value
through profit
or loss
ERERUATE
Flfkz e A B
Mandatory Financial liabilities
designated measured at
as such amortised cost Total
R A
BEEERA EZESRAEE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TEx TEx THER
Financial liabilities included in trade and T AE 5 & E b FE FIER
other payables SHERE = 9,742,448 9,742,448
Financial liabilities at fair value through EBIEZUAATETIEZ
profit or loss cRAR 14,231 - 14,231
Interest-bearing bank and other HESITREAMBEE
borrowings - 21,083,572 21,083,572
Senior notes BEZRE - 12,295,164 12,295,164
Medium-term notes HHEIZ R - 799,382 799,382
Domestic company bonds BANARIES - 1,797,258 1,797,258
Other long-term payables Hth REERFIR = 15,413 15,413
14,231 45,733,237 45,747,468
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41. Financial Instruments by Category (Continued)

2021

Financial assets

41. eRMIBESE )
20215
SREE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

BREENATEIIR SRAE

Designated as Mandatorily  Financial assets
such upon initial designated measured at
recognition assuch  amortised cost Total
ENS R REHR AT R
HER RHIEE R ZEREE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T AT THT
Trade receivables EWE GERT - - 824,705 824,705
Other long-term receivables Hit REE MR - - 807,013 807,013
Financial assets included in STATERFOE - At R IE R E A
prepayments, other receivablesand ~ EEZ SREE
other assets - - 1,810,434 1,810,434
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BBESUATEE 2 REE
profit or loss 9,214 12,069 - 21,283
Cash and bank balances Be RBTHER - - 9,442,782 9,442,782
9,214 12,069 12,884,934 12,906,217
Financial liabilities SRS E
Financial liabilities
at fair value
through profit or loss
FBBERAATE
N ERAR
Mandatorily  Financial liabilities
designated measured at
as such amortised cost Total
e ST
BWEIEER  FIECERARE mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FET
Financial liabilities included in trade STAE S R EAMERFIER
and other payables ERERE - 8,332,834 8,332,834
Financial liabilities at fair value through B iBIEZE U A FENERZ
profit or loss TRAE 19,010 - 19,010
Interest-bearing bank and other FERITREMEE
borrowings - 18,898,973 18,898,973
Senior notes BAERE - 15,947,709 15,947,709
Medium-term notes hHIRIE - 765,622 765,622
Domestic company bonds BAARIES - 1,733,137 1,733,137
Other long-term payables Hth REERFIR - 36,044 36,044
19,010 45,714,319 45,733,329
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42. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 42. $BTEZAFERAFESHE
Instruments B
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial AEEzeBTAZEIMERA T EGREHER
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that AN HEREATERINAT
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:
Carrying amounts Fair values
BRMEE ATE
2022 2021 2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FAT FET FAxT
Senior notes BERE 12,295,164 15,947,709 9,515,210 14,712,259
Medium-term notes R EAZEE 799,382 765,622 797,524 766,058
Domestic company bonds BRNRARMES 1,797,258 1,733,137 1,675,964 1,590,622
14,891,804 18,446,468 11,988,698 17,068,939

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets, financial liabilities included in
trade and other payables and the current portion of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s management is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The management reports directly to the Directors
and the audit committee. At each reporting date, management
analyzes the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation
is reviewed and approved by the Directors. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for

interim and annual financial reporting.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZR R A T “
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42.

Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the other long-term receivables, other long-term
payables and non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group's
own non-performance risk in interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings as at 31 March 2022 was assessed to be insignificant.
The fair values of the other long-term receivables, other long-term
payables and non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings are not materially different from their carrying

amounts.

The fair values of senior notes, medium-term notes and domestic
company bonds are calculated by using the quoted market prices
on 31 March 2022.

The Group's financial instruments which comprised financial assets/
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss were measured at fair
value. The Group’s financial assets/liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss comprised unlisted investments, wealth management
products and interest rate swaps. The fair values of the unlisted
investments have been estimated using the valuation methodology
according to the price of recent investments. The fair values of
wealth management products were based on the quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period. The Group signed interest
rate swaps with banks in Mainland China. These agreements were
measured using valuation techniques including the net present
value of the cash flow model. The models incorporate various
market observable inputs including the credit quality of the financial
institution, risk-free interest rate, interest rate and spot prices.
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42. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 42. $BTEZAFERAFESHE

Instruments (Continued) B
Fair value hierarchy AEEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy AEEZSRTEMNRATENEERINTE -

of the Group's financial instruments:
Assets measured at fair value: BALEFAERZEE

Fair value measurement using

ERARDFENE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs

RS EATER EAFUBE
ZHE LPN ¢ BARE

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(SE18) (5828R) (5838R) ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
As at 31 March 2022 72022434311
Unlisted investments FETRE - - 3,325 3,325
As at 31 March 2021 #2021%3A31H
Unlisted investments FETERE - - 9,214 9,214
Wealth management products BHER 12,069 - - 12,069
12,069 - 9,214 21,283
Liabilities measured at fair value: BAVEFAEZEE:
Fair value measurement using
ERRATLETE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
ERTS EATHE EAFTIBE
ZHE BAHE BAYE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(E18) (%528R) (5834R) ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THI THT THT THT
As at 31 March 2022 72022434311
Interest rate swaps FEBHAER - 14,231 - 14,231
As at 31 March 2021 72021434311
Interest rate swaps FEBHAER - 19,010 - 19,010
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42. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements

between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer into or out of Level 3

for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2021 Nil).

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

As at 31 March 2022

42. ERTEZAFERAFEERE
B
DNEEZEHR @
RER 2HEERLBABNLTENERN
1R RE2HA 2 R R A R
HEEIHFI(20214F « ) o

EHREATEHZSRMEARE
720223 A31H

Fair value measurement
using quoted prices in
active markets

(Level 1)
ERNERMS 2
WMENRAFETE
(B—%)

HK$'000

FHET

Senior notes
Medium-term notes
Domestic company bonds

ERRS
e
HARFES

9,515,210
797,524
1,675,964

11,988,698

As at 31 March 2021

720213 A31H

Fair value measurement
using quoted prices in
active markets

(Level 1)
EARNERT S
HREMRTETE
(BE—#%)

HK$'000

FHET

Senior notes
Medium-term notes
Domestic company bonds

BRRE
GBS
BEARRES

14,712,259
766,058
1,590,622

17,068,939
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43. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 43. BEREKBEREBFERBER

Policies

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise bank and
other borrowings, senior notes, medium-term notes, domestic
company bonds and cash and short-term deposits. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets
such as trade receivables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign exchange risk.
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarized below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the
Group'’s borrowings. The interest rates and terms of repayment of
the Group'’s borrowings are disclosed in notes 27, 28, 29 and 30 to
the financial statements. The Group's policy is to obtain the most
favourable interest rates available for its borrowings.

The Group constantly assesses the interest rate risk it encounters to
decide whether it is required to hedge against the possible interest
rate risk that may arise.

On 31 March 2022, if the interest rate of bank borrowings had
increased/decreased by 0.5% and all other factors remained
unchanged, the profit after tax for the year of the Group would
have decreased/increased by approximately HK$39,348,000 (2021:
HK$40,350,000).

FEEIZeMIABERTIEMES €
EEE  FHER  RAXREFREERE
HER - ZEeMITATERTEEEKES
e AKENEAESREMEREE - HIW0
BERUEEBEEELNEEE SRR

AEBEBRTAMEEAN T EZRRBREMNEXME
% EERR RBETEBIIMNERR - &
SHERE B SRR ROBRRETRN R
E - R ERRERIT o

== b
AEEEBRONERREZHASEENEEHR
B o AEEEE TR KIE KA B R R
5127 - 28 - 29307 FE - AEEMBURE A
HEEBRSHAFIRIFIZE o

A& B 45 A AT Ak P B B O 1 3 &L B DARE =
BHREZEMATREELN M RER o

M2022%3A318 @ HRITIEENFR LF
TRE0.5% RFIAEMERRIFTE - BIAREE
REEREFBAGERD 1 IN4739,348,000
7#7C(20214F : 40,350,000 7T) °
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43. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 43. BIEEREEBERBEEG)
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk S8R
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BatBENFELDH
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRERTERASEEEERNEELEN
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which EaEERRERE  RIEEMITBEIELTE
is mainly based on past due information unless other information BEEINRARSINT - ZIEERREZERNBE
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging BEE  UREEIANBMFRENHE -

classification as at 31 March.

As at 31 March 2022 72022438316
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8A 8 E{E R
AHEEER AHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
e — (7 g &= it s %
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FEx TERT TEx TEr
Other long-term receivables Hip R EEYEIE 703,092 - - - 703,092
Trade receivables* JEWE ZBRa0 - - - 2,773,572 2,773,572
Financial assets included in STATRRFIE - AfhfE
prepayments, other receivables WHRIE R At B
and other assets SREE 3,868,580 - - = 3,868,580
Cash and bank balances R RFTER 4,681,068 = - - 4,681,068
9,252,740 - - 2773572 12,026312
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43. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 43. BIEEREEBERBEEG)

Policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021

EERB )

7202193 A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A& 2 {HERR
BHEEERE BHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
PEER— e = BER= BLHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL THT THT T
Other long-term receivables Htbh R EEUIE 818,572 - - = 818,572
Trade receivables* FEWE 5 R - - - 1,274,822 1,274,822
Financial assets included in STABRFIE - i
prepayments, other receivables WeBRIE R B ft B Y
and other assets SREE 1,823,020 - - - 1,823,020
Cash and bank balances Be KRN 9,442,782 - - - 9,442,782
12,084,374 - - 1,274,822 13,359,196
& For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified & RAEBERAB A ERERERE SRR -

approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is
disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

To manage the risk, deposits are mainly placed with banks with
high credit quality. The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. For the sale of properties, the Group
has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to buyers with
appropriate financial strength and appropriate percentage of down
payments. The Group would not release the property ownership
certificates to the buyers before the buyers fully settle the payment.
It also has other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual trade
receivable to ensure that adequate provisions for impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. With exposure spread over
a number of counterparties and customers, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 22 to
the financial statements.

SRR RIS B B RS SR A 22
-

REERAR AEEIEREREASEEDR
NIRRT - AREERMERAFENE=T
TR  HEYMETE - AEEEETK
RERAEAEENMBENRINEZEENL
BRMNRNERIELHEE - EERZBUBERN
KA AEETEMHEZEHEER - ARE T
A HoAth B YRR Fr ARE (R SR AN BRAE 45 he UK 21 380
HAFOR © WO AEBETEREMESREAANE
ZIEWER A AT I @ & 28 - SAREGR LN AT 1)
SRELRANBERBESIR - AEBELEE
MEREHEERR - MAESNRERDBE
SRZXGHFREP °

B B R 5 AR AR A 15 B I PR A
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31 March 2022 202243 A31H

43. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 43.

Policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of bank and other
borrowings, lease liabilities, senior notes, medium-term notes and
domestic company bonds.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted

payments, was as follows:

Mg mE ke EE B R R BUR (5)

TENE & E R
AEENEBLEBEARTRAMER A
SRE BERE PHRERENAFRE
% BRASHEEREIEZHOTE -

AEERHFEMREH SR E BN (%
BERARFRENTOMT

2022
Within One to Two to Beyond
On demand one year two years five years five years Total
EZX - E-E-f  $CELE nE# @3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL THERL TERT TERL TERT
Interest-bearing bank and other SRR RAMEE
borrowings - 10,242,747 6,960,923 2,715,030 4,792,931 24,711,631
Senior notes BEZE - 10,405,246 3,041,123 - - 13,446,369
Medium-term notes HHERE - 802,683 - - - 802,683
Domestic company bonds BRARES = 1,848,316 = = = 1,848,316
Financial liabilities included in trade ~~ FFAJENI B S REMEFRFE
and other payables (excluding lease ~ M2 RBE(TEHERE)
liabilities) - 9,732,589 - - - 9,732,589
Lease liabilities EERRE - 11,112 5317 4,971 - 21,400
Financial guarantees granted to HE=ARTHBER
third parties 11,353,881 - - - - 11,353,881
Total @it 11,353,881 33,042,693 10,007,363 2,720,001 4,792,931 61,916,869
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43. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 43. BIEEREEBERBEEG)
Policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESREE )
2021
Within Oneto Two to Beyond
On demand one year two years five years five years Total
EEX —FR  F-RZF E°ZRF il &3t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR TR TR TR TR

Interest-bearing bank and other SRR REAMEE

borrowings - 9132378 5690607 2,500,828 5000017 22,323,830
Senior notes BEZE - 8348831 8914828 3,041,123 - 20304782
Medium-term notes HEZE - 120,686 772,908 - - 893,504
Domestic company bonds BRARAES - 265,037 1,834,381 - - 2,099,418

Financial liabilities included in trade 5T AERE 2 REMENTIE
and other payables (excuding lease K& BEE(TEHEEE)

liabilities) 398,767 7,881,237 - - - 8,280,004
Lease liabilities HERRE - 69,180 10,157 14,091 1957 95,385
Financial guarantees granted to HE=RRTHBER

third parties 16,295,692 - - - - 16,295,692
Total ek 16,694,459 25,817,349 17,222,881 5,556,042 5,001,974 70,292,705

Foreign exchange risk SN R B

The Group only conducts business within Mainland China. Except REBEEFBEARELEEL - REFNFS -
for interest payables, repayment of foreign currency loans obtained AEEFEE L EMSMESHINEEFRAE
to finance the Group’s operations and any potential future dividends R DA ELBS I A B AT A 1) EL AR PR S K & A 1a]
of its subsidiaries that might be declared to their shareholders, BEREN  AEBAREHBA - EXREER
the bulk of the Group’s revenue, capital investment and expenses FAXHUARE RSB - REBwKRIER
are denominated in RMB. At the date of approval of the financial Hy - NSRBI 7E R BRI 3L SOt AN BE B T R
statements, the Group has not experienced any difficulties in FE - KRB EEMEE - F - NEBHER
obtaining government approval for its necessary foreign exchange 1I1%5] TEE0.7{EETTMINERIFE K A IEL
purchases. During the year, the Group entered into certain forward SR AINGEE [ Bz o

currency contract with bank to hedge the amount of US$70 million
of the foreign exchange exposure.
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43. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets
and liabilities).

43.

Mg mE ke EE B R R BUR (5)

471 BEE JL B (4
TRBREMEE S ERBTENBERT -
7 S R B R P SR iR A RSB R g 7]
HABEBNRBRE  BRBRAFENES D
REwEEREENATELBEBHE -

Changesin Increase/(decrease)
RMB rate in profit before tax
BiATA
ARMERSH #n,/ i)
% HK$'000
FET

2022 20225
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB BT E AR BEsS 9)
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB AT AR KSR 5 9
2021 20214
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB BT AREESS 5 93
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB BT AREER 5 (93)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and

maximize shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

m ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 4R

BEXEE

AEEEAEENERARRR TRALAEE
FEZRISRERL RN UHHEE
BEIERBEREABIREE

REBRBLEB LS B RAAEE Er R R
FEh BEEHBARNEBUHEEDARE - A%
RHAAREALEE  AEETRSAERR
RIRER RSN - RRFIREE RN IEITH
B& o A& B B 7B 8 SF A ] SN RME N EY & KR
TE o B E2022F K2021F3A31HLEFE - I
BENEAREEMNBRE  BERIER -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 March 2022 202243 A31H

43. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 43. BIEEREEBERBEEG)
Policies (Continued)
Capital management (Continued) BREE(®)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio (net debt to total REEFRAEAA G R (ERFRERAERE
equity) and total liabilities to total assets ratio. Net debt includes BINBEHEELRETENER - B FHE
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes, medium BREGTERITREMEE - BAFE  PHE
term notes and domestic company bonds, less cash and bank BERARRMEFRE® RRITER - RIE
balances. The gearing ratios and total liabilities to total assets ratio as HR - BARAGELEREEHEELERNT
at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:
2022 2021
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bisx FET FET
Interest-bearing bank and FTRRITREAMEER
other borrowings 27 21,083,572 18,898,973
Senior notes BERE 28 12,295,164 15,947,709
Medium-term notes FEIRIR 29 799,382 765,622
Domestic company bonds RARRES 30 1,797,258 1,733,137
Less: Cash and bank balances B e MIRITE 24 (4,681,068) (9,442,782)
Net debt ERFER 31,294,308 27,902,659
Total equity TS AAER 45,089,972 41,296,550
Total assets BEE 124,387,424 120,542,930
Total liabilities wam 79,297,452 79,246,380
Net debt/Total equity ERBELX 69% 68%
Total liabilities/Total assets BEYEELE 64% 66%
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44. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

44,

DB B EARR R

31 March 2022
202243 H31H

31 March 2021
202143 A31H

HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 2,960 3,762
Investments in subsidiaries B AR E 3,246,707 3,246,707
Total non-current assets IERBEERT 3,249,667 3,250,469
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Due from subsidiaries FEUR BT B A R FRIE 20,347,815 20,966,736
Prepayments, other receivables and other TERIRRIE  Eofth fE WOFRIE K
assets Hitv&E 53 -
Cash and bank balances e MIBITFR 4,165 25,908
Total current assets MEVEERTE 20,352,033 20,992,644
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables, accruals and deposits EAbEAFIE - FERTIER R
received Bz e 632,543 121,532
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5B E{TREMEE 460,000 -
Senior notes BEERE 9,622,708 7,864,433
Total current liabilities ik =K FEE 10,715,251 7,985,965
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEEE 9,636,782 13,006,679
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEZ%ERTHER 12,886,449 16,257,148
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Senior notes BEZR 2,672,456 8,621,921
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 52 BT M EMEE 2,606,880 -
Total non-current liabilities e AERTE 5,279,336 8,621,921
Net assets EEFRE 7,607,113 7,635,227
EQUITY s
Share capital &N 7,222,312 7,222,312
Reserves (note) HAb R E () 384,801 412,915
Total equity R R 7,607,113 7,635,227

CHENG CHUNG HING ZR#A 8

Director &%
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44. Statement of Financial Position of the Company 44. 2@ #RRE (50

(Continued)
Note:

A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows:

i3]

E

ARZRESBREENT -

Share option Retained

reserve profits Total

B ERE REFE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET FET

At 1 April 2020 720204718 78,433 617,091 695,524
Loss for the year FREE - (46,162) (46,162)
Equity-settled share option arrangements  bAfEzE4E E RIBEIRAE L HE 6,310 - 6,310
Lapse of share options RE AR A 2K 3K (22,936) 22,936 -
Final 2020 dividend paid B 142020F KA S - (242,757) (242,757)

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 M2021F3A318 K

2021564 °1H 61,807 351,108 412,915

Profit for the year FERAHE = 207,885 207,885
Equity-settled share option arrangements — bAtEzS 45 & ROBE RS 20 BE 6,758 - 6,758
Lapse of share options s AR e 2k 2 (20,479) 20,479 =
Final 2021 dividend declared B EIk2021F RE B - (242,757) (242,757)
At 31 March 2022 7202263 A31H 48,086 336,715 384,801

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted

which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy
for share-based payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to share capital when the related options
are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should the related options

expire.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZR R A T m
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45. Events After the Reporting Period 45. REHREE
On 16 May 2022, the Company issued a total of 3,350,000,000 2022516 H + AR A LAFGR0.57 8 T &Y
shares at a subscription price of HK$0.57 per share to SEZCDIH. R B M 7 I 2 B 4% 4% 3% 97 3,350,000,000
Immediately upon the subscription, there are 11,441,892,848 R - EETHKRBERNE X272
shares in issue and SZCDG through SEZCDIH is interested in BORMALRZERETRBEROMBEARAE
3,350,000,000 shares, representing approximately 29.28% of the 11,441,892,848 IR % 10 & 5 [ 32 35 &R B8 iR R
issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment YR B 2 3,350,000,000 % f& 5 4 7=, 1l
and issue of subscription shares. SZCDG has become the largest #929.28% ° FrBRBEEEK BRI DB E KK
shareholder of the Company. Foe

46. Approval of the Financial Statements 46. WZBIREHE
The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by BEBE 202296 530 B #HE RIS RE T2 75
the Board of Directors on 30 June 2022. Wk o
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